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1
Introduction

On 23 May 2010 the Jamaican Prime Minister, Bruce Golding, declared
a State of Emergency in the midst of violent confrontations between
the residents of Tivoli Gardens in Kingston and the security forces. The
cause of the outbreak of urban warfare was Golding’s decision to coop-
erate with American requests to extradite Christopher ‘Dudus’ Coke,
who was suspected of playing a leading role in the trading of drugs
and arms between Jamaica and the United States. He was also reput-
edly a client of Golding’s Jamaica Labour Party (JLP) which had for
many years collaborated with criminal gangs in order to consolidate its
electoral support in West Kingston. The consequences for the people of
Tivoli Gardens were catastrophic: estimates vary but it is certain that
more than 70 people were killed in the fighting. In a thoughtful arti-
cle which was published on 13 June 2010 by the Jamaica Gleaner, Kevin
O’Brien Chang sought to place the violence in its historical context. His
starting point was the recorded murder rate in Jamaica of 3.9 per thou-
sand at independence in 1962; this had risen to 62.2 since then. He
noted that Britain had been seen as ‘a “gentler” colonial master than
Germany, Spain or France’ but not so gentle that it had not opened
fire on ordinary people during the strikes of 1938. There was a tradi-
tion of the use of brute force against civilians which had been inherited
from the colonial period. However, O’Brien Chang rejected the notion
that the rise in violence after the transfer of power to Jamaican polit-
ical parties was a consequence of ‘British overlordship democracy’. He
argued that while the leaders of the Jamaican independence movement,
such as Alexander Bustamante and Norman Manley, had recognised the
requirement for restraint, their successors had recklessly embraced a vio-
lent political culture.1 Unlike some of his compatriots he did not suggest
that British authority was necessary to contain the latent conflicts which

1



2 Ordering Independence

existed in Jamaican society, but his article was typical in urging the
need for a greater sense of local political accountability. In situating the
fighting in Tivoli Gardens amidst the history of imperialism but shift-
ing culpability away from the failings of the British and towards the
inadequacies of those who were responsible for directing the nation’s
affairs after 1962, the Gleaner article reflected some trends in the histo-
riography of the end of empire in the Anglophone Caribbean that give
the British credit for arranging an orderly decolonisation and attribute
subsequent unrest and dissatisfaction to the failings of Caribbean
nationalism.

Aside from their inability to stem rising levels of criminality, another
common complaint which Caribbean people level against the region’s
politicians is their failure to improve economic conditions in the region.
Much of this criticism focuses on the ineffectiveness of the Caribbean
Community (CARICOM) which has been unable to fully implement
plans for a Single Market and Economy (SME). In July 2010, as the State
of Emergency continued in Kingston, the CARICOM Heads of Govern-
ment gathered for their annual meeting 80 miles to the northwest in
Montego Bay. It turned out to be a typical example of the organisation’s
indecisiveness. No progress was made with the abiding issue of how to
ensure that member states implemented measures for the liberalisation
of trade and the free movement of people. In February 2011 R. E. Guyson
Mayers reflected on the troubled history of efforts to achieve coopera-
tion across the Caribbean in his column in the Barbados Advocate. His
thoughts were prompted by the continuing inaction of CARICOM, the
revolutionary changes occurring in Middle Eastern societies and the sug-
gestion that the Royal Navy would end warship patrols in the Caribbean
for the first time since the Second World War. In his view these develop-
ments illustrated the lassitude and inauthenticity of Caribbean politics
which was particularly evident in the realm of regional integration. He
noted that for years ‘Caribbean leaders have worked to build a level
of cooperation among regional States with the hope that this would
redound to the benefit of the peoples of the region.’ The only time when
such ideas were enacted was during the four years of federation at the
end of the British empire; in the post-independence era of CARICOM
and other regional organisations, the results ‘were never as productive
as the flowery words that came to be associated with their meetings.’
Guyson Mayers concluded that ‘the federation reached as far as it did
because of the efforts of the British and since our mentality has not
changed, there will be no successful union among us unless Britain or
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America command us to do it. We have the ability to build, but we are
better at criticising, complaining and dismantling.’2 As in the case of
O’Brien Chang, the Barbados Advocate’s columnist turned to the era just
before independence as a vantage point from which later generations of
Caribbean leaders could be chastised.

The general sense of frustration expressed in these columns is very
widespread in the contemporary Caribbean and there are exception-
ally good reasons why the people of the region should be discontented
with the state of its politics. As columnists, O’Brien Chang and Guyson
Mayers were justified in challenging the worst instincts of contemporary
political leaders and neither argued for a return to an era when it was for
British officials to judge what was in the best interests of the people of
Jamaica, Barbados and the other colonial territories. What jars about the
opinions they expressed is that they employed history in a way which
misrepresented the era of decolonisation by exaggerating the stability
of the colonial condition. The task of trying to rectify this imbalance
is a delicate one, but it may be useful to state the counterargument
with the minimum of qualification at the outset. In the 20 years before
independence, British policymakers prioritised the notion of an orderly
transition in a way that pointlessly delayed the implementation of con-
stitutional reform, encouraged the development of authoritarian politics
and neglected the economic conditions which stimulated local discon-
tent. Although the eventual demission of power was largely peaceful,
the British were engaged in a genuine kind of confrontational politics
with nationalist leaders who prioritised independence and autonomy
and came to regard metropolitan policymaking as equivocating, negli-
gent and obstructive. Viewed from this perspective the issues addressed
in the newspaper columns look very different. In the case of the rise of
violent criminality in Jamaica one can say that the British bear signifi-
cant responsibility for the emergence of an increasingly violent political
conflict between the JLP and the People’s Nationalist Party (PNP) that
predates the era of independence. And on the question of the politics of
unity, it is necessary to remember that the form in which the federation
emerged in 1958 was not the outcome of British design but of ongoing
disagreements between nationalist leaders and metropolitan officials,
and its demise had as much to do with the attitudes of the latter as
with the failings of the former. Before examining these arguments in
detail, a swift tour of some geographical, demographic, economic and
cultural features of the region ought to be helpful in providing some
basic context.
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Characterising the Anglophone Caribbean

The subtitle of this book refers to the ‘Anglophone Caribbean’ and
in the text this term is usually, although not invariably, used instead
of the ‘West Indies’. This requires some justification, particularly
because, when a federation was established in the region, it was delib-
erately called The West Indies. The principal rationale for the use
of ‘Anglophone Caribbean’ is the greater conceptual clarity which is
offered by a term which identifies more distinctly the territories under
discussion. Although there is a great deal of linguistic diversity in those
places which once formed part of the British Empire, the English lan-
guage forms their most important bond. By contrast, the term ‘West
Indies’ has been used by many, most notably C. L. R. James, to iden-
tify all the islands of the region, whether they were subject to conquest
by the British, French, Spanish, Danish or Dutch. Furthermore, the
adjective ‘West Indian’ was for centuries associated particularly with
the white European settlers and, although its appropriation by black
Caribbean migrants to Britain had a liberating effect, the reversing of
the racial character of the term means that its usage is still laden with
ambiguities.3 One further geographical anomaly is unresolved by either
appellation. Although the term ‘Anglophone Caribbean’ neatly picks
out British Honduras or Belize to the west, Jamaica to the north, Trinidad
and the English-speaking islands of the Windwards and Leewards to
the east, in cartographical terms, the Guyanese territories of main-
land South America, which were conquered by the French, British and
Dutch, lie outside the frame provided by the Caribbean littoral. How-
ever, the history of British Guiana has been shaped to a much greater
degree by contact with British imperialism than by any influences from
the Hispanophone or Lusophone countries of the continent. The most
conspicuous evidence of this was the establishment of a large East-
Indian population, brought to Guiana as indentured labourers in the
nineteenth century.

The concept of an Anglophone Caribbean also usefully draws atten-
tion to the importance of the Caribbean Sea itself, which forms a branch
of the Atlantic Ocean and constitutes one of the larger deep-water seas in
the world. It is circumscribed by a chain of larger islands to the north,
numerous smaller islands to the east, the mainland of South America
and the Panamanian isthmus to the south and Central America to the
west. In contrast to the pre-Columbian peoples of these territories, who
came to the islands after the initial encounter between European and
American civilisation at the end of the fifteenth century, the more recent
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immigrants did not develop a seafaring tradition, no doubt because for
many of them the naval history of the region was intrinsic to the his-
tory of death and suffering associated with the slave trade. Nevertheless,
its maritime rather than continental character was evident in the ease
with which the Caribbean islands could and can be penetrated by exter-
nal influences; this is manifest in the record of frequent conquest and
reconquest by the European powers in the seventeenth and eighteenth
centuries and in the constant transmission of a range of cultural influ-
ences to and from the region, which have generated its familiar and
influential creole character.

Turning from the sea to the land, the richness and fecundity of the
environment gives the appearance of hospitability to human habitation,
but the geography of the region also makes life intermittently haz-
ardous. At various times these physical dangers have had major effects
on the economic and social life of the inhabitants. Those who live in
the Anglophone Caribbean have generally accommodated themselves
to the inherent risks but they have also propagated a broader psycho-
logical sense of unease which sometimes appears to feed metropolitan
neuroses about the political stability of the region. Perhaps the most
notorious dangers are those posed by the occasional hurricanes which
pass westwards and northwards across the Caribbean, usually in the sec-
ond half of the calendar year. The most dramatic example of human
vulnerability to the winds taken from the period of this study occurred
in 1961 when hundreds of residents of Belize City were killed by a hur-
ricane and the subsequent storm surge which effectively destroyed the
urban infrastructure.4 Even during those years when weather condi-
tions are relatively benign, heavy downpours and flooding during the
rainy season are at best an inconvenience and at worst a threat to life.
The Caribbean also sits on its own tectonic plate whose edges roughly
describe the perimeter of the region. The very existence of the land is
a product of the ancient folding of the earth’s crust and the eruptions
which take place along these fault lines; these in turn generate perils for
the residents in the form of earthquakes and erupting volcanoes. In his-
torical terms Jamaica has suffered the worst consequences of seismic
activity: in 1692 over half of Port Royal was engulfed by the sea as a con-
sequence of devastating tremors, while in 1907 nearly every building in
Kingston was damaged by a major quake which set the city ablaze. The
active volcanoes in the region are concentrated in the eastern islands; it
was the French colony of Martinique which in 1902 witnessed perhaps
the greatest natural disaster in the entire history of the region when an
estimated 30,000 people were killed in the aftermath of the eruption of
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Mount Pelée.5 From 1995 volcanic activity in the Soufrière Hills posed
an ongoing and continuous danger to the population of Montserrat that
eventually led to the evacuation of the majority of the inhabitants in an
operation which caused an early but minor political crisis at the start of
Tony Blair’s British premiership.6

Perhaps partly as a consequence of the unpredictability of an envi-
ronment which intermittently called upon the Treasury to take up the
costs of disaster relief, post-war British governments have often dis-
claimed the notion that they had any financial interest in the retention
of the Anglophone Caribbean. These assertions marked a discontinu-
ity, because for centuries the region had played a central role in the
economic history of the British Empire. If the early generations of
European settlers could do nothing about the climate or geology of the
region, they could and did transform the ecology and demography to
suit their commercial purposes. The catalyst which revolutionised every
other aspect of life in the region was the sugar revolution of the mid-
seventeenth century which began in Barbados and rapidly spread to
the rest of Britain’s nascent Caribbean empire.7 It entailed the trans-
formation of the landscape, as the majority of agricultural land was
given over to a crop which originated in Asia, together with an expan-
sion of the population, as increasing numbers of chattel slaves were
transported to the region from West Africa. The profits of the sugar
industry were dependent on the coercion of labour and the existence
of markets willing to pay high prices for what was, at least at the out-
set, a luxury product rather than a staple. The subsistence of the local
people required large-scale food importation and as a consequence the
economy exhibited an extreme form of dependency and its fortunes
fluctuated regularly. Its period of greatest success was probably the third
quarter of the seventeenth century. The increase in sugar prices dur-
ing those years meant that by some estimates St Kitts in the Leeward
Islands was the richest colony in the empire.8 Its wealth, and that of
the other territories, continued to depend on an army of enslaved work-
ers from Africa which reached six times the size of the white population
across the Anglophone Caribbean in 1748 and 12 times the size in 1815.
In Demerara in British Guiana it has been estimated that the ratio was 37
to 1 at the later date.9 Some greater variety in agricultural production did
occur and by the early twentieth century the territories were also export-
ing coffee, bananas and citrus fruits. Subsequently a further measure
of diversification arose in the form of bauxite mining in Jamaica and
Guiana and oil extraction in Trinidad, but the economies of the region
rested on an exceptionally narrow and insecure base of commodity
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exports. One of the most compelling arguments of nationalist politi-
cians was that the British were morally obliged to offer financial recom-
pense for the deformation of the local economy during these centuries
of imperial exploitation. Despite its persuasiveness this reasoning was
rejected by metropolitan policymakers on the grounds that candidates
for statehood must demonstrate their financial fitness for statehood.

Alongside the material deprivation which it entailed, by bringing
people from all over the world to live in the Caribbean plantation
agriculture contributed to a preoccupation with issues of skin colour
in the Anglophone Caribbean which was and is inescapable. Prior to
the era of decolonisation it had only been possible to justify the gross
economic inequalities perpetuated by imperialism on the basis of doc-
trines of racial superiority, which accounted for the supremacy of white
Europeans, and racial inferiority, which was deployed to defend the cal-
lous treatment of non-whites living in Asia, Africa and America. On the
brink of independence, Trinidad’s first Prime Minister, Eric Williams, lec-
tured the youth of the country on their obligation to overcome this
legacy of colonialism by educating their parents about the necessity of
judging their fellow citizens on merit rather than skin pigmentation,
while his former political rival, Albert Gomes, later insisted that his
own career as a Trinidadian politician of Portuguese descent had con-
stituted a not always successful attempt to navigate a way through the
maze of the island’s morbid racial prejudices.10 Liberal injunctions to
transcend the racial categories inherited from the imperial past gen-
erated an antithesis in the form of ideologies of black empowerment,
as articulated in the writings and speeches of the Jamaican political
activist Marcus Garvey and later the Guyanese historian, Walter Rodney.
From this perspective demands for racial harmony constituted a thread-
bare attempt to camouflage the unmissable and persistent correlation
between race and power which had not weakened in the era of decoloni-
sation and then independence. The racial character of the Anglophone
Caribbean was shaped by three historical developments: the extermina-
tion of almost the entire Amerindian population during the early colo-
nial phase; a constant process of coerced and voluntary migration to and
from Africa, Europe and Asia; and the subsequent miscegenation which
rendered attempts to offer a demographic analysis based on binary clas-
sifications wholly futile. The unstable and mutable character of the
categories available to describe the population ensured that the social
and political force of arguments about race relied on comparative mea-
sures of ‘blackness’ and ‘whiteness’. George E. Eaton gave some sense of
the gradations and their connections to social hierarchy in Jamaica:
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At the apex of the social system were the whites . . . in descend-
ing order there were near-whites or mustefinos, mustays of swarthy
complexion but lighter than the brown-skinned mulattos, who in
turn were subject to an almost endless variety of groups . . . . Further
down the social ladder, the lower echelons grew progressively darker,
passing through ‘sambo’ to black at the base.11

In more crudely political terms the free coloured population which
came into existence as a consequence of sexual relationships between
male European masters and female African slaves was the first to
occupy the intermediary spaces between the white elites and the black
masses.12 Their political, social and economic advancement did not
constitute a challenge to European political control until the early
twentieth century. Before that time the existence of a class which was
lighter skinned and more privileged than the black majority and darker
skinned and less privileged than the white minority served as confir-
mation of the apparently inextricable connection between skin colour
and power.

As well as the physical mixing of races, a combining of differ-
ent cultural traditions took place in the Caribbean and this has had
an astonishing global impact. The end of the European empires was
accompanied almost everywhere by cultural renaissance and in the
Anglophone Caribbean this took two potent forms: during the second
trimester of the twentieth century the region became both a sporting
and literary superpower by adapting European cultural practices for
their own purposes. To the delight of the Caribbean public in 1950
the touring West Indies cricket team, which included Walcott, Worrell,
Weekes and Ramadhin, defeated England in a Test series 3–1. With their
bowling attack subsequently reinforced by Hall, Gibbs and Sobers they
established a sporting superiority over England which was to last for
40 years and which became a durable source of regional pride.13 More
recently the reverence in which cricketers were once held has been
transferred to track-and-field athletes. The early success of Don Quarrie,
Hasely Crawford and Merlene Ottey at Olympic and World Champi-
onships has reached its culmination with Usain Bolt’s unprecedented
dominance of the sprint events. While the region’s sportsmen have
demonstrated a discipline and physical prowess which has frequently
outmatched that of the old colonial powers, Caribbean writers have
posed an intellectual challenge to imperial complacency. A short list
of notable figures includes authors as diverse as Jean Rhys, Roger Mais,
E. R. Braithwaite, Sam Selvon, George Lamming, Sylvia Wynter, Derek
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Walcott, Kamau Brathwaite, V. S. Naipaul and Jamaica Kincaid. Whether
it was Braithwaite’s direct attack on bigotry in the imperial metropolis;
Naipaul’s magnification of the banal failure to establish a stable, alter-
native identity to that imposed by the European colonisers; or Wynter’s
emphasis on the way in which British influence pushed the peoples of
the region to the margins of their own culture and society, the attitudes
on display in their work have constituted a disavowal of the mislead-
ing but edifying narrative of an orderly process of decolonisation.14 At a
popular level, Caribbean music has also often been infused with ideo-
logical content: both Jamaican reggae and Trinidadian calypso are well
adapted to the transmission of political messages. During the era of inde-
pendence musicians such as Bob Marley and Mighty Sparrow provided a
commentary on events in Jamaica and Trinidad respectively. As a conse-
quence of migration to the old imperial metropolis ska and reggae have
had a particular influence on British popular music since the 1960s and
have carried much of their political content with them.

Themes in the history of the Anglophone Caribbean

Before turning to the history of individual territories, it seems impor-
tant to note that the experience of colonialism across the Anglophone
Caribbean is broadly comparable. It is this measure of historical uni-
formity which provides coherence to the general argument which
follows. From the seventeenth century onwards, developments in the
whole of the Anglophone Caribbean were governed by two sets of
binary relationships: the shifting balance of power between metropoli-
tan and peripheral interests, on the one hand, and the entrenched and
unequal division between a local oligarchy and the labouring classes
within the periphery, on the other. The intercourse between peripheral
and metropolitan elites was mediated by constitutional and legislative
action, and the key themes were the peripheral elite’s defence of their
economic privileges and political liberty and the metropolitan elite’s
concern with the ramifications of West Indian policy on the British
domestic economy and other overseas interests. By the late eighteenth
century the debate had cohered around a clash between advocates of
slavery and protectionism and those who supported emancipation and
free trade. Although the Caribbean oligarchs were defeated in this con-
test they retained some residual influence in Westminster in the middle
of the twentieth century. By contrast, relations between the colonial
oligarchs and the labouring classes were regulated entirely by coercive
means. The continued political and economic subordination of most
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of the people was, as the oligarchs themselves argued in their dis-
putes with the metropolitan authorities, essential to the profitability
of their enterprises. However, it also necessitated a constant defence of
order, which was synonymous with the status quo. Oligarchical neu-
roses about proletarian insurrection were fully justified by the plentiful
and ongoing evidence of quotidian resistance on the plantations and
intermittent popular rebellions.15 Although it is more difficult to recover
the views of the majority of the people who lived in the Caribbean under
colonialism, the extent of resistance illustrates that disorder, in the form
of either non-cooperation or violent counter-attacks against colonial
rule, was a means of challenging the perpetuation of exploitation and
disenfranchisement.

Gross disparities in political influence and economic power were a per-
sistent feature of the region from the establishment of a British colonial
presence in the Caribbean during the first half of the seventeenth cen-
tury to the present day but there have also been conspicuous changes
in the social and political life of the region since that time. It is possi-
ble to identify three particularly significant phases. The first began with
the establishment of the plantation system after the initial acquisitions
of the early seventeenth century and was marked by increased capital
investment in the newly acquired territories, the gradual replacement of
free and indentured labour by slave labour and the ever-growing com-
mitment to the export of sugar as the defining purpose of the territories.
During this period West Indian planters exercised increasing influence
in the metropolis and used it to guarantee preferential access to the
British market and a reliable supply of unfree workers from Africa. The
second phase began with the rise of abolitionist sentiment in Britain
in the late eighteenth century and was characterised by efforts to cir-
cumscribe the influence of the Caribbean plantocracy. The key events
of the period were the decision of the British Parliament to abolish the
trade in slaves in 1807 and then to enforce a policy of emancipation
in 1833–1834. These years also yield plentiful evidence of the extent
of resistance on the part of Caribbean labour, which continued after
abolition as former slaves discovered that the change in their legal sta-
tus did not end their impoverishment or marginality. The continuation
of the plantation system as the dominant form of activity narrowed
the range of options for the newly freed people of the region and led
to significant attacks on the estates themselves in Dominica in 1844,
St Vincent in 1862 and Jamaica in 1865. In the metropolis there was
a widespread belief that the uncompromising attitude of the planters
was responsible for much of the disorder in the Anglophone Caribbean;
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this led the British government to abolish the representative system on
Jamaica and the other islands and to extend the Crown Colony system
of government, which had already been established on the territories
that had been ceded by France during the previous century. The eradi-
cation of the political influence of the oligarchs was not completed until
the third phase during which nascent trade unions and political parties
demanded democratic reform and the alleviation of working condi-
tions. The emergence of liberationist ideas in the Anglophone Caribbean
in the early twentieth century was a product of various ideological
influences, including elements of European liberalism and socialism
as well as more Afrocentric, communalist notions of black empower-
ment. Nationalists articulated the connections between political and
economic grievances and Bell has argued that for them ‘political inde-
pendence was largely the means of attaining the legitimate power to
try to transform society so as to achieve social justice.’16 The metropoli-
tan government reluctantly conceded universal adult suffrage and the
expansion of popular representation in both the executive and the leg-
islature but remained sceptical of ambitious nationalist plans to diversify
the economy and distribute the wealth of the territories on a more equal
basis. Nevertheless popular participation in politics, which had gathered
pace in the surrounding Hispanophone and Francophone territories
long before, was an unprecedented development in the Anglophone
Caribbean.

Barbados is an obvious place to start examining the question of how
these developments affected particular territories, because the Barbadian
oligarchs were deservedly famous for the tenacity with which they
defended their interests against metropolitan interference and the thor-
oughness with which they colonised the island with sugar plantations.
The first elected General Assembly of freeholders was established in 1639
and the plantocracy clung on to a representative system of government
for the next 300 years even when other islands became Crown Colonies
in the late nineteenth century.17 Their constitutional supremacy partly
reflected their reputation for greater economic efficiency, which was in
turn a consequence of higher levels of residency that contrasted with the
Leewards where absenteeism prevailed. Alongside the vigorous defence
of their material interests the local oligarchy also promoted an ideol-
ogy of Barbadian exceptionalism which was based on the intimacy of
their ties to the British metropolis. The notion of Barbados as a ‘Little
England’ ready to leap to the defence of ‘Big England’ was memorably
described in George Lamming’s novel In the Castle of My Skin.18 What
Lamming also portrayed were the consequences of the popular uprising
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of 1937 for a small village and the plantation to which it was attached.
The rebellion of that year was the culmination of a counter-tradition of
popular resistance on Barbados which, because of the scarcity and par-
tiality of much of the source material describing the lives of the island’s
workers, is difficult to uncover. In his book Natural Rebels, Hilary Beckles
uses the sources which are available to describe how women working
on plantations in Barbados during the era of slavery engaged in non-
violent resistance, flight from the workplace, attacks on the economic
infrastructure and even armed insurrection.19 Both the Anglophilia and
insurrectionary traditions of Barbadian political life continued to be
represented in the mid-twentieth century era of demotic politics by
Grantley Adams, whose ambition was to transplant Asquithian lib-
eral traditions to the region, and by Clennell Wickham, who urged
a policy of organised resistance to the continuing dominance of the
plantocracy.20

Like Barbados and the other Anglophone territories, Jamaica’s past
has been defined by the history of slavery and sugar production but it
has often been differentiated from them on the basis of two superla-
tives: it is the largest island and the one furthest from the others. Philip
Sherlock has pointed out that Jamaican isolationist sentiment, which
was expressed in the 1961 referendum which rejected continued partici-
pation in the West Indian federation, was not only a product of distance
but also of the geography of the island itself. Whereas the inhabitants
of the smaller islands had no choice but to face the sea, Sherlock argued
that Jamaicans relished the prospect of a retreat to the mountainous
interior and turned to them for moral uplift. As well as being a source of
spiritual sustenance the highlands were also a place of refuge for those
wishing to challenge colonial authority, most famously the Maroons.21

As the name indicates, the tradition of marronage or flight from the
plantations began in the era of Spanish colonialism which ended with
the British conquest in 1655. By this time, the Maroons had already
established their own settlements and posed a continuous challenge to
British efforts to extend their administrative control. During 1739–1740
an unstable modus vivendi was established in the form of a number of
treaties but at the outset of the French Revolutionary Wars, the British
decided to eradicate the Maroon villages because they were a poten-
tial source of insurrection. In 1796 after months of fighting, a policy
of enforced deportations was implemented which obliterated their cul-
ture. If the Maroons are generally taken to be symbols of Jamaican
resistance to British imperialism, the free coloured people of the island
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are sometimes associated with a tradition of collaborationism. Some
were able to obtain a degree of economic independence by becoming
shopkeepers or engaging in artisanal work such as millinery but they
were excluded from the rights of full citizenship. When the national-
ist movement emerged in the twentieth century it inherited Jamaican
society’s acute consciousness of the fine gradations of skin colour and
was hampered by notions that a lighter skinned or brown middle
class dominated the movement at the expense of darker-skinned or
black working class people. One of the oddities of the conflict between
Norman Manley and Alexander Bustamante was that although the two
men were cousins and of a mixed but common ancestry Manley was
often seen as a spokesman for the former group and Bustamante for
the latter.

Identifying the members of the Leeward Islands has sometimes been
problematic. They constitute the northwestern outposts of the Lesser
Antilles and are named in recognition of the fact that they are reached
by the trade winds after they have crossed the Windwards, but these
basic geographical facts do not establish where the frontiers of the
group might lie. Dominica to the south was once governed as part of
the Leewards before being transferred to the Windwards. The American
Virgin Islands to the northwest constituted part of the Anglophone
Caribbean but were never annexed to the British West Indies, and
established closer links with the American mainland than the other
islands. As non-Anglophone members of the Leeward Islands St Martin,
St Barthelemy and Guadeloupe contribute to the linguistic diversity of
the sub-region. Of the Anglophone group, the small territories of the
British Virgin Islands, Montserrat, Nevis and Anguilla were the subject
of constantly mutating administrative arrangements. What is clear and
has been apparent since the seventeenth century is that Antigua and
St Christopher are the core members of the Anglophone Leewards. It is
the latter island, which is universally known as St Kitts, whose experi-
ence of decolonisation will be examined in more detail. Three aspects
of its past had a particular effect on the way in which the imperial
episode ended. The first is that, after Thomas Warner was commis-
sioned by Charles I to colonise the island in the 1620s, sugar interests
prevailed even more completely in the history of the island than in
Barbados or neighbouring Antigua; whereas in the latter two territo-
ries a more diverse economy began to emerge in the first half of the
twentieth century, imperial reservations about the economic viability
of St Kitts in the 1960s and 1970s were sustained by its continuing
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and complete dependence on sugar exports as a source of revenue.
Secondly, St Kitts had a complex constitutional relationship with the
other territories of the Leewards. In 1816 the British government divided
the group into two administrative sub-units, one of which comprised
St Kitts, Nevis, Anguilla and the Virgin Islands. Following many fur-
ther reorganisations, in 1882 the first three of these territories became a
single Presidency within the Leewards federation which had been estab-
lished 11 years earlier. Because the Presidency was administered from the
Kittitian capital of Basseterre it was perhaps inevitable that secessionist
sentiment should develop to some degree on neighbouring Nevis and
even more strongly on the more distant and smaller island of Anguilla.
The constitutional controversies which ensued culminated in 1969 with
a full-blown late imperial crisis. Thirdly, as a consequence of their role
in the labour rebellions of the 1930s, Kittitians acquired a reputation for
labour militancy. The 1948 strike on the island which will be examined
in the next chapter evoked memories of the confrontation between the
estate workers and the local oligarchy in 1935, when three workers were
killed by local defence forces.22

Grenada, which is the most southerly of the Windwards grouping to
the south of the Leewards, was the island least affected by the popu-
lar rebellions of the 1930s. As in the case of the other territories in
the group, namely Dominica, St Lucia and St Vincent, Grenada fell
under British control as a consequence of victory in the eighteenth-
century wars with France. The Treaty of Paris of 1763 which ceded
the island to Britain was the prelude to further struggles for control of
Grenada, but by the end of the Napoleonic wars the British had strength-
ened their hold and in the following century, it was anglicised to a
greater extent than the other Windward territories. Migration became
a common experience for many Grenadians in the late nineteenth and
twentieth centuries and, because of its proximity, Trinidad was a com-
mon destination.23 One of the primary factors influencing the outflow
of people was the unemployment and underemployment associated
with Grenada’s relatively high population density. As a consequence the
culture of the island was closely tied to that of the larger Anglophone ter-
ritories as well as to the United States and Great Britain which eventually
became alternative destinations for Grenadian migrants. The export of
labour abroad and the decision of many local oligarchs to forsake sugar
production ameliorated some of the tensions caused by land scarcity.
The relatively peaceful circumstances of the 1930s generated a certain
smugness on behalf of local elites but, even though the precise cir-
cumstances were different, the class divisions on the island were as
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sharp as anywhere else. George Brizan, who was a Grenadian historian
and politician, noted that by 1950 ‘Grenada remained a society dom-
inated by a tiny clique of planter-merchants and professionals . . . the
Grenadian peasantry was one of the largest in the Caribbean relative to
size, young, predominantly black, largely illiterate.’24 Despite the sup-
posed social insulation provided by the existence of an independent
peasantry and the diversification of production into cocoa, nutmeg and
bananas, conditions of disease, poor housing and penury in the coun-
tryside made an eventual challenge to the status quo inevitable; the
specific form it took under the leadership of Eric Gairy was wholly
unexpected.

Like Grenada, Trinidad had experience of other forms of European
colonialism. It was a Spanish colony for three centuries after 1498,
which was longer than the period of British imperial control. Its first
Prime Minister, Eric Williams, offered a damning judgement on the con-
clusion of Madrid’s control in 1797: ‘Spanish colonialism on its death
bed had ended in nothing.’25 Williams’s assessment is true to the extent
that in the nineteenth century the political and social life of the colony
was utterly transformed by British imperialism and not much remained
of Hispanic influence, with some exceptions such as the names of places
and the character of the island’s traditional folk music. In the middle of
the nineteenth century the economic supremacy of the Trinidad oli-
garchy was threatened by a combination of increased labour costs as a
consequence of emancipation and downward pressure on sugar prices
because of competition from European beet sugar. They responded by
transporting large numbers of indentured labourers from South Asia.
It has been estimated that 143,900 contract labourers migrated to
Trinidad between 1838 and 1918.26 The great majority of these were East
Indians and, as the former African slave population and their descen-
dants increasingly sought employment in the towns, they occupied the
bottom rung of the status ladder in their capacity as low-wage workers
tied to the plantations. When organised opposition to the perpetuation
of British colonial control emerged, it confronted the problem of how to
reconcile African, East Indian and European populations who generally
lived apart from one another. After being elected to the island’s legis-
lature in 1925, Arthur Andrew Cipriani became a legendary figure in
the political history of Trinidad precisely because of his success in tran-
scending these divisions: as a Corsican he represented European influ-
ence but he aligned himself with Indian Trinidadians campaigning for
improved conditions on the plantations and with the nationalist move-
ment that was developing among middle-class African-Trinidadians. His
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reputation was consolidated by the success of C. L. R. James’s early
biography which was written while Cipriani was still alive. Less fortu-
nately, the lionising of Cipriani formed part of a tradition of personalist
politics in Trinidad which inhibited the emergence of an effective
party system. It also infected metropolitan thinking and became man-
ifest in the British obsession with questions of political leadership,
which was frequently accompanied by a disregard for wider socio-
economic conditions. In the case of Trinidad the British assumed that
Eric Williams was the candidate best qualified to maintain order on the
island.

Unlike the islands, the two mainland territories of British Honduras
and British Guiana stood outside the West Indies Federation when it
was created in 1958. The former was psychologically isolated from the
Anglophone Caribbean and this reflected both its geographical distance
from the Eastern Caribbean and its distinctive economic history which
was dominated by the logwood industry. It has a small but distinc-
tive historiography, much of it the product of energetic research by
Nigel Bolland.27 In order to draw out the broader themes the focus of
this analysis will be on the other continental territory, British Guiana.
When the distinguished Guianese historian Walter Rodney undertook
a detailed history of his own country he gave greater emphasis to
environmental factors than was evident in his earlier work on African
colonial history. The defence of the Guianese coastal strip, along which
the majority of the population lived, required the local plantocracy
to maintain an infrastructure of damming and drainage. Rodney esti-
mated that in establishing a viable agricultural system, slaves in Guiana
moved ‘100 million tons of heavy water logged clay with shovel in hand,
while enduring conditions of perpetual mud and water.’ Despite these
exhausting precautions the coast remained vulnerable to flooding and
drought.28 The grim conditions on the plantations encouraged migra-
tion to the towns after emancipation and, as in the case of Trinidad,
indentured workers were imported, first from Portuguese Madeira and
then from South Asia, to remedy the labour shortage. In 1905 African
workers in towns and Indian labourers in the countryside rebelled in
protest at conditions of work, low wages and irregular employment.
Plantation workers on the sugar estates, domestic servants, dock workers
and the unemployed all participated. The uprising had little ideological
coherence, and much of the anger was directed at the small Portuguese
bourgeoisie rather than at the colonial administration.29 It failed to dent
the power wielded by a handful of corporations which was satirised in
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the appellation of ‘Booker’s Guiana’, in reference to the pervasive influ-
ence of the British-based company of Booker-McConnell. The company
had been founded by Josias Booker in the early nineteenth century
and dominated Guianese sugar production. This tendency towards
monopoly was subsequently replicated in bauxite extraction: during the
twentieth century the Canadian company Alcan established a domi-
nant position in Guianese mining. At the outset of the 1950s Cheddi
Jagan and Forbes Burnham finally offered an ideological programme
which would channel resentment at the exploitation of both African
and East Indian workers by a tiny economic and political elite which
repatriated profits to Britain and North America. The conflict between
commercial interests backed by London and Washington and a nation-
alist movement which eventually fractured along racial lines made
the Guianese episode one of the most tragic in the story of British
decolonisation.

Interpreting the end of empire in the Anglophone
Caribbean

The end of British political control was a seminal event in the history
of the Anglophone Caribbean and some differences have emerged over
how it ought to be interpreted. Four broad strands in the historiog-
raphy can be identified: firstly, a set of vindicatory writings authored
either by British officials themselves or those sympathetic to them; sec-
ondly, inculpatory accounts by critics of the nationalist leadership of the
independent Caribbean; thirdly, what might be called contextual inter-
pretations which stress international factors, including the influence
of the United States and the Cold War; and, finally, critical narratives
which focus explicitly on the inadequacies of British policymaking.
There is obviously some overlap between these categories: the vindica-
tory narratives, for example, may stress the role of international factors,
such as the Cold War, and the internationalist accounts may be crit-
ical of British policymaking. However, it is the fourth of these which
has proved the least robust and the substantive chapters of this book
constitute an effort to revive it.

John Mordecai’s book The West Indies: The Federal Negotiations is
an informed, intelligent account and also the founding document of
the vindicatory tradition. Mordecai was a colonial civil servant who
rose to become deputy to the Governor General of the federation,
Lord Hailes, and the sense of affiliation he felt for Hailes personally
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and for the federation as a concept is evident in their unpublished
correspondence.30 One notable problem with attempting to summarise
the purpose of his book is that Mordecai does not itemise the themes
and arguments in either an introduction or a conclusion. What his
narrative offers is a lucid analysis of the quotidian problems which
emerged in establishing and maintaining the federation. The relentless
detail he provides about the many disagreements between Caribbean
politicians serves to magnify their role in the troubled constitutional
history of the era, while leaving the influence of British officials and
politicians out of focus at the margins. There is, for example, no men-
tion at all of the British Secretary of State for the Colonies between
1954 and 1959, Alan Lennox-Boyd.31 Mordecai’s version may be sup-
plemented with the memoirs of two of the most influential Caribbean
Governors of the time, Hugh Foot and Kenneth Blackburne. The for-
mer expresses some sympathy for the nationalist leaders of the region
while carefully itemising their failings; the latter evinces a distaste for
what he came to regard as the rowdy and destructive politics of the
region.32 At the end of the 1970s, Elizabeth Wallace augmented the
vindicatory tradition. In her analysis of Britain’s role in the Caribbean
she reiterated the familiar theme that ‘by establishing liberal political
institutions it implanted a tradition of respect for parliamentary democ-
racy.’ As a supplement to this view she suggested that social failures
were largely a consequence of demographic pressures which outran
determined imperial efforts to improve health and education.33 Even
the more balanced analysis provided by Ashton and Killingray in their
introductory essay to an invaluable compendium of primary sources
from the period veered perilously close to assimilating the official view
expressed in the documents collected. Although they acknowledged
the ‘patrician disdain’ with which small island leaders like William
H. Bramble of Montserrat were treated by metropolitan policymakers,
they argued:

By and large CO officials were reasonably understanding of the prob-
lems encountered by West Indian politicians and the way in which
they were handled . . . although the constant bickering and the rifts
that opened up between rival personalities tended to strain the
patience of officials who had spent a long time trying to create the
federation and get it off the ground.34

One might expect arguments of this kind to spark a radical counter-
tradition in which the role of local actors in promoting the ideals of
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unity, liberation and equality are reasserted. However the one thing
which the leading figures on the Caribbean left have had in common
with Mordecai and Wallace is a determination to highlight the negli-
gence of the nationalist leadership. Numerous writer-activists from the
region, including C. L. R. James, Trevor Munroe and Richard Hart, have
argued that the corruption and inequality of the post-independence era
was a consequence of the inadequacies of the first and second gener-
ation of union and party leaders. In four volumes Richard Hart has
provided a comprehensive alternative history of the end of empire,
which deals principally with Jamaica but also, on occasions, with other
territories in the Caribbean, including Guiana.35 Although part of his
purpose is to expose the hypocrisy of British colonialism, many of
Hart’s harshest criticisms in the final volume were reserved for the two
largest political parties and particularly the PNP from which he had been
expelled by Manley. His attacks on the PNP leadership were echoed by
Trevor Munroe who argued that the party represented only bourgeois
interests and embraced a ‘fundamentally British’ form of politics.36 This
historiographical tendency to indict the nationalist leadership is rein-
forced by the teleological approach adopted by Marable and Bolland in
searching for the origins of Caribbean authoritarianism and its trans-
mission from the colonial period. Bolland examines the manner in
which the necessary struggle for better working conditions undertaken
by the trade union movement established a tradition of autocratic
leadership.37 Marable’s acknowledgement of the liberationist elements
in nationalist thinking is, at best, grudging. He argues that bourgeois
nationalists ‘frequently assimilated the authoritarian style of the for-
mer colonial bureaucrats, but under specific conditions, fractions could
also advance egalitarian and democratic agendas, which, at least rhetor-
ically were consistent with the anti-colonial agitation of the 1940s and
1950s.’38 Most of these inculpatory accounts of the rise of Caribbean
nationalism do not take the rhetorical commitment to popular liber-
ation seriously despite the success of nationalists in obtaining trade
union recognition, universal suffrage and popular control of first the
legislative and then the executive functions of government. When the
emphasis placed on collaborationism between the elites of the metropo-
lis and the periphery entirely displaces the confrontational aspects of
the struggle for independence, the record is in danger of becoming
distorted.

While both the vindicatory and inculpatory traditions were already
becoming entrenched as the Anglophone Caribbean moved towards
independence, the most significant historiographical development of
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the last decade has been a new focus on international factors, and in
particular on the role of the United States. Cary Fraser established this
tradition with a book whose title, Ambivalent Anti-Colonialism, sum-
marised his assessment of the attitudes struck by American policymakers
in dealing with the region.39 In the last 10 years, Rabe on British
Guiana, Parker on Jamaica and Trinidad and Cox-Alomar on the Eastern
Caribbean have all stressed the significance of Washington’s influence
which was exercised either directly, through economic, intelligence and
diplomatic agencies, or indirectly, by asserting their commanding posi-
tion in the Cold War alliance with Britain.40 Perhaps because of the
distancing effect of the Atlantic Ocean, this tradition of scholarship
has been rather sceptical of the justifications provided by British pol-
icymakers for their actions. Parker, for example, has highlighted the
manner in which the conspicuous inadequacy of imperial administra-
tion raised issues both for American security, which would be threatened
by the violent upheavals which might result if social conditions did
not improve, and for American domestic politics, because of the ties
between political activism in the United States and the Caribbean. Rabe
has exhibited the hostile response which the emergence of opposi-
tion to their authority in Guiana elicited from the imperial authorities.
More specifically he exposed British complicity in the plot to unseat
Cheddi Jagan which originated inside the Kennedy administration and
finally reached fruition in 1964. The stress which these works place on
transatlantic collaboration and occasional conflict has been important
in establishing the Cold War context in which British policy operated.
They also suggested that American involvement in the Anglophone
Caribbean was episodic; as a consequence, these authors have been
less preoccupied with the continuous conflicts between nationalists and
imperial administrators over constitutional reform that is the concern
of the final group.

The basis for this fourth, critical tradition of writing on the end of
empire in the region can be found in the indictments of British pol-
icymakers contained in the memoirs of nationalist politicians. In this
sense Mordecai’s attempt to justify the British policies he upheld as
an imperial official through a demonstration of the failings of regional
nationalism has its equivalent in a parallel set of writings which provide
a perspective from the other side of the political conflict. However, as
though to validate Mordecai’s views on the divisiveness of anti-colonial
politics, the attack on the British colonial record in these works has been
almost drowned out by the deafening roar of old scores being settled.
This tendency reached heroic levels in the case of the autobiographies of
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Patrick Solomon in Trinidad and Wynter Crawford in Barbados, signifi-
cant parts of which were devoted to attacking the respective records of
their political foes, Albert Gomes and Grantley Adams.41 Eric Williams’s
more detailed and analytical account of what he described as his polit-
ical education, Inward Hunger, is not free from this tendency either
and is made less persuasive because of his willingness to unleash the
egocentric elements of his character at every opportunity.42 As a conse-
quence, it has been left to the biographers of some of the key nationalist
leaders to provide a more rounded and less partisan treatment. Partic-
ularly sympathetic discussions can be found in Sherlock’s book about
Norman Manley and Hoyos’s admiring narrative of Grantley Adams’s
life.43 Williams’s numerous biographers have usually struck a reasonable
balance between critical distance and sympathetic analysis.44 Although
such works deal incidentally with the confrontations between periph-
eral and metropolitan actors, the most effective critique of British policy
in the Caribbean remains Gordon Lewis’s The Growth of the Modern West
Indies which was published in 1968.45 Since Lewis’s book there has been
no attempt to relate the deficiencies of British policymaking to the con-
flict which they engendered with anti-colonialism across the territories
of the Anglophone Caribbean. This inevitably raises the question of
whether, in an odd reversal of the usual historiographical trend in impe-
rial history, British policymakers have been robbed of agency, or more
tellingly, of responsibility.

Themes and arguments

At the outset of this introductory chapter some of the key arguments
of the book were set out in unvarnished fashion, and it is now time to
enter some caveats while elaborating further on the central thesis. The
purpose of this book is not to rehabilitate the reputations of the gov-
ernments of the independent Anglophone Caribbean. At their worst,
such as the cases of Gairy in Grenada and Burnham in Guyana, the
newly independent states of the region proved even more repressive
than the colonial state which they replaced. Even in those countries
which have received praise for retaining democratic traditions and
achieving a measure of economic development, such as Barbados, the
post-independence governments have been unable to establish an egal-
itarian society free from the autocratic tendencies of the past. What is
required is an effort to balance an account of the intrinsic flaws of the
anti-colonial movement with some acknowledgement of its achieve-
ment in pressing the case for the enfranchisement of the people, the
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demission of power to local representatives and the promulgation of
new economic policies which would address the inadequacies of an
imperial system that kept the majority of the population in penury.
It is only possible to sustain such an interpretation by bringing British
policy at the end of empire into sharper focus, and this also has a num-
ber of risks. Over the last 30 years, scholars have been engaged in the
essential task of restoring agency to colonial subjects. In this context,
a project which requires that closer attention be paid to what British
officials and politicians said to one another about these subjects may
appear atavistic. In the case of the Anglophone Caribbean it can be jus-
tified on three grounds. The first derives from what has already been said
about the extant picture of collaborative decolonisation which can only
be redrawn by offering a clearer sense of the attitudes which metropoli-
tan and peripheral actors expressed and which were considerably more
hostile than has so far been allowed. The second is historiographical:
there has been no detailed account of British policymaking in the region
to compare with the numerous studies of, for example, the Attlee gov-
ernment’s policies towards India, the role of the Eden government in
the Suez crisis or the later evolution of British policy towards the Cen-
tral African Federation and Southern Rhodesia. There is no Caribbean
equivalent to the work of R. J. Moore, Scott Lucas or Philip Murphy,
with the single and notable exception of the long, analytical intro-
duction to the relevant volume of the British Documents on the End of
Empires series written by Ashton and Killingray.46 Thirdly, in theory, it
ought to be possible to study the records of the imperial centre without
assimilating the views expressed in them. Whether this can be achieved
in practice is another question but one that can only be answered by
attempting it.

The hostility between nationalism and late imperialism can be illus-
trated by examining some of the different ideas about order and
independence which prevailed at the end of empire. Metropolitan
policymakers had a developmentalist view which portrayed the achieve-
ment of independence as analogous to a child’s attainment of maturity
after a period of careful schooling. The colonial power took on a pater-
nal role which necessitated disciplinary action in cases of insubordinate
behaviour. When the British resorted to coercion in Guiana in 1953 or in
Anguilla in 1969, it was justified as a regrettable response to the puerile
behaviour of nationalist politicians. Although this can appear as a car-
icature of official thinking, the files of the Colonial Office are replete
with references to the callowness and irrationality of the Caribbean’s
leading nationalist politicians. The condescension is as evident in the
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views of those who wished to encourage Britain’s colonial wards by
offering constitutional advance as an inducement as in those of unre-
constructed imperialists. In 1952 during his time as Governor of the
Leewards, Kenneth Blackburne attempted to persuade a sceptical Colo-
nial Office that they really should show some trust in their colonial
wards. He advised: ‘it is absolutely vital that we should stick to my
policy of giving these people as much responsibility as possible and
accepting their proposals even if we believe them to be wrong – unless
of course they put up some proposal which involves breach of faith
or some essential principle.’ According to Blackburne this method had
been successful in Antigua where, following the first elections under uni-
versal suffrage, the newly elected nationalists were ‘extremely careful
not to put up silly proposals – and indeed have not done so for the
past ten months.’ The principle ought, he proposed, to be extended
to St Kitts but Blackburne acknowledged that the labour leader in
that territory, Robert Bradshaw, was ‘a man of such incredible conceit
(really an acute inferiority complex) that he is always liable to do some
crazy thing.’47

Some of the first generation of anti-colonial activists in the periph-
ery were accustomed to the lofty disdain of imperial thinking and
even assimilated the notion that gratitude was due to the imperial
power for concessions obtained from the metropolitan centre. Men
such as Cipriani, T. A. Marryshow and Hubert Critchlow initiated
campaigns for democratisation and trade union reform in Trinidad,
Grenada and Guiana, and were sufficiently appreciative of the meliorist
reforms which were eventually offered that in their later careers they
baulked at the implications of demolishing the entire imperial edifice.
Gordon Lewis has noted how the Guianese leader’s attitude to uni-
versal suffrage changed: ‘even there the father of Guyanese unionism,
Hubert Critchlow, whose British Guiana Labour Union had advocated
the reform as far back as 1925, himself came to feel some wavering
doubts late in the day about giving the vote to people who might be
fooled, as he saw it, by any kind of thing.’48 The generation which fol-
lowed Critchlow were more explicit in emphasising the liberationist and
egalitarian connotations of independence. This was perhaps most evi-
dent in those movements which promoted the reinvigoration of the
black African heritage of the Caribbean. After his return to Jamaica
in 1957, Claudius Henry exposed his followers ‘to the unapologetic
militant, anti-colonialism in Rastafarian ideology.’49 By 1960 Henry’s
African Reformed Church was engaged in an armed confrontation with
Jamaica’s security forces. Although Henry was operating at the margins
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of Jamaican anti-colonialism by this stage scepticism about imperial
apologetics and the requirement for a liberation which extended to
social, cultural and economic fields was common currency among rev-
olutionary Marxists, reformist Fabians and even cautious liberals. It was
possible for Eric Williams, whose People’s National Movement rep-
resented prudent middle-class sentiment on Trinidad, to affirm the
requirement for a cultural renaissance in a speech to an audience in
Woodford Square in August 1955: ‘The Negro, or the Indian for that
matter, will not achieve moral status until he achieves economic and
political status . . . . Only a few years ago, Nehru’s status was that of a
political gaolbird, India’s status that of a colony. Today India, having
achieved economic and political status, enjoys moral status.’50 As the
South Asian precedent suggested, Caribbean nationalists believed that
to achieve their ambition of autonomy a confrontation with British
imperialism was necessary.

For the British, the agonist thinking of the new generation of political
leaders imperilled plans for a collaborative transition to independence.
The labour rebellions of the late 1930s portended that rising discontent
with the inegalitarian economic system might sweep away the political
status quo in a flood of anti-imperialist sentiment. In some respects this
worked to the advantage of the nationalist leadership: metropolitan vig-
ilance against potential insurgency could make even radical nationalist
politicians appear as worthwhile collaborators. Furthermore, although
they were populist figures themselves and committed to a liberationist
form of politics, many of those advocating constitutional reform were
nervous about the consequences of metropolitan overreaction in the
face of anti-colonial protests. The potential for the emergence of a
more revolutionary politics based on ideals of communism or black
empowerment challenged the assumption that mainstream nationalist
parties were the only possible inheritors of the authority once exer-
cised by the British. Thus it was Norman Manley who first expelled the
Marxist faction from the PNP in 1952 and then dealt with the appar-
ent threat posed to a stable transition to independence by raiding the
camps of Claudius Henry’s Rastafarian supporters in 1960. Such actions
have fed the historiographical tradition that emphasises the collabora-
tionist attitude of local nationalism. However the politics of order was
more complicated than has sometimes been acknowledged and differ-
ences became manifest in five distinct areas of concern: regional unity,
labour disputes, potential racial conflict, the Cold War and development
economics.
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The establishment in 1958 of a new federal polity called The West
Indies was the culmination of 10 years of negotiation about what form
political integration should take. The capitalisation of the definite arti-
cle was deliberate: this was to be a single country united by a common
Caribbean culture set on a course towards independence, at which point
it would have the collective material resources to act as an effective guar-
antor of regional stability. While such hopes were widely shared they
were given a different emphasis by different actors. For politicians in
the Caribbean the overwhelming desire was to ensure independence
from colonial control and when it became evident that federation
was slowing rather than expediting this process, centrifugal tendencies
were reinforced. The absence of any guarantees of federal independence
buttressed Caribbean parochialism, as represented by Bustamante in
Jamaica, and resulted in the defeat of the regional cosmopolitanism pro-
moted by the majority of the nationalist leadership. For the British the
maintenance of order and good government in the federation provided
a warrant for the next stage in the process of decolonisation. This gen-
erated an equivocating attitude among metropolitan policymakers who
both feared that an early demission of power would lead to chaos in the
region and recognised that the slow, incrementalist approach to consti-
tutional reform which they championed risked generating resentment
and an upsurge in isolationist sentiment on the islands. As the Jamaican
referendum of 1961 and the failure of negotiations for an Eastern
Caribbean federation showed they were overly vigilant in their concern
for the former and paid insufficient attention to the latter possibility.

The continuation of industrial relations controversies into the post-
war era provided, on the British account, both compelling evidence
of the dangers entailed in transferring power to the periphery and a
rationale for doing so. Memories of the riots of the late 1930s persisted
and became an enduring source of apprehension in the metropolis.
Strikes in St Kitts in 1948 and Grenada in 1951 augmented metropoli-
tan neuroses. The British were reluctant to devolve authority to labour
leaders who they regarded as irresponsible but expected constitutional
advance to mitigate the anti-imperialist tone of labour protests. Some
of the most earnest tutorials they offered nationalist politicians dur-
ing the course of their apprenticeship pertained to the necessity of
containing industrial unrest. Following a period of supervision British
policymakers hoped that labour leaders would increasingly be forced to
take account of the interests of overseas capital on which the region was
still dependent. Nevertheless, they remained sceptical that nationalist
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leaders would assimilate the lesson and they relied increasingly on the
handful of politicians, often at the periphery of the labour movement,
whom they regarded as responsible, most notably Norman Manley.
Even more, conservative nationalist leaders such as Manley argued that
political independence required that greater attention be paid to the
inegalitarianism of Caribbean society and that labour was entitled to
some recompense for centuries of economic exploitation. From their
perspective the riots of the 1930s had played a decisive role in forcing
the imperial power to finally pay some attention to the requirements of
economic justice and constitutional advance.

The politics of race, both in terms of the racial attitudes of British
policymakers and the racial divisions within particular societies, were
another potential source of disorder. Caribbean politicians and writers
have been a good deal more ingenuous than their British counterparts
in discussing the role which assumptions about race have played in
shaping their societies. In Jamaica the differences between the brown
middle class and a black proletariat remained a preoccupation, while
in Guiana and Trinidad the Indian and African populations increas-
ingly divided along party lines from the 1950s onwards. Although
British imperial administrators prided themselves on the greater racial
tolerance which was evident in the Anglophone Caribbean compared
to the United States, elite attitudes were underpinned by racial pre-
suppositions. In December 1942, the American representative on the
Caribbean Commission, Charles Taussig met Winston Churchill for a
general discussion on Caribbean and international affairs. The British
Prime Minister expatiated very broadly on the racial politics of empire
and explained: ‘We will not let the Hottentots by popular vote throw the
white people into the sea, nor let the Syrians by popular vote throw out
the Jews.’51 Although Churchill did not take a great interest in the affairs
of the Caribbean it was during his 1951–1955 premiership that a debate
began over restrictions on immigration from the empire, which revealed
a great deal about British assumptions and became entangled with the
fate of the Caribbean federation. While frequently accusing Caribbean
politicians of ‘anti-white’ prejudice, metropolitan discussions of such
issues were themselves predicated on the assumption that the mixing of
races was likely to lead to disorder.

The politics of the Cold War has become the subject of some his-
toriographical interest, but it was not the foremost consideration of
British policymakers in the region. For one relatively brief period in
1952–1953 an outbreak of McCarthyite panic gripped the Anglophone
Caribbean; with this exception, British imperial strategists tended to
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be sanguine about the difficulties which seemed certain to attend any
effort by Moscow to promote communism in the region. By contrast,
Washington’s influence was inescapable and was particularly evident in
the economy, where Texaco, for example, developed a significant role
in the nascent oil industry of Trinidad, and in the defence field, where
the United States acquired bases across the region during the Second
World War. Direct American pressure was evident in the disputes over
the leadership of Trinidad and British Guiana where both Eric Williams
and Cheddi Jagan were identified in Washington as troublemakers. The
former was provided with a degree of protection by British policymak-
ers who regarded him as a potential ally against the forces of disorder,
while the latter was sacrificed, at least partly to appease the Kennedy
administration. More broadly the British were also concerned that the
process of decolonisation should be endorsed by the United Nations and
one of the reasons for their advocacy of federation was their concern
that the smaller territories would not be welcomed into the UN or the
Commonwealth. When the federation collapsed they adopted a policy
of Associated Statehood for these territories on the basis that it was a
method of decolonisation approved by the UN.

The fifth aspect of the politics of order and independence in the
Anglophone Caribbean concerns the relationship between metropolitan
and peripheral economies which were characterised by the dependence
of the latter on the former. British officials and politicians, who were
preoccupied with guaranteeing economic and political continuity at the
end of empire, also regarded decolonisation as an opportunity to pursue
domestic retrenchment by curtailing financial assistance directed over-
seas. A countervailing tendency was evident in efforts to uphold the
principle that the economic conditions which led to the upheavals of
the 1930s required a programme of development which necessitated an
injection of metropolitan capital in the form of development funding.
Although the British government was anxious to avoid additional bur-
dens on the Treasury, they feared that the underdevelopment of some of
the smaller territories meant that they would never adequately obtain
genuine independence outside a federation. The question of whether
and to what extent this funding should be extended into the indepen-
dence period also exposed tensions in anti-colonial thinking. Despite
constant demands that the constitutional privileges enjoyed by the
metropolitan authorities should be eliminated, anti-colonial national-
ists asserted that Britain had an obligation to continue to provide grants
and loans. This appeared to compromise the ideas of autonomy which
they espoused in other spheres. For the nationalists, contemporary
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British obligations to offer financial support were justified on the basis
of the record of colonialism which demonstrated that the people of
the region had been coerced into a position of economic dependency.
It was impossible for the new nation states of the region to plan for
an independent future in a competitive global economic system with-
out some transitional financial aid. An adequate understanding of the
economic aspects of decolonisation, such as the analysis of regional inte-
gration, labour unrest, the Cold War and race, needs to be grounded in
a detailed account of the events which took place in the region and
having established the foundations of the analysis it is time to turn to
that task.



2
The Struggle for Independence
1947–1952

The Montego Bay conference of September 1947 was intended to pro-
vide the basis for the establishment of a new nation state in the
Anglophone Caribbean. After gathering in Jamaica, delegates from
across the region passed 15 resolutions for the future of the region.
The first affirmed their support for a federation of the various individ-
ual territories; the fifteenth resolution humbly expressed their loyalty
and allegiance to George VI who responded by affirming his ‘deep inter-
est in their welfare.’1 Despite some intemperate exchanges over how
a federation was to be funded, a political programme entailing greater
unity between the islands and continuing loyalty to British traditions
seemed to presage a relatively smooth path to independence for the
West Indies, at a time when events in Palestine and India proved that
dissolving an empire could be a bloody and acrimonious process. Dur-
ing the following two decades, and with the significant exception of
the mainland territory of British Guiana, the story of decolonisation in
the region gave at least the appearance of incremental progress towards
a harmonious transfer of authority from British imperial officials to
the region’s nationalist politicians. Fifty years after independence it is
evident that the apparent reconciliation between nationalism and impe-
rialism offered rather inadequate camouflage for two incompatible sets
of preoccupations. West Indian nationalists were seeking to develop a
sense of common nationhood in a region where geography and history
made this an exceptionally difficult task. A lack of territorial contigu-
ity between the islands and the mainland territories and a history in
which any sense of cultural, political and economic achievement was
attenuated by the human suffering endured on the plantations, consti-
tuted obstacles to the nation-building project. Given the urgency of the
problems confronting them, nationalists believed that yet more years

29
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of British tutelage would not assist the process of constructing a new
identity which transcended the grimness of the past. In some senses the
British had wider horizons because they were handling similar problems
across the globe but this broader perspective actually blurred their vision
of the regional obstacles to unity. The goal in the Caribbean as else-
where was to secure an orderly transition to independence and events
were constantly refracted through this lens. When British notions of
orderliness were unpacked they were found to contain a formidable list
of criteria for independence: guarantees against unrest, budgetary parsi-
mony, constitutional probity, potential for economic development and
allegiance to British or Western cultural values. Although metropoli-
tan politicians and officials accepted that such standards could not
be permanently guaranteed they wished to entrench various constitu-
tional, social and financial safeguards before independence was granted
and this necessitated delay. During the Montego Bay negotiations they
assumed that George VI and his descendants would require the loyalty
and obedience of the Caribbean people for some years to come. Over
the next five years this presupposition was challenged by the emergence
of a regionalist trade-union movement, the articulation of a powerful
local nationalism in Jamaica and labour disputes in the Leewards and
Windwards.

Standing closer in the Caribbean

While metropolitan policymakers and nationalist politicians concurred
that a federation consisting of all or most of the Anglophone countries
of the region was a laudable goal, for two decades after 1945, discus-
sions of the more detailed issues revealed many differences between
the protagonists. The often divergent interests of each particular ter-
ritory generated recurring controversies among the nationalists over
the practical matters of federal revenue, customs union and freedom
of movement. Such squabbles served to conceal the more fundamen-
tal conflicts between anti-colonial actors from the Caribbean, who were
eager to utilise the federation as a means of obtaining early indepen-
dence, and imperial administrators, whose habitual response was one
of extreme caution regarding matters of constitutional reform. Colo-
nial Office reserve was founded on a conviction that the peoples of
the Anglophone Caribbean remained in a dangerous state of discon-
tent which required them to handle local affairs with great delicacy.
At times they acknowledged that the turbulence of local politics was
a consequence of the grim economic circumstances in which most of
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the people of the region still lived but they also believed in the exis-
tence of a Caribbean sensibility which was prone to irrationality and
violence. In principle they favoured federation because it would leash
these instincts to a sturdier political order than if the territories achieved
unilateral independence. The rational planning of economic develop-
ment required greater cooperation and any measure of political reform
undertaken in one place inevitably had ramifications elsewhere which
had to be considered when making constitutional calculations. Regional
integration also offered the prospect of relieving the British Exchequer of
the burden of financial support for the territories. Despite these appar-
ent incentives, British officials constantly urged vigilance and caution
in the debates about Caribbean decolonisation and this attitude even-
tually proved debilitating for the federal project. They were particularly
wary about the more radical ideas expressed by the Caribbean Labour
Congress (CLC).

The CLC was one forum in which nationalists discussed plans for
greater regional unity and its fortunes rose and fell with their spon-
sorship of the federal idea. Perhaps surprisingly the origins of the
organisation lay in British Guiana which did not join the federation
when it was finally formed in 1958. In the 1920s Guianese trade union-
ists were in the forefront of workers’ organisation partly due to the
influence of Hubert Critchlow, who in 1905 at the age of 21 had led
a strike for better wages by waterfront workers which precipitated dis-
turbances across the colony.2 Union activity was to varying degrees
illegal across the Anglophone Caribbean until the late 1930s and labour
leaders had a common interest in securing recognition of their role
as legitimate representatives of workers’ grievances. In 1926 Critchlow
hosted a conference in Georgetown which led to the formation of the
Guianese and West Indian Federation of Trade Unions and Labour Par-
ties (GWIFTULP).3 Among those who attended was a Trinidadian of
Corsican descent called Arthur Andrew Cipriani who, in recognition of
his service in the First World War, was universally addressed as Captain
Cipriani. The programme of his Trinidad Workingmen’s Association,
which later became the Trinidad Labour Party, fused proposals for con-
stitutional reform with demands for better working conditions. Cipriani
was also a supporter of federalism and introduced a motion proposing
regional unity at the 1926 Georgetown conference.4 Despite Cipriani’s
enthusiasm for regional integration the influence of the GWIFTULP was
restricted to Trinidad, Guiana and Surinam and it was superseded by
the CLC which held its first conference in Barbados in 1945. The CLC
had a much wider geographical reach than the old GWIFTULP and its
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adoption of the Cipriani thesis that a federation of the Anglophone ter-
ritories would benefit labour, marked a significant step towards greater
unity. Despite the consensus in favour of political integration, the new
organisation was divided between the increasing conservatism of the
old labour leaders, like Critchlow and T. A. Marryshow of Grenada,
who took on the positions of Vice-President and President respectively,
and a younger grouping of radicals, including Richard Hart of Jamaica
and Robert Bradshaw of St Kitts.

The radical case for federation, which alarmed both the British and
the senior leadership of the CLC, encompassed a critique of the cur-
rent order in its economic, constitutional and international manifes-
tations along with the reconfiguring of conceptions of independence.
In economic terms the CLC radicals diverged from the classical liberal
orthodoxy which the Colonial Office were determined to maintain, by
advocating import substitution and local capital accumulation rather
than export promotion and external capital investment. The Statement
of Economic Development and Federation approved at the Barbados
conference criticised the extant monoculture centred on sugar produc-
tion as an imperialist imposition which ‘had resulted in the importation
of food and in failure to establish many local manufacturers capable
of development.’ Dependence on external capital was also regarded
as enervating because local people did not receive the full benefit
of their economic production. On this account British imperialism
was an exercise in economic exploitation and greater regional unity
was a means of challenging imperialism in its economic and political
aspects. It was evident that the smaller territories of the region were
vulnerable to external influences and federation was a prerequisite for
greater autarchy.5 Economic independence was intimately connected to
political independence which was, in many respects, a more straight-
forward matter. The Trinidadian trade unionist, Ralph Mentor, told
the Barbados delegates: ‘What was wanted was the transfer to the
West Indies of the political power at present exercised in Downing
Street’.6

Although there was unanimity on the need for a loosening of polit-
ical ties to Britain, CLC leaders were also apprehensive about the rise
of American influence. At the moment when Caribbean labour was
formulating a programme for independence, they felt exposed to the
unrestrained capitalism and Jim Crow racial attitudes exported from
the United States. In 1940 Roosevelt had acquired bases in Bermuda,
the Bahamas, Jamaica, Antigua, St Lucia, British Guiana and Trinidad as
part of a deal to supply 50 near-obsolescent destroyers to the Royal Navy.
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Harvey Neptune has demonstrated that, in the case of Trinidad at least,
the response of the local population to the arrival of the American forces
was ambivalent rather than universally hostile, but it is clear that labour
leaders were appalled at the potential replacement of British imperi-
alism with American neo-colonialism.7 Among the older leaders there
was still a residual loyalty to the nascent British Commonwealth which
Marryshow suggested was a potential bulwark against American interfer-
ence in the region’s affairs. Speaking for the younger generation Robert
Bradshaw declared in 1946 that he was relieved that the Americans had
not come to his home island of St Kitts: ‘We have had no Yankees and
we want none. Forward to federated British West Indies.’ In referring
to the discriminatory measures imposed in the base areas he expressed
astonishment at the ‘shameful atrocities committed against blacks in
these islands by the same Yankees since we have been forced to share
our island homes with them.’8

To the sensibilities of Whitehall the least uncongenial aspect of the
CLC prospectus was the determination to resist American influence.
During the Second World War British policymakers argued with their
American counterparts about the future of the region in the forum pro-
vided by the Anglo-American Caribbean Commission. This organisation
was established in 1942 because the Roosevelt administration insisted
that their support for the region’s development must be conditional
upon consultation over the process of political and economic reform.9

After its establishment British officials came to share many of the reser-
vations of Caribbean labour leaders about the potentially disruptive role
of an expanded American presence.10 Scepticism about Washington’s
motives was interpreted in London as sensible and prudent, but when
local nationalists expressed aspirations for greater economic indepen-
dence and early dominion status for a West Indian federation they
merely reinforced preconceived British ideas about the immaturity of
Caribbean political thinking. Consideration of some measure of politi-
cal unity among their scattered possessions in the Caribbean had been
a part of metropolitan debates about the region’s future since the mid-
dle of the nineteenth century but had stalled following the failure to
reach agreement on a confederal plan at Barbados in 1876. The official
debate on federation recommenced with a message from the Colo-
nial Secretary, Oliver Stanley, to West Indian Governors on 14 March
1945. Stanley’s despatch offered a parenthetical dismissal of the goal
of economic autarchy: ‘It will no doubt be generally appreciated that
financial stability (which is of course very different from economic
self-sufficiency) is an essential accompaniment of full self-government
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and that the latter cannot be a reality without the former.’ A federa-
tion built on British design would be one in which the imperial power
would continue to act as a warden against financial irresponsibility
and which would be disqualified for independence until the account-
ing books were balanced. In the interim the people of the region were
advised to exercise their political instincts in the development of local
self-government and community work.11 There are at least two poten-
tially divergent interpretations of this programme: one suggests that the
principal British concern was with the strain which economic subsi-
dies to their Caribbean colonies was placing on metropolitan finances
which required the Colonial Office to enforce a policy of budgetary
retrenchment before discarding entirely the burden of empire as rapidly
as possible; the other proceeds on the assumption that the emphasis
on economic incontinence was a product and a symbol of British con-
victions regarding the ingrained political immaturity of the Caribbean
colonies which disqualified the people of the region from obtaining
early independence. The latter seems a more convincing portrayal in
the context of ongoing equivocations during the debate about fed-
eral independence which took place after the Montego Bay conference,
persistent reservations about self-government in the most advanced
territory, Jamaica, and the continuing fear of labour unrest, which
is evident from an analysis of developments in some of the smaller
islands.

The founding CLC conference at Barbados in 1945 and the Stanley
despatch of the same year established that British officials and Caribbean
politicians were on common ground in supporting federalism. It soon
became evident that they had reached the same conclusion by different
routes and that the difference in rationale would generate controversy,
particularly regarding the relationship between federalism and inde-
pendence. The Colonial Office spent much of their time deducing
gloomy conclusions about the nature of what they termed ‘the West
Indian mind’ from a set of premises about the region’s political prob-
lems. This tendency was particularly conspicuous in the debate between
metropolitan officials and imperial administrators which occurred once
the Labour Colonial Secretary, Arthur Creech Jones, recommended in
February 1947 the holding of a conference to discuss federation. This
initiative precipitated expressions of scepticism from some British rep-
resentatives in the region who doubted whether ambitious plans for
a closer association across the whole of the Anglophone Caribbean
were feasible. The proposed conference interrupted British efforts to
expand the existing Leeward Islands federation by increments, with the
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incorporation of the Windward Islands as a first step. Brian Freeston, the
Governor of the Leewards, recorded his opposition to a pan-Caribbean
federation because ‘it appears very doubtful whether public opinion
has yet been educated to a point where the conception can be use-
fully discussed on a practical basis.’ He suggested that the recent failure
of local leaders to coordinate plans for participation in the Caribbean
Commission demonstrated ‘the inability of West Indian politicians to
think together’. Another Governor, Arthur Grimble of the Windwards,
was aggrieved that the delays which would accompany the formulation
of any grand plan for integration across the whole of the Anglophone
Caribbean would interrupt more practical efforts to promote a series of
local political unions. Officials in Whitehall agreed that the creation
of a large federation would be accompanied by many disagreements
between local politicians but seemed comforted by the expected lethar-
gic pace of constitutional change. Robert Arundell who was a member
of the Anglo-American Caribbean Commission and succeeded Grimble
to the Governorship of the Windwards in 1948, received reassuring mes-
sages from the Colonial Office explaining that they did not expect much
progress to be made at the impending Montego Bay conference and
that ‘even if the principle is accepted it would probably take years to
elaborate.’12

Delegates to the second Caribbean Labour Congress which met in
Kingston between 2 and 9 September 1947 were in much more of a
hurry and their haste distressed the Caribbean oligarchy which had
previously dominated local politics and continued to control the econ-
omy. Gordon Lewis noted that CLC delegates set themselves at odds
with local commercial interests in developing an ‘advanced programme’
at Kingston which intended federation ‘as a vehicle for democratic
social growth’.13 The defence of the status quo devolved to Alexander
Bustamante’s Jamaica Labour Party (JLP) which, despite its origins in
the labour protests of the 1930s, adopted an increasingly conservative
position over the next two decades and became the party of Jamaican
business. One of the first portents of these future developments was
Bustamante’s condemnation of CLC radicalism and his refusal to attend
the Kingston conference despite its location in the capital city of the
island of which he was Chief Minister.14 The Gleaner provided detailed
reports of the riotous enthusiasm of the delegates inside Coke Hall for
federation and against Bustamante and imperialism. The meeting began
with the Trinidadian Albert Gomes ‘hitting out’ at Bustamante on the
first day and Marryshow invoking the spirit of Admiral Collingwood
on the second with the injunction: ‘Gentlemen let us do something
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today that the world will talk of hereafter.’ Bustamante responded by
denouncing the ‘loud mouthed people’ who had insufficient patience
to await the impending talks at Montego Bay. The CLC conference
culminated with Gomes prematurely declaring, ‘we are on the thresh-
old of creating a West Indian nation.’15 This was the closest that the
federal cause ever came to establishing itself as a populist movement
but in the longer term the rivalries between island leaders which were
already evident in Kingston and the stifling effect of British procras-
tination would cause a decade of delay. Having set himself at odds
with Bustamante at Kingston, Gomes continued to prove his talent
as a controversialist by alienating almost every other labour leader in
the Caribbean during the course of his long career. Nevertheless his
memoirs accurately evoke the hesitant reaction of the British to plans
for a federation. He recalled: ‘the British had to cloak their enthusi-
asm in cagey ambivalence. They wanted it if we wanted it; but they
wouldn’t press it if we didn’t want it.’ During a discussion with the
Colonial Secretary about federation, Gomes noted that Creech Jones
wanted ‘reassurance that if he acted the reaction in the West Indies
would not be such as to cause retardation rather than advance of the
cause.’16

One means of illustrating the extent of the differences alluded to by
Gomes is to compare the programme agreed to by the CLC delegates
with Colonial Office briefing papers for the Montego Bay conference
which began two days after the Kingston meeting ended. The former
called for the early establishment of a federation encompassing all the
Anglophone islands and the mainland territories of British Guiana and
British Honduras and the granting of dominion status to the new polity.
The CLC also recommended that simultaneously with the acquisition of
dominion status, the units of the federation should each obtain internal
self-government and electoral systems based on universal adult suffrage.
By contrast Colonial Office memoranda emphasised that the Montego
Bay meeting was unlikely to produce a federal constitution, despite the
fact that the CLC had drafted one, and that they should aim instead,
to make progress towards a customs union and the establishment of a
working party to prepare a scheme for closer political association. Per-
functory British efforts to sketch the future federal constitution were
indicative of the extreme caution with which metropolitan policymak-
ers approached the possible demission of power in the Anglophone
Caribbean. Although the Jamaican constitution of 1944 had led to con-
flicts because of the extensive executive authority retained by British
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appointees, the Colonial Office suggested it might provide a model for
the federation.17 Given that metropolitan policymakers were expecting
a long interval before the institution of the federation, the imposition
of a constitutional system based on a model devised during the Sec-
ond World War would ensure that elected politicians could exercise
greater authority at the level of the units than at the federal centre.
In other words, the inevitable consequence of Colonial Office wariness
was that legislators and ministers in unit governments would have wider
powers than their equivalents in the federal government. The attempt
to coordinate constitutional progress at these different levels remained
a debilitating factor in all future discussions of federation and under-
mined efforts to recruit local politicians to the federal Parliament after
its final establishment in 1958.

On 11 September 1947 elected and official members of the govern-
ments of the Anglophone Caribbean met with representatives of the
Colonial Office at the coastal resort of Montego Bay in Jamaica to try and
reconcile their views about the constitutional architecture of any future
federation. British reluctance to establish a federal centre in which their
own authority would be greatly diminished and the determination of
nationalist leaders to prevent the federal project from inhibiting their
efforts to secure greater powers in their home territories ensured that
the notion of uneven constitutional progress was given official sanc-
tion by delegates. Resolution 2 of the conference specified that political
development in the units ‘must be pursued as an aim in itself without
prejudice and in no way subordinate to progress towards federation.’18

As Mordecai later acknowledged, in his long defence of the evolution of
official policy, this was a ‘fateful decision’. He suggested that this resolu-
tion was one of three obstacles which came into clearer view at Montego
Bay; the others were Bustamante’s inconvenient sloganeering about a
‘federation of paupers’ and Creech Jones’s ‘subtle opposition to the
CLC approach.’19 Gomes shared this analysis in his own reminiscences,
although he portrayed the situation more dramatically by claiming
that Bustamante ‘injected the poison into the foetus which killed the
infant’.20 Even aside from this unpleasant rhetorical flourish, the views
of Mordecai and Gomes overstate the case and were influenced by hind-
sight. While it is evident, in retrospect, that some of the problems which
would dog the federation for the next decade first achieved prominence
at Montego Bay, on the question of relations between the units and
the future federal centre, it was not feasible to retard local constitu-
tional progress during the federal negotiations. The motions adopted
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at Montego Bay reflected existing conditions and the decision made
there to establish a Standing Closer Association Committee (SCAC)
provided a forum to resolve emerging disagreements. Much more prob-
lematic was the reluctance of the Colonial Office over the next decade
to concede that the new federation might obtain early self-government
and this only became evident when the SCAC began detailed
constitutional drafting under the chairmanship of Hubert Rance
in 1949.

SCAC meetings provided an opportunity for the new generation of
nationalist politicians to debate the details of a federal constitution with
Colonial Office representatives. Grantley Adams of Barbados attempted
to defend the CLC concept of a federation with Dominion status, but
his opposition to the incrementalist approach of the Colonial Office
was flattened by British officials. They wished to ensure that the con-
stitutional structure of the new West Indian state would follow the
apprenticeship model which would give the imperial power sufficient
authority to guide and if necessary curb the inclinations of locally
elected federal representatives. Some labour leaders, such as Vere Bird
of Antigua, whose unyielding demands for economic justice had estab-
lished their reputation as political radicals in their home territories, were
remarkably forbearing of British sensitivities on regional constitutional
issues. Writing to Richard Hart after the first two SCAC meetings Bird
reported, with no sense of rancour, ‘it seems that the decision will be
that to go from an extreme of Crown Colonies to Dominion Status will
be rash. Too much of an extreme to go from one extreme to another in
one jump.’21 Bird’s appreciation of the metropolitan perspective caused
him to moderate his position sufficiently that at the end of the talks, he
was commended by Rance as one of only two members of the commit-
tee ‘who were genuinely interested in Federation for its own sake.’ The
condemnation of Bird’s non-cooperative colleagues reflected a broader
British sensibility which denigrated the capacities of Caribbean politi-
cal leadership as unfit for the responsibilities of independence. Rance
had been transferred to the Caribbean shortly after his tenure as the
last British Governor of Burma and from the outset he expressed some
disdain for the capacities of the people of the region. Even before he
had chaired the first Committee meetings Rance endorsed the view that
‘West Indians are not notable for a strong sense of relevance.’ At the end
of the negotiations he offered a schoolmaster’s report on Adams, who
would later become the first Prime Minister of the Federation: ‘He dis-
played the fact that he had not studied his papers, that on any point
of detail his mind is essentially a woolly one, that he lacks intellectual
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courage, and that he is obsessed with points of appearance rather than
of substance.’22

The prejudices of the British participants in the discussions could be
regarded as a trivial matter but they ramified, and had a particular influ-
ence on discussions of the balance of constitutional powers between
the appointed Governor and the elected representatives in the putative
federation. During the meetings of SCAC, the right of the British Gov-
ernor to control defence and foreign affairs, and to assume emergency
powers went unquestioned; the only time when nationalist resistance to
ongoing imperial supervision was mounted occurred when the question
of the federal budget was raised. The repetitive invocation of finan-
cial insolvency as a bar to political independence for the Caribbean
territories appears incongruous because in the late 1940s Britain was
itself dependent on an enormous loan from the United States to avoid
bankruptcy but the emphasis given to it by Rance and the Colonial
Office was entirely consistent with the historical tradition of trusteeship
thinking. Arguments about whether the West Indian people were inher-
ently unsuited for self-government or whether they would at some point
in the future graduate from their colonial apprenticeship and become
capable of genuine autonomy had numerous precedents, including the
Wood Report of 1922.23 The particular form which they took in the
late 1940s focused on the incapacities of contemporary politicians to
provide an effective administration which would balance the books of
any new nation state. Initially the CLC representatives on the SCAC
argued in favour of the Ceylonese constitution which had brought
the island to the brink of independence in 1946 but Rance empha-
sised that any British Governor would require greater powers to deal
with the fact that the Caribbean islands were not as financially stable
as Ceylon.24 After the second SCAC meeting in Trinidad in March 1949
the Colonial Office expressed confidence that Caribbean politicians had
assimilated the argument that they would inevitably be dependent on
budgetary assistance from Britain and that if they did ‘concede the link,
they must concede the S. of S. [Secretary of State] ultimate control in
financial matters.’25 This confidence was misplaced, and at the third
meeting in Barbados, Adams was able to eliminate from the draft report
those passages granting the Governor reserved powers in the field of
finance. A future Governor could still exercise financial control by refus-
ing to assent to bills which required spending and by extending the
previous year’s financial measures in the case of a budgetary crisis but
this was still insufficient to reassure officials in Whitehall. During the
concluding drafting sessions, Rance reimposed measures granting the
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Governor powers to legislate on any occasion when elected representa-
tives undertook action which might appear ‘gravely to imperil financial
stability’.26

The importance which was accorded to these detailed technical argu-
ments attests to the continued nervousness of British policymakers
about whether a future federation would be financially solvent; anal-
ysis of the reportage which accompanied the negotiations demonstrates
that this was matched by a sour pessimism regarding the process
of constitution-building itself. While Rance presided over the SCAC
meetings, much of the detailed drafting was undertaken by another
Colonial Office official, Charles Carstairs, who, acting in his capac-
ity as Secretary of SCAC, also provided Whitehall with a commentary
on events. In April 1949 he reported that the Caribbean politicians
with whom he was dealing were ‘an idle lot’ and that his goal was
to ‘get them to face squarely the logic of the situation, particularly
the political and constitutional consequences of economic instability
and financial dependency.’27 Five months later, and before the issuing
of the final report, Carstairs predicted that the proposals on which he
was working would prove unacceptable to the territorial governments.
This pessimistic conclusion was founded on the premise of Caribbean
contrarianism which ensured that any proposal emanating from the
precincts of British officialdom was automatically mistrusted. Such atti-
tudes, according to Carstairs, derived ‘not from the behaviour of HMG
at all but from the prevailing low standards of political morality in
the region.’28 When Caribbean Governors and Administrators met in
November 1949 to discuss the likelihood of SCAC plans being endorsed
by territorial legislatures they took the opportunity to exchange dis-
couraging forecasts. Representing the Colonial Office in his capacity as
Assistant Under-Secretary, George Seel went as far as to suggest that ‘it
seemed impossible at this stage to make any assumption that the area
would become self-dependent financially and economically’.29 Such a
bald statement of short- and medium-term dependency was anathema
to Caribbean nationalists.

The publication of the Rance report in March 1950 provided an
opportunity for a new nationalist critique of metropolitan thinking.
Although its recommendations were widely regarded as inadequate the
chance to adumbrate a more progressive alternative was missed because
of continuing dissension between Caribbean politicians. Inevitably the
lack of a coherent response served to ratify Colonial Office preju-
dices about the inadequacy of local leadership, particularly on the
smaller islands. Rance’s intention was to force territorial legislatures to
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declare their position on the federal issue; this purpose was frustrated
by the inevitable lack of enthusiasm for such timid proposals which
appeared to portend an extended period of continued British control,
and by further disagreements among the local political actors. After
12 months, only the legislatures of Trinidad and the Windward Islands
had debated the recommendations. In Jamaica, Bustamante remained
sceptical about regional integration. His unwillingness to support fed-
eration encouraged labour leaders in the Eastern Caribbean to consider
whether they should form a political union of their own. Proposals ema-
nating from Robert Bradshaw in St Kitts for a ‘nuclear federation’ of
Trinidad, the Windwards and the Leewards foreshadowed the discus-
sions which would occur in the aftermath of the Jamaican secession in
1961. On both occasions metropolitan policymakers reacted by empha-
sising the role of the federation in curbing the disorderliness of small
island politics. Federalist sentiment in the Windwards and Leewards
was attributed by Stephen Luke, the Assistant Under-Secretary respon-
sible for Caribbean affairs at the Colonial Office, to a ‘rather pathetic
belief in Federation as offering a way out from the frustrations of their
economic and political limitations’.30 Bradshaw’s ‘nuclear federation’
also prompted a revealing discussion of the role of big-island leader-
ship. The Governor of the Leewards, Kenneth Blackburne, was obsessed
with the requirement to remedy the irresponsibility of politicians in ter-
ritories like St Kitts and Antigua. He remarked: ‘If we are to avoid “boss
rule” in these little islands (and we have nearly got it already) then we
must enable more experienced West Indian leaders to take control as
soon as possible’. Luke concurred that federation ought to broaden the
outlook of the small islands and ‘subject them to more sober and respon-
sible West Indian leaders’.31 The notion of the nuclear federation was
eventually rejected by the Colonial Office in favour of a policy of ‘stu-
dious neutrality’ towards the squabbles between Bustamante and the
Eastern Caribbean leaders.32 The impasse was broken in August 1951
when Bustamante adopted a motion in the Jamaican Executive Council
cautiously endorsing the principle of federation and calling for a con-
ference in London to discuss how the Rance recommendations could be
made more palatable. The centrality of Jamaica as the biggest of the big
islands was evident from the gratified reaction in Whitehall but this new
initiative set the stage for a new round of federal wrangling in anticipa-
tion of the commencement of the London conference in 1953.33 Before
turning to these developments in the next chapter, it will be useful to
examine first, the state of Jamaican politics in the years after the intro-
duction of the 1944 constitution and, second, to attend to the nature of
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small island politics, using the cases of St Kitts and Grenada to analyse
why they were regarded by metropolitan policymakers as a danger to
the process of decolonisation.

Manley, Bustamante and constitutional reform in Jamaica

Arguments about the design of the federation highlighted the irregu-
larity of the many different territorial constitutions in the Anglophone
Caribbean. There could be no one Colonial Office blueprint for reform-
ing the governments which would become the units of the federation
because Jamaica, Trinidad, Barbados, the Windwards, the Leewards and
the mainland territories were each at a different stage of constitutional
development. When constitutions were revised in particular localities it
was in reaction to the contingencies facing Governors and Administra-
tors at a local level and this tended to amplify existing disparities. British
policymakers dealt with issues of constitutional reform with an impres-
sive degree of ingenuity and subtlety but the purpose to which they put
this inventiveness was to delay the moment at which Britain’s regional
empire was to be dissolved. Whereas they were frequently bewildered
by industrial relation conflicts in the Anglophone Caribbean, they had
extensive knowledge of the design of political systems for imperial ter-
ritories which they put to good use in assembling small packages of
incremental reform for each of the territories. The drawback of this inge-
nuity was that the various bespoke constitutions exacerbated discontent
among nationalist politicians who felt they were lagging behind their
rivals elsewhere: for this reason it is useful to analyse the case of Jamaica
which in 1944 had been granted the most advanced constitution in
the region. What an examination of British strategy demonstrates is
that the purpose of all this tactical manoeuvring was to place imped-
iments along the path to independence which the nationalists would
find it difficult to circumnavigate. Even though the British eventually
invested a great deal of trust in the Jamaican politician Norman Manley
as the future leader of a wider Caribbean federation and denigrated small
island leaders for not living up to the standards set on the larger islands,
they resisted demands for further measures of constitutional reform for
which the nationalists in Jamaica were pressing.

The nationalist programme exhibited a significant degree of unifor-
mity across the Anglophone Caribbean. Its focus was on democrati-
sation which required first, the concession of universal suffrage; sec-
ondly, the replacement of officials and nominees in local legislatures
by elected representatives; and thirdly, the transfer of executive power
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from British-appointed Governors to Chief Ministers, Prime Ministers or
Premiers who derived their authority from the people through the elec-
toral process. In the aftermath of the labour riots of the late 1930s the
British government recognised that universal suffrage was a necessary
conduit for the peaceful expression of popular opinion and, within a
decade of the first elections held under such a system in Jamaica in 1944,
all the territories had enfranchised the adult population. They were
more reluctant to concede wholly elected legislatures: under the 1944
Jamaican constitution the Colonial Secretary, the Attorney General, the
Financial Secretary, the Treasurer, two other appointed British officials
and ten nominees still sat on the Legislative Council which constituted
the upper house of the local parliament. As we shall see demands for the
removal of officials and nominees from the legislature would remain a
source of controversy in Jamaica and the other territories. It was per-
haps inevitable that the greatest struggle of the nationalists should be
to gain effective control of the executive. The expedient employed by
the Colonial Office to prolong this process was to offer local politicians
a measure of executive responsibility through the so-called committee
system which entailed the creation of pseudo-Cabinets in which British
administrators continued to sit, and elected members remained under
the supervision of the colonial bureaucracy. In Jamaica five members
of the elected House of Assembly attended the Executive Council. Even
more prized and contentious was the reservation of powers to Gover-
nors which varied from territory to territory but nearly always included
the right to call a State of Emergency, to conduct foreign relations and
to veto legislation, particularly if it entailed public expenditure.

One of the most significant features of Jamaican politics was the early
emergence of a rigid, personalist two-party system. The conflict between
the People’s National Party (PNP) and the JLP was associated in every-
body’s minds with the rivalry between the cousins Norman Manley
and Alexander Bustamante. When it seemed certain that one of these
men would become the first Prime Minister of an independent Jamaica,
British officials began to weigh their admiration for Manley’s character
against lingering concerns about the leftist orientation of his politics
and their distrust of Bustamante’s unpredictable, authoritarian person-
ality against his willingness to defend the status quo from the criticisms
of Caribbean socialists. Perhaps no other nationalist politician in the
periphery of empire attracted quite so much praise from the British as
Manley. In 1961, towards the end of his career and after his campaign for
an affirmative vote in the referendum on Jamaican membership of the
federation was defeated, the Governor of Jamaica, Kenneth Blackburne
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lamented: ‘He is a remarkable man, but he is taking too much on
himself – and out of himself. He gets far too little support from his Min-
isters. I only hope he can last out.’34 Blackburne’s predecessor, Hugh Foot
had a predilection for writing effusive letters of praise to Manley but
offered a more nuanced view in his memoirs which noted that he could
be ‘offensive’ in negotiations. Nevertheless, Foot concluded that ‘what-
ever failings he may have are far outweighed by his positive qualities – a
commanding and constructive mind and a courageous determination to
stand by his beliefs and an unquestioned personal integrity of the high-
est order.’35 The qualities which enamoured him of the British were, as
the journalist Theodore Sealy explained, the ‘product of many crises’.36

His father, mother and brother all died early in his life. He was par-
ticularly affected by the loss of his brother during the third battle of
Ypres while Manley was serving with him on the Western Front. His
remarkable achievements were based on the diligence with which he
cultivated his formidable physical and mental abilities. He established
himself as one of Jamaica’s leading sportsmen, won a Rhodes scholar-
ship and became the most famous lawyer in the country. Although he
excelled at cricket, football and shooting, his greatest sporting success
was setting a national record for the 100 yards in 1912 which stood
for three decades. The demotic view of Manley’s numerous victories in
court was summed up in the prudential advice of the 1920s: ‘If you com-
mit murder, Manley is the lawyer to save you from hanging.’37 In the
midst of the labour uprisings of 1938 he founded the PNP which called
for universal suffrage in a campaign which Rex Nettleford described as
having ‘started the English speaking Caribbean on the road to political
modernisation.’38

Alexander Bustamante was born almost a decade before Norman
Manley, and was in his fifties when he came to national prominence
with the series of audacious letters he wrote to the Gleaner after 1934
condemning the inequalities of Jamaican society.39 One of the few
certainties about his life before this time was that he changed his sur-
name from Clarke to Bustamante during a series of adventures in the
Hispanophone regions of the world. He claimed that he had served with
the Spanish army fighting Abd-el Krim in Morocco and, although these
tales were greeted with scepticism by many, including Manley, others
wondered whether they were too extraordinary to have been entirely
invented.40 In the absence of the formal education which Manley had
obtained, the stories provided Bustamante with a unique rhetorical
repertoire, allowing him, for example, to compare a political opponent
to ‘a wolf baying [sic] in the Atlas mountains’.41 His ethos appealed to a
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popular audience and the autobiographical elements sustained his own
assertions that he was of Spanish descent, without ‘a drop of coloured
blood in my veins.’ After the failure of Garvey’s campaign for Negro
empowerment a new approach in which the light-skinned Bustamante
would defend the black proletariat against the oppression of both the
brown bourgeoisie and the white oligarchy proved appealing to many
Jamaican workers.42 His embrace of the paternal role of ‘the Chief’ and
his magnetic appeal to the Jamaican crowd seemed to his opponents
to presage an incipient Bustamante dictatorship. Such apprehensions
were magnified when the JLP won the 1944 elections only a year after
the party was founded as a rival to the PNP, and by his ongoing role
as president for life of the Bustamante Industrial Trade Union (BITU),
the name of which suggested an egocentric and personalist approach to
trade union politics. Many thought such pretentions were the prelude to
autocratic rule. In 1939 the Colonial Office’s Labour Advisor, Granville
Orde-Brown, endorsed the view of Manley’s British ally, the socialist
politician, Stafford Cripps, that Bustamante was ‘a thoroughly irrespon-
sible agitator’. Orde-Brown added his own assessment that Bustamante
was an ‘unbalanced demagogue’, although one who could possibly
be rehabilitated.43 When the Jamaican Governor, John Huggins, com-
plained about Bustamante’s conduct after his 1944 election victory, the
Colonial Office advised that there was little prospect of getting rid of
him because he would summon up his ‘mob oratory’ to win any future
election. At this stage British officials were still undecided as to whether
they preferred Bustamante and the JLP to Manley and the PNP. Seel
recorded that the former was ‘apt to lose all self-control when excited
and has . . . led his followers into acts of violence.’ However, the PNP was
‘more doctrinaire’, with potential Marxist influences.44 The events of the
1950s and 1960s would transform these opinions as Bustamante was
characterised as a more benign, conservative figure who was a guarantor
rather than threat to Jamaican democracy and Manley was identified as
a statesman who, it was hoped, might ensure an orderly transition of
power across the Anglophone Caribbean.

These changing views reflected the rightward drift of Jamaican politics
which was congenial to metropolitan policymakers and confirmed their
preference for ‘big island’ leadership. However, it did not prevent a series
of confrontations over constitutional reform. Manley was a democratic
socialist who would have been content in the Labour party of Attlee
or Gaitskell. The meaning of Jamaican socialism changed for Manley
and Rex Nettleford has gone as far as to suggest that the concept grad-
ually degraded from a programmatic belief in public ownership of the
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means of production to a mere ‘label’.45 For British officialdom what this
amounted to was a partial domestication of the PNP after a period in the
1940s when the party had appeared willing to countenance the notion
that liberating the country from dependence on international capital
was a necessary corollary to freeing Jamaica from British political con-
trol. The most overt demonstration of Manley’s increasing conservatism
was the decision he made in 1952 to expel the most prominent left-wing
members of the PNP, including the brothers Ken and Frank Hill, Richard
Hart and Arthur Henry. The removal of Marxist influence within the
party enabled Manley to endorse a more liberal economic manifesto.
By the time of his election victory in 1955 he had concluded that the
only means of reducing Jamaican unemployment was to attract inter-
national capital at a time when local finance was scarce. He expressed
admiration for Munoz Marin’s Operation Bootstrap programme in
Puerto Rico, which he described as having ‘the best leadership in the
world’.46 Bustamante was less interested in the abstract notions which
underpinned rival economic positions and scoffed at political theoris-
ing. The very haziness of his ideological vision allowed him to shift
position from the champion of labour to the booster of Jamaican
commercial interests while claiming that his essential views remained
unchanged. His amanuensis, adviser and future wife, Gladys Bustamante
née Longbridge, has explained his attitude in terms which make clear
that his position was one of exceptionally cautious reformism: ‘We too
believed in self-government, but we did not want to reach that goal by a
scrambling short-cut which without material and intellectual resources,
could end in chaos, frustration and even further disappointment for
the masses. Instead, we advocated as a first step a strong, enlightened
and healthy working- and middle-class upon which to build.’47 The
JLP’s focus on ‘bread and butter issues’ at the expense of reordering
the relationship between Britain and Jamaica, distinguished it from the
PNP which, after the success of its campaign for universal suffrage, was
principally responsible for forcing constitutional concessions from the
British. The one abstraction about which Bustamante could be passion-
ate was the importance of British traditions to Jamaica. When he went
to London in 1948 to conduct negotiations on constitutional reform he
declared: ‘No one knows the weakness and bad things about England
as well as I do. But in spite of all these weaknesses and all the bad, the
breaking up of the British Empire would mean the end of democracy, the
end of everything good on this earth.’48 Such sentiments were reassur-
ing to British policymakers who nevertheless remained concerned that,
despite this attachment to British institutions, Bustamante’s reliance on
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the Jamaican crowd as a source of power and influence could produce
mob rule in the country.

Colonial Office neuroticism on the subject of Jamaican indepen-
dence was expressed in fretting about Bustamante’s demagoguery but,
given their concerns about the potential disorderliness of decolonisa-
tion, British policymakers showed a surprising degree of tolerance for
the rising political violence in Jamaica in the 1940s. Although they
found the coercive tactics of the two main parties distasteful it was
manageable so long as they were employing such tactics against one
another rather than targeting the British administration. Amanda Sives
has noted: ‘The failure of the colonial state to ensure the political arena
was equally open to both political parties created a context within which
they could claim the need to “defend” themselves.’ The PNP’s resort to
violence ‘could be partly explained by their relationship with a colo-
nial state which was suspicious of their socialist ideology.’49 After his
1944 election victory Bustamante and the JLP were in a formidably
strong position. In institutional terms he was the leader of the largest
party in the elected House but had very limited executive authority.
However, by virtue of his position as head of the BITU he could call
on the support of labour in a crisis. Furthermore, after his election as
mayor of Kingston, he also had the resources of the capital’s municipal
government at his disposal. When frustrated by his inability to emascu-
late the rival Jamaican Trades Union Council (TUC) which was led by
Florizel Glasspole of the PNP, he turned to other measures.50 The most
notorious example of this was his personal confrontation with striking
nurses at the mental health asylum in 1946. Bustamante summoned his
supporters to march on the hospital and a series of violent confronta-
tions between PNP and JLP supporters across Kingston ensued. A State of
Emergency was declared and Bustamante was charged with manslaugh-
ter for his role in the death of a bystander; after a sensational trial he
was acquitted.51 Although bloody fights between the supporters of the
two parties are often thought of as a modern phenomenon in Jamaica,
they have their origins in Bustamante’s efforts to marginalise the TUC
and the belligerent response of the PNP.

In ideological terms Bustamante’s outspoken anti-communism was
appealing to the British, as was the fact that the JLP was less inclined
than the PNP to make the case for the rapid transfer of political author-
ity to the Jamaican people. Disagreements with the Governor, John
Huggins, over quotidian matters of policy brought to Bustamante’s
notice the way in which current constitutional arrangements operated
to the disadvantage of elected representatives. In theory the reforms of
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1944 bridged the gap between the executive and legislative branches but
the novel manner in which the system functioned in Jamaica ensured
that British officials rather than nationalist politicians remained in con-
trol. Although described as a ministerial system, the operation of the
constitution denied elected ministers effective responsibility because all
executive actions had to be channelled through the Colonial Secretary
and the Governor. After three years of mounting animosity in 1947
Bustamante launched a series of personal attacks against Huggins who
complained: ‘Mr Bustamante’s outbursts have become more frequent
and his periods of intervening common sense of shorter duration.’52

By the time of his visit to London in July 1948 Bustamante was distrust-
ful of Huggins and intensely suspicious of proposals that the Governor
should acquire additional reserved powers as a prelude to any further
constitutional progress. During the London talks Bustamante went as
far as to argue that the plan to transfer control over the reserved pow-
ers from the Executive Council to the Governor ‘savoured of Hitlerism’;
the outburst confirmed Colonial Office views regarding his unfitness for
government.53

Had Bustamante known of the internal debates between British pol-
icymakers his worst fears about the Governor’s proposals would have
been confirmed. Huggins’ correspondence with the Colonial Office’s
constitutional expert, Sydney Caine, revealed just how limited the effect
of the 1944 reforms had been. While Huggins accepted that it was
not feasible to retreat from the system introduced in 1944, he argued
that only minimal concessions should be offered to nationalist sen-
timent in Jamaica. He explained: ‘Judged by the knowledge available
to the public the embryo ministerial system has been a success. That
success has been more apparent than real.’ What was actually happen-
ing, according to Huggins, was that elected ministers were unwilling
and unable to exercise any real power. They had titular responsibil-
ity for executive policy but had almost no control over its direction.
Huggins proposed to resolve this anomalous situation by removing the
right of British officials to vote in the Executive Council but transfer-
ring the reserved powers which it currently possessed to the Governor.
His price for conceding an increase in the number of elected politicians
on the Executive Council was the strengthening of the authority of
the Governor who was an appointee of the British government. Caine
was unconvinced that this kind of constitutional contrivance would
work and suggested that changes to the voting system on the Execu-
tive Council were unlikely to have much practical effect. He was more
concerned with the ‘great oddity’ that Jamaican ministers had ‘no real
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responsibility for the control of the Department with which they are
associated, and are apparently not even allowed access to the files of
those departments except as a favour.’ Although Caine was one of the
most radical thinkers in the Colonial Office even he did not endorse the
case for Jamaican self-government. Instead he argued for a new package
of reforms which would at least constitute a penultimate step towards
this goal. Caine concluded: ‘we have put up a handsome facade of trans-
fer of power to local representatives but have really kept the whole
administrative machine entirely out of their grasp. I would prefer to see
rather less formal transfer but the admission of the unofficials to more
real authority in the details of government.’54

For Manley and the PNP, the conspicuous problems which were inher-
ent in the 1944 constitution provided an opportunity to begin a battle
on two fronts: the first, against Bustamante and the JLP, whose appeal to
isolationist and imperialist sentimentalism inside Jamaica was hinder-
ing progress towards federation and self-government, and the second,
against the Colonial Office whose cautiousness on constitutional mat-
ters appeared to presuppose that independence could be postponed
indefinitely. The blame which Manley later received for the failure of the
federation has contributed to neglect in the historiography of his role in
expediting constitutional reform in Jamaica. One of the PNP expellees
of 1952, Richard Hart argued in his comprehensive history of the period
that Manley essentially collaborated with British efforts to turn the fed-
eration into a ‘glorified Crown Colony.’55 Elsewhere Manley has been
widely criticised for refusing to stand for election to the federal parlia-
ment in 1958 and then for calling the referendum which led to Jamaican
withdrawal in 1961.56 What this leaves out of account is the earlier
catalysing effect which the PNP had on the debate about Jamaican
independence at a period when the issue appeared moribund. In July
1948, from his position outside the Legislative Council, Manley reached
the cynical conclusion that the Colonial Office would let Bustamante
‘have at present undisclosed constitutional amendments but not to
go so far as they do not hold the ultimate power in their hands.’57

Manley’s assumption that the British would not relinquish ‘ultimate
power’ was correct but his prediction that some measure of substantive
reform would occur proved mistaken. For the next three years the debate
on constitutional reform stalled and when it resumed the prevailing
caution of the 1947–1948 years was again evident in British policymak-
ing circles. After the Colonial Office failed to establish a consensus in
favour of Huggins’s proposed reforms to the Executive Council, a Select
Committee of the Jamaican House of Representatives re-examined the
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constitution. It had the misfortune to report as both parties were prepar-
ing for the 1949 elections; neither the JLP nor the PNP was willing
to consider any significant reform of the Executive Council until they
knew who the newly empowered ministers were likely to be. The out-
come of the election, in which the PNP increased its representation in
the House to 13, left the JLP with a slim majority and guaranteed that
any further measures would be the subject of dispute between the two
parties. The slowing of an already dilatory process gratified the Colo-
nial Office. The Permanent Under-Secretary, Thomas Lloyd, suggested
they advise the Governor that they did not want to expedite reform.
The Minister of State, Lord Listowel, emphasised: ‘We should move
slowly about constitutional change in Jamaica and reasons for delay are
desirable.’58

It was the resumption of the PNP campaign for self-government and
the arrival of a new Governor, Hugh Foot, which eventually restarted
serious discussions of constitutional reform but even measures short of
self-government were met with resistance on the basis that local politi-
cians were not sufficiently responsible to exercise ministerial authority.
After his appointment, Foot persuaded the Labour Colonial Secretary,
James Griffiths, that the elected members should form a majority on the
Executive Council and assume effective control of their departments
for the first time. In return for these concessions Foot suggested the
nationalists would have to accept a strengthening of the Governor’s
powers. Following the Conservative victory in the British general elec-
tion of October 1951 British ministers became still more sceptical about
any further demission of power to the elected element, even though
Foot’s proposals largely replicated those put forward by Huggins in 1948.
Listowel’s replacement as Minister of State at the Colonial Office, Alan
Lennox Boyd, was critical of Foot’s suggestion that greater responsibility
should be given to elected members of the Executive Council and their
numbers increased. Although Griffiths had previously authorised dis-
cussions on this basis, Lennox-Boyd was ‘disturbed’ by the assumption
that such reforms were inevitable. Lord Munster, the new Parliamentary
Under-Secretary, seconded these concerns and declared: ‘I think it is a
case of more haste less speed.’59

Reform in Jamaica was delayed for two years as Foot sought to rec-
oncile the caution of British politicians and administrators with local
demands for greater autonomy. Numerous anxious minutes were scrib-
bled by the former group in support of an extension of the reserved
powers of the Governor, even though it was, as one official, Heinemann,
acknowledged ‘in a sense a retrogressive move and will be represented as
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such in Jamaica.’ Despite this the Colonial Office argued that, because
of the instability and disorderliness of Jamaican politics, the Governor
‘must always be in a position to take over the engine.’ Lloyd relished
the task of scattering obstacles along the path to independence around
Britain’s global empire. He argued that Jamaica should not advance any
further than Trinidad, where recent constitutional reforms had left the
Governor with the power to certify legislation.60 The trading of a limited
increase in the executive power of elected ministers in return for greater
licence for the Governor was, as Foot pointed out, unlikely to be attrac-
tive in Jamaica where the PNP was campaigning for the abolition of the
upper house or Legislative Council, which consisted of the Governor’s
nominees and officials, an increase in the numbers of elected politicians
on the Executive Council and the removal of the right of officials to vote
on policy matters. Although some of these proposals had been consid-
ered viable in 1948, they caused irritation in the Colonial Office four
years later. The West India department composed a note suggesting that
Manley’s demand that appointed officials should lose their voting rights
was divisive and would merely increase the likelihood of the Gover-
nor employing his reserved powers to frustrate the Executive Council.
It was agreed that Munster should visit Jamaica to investigate the con-
troversy. The most revealing comments on his mission were supplied
by the Conservative Colonial Secretary, Oliver Lyttelton, who urged
Munster to pursue ‘a Fabian policy in the true sense’. He recommended
that Munster should maintain ‘a strong and of course impartial bias in
favour of officials retaining their votes.’61 The inclusion of numerous
constitutional safeguards in the reform package proposed by Munster in
April 1952 was predictable: he endorsed the notion that the Governor
should be the ‘sole judge’ of when to exercise his newly strengthened
reserve powers and recommended that nominated officials on the Exec-
utive Council should be ‘full members’ with voting rights. In return for
this bolstering of imperial authority the nationalists were to be offered
an increase in the numbers of elected members on the Executive Coun-
cil. They would also finally obtain effective ministerial responsibility in
their own departments.62

In response to the Munster proposals Norman Manley rallied his sup-
porters in the PNP behind the cause of Jamaican self-government. The
start of the campaign in July 1952 was recorded by his wife, Edna
Manley: ‘Norman’s old dynamism seems to have returned, and in the
house and on the streets he has launched a great campaign to seize
the dynamic in the country again.’63 Although his efforts were inter-
rupted by the great natural disaster of Hurricane Charlie, which struck
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Jamaica during the 1952 storm season, Manley utilised the strengthened
position of the PNP in the House of Representatives to revitalise the
case for self-government which had been effectively moribund since the
end of the war. While Foot had been examining the Nigerian constitu-
tion as a model for Jamaica, Manley devoted himself to an analysis of
the independent constitution of Ceylon and took the nationalist cam-
paign on that island as the blueprint for an early peaceful transfer of
power.64 When they initially discussed the reform package of the Colo-
nial Office, Foot reported that Manley was ‘critical’ but agreed that the
proposals ‘represented a big step forward.’65 This proved an overly opti-
mistic assessment of Manley’s attitude. Frustrated with the glacial pace
of decolonisation Manley attacked the Munster proposals in the House
of Representatives. In one of the most significant speeches of his career
he outlined the damaging consequences of continued dependence on
Britain which was manifested in the package of reforms negotiated
by Bustamante and the Colonial Office; by contrast a policy of gen-
uine self-government would set a beneficial precedent for the rest of
the empire. He argued that ‘even the most liberal-minded members of
a world-governing country do not believe in the effectiveness of any
colonial people to govern themselves, except peradventure where they
are people of their own race.’ It was the duty of Jamaicans, Manley
declared, ‘to press forward as fast as we can’ with constitutional reform
so that they could demonstrate their capacity to govern their own
affairs.66

Manley’s speech was a significant moment in the history of decoloni-
sation in the Caribbean: in the short term, it precipitated only minor
concessions from the Colonial Office but in the medium term it
established the basis for a populist campaign for independence which
contributed towards the PNP’s victory in the 1955 election, while in
the longer term the momentum towards greater autonomy in Jamaica,
which culminated in effective self-government in 1959 and indepen-
dence in 1962, set precedents for the nationalist campaigns in the other
territories. Initially, Foot expressed alarm that Manley had been too per-
suasive, and dismay that JLP resistance to the idea of a more advanced
constitution appeared comparatively feeble. Faced with the possibility
of defeat in the House of Representatives, Foot and Bustamante con-
ceded to Manley’s demand for the establishment of a new committee
to formulate proposals for full self-government. Back in Whitehall, the
Colonial Office were impressed both by Foot’s adroit manoeuvring,
which succeeded in getting the reforms passed, but also by Manley’s
‘considerable Parliamentary triumph.’ More significantly they restated
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their commitment to Lyttelton’s Fabian tactics. Lloyd made clear that if
Bustamante exploited the success of Manley’s new campaign for con-
stitutional advance in order to accrue greater powers for the elected
executive he would be resisted.67 When the constitutional reordering
finally took place in May 1953 the only significant change from the
Munster proposals was a provision allowing the Chief Minister to advise
the Governor on the appointment of seven newly empowered ministe-
rial positions.68 The securing of a majority for the elected representatives
on the Executive Council seemed a limited achievement, in the context
of the six-year debate which had preceded it. The outcome reflected con-
tinuing Colonial Office determination to conceive the smallest viable
increment of constitutional reform; this in turn reflected their suspi-
cion about the capacity of local Jamaican politicians, and Bustamante
in particular, to administer the affairs of the territory. Somewhat para-
doxically the skill with which Manley conducted the campaign for
self-government, combined with the reassurance he offered by expelling
the Marxist left of the PNP in 1952 established his reputation as a
more reliable potential collaborator in the process of decolonisation. He
increasingly seemed the candidate most likely to contain rather than
exacerbate the social tensions which were an inevitable consequence of
the overlapping racial and social fractures not just in Jamaica but else-
where in the Anglophone Caribbean. These divisions appeared to be
even more conspicuous in the smaller islands of the Leewards and the
Windwards.

Small island turmoil

The pedestrianism of constitutional talks in the aftermath of Montego
Bay contrasted with the rapid pace of social and economic change
across the region. One of the most significant phenomena of the period
was the triumph of labour on the small islands which British policy-
makers accepted as inevitable, while fretting about its consequences
for decolonisation. Strikes on the islands of St Kitts in 1948, Antigua
and Grenada in 1951 and St Lucia in 1957 were climacteric events
in the history of the islands. In each case the newly organised forces
of the trade union movement won at least partial victories over the
employers.69 Metropolitan policymakers tended to apportion the blame
for such disputes equally between employers for their intransigence and
the workers for their recklessness. This reflected a broader ambivalence
about the role of trade unions. The Colonial Office encouraged union-
isation as a safe channel for labour discontent but feared that workers
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might become imbued with sentiments of racial assertiveness or com-
munist sympathy. While the ideological conservatism of the first gen-
eration of labour leaders like Critchlow in British Guiana, Bustamante
in Jamaica and Uriah Butler in Trinidad offered some reassurance on
the latter point, there was one inherent aspect of trade unionism that
caused ongoing uneasiness among British officials: the mobilisation of
large numbers of ordinary people which manifested itself in mass meet-
ings, demonstrations and the coordinated withdrawal of labour. From a
British perspective the politicisation of workers threatened renewed tur-
bulence and the danger was aggravated by the antediluvian attitudes of
the local plantocracy in the Caribbean who were determined to resist
any erosion of their authority. The new generation of labour leaders,
including Robert Bradshaw on St Kitts, Vere Bird on Antigua, Eric Gairy
on Grenada and George Charles on St Lucia, built their reputations on
success in alleviating the poverty of the workers. Their initial challenge
was largely confined to the sphere of industrial relations but in each case
quickly ramified into organised party-political activities. This develop-
ment, which entailed utilising popular discontent with social conditions
in order to achieve constitutional advance, was generally interpreted
by the metropolitan power as a significant threat to the orderly pro-
cess of decolonisation. The best which could be hoped to achieve in
the circumstances was to contain union radicalism while constructing a
safe constitutional environment in which longer-term stability could be
achieved.

St Kitts

In common with almost all Kittitians of his and previous generations,
the personal fortunes of Robert Bradshaw were tied to those of the
island’s sugar industry right from his birth in 1916. His father worked
as a blacksmith on one of the sugar estates and he recalled: ‘Ours is a
poor family – still poor – because if you go to the village today, you
will still find some of my relations working in the cane fields. So to
the extent that blood is blood, I have not quite left the fields. I am
still attached to the earth.’ After his upbringing on the estate Bradshaw
escaped field labour and went to work instead in the sugar factory at
Basseterre. He became concerned at an early stage both with the lack of
autonomy and injustice imposed by the arduous working conditions in
the factory and on the plantations. It was evident to him that the rural
labourers ‘were not quite free’ and he was infuriated when he found
a document in a waste-paper bin which detailed the profits being made
by the factory’s owners.70 In the 1930s workers’ organisations were more
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advanced on St Kitts than on many of the other small islands, due partly
to the initiative of the first generation of leaders including the cousins,
Thomas Manchester and Edgar Challenger. Although it is difficult to
make a fine judgement about the degree of immiseration on each of the
territories, discontent on St Kitts certainly reflected the extent of eco-
nomic distress on the island which was exceptionally acute even by West
Indian standards.71 Bradshaw joined the Workers League of Manchester
and Challenger which became the St Kitts-Nevis Labour Union follow-
ing the industrial relations legislation which legalised union activity in
the aftermath of the Moyne Commission report of 1939. He was under
30 when he became President in 1944 and by 1947 the membership of
the union had increased to over 8,000 workers.72

In the years after he had established his dominance over Kittitian
politics, Bradshaw’s sartorial dandyism, oenophilia and antiquarianism
made him vulnerable to charges of being one of Naipaul’s ‘mimic men’,
whose attempts to emulate English aristocratic culture transformed
them into comical figures. Despite these affectations, Bradshaw’s polit-
ical hegemony in St Kitts was founded on a remarkable achievement
in finally overcoming the power of the sugar oligarchy on the island.
His later electoral success would have been impossible had he not hus-
banded the workers through the traumatic confrontation of 1948. Like
the earlier generation of labour leaders Bradshaw was both pro-federalist
and anti-communist. His union supported the newly formed Interna-
tional Confederation of Free Trade Unions (ICFTU) which was formed
by British, American and Dutch unionists as a rival to the World Fed-
eration of Trade Unions (WFTU) which they claimed was dominated
by Soviet surrogates.73 Bradshaw’s support for the ICFTU aligned him
with the West in the Cold War, while the consistent backing he gave to
the cause of federal unity at a regional level eventually garnered some
praise from imperial bureaucrats. The Vincentian Fred Phillips, who was
Administrator of the island 20 years after the 1948 strike, claimed to be
often bewildered by Bradshaw’s policies but found him to be exception-
ally courteous and regarded him as ‘a man of high principles’.74 In the
late 1940s and early 1950s British officials regarded Bradshaw’s role quite
differently. His confrontational approach to industrial relations ensured
that his name was added to the growing list of potentially dangerous
militants who could unsettle the process of orderly decolonisation. The
Administrator of St Kitts, Leslie Greening, complained about Bradshaw’s
personal attacks and bemoaned the absence of an effective class of col-
laborators in the process of reform. His reports to the Colonial Office
lamented the absence of a middle class to mediate between workers and
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employers. On 3 December 1947 he explained the rise of Bradshaw in
these terms: ‘unlike the larger islands, there is no vocal or active body
willing to present and argue the other side of the question. In the result
a noisy, abusive, persistent nobody can soon collect a following of the
ignorant who are unable to understand and who are unlikely to com-
prehend, until too late, the consequences of believing the lies told to
them and of following such leadership.’75 These comments reflected the
distaste many British officials felt for the working-class Trade Union
leadership on the small islands and took little account of their ideo-
logical orientation or the circumstances in which Kittitian politics was
conducted.

The extreme monoculture of St Kitts was evident from the trade
figures of the colony: in 1950 sugar exports generated revenues of
BWI $ 5.5 million, while the value of cotton exports, which was the
next most remunerative commodity, was estimated to be only BWI
$ 0.3 million.76 The historic legacy of sugar was to divide the island into
one large class of workers, on the estates and in the factory, who were
wholly dependent on cultivating and processing cane for employment
and one much smaller class of managers, investors and landowners who
dominated the political and economic life of the colony. When he vis-
ited the island after the Second World War, Patrick Leigh Fermor found
that it had ‘an undeniably patrician air’ which he attributed to the aris-
tocratic origins of the early French and British settlers.77 Noble interests
and values had long been marginalised by the crude dictates of com-
mercial calculation which led to the consolidation of estates and the
associated rise of a new mercantile class but the changing character of
the local oligarchy had not ended their tradition of secluded superiority.
Their reaction to the demotic challenge posed by the union movement
was uncompromising. Incremental improvements in the terms and con-
ditions of the sugar workers on St Kitts made in the aftermath of the
1935 uprising failed to mitigate the sense that a final confrontation
between workers and employers was inevitable. Bradshaw announced
that he was ‘sick and tired of seeing the people in rags, bare-footed,
living in places which no decent man would house his horse.’ At the
outset of the 1948 dispute he promised that the strike would be a ‘big
step in this march towards our economic emancipation’.78 The employ-
ers remained unreconciled to the existence of workers’ organisations
which fell outside their auspices and argued that improving conditions
for workers would be costly to their businesses at a time when the eco-
nomic prospects of the island were endangered by competition in the
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international market for sugar. British officials in the region made clear
their distaste for the employers’ indifference to the social conditions
in which most islanders lived. The Colonial Secretary of the Leeward
Islands, William Macnie, who frequently took on the role of Acting
Governor, noted that ‘the attitude of the Sugar Producers’ Association
of St Kitts may be described as the “last ditch stand” of the old “plantoc-
racy” of the West Indies.’ He condemned the ‘careless attitudes’ of the
employers to workers’ conditions and suggested that ‘racial and social
antagonism in St Kitts appears to be worse than in any other Colony
in the Caribbean.’79 Despite levelling charges of atavism against the
sugar magnates, the Colonial Office blamed the 1948 strike on what
they regarded as the unreasonable demands put forward by Bradshaw’s
union which at the end of the previous year had proposed an increase
of 75% in wages.80 The union’s submission was accompanied by a num-
ber of ancillary demands and the subsequent strike became entangled
in a range of grievances including whether the union should be able to
maintain a closed shop.

What was clear from the outset was that Bradshaw’s criticisms of the
employers were grounded in the quotidian experiences of cultivating
cane and, more particularly, of harvesting it in the fields and process-
ing it in the factory. Perhaps the most important of the disagreements
concerned the issue of how much cane a person could be expected
to cut in a day. Variations in the fertility of the soil, the inclination
of the land and other geographical factors made it more difficult for
some workers than others to cut similar quantities of cane. Bradshaw
was emphatic that the only equitable solution was to pay the same
amount for each line of cane harvested by the worker rather than each
ton weighed by the overseer. The end of payments based on weight
would leave the workers less vulnerable to sleight of hand by employers
because workers knew how many lines had been cut but had no confi-
dence in the weighing machines used by the employers. At the other
end of the production line was the factory, in which Bradshaw had
worked. Because cane spoiled quickly once cut, sugar processing had
always been dependent on the existence of another set of workers in
close proximity to the cutters who coordinated their labour with that of
those in the field. They manned the machinery which crushed or com-
minuted the cane fibres in order to extract a sugar liquid, and the vats
which heated this substance to generate a crude form of sucrose suf-
ficiently stable to be preserved for further processing.81 Although pay
was better in the factory than in the field, the work was dangerous
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and Bradshaw persisted with his campaign to have it nationalised both
during and after the strike. However, the sugar processing operation on
St Kitts was judged to be one of the most efficient and profitable in
the Caribbean by the Soulbury commission, which was chaired by a
former Conservative MP and whose findings were sympathetic to the
employers.82

Grievances over conditions, rates of pay and the role of the union,
rather than over broader political questions about nationalisation, led
to a breakdown of negotiations with employers on 5 January 1948. As a
consequence the workers refused to cut cane at the start of the harvest-
ing season two weeks later. Employees at the sugar factory came out
on strike at the same time. On 22 January Macnie reported that no
work was being done in the factories or the fields but that the union
was willing to submit all issues in dispute to arbitration with the sin-
gle exception of their demand for payment by the line. Despite these
early signs of compromise, Macnie was sceptical about the prospects
for a resolution because of the prevalent culture of the union which
included an ‘appalling distrust of “Englishmen”.’ Racial considerations
of this kind probably did not account for the Colonial Office’s deci-
sion to dispatch a Welsh labour advisor, Edgar Parry, from Britain to the
island to investigate the causes of the strike. Parry seems to have been
bewildered by the intensity of the dispute: the employers were attempt-
ing to starve the workers into submission and they retaliated by setting
fire to the cane fields. Although appalled at the manner in which both
sides conducted the strike, he considered that it was the union’s actions
which were more reprehensible. While he accepted that Bradshaw was
‘straightforward and frank’ and that the demands of the union were
not unreasonable, the gist of his oral briefing for Colonial Office offi-
cials on 19 March was thoroughly alarmist. Bradshaw was accused by
Parry of possessing ‘a “messianic” belief in the inspiration of his views’
and of ambitions to become ‘dictator of St Kitts’. The workers were
condemned for failing to give adequate notice of the strike action,
neglecting the animals on the estates and for attempting to enforce the
‘closed shop’.83

From the union’s perspective the danger of Parry’s intervention
was that it would erode traditional metropolitan scepticism about the
employers’ case at a time when the owners of the estates were plan-
ning to starve their employees back to work. Bradshaw noted that during
his visit Parry seemed ‘so fed up with the whole affair’ that he almost
expected him to abandon his mission. On Bradshaw’s account Parry
went as far as claiming that had he known how bad the situation was,
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‘no one would have got me out of London’. For the union the resulting
report was a catastrophe which prompted the employers to redouble
their anti-union propaganda campaign.84 In his role as Secretary of the
Caribbean Labour Congress, Hart was less confident than Bradshaw
about a successful outcome. In correspondence with Grantley Adams,
Hart aired the possibility that ‘the Sugar Producers Assn may have
decided to sacrifice the 1948 crop in order to break the union through
the starvation of the local population.’ As a well-known moderate and a
favourite of the Colonial Office, Adams was a suitable candidate for the
role of conciliator. He was persuaded to take up negotiations on behalf
of the St Kitts sugar workers and in this capacity pursued Hart’s compro-
mise proposals that they accept a 15% increase in wages and another
investigation of the issue of payment by the line.85 By this stage it was
evident that the sugar producers were expecting a comprehensive vic-
tory but their obstinacy lost them some of the gains made by Parry’s
intervention in their favour. In the middle of March Macnie recorded
that, while the union was showing signs of flexibility, the employers
were convinced they would prevail and were ‘definitely not prepared to
compromise in any way.’86 Following Adams’s mission at the end of the
month a deal was effectively imposed by Macnie which saved most of
the 1948 crop, secured an increase in wages and provided for further
consultations which eventually moderated the system of payment by
weight. Bradshaw persisted with his campaign to nationalise the factory
so that its earnings could be utilised for the purposes of development
on the islands rather than repatriated by its overseas owners but he
was unable to persuade the metropolitan authorities of the merits of
his case. Although Creech Jones as Colonial Secretary acknowledged
that nationalisation might ameliorate local resentment, the Colonial
Office believed it would jeopardise the efficiency of production on the
island.87

Both the unions and the employers of St Kitts had their champions in
the British Parliament whose opinions were illustrative of broader atti-
tudes to Caribbean politics in the metropolis. For the right-wing MPs,
Ernest Taylor and Alfred Bossom, strike action on St Kitts portended a
possible race war. Taylor forwarded a letter to Creech Jones from a con-
stituent who was ‘naturally very anxious as regards the safety of the
white people in St Kitts’. A similar theme emerged from Bossom’s inter-
ventions. He ‘appeared very excited’ during a meeting at the Colonial
Office in March and the following month asked the Under-Secretary of
State, Christopher Mayhew, whether the government was ‘satisfied that
the forces now existing on the island of St Kitts are entirely capable
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of protecting members of the white population against further indus-
trial trouble.’88 By contrast, the Labour MP Hyacinth Morgan blamed
the employers for the strike. He supported Bradshaw’s campaign for the
nationalisation of the sugar factory and pressed the case for public con-
trol once again in two letters to Creech Jones written in early 1949. His
advocacy of the workers’ case put him at odds with MPs like Taylor and
Bossom but he shared their belief that the tensions between different
classes and races could generate further violence. Morgan told Creech
Jones that, if he were resident in the West Indies, he would ‘be on my
knees praying for constitutional and peaceful methods’ and that he had
‘grave apprehension’ for the lives of even his political opponents in the
region.89 A decade after the labour unrest of the 1930s industrial disputes
in the West Indies were still perceived in the metropolis as containing
the potential for insurrection or race war.

The leaders of the labour movement on St Kitts were principally
concerned with improving the conditions of workers but Bradshaw per-
ceived the connections between economic and political autonomy and
took any opportunities provided to harry the British for greater control
over the island’s government. The popular campaign for constitutional
reform culminated with the launch of Operation BLACKBURNE in 1950
which sparked lively demonstrations in protest against the appoint-
ment of the Governor of that name. The protests were a reaction to
two related but separate developments which to Kittitians illustrated
Colonial Office disdain for opinion on the smaller islands: the formula-
tion of a minimalist package of constitutional change and the dismissal
of Oliver Baldwin as Governor of the Leewards. In January 1948 the
five elected members of the Kittitian Legislative Council had spon-
sored a resolution calling for reform of the political system, including
an elected majority on the Executive Council which at that time con-
sisted entirely of officials and nominees. Reporting from the Leewards,
Greening and Macnie expressed concern about the possibility of the
labour leaders taking control of the executive in the aftermath of the
strike.90 In July 1948 Seel opined that significant constitutional reform
was ‘the last thing we want to do in the case of these ridiculously
small communities, and particularly in a place like St Kitts, where
recently we have escaped serious trouble by a narrow margin and where
matters would have been infinitely more difficult if the Administra-
tor had had a Legislative Council, with a majority of people like Mr
Bradshaw.’ Sydney Caine, despite his reputation as a progressive, agreed
that they needed to delay the transfer of political authority in the
Leewards.91
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The problem for the Colonial Office was that constitutional reform in
the Leewards was also being sponsored by the Governor, Oliver Baldwin,
who was the son of the former Prime Minister, Stanley Baldwin. His
socialist views were at variance with those of his father and he was
elected as a Labour MP in the landslide victory of 1945. On his father’s
death in 1947 he automatically became a member of the House of Lords
and in the following year Attlee appointed him Governor. He proved
an idiosyncratic representative of British imperial interests. His flout-
ing of the usual proprieties of the office led him into constant conflict
with the metropolitan government. Aside from the breaches of cultural
form arising from a refusal to disguise his homosexuality and his incom-
municativeness, which was manifest in a persistent refusal to respond
promptly to urgent telegrams, the advanced political views he espoused
scandalised the local plantocracy and irritated the Colonial Office.92 The
new politicians rising out of the union movement were less concerned
about this case of administrative anomie than with the fact that Baldwin
demonstrated a paternalist sympathy with their cause. He established a
particularly close alliance with Bird on Antigua. In the case of St Kitts
Baldwin proposed universal adult suffrage, a wholly elected Legislative
Council and the introduction of a committee system which would give
local politicians a role in the executive.93 Although willing to concede
the first point, officials in Whitehall resisted the other two. Creech Jones
authorised a less generous package of reforms than that proposed by
Baldwin. In order to induce Bradshaw to cooperate the Colonial Office
offered to institute the committee system, which they had initially
opposed, but only on the condition that Baldwin was not credited with
accomplishing this change of policy. They feared that if the Governor
received the acclaim of the Kittitian population for having ‘won con-
cessions’ which strengthened the position of elected representatives, it
would only further encourage the ‘demonstration psychology’ on the
island.94

In November 1949 Bradshaw condemned the Colonial Office propos-
als as ‘a shockingly scandalous far cry from what was demanded by the
Council.’95 Six months later it was announced that the implementation
of the new constitution would be overseen by Kenneth Blackburne who
replaced Baldwin as Governor. Blackburne’s arrival therefore provided
an opportunity for the union movement to protest against metropoli-
tan resistance to further democratisation. In October 1950 numerous
islanders turned out to bang pots and pans and boo the new Governor
and this no doubt reinforced the perception in Whitehall that a ‘demon-
stration psychology’ existed on St Kitts. Blackburne himself never seems



62 Ordering Independence

to have forgiven what he described as ‘the rabble’ who booed him when
he made his first visit to the island.96 When he settled down to write
his memoirs he entitled one of the chapters ‘Boos and Booze’ in a spe-
cific reference to his introduction to Kittitian politics.97 In his memory
the protests symbolised the truculence of many of the small islanders.
A year later, after another visit to St Kitts to discuss the constitution
he complained: ‘If any one of these pathetic little places is not giving
trouble then the other one is!’ His letters home and his later memoirs
placed responsibility for the problems on the people of the Leeward
Islands who he described as ‘too stiff necked’ but most particularly on
the labour leaders who were ‘so filled with conceit that they cannot
stand having been refused anything.’98 Rather than symptomatic of any
inherent truculence the local enthusiasm for Operation BLACKBURNE
is best understood in the context of the imposition of a new Gover-
nor who was expected to be more subservient to the Colonial Office
and the lagging behind of the small islands in the process of constitu-
tional reform. The eventual measures which were implemented in 1953
ensured elected representatives in St Kitts still exercised less authority
than those who participated in the Jamaican system introduced in 1944:
in contrast to the wholly elected Jamaican House, three officials and
three nominees continued to sit in the Legislative Council in St Kitts
and the elected members of the Executive Council, like their counter-
parts in Jamaica, remained corralled by the bureaucratic constraints of
the committee system. The discounting of these issues and the emphasis
on personalities and emotion in British criticisms of Kittitian politics is
significant because it cast ideological issues into the shadows; the same
tendency was evident in the British discussion of events in Grenada but
in this second case one differentiating factor was the influence of the
Cold War.

Grenada

Among the smaller islands, in terms of both socio-economic circum-
stances and scholarly attention, Grenada is at the opposite pole to
St Kitts. The American invasion of 1983 precipitated a mini-publishing
boom on the subject of Grenada’s history and politics which contrasts
sharply with the exiguous literature available to students of Kittitian
affairs. Although much of the post-invasion writing was concerned with
the proximate causes of the American intervention, most also at least
glanced at the twentieth-century history of the colony and acknowl-
edged the strike of 1951 as a transformative event.99 Prior to that year the
island had been notable for its political quiescence which was usually
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attributed to the fact that, unlike their counterparts on St Kitts, many
peasants and estate workers owned small plots of land which gave them
greater economic security and social independence. This in turn was a
consequence of historical developments which had generated a slightly
more diverse economy than existed on some of the other small islands.
During the mid-nineteenth century many landowners in Grenada had
abandoned sugar cultivation in favour of cocoa. A few years later the
export of nutmeg and its by-product, mace, became a new source of rev-
enue for the Grenadian estates. Production methods in the new sectors
of the economy were less punishing than in the cane fields. Although
workers remained tied to employers by various instruments, including
the ‘contracting out’ or Metayer system which obliged them to devote
a portion of land to growing export crops on behalf of the landown-
ers, many Grenadians were able to supplement their low wages by
cultivating food crops.100 The key area of commonality with the other
territories in the Anglophone Caribbean was that, despite the plurality
of production methods evident in cocoa, nutmeg and sugar cultivation,
Grenada was dependent on the international market for the commodi-
ties it produced. When international prices fell employers attempted to
cut wages, while a sharp rise in prices resulted in changes to social rela-
tions because, when the value of land increased, estates were often sold
to new owners at a profit.101 The connections between economic depen-
dency and social protest were even clearer in the case of Grenada than
in the case of St Kitts.

The acknowledged leader of the new workers’ movement of 1950–
1951 was Eric Matthew Gairy whose political ascent has garnered
historiographical attention as an unparalleled, if unfortunate, example
of the salience of charisma in Caribbean politics.102 Gairy’s ideological
position was so parochial, not to say incoherent, that he did not offer
a strategic threat to British interests in the region, despite the success
of his tactics in challenging the imperial bureaucracy at a local level.
His programme contained elements of socialism, spirituality, paternal-
ism and self-aggrandisement with the last probably forming the largest
portion of the mix. His methods attracted particular attention and this
is warranted to the extent that the legends associated with the impact
of ‘Hurricane Gairy’ in the 1950s, the uncovering of ‘Squandermania’
in the 1960s and the enforcement tactics of the ‘Mongoose Gang’ in
the 1970s are unlikely to fade, not least because of the resonance of the
labels attached to what became new forms of corruption in Grenadian
political life. At the outset of his career Gairy appeared to fit the pat-
tern of populist union agitation established by Bustamante, Bradshaw
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and Butler. After a short period of teacher-training in Grenada, Gairy
sought new opportunities first at the American base in Trinidad, where
he worked on the construction site, and then as a clerk in the oil indus-
try of Aruba, where he participated in union work for the first time.
On returning to Grenada at the end of 1949 he utilised his experience of
organising expatriate workers in the Dutch colony in order to mobilise
the agricultural workers who had hitherto lacked any effective union
representation. The strikes he led on Grenada were more decisively suc-
cessful than Bradshaw’s and provided the popular base for the bizarre
political career which culminated when he became the first Prime Min-
ister of an independent Grenada in 1974. Despite his role in securing
better conditions for workers, Gairy’s excesses frequently alienated his
supporters and he suffered both electoral defeat and eventually revolu-
tionary overthrow during the course of his career. However, as a number
of authors have insisted, the unusual events of Gairy’s life must be
placed in the context of the social, economic and political circumstances
of Grenada at mid-century.103

Prior to Gairy’s emergence the journalist T. Albert Marryshow led the
opposition to the Grenadian oligarchy. In alliance with his comrade, the
Trinidadian Arthur Andrew Cipriani, he became the leading proponent
of constitutional reform and regional cooperation in the Anglophone
Caribbean during the inter-war period. Gordon Lewis has noted that
Marryshow’s political programme was limited because his ‘staunch
Whig constitutionalism never permitted him to fight the colonial power
except on its own polite terms.’104 In contrast to Grantley Adams in
Barbados, who shared his liberal reformist ideology, Marryshow failed
to recognise that trade unions would inevitably play an integral role in
reshaping Caribbean society at a time when both the local mercantile
elite and the imperial power were in slow decline. Legal opportunities
for organising the workers which emerged after the passage of the Trade
Union Ordinance of 1934 were almost wholly neglected on Grenada; it
fell to the colonial authorities after the promptings of the Moyne Com-
mission to encourage the organisation of labour during the 1940s.105

By the end of the decade the St John’s Labour Party (General Work-
ers’ Union) and the Grenada Workers’ Union had merged to form the
Trades Union Council (TUC) but neither offered any effective represen-
tation for agricultural workers. The expected benefits of a series of wage
increases during the 1940s were attenuated because of price inflation.
Rises in the cost of living were a consequence of increased commod-
ity prices in overseas markets which generated a local economic boom.
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Popular attention was also directed, as in St Kitts, to the profits being
generated by estate owners at a time of economic success. The official
Colonial Office analysis of the disturbances focused largely on the faults
of the union but acknowledged: ‘That there is considerable poverty
there can be no doubt, but it appears discontent was not very marked
until Gairy started his campaign, encouraged by the high prices being
obtained for cocoa and nutmeg.’106 The leading Grenadian historian and
future Prime Minister, George Brizan, has illustrated what the Colonial
Office meant by ‘considerable poverty’ by offering some detailed anal-
ysis of the slum my living conditions and cases of infant malnutrition
which prevailed on the island in the 1940s.107

Gairy’s first intervention in Grenadian labour politics appears to have
been his organising role in some short-lived agitation among the proto-
peasantry who worked the Metayer system in the nutmeg industry in
March 1950.108 Four months later he registered the Grenada Manual
and Mental Workers’ Union (GMMWU), whose title bespoke of the need
for class alliances against the oligarchy but which recruited many more
agricultural labourers than urban shop and office workers. Gairy’s initial
success occurred in the island’s residual sugar industry. On 31 July 1950
the GMMWU demanded a 50% wage increase and improvements in
other terms and conditions on the remaining sugar estates. The employ-
ers disputed the right of the GMMWU to represent the workers but the
Colonial Office’s labour adviser acknowledged the legitimacy of Gairy’s
claim to be their spokesman. A strike in late August was resolved by
arbitration which awarded the workers a 25% wage increase, seven days
statutory vacation for those employed for 200 days or more and dou-
ble time for work on public holidays.109 This was a notable success and
agricultural labourers flocked to join Gairy’s new union which recruited
5,000 members in its first year.110

The expansion in membership encouraged Gairy to confront the own-
ers of the cocoa plantations. He chose the La Sagesse estate, where there
was strong support for the GMMWU, as the battleground for recogni-
tion of the union. Having visited the estate on 29 January 1951, on
8 February he submitted demands for a 45% increase in wages. The
extension of the GMMWU’s influence across all sectors of the agricul-
tural economy was resisted by the employers who still hoped to deal
with the more accommodating TUC. The insistence of the owners of La
Sagesse and two other estates that they would only negotiate with the
TUC led Gairy to call a general strike on 19 February.111 Workers’ resent-
ment was exacerbated by the unyielding attitude of the employers who,
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as in St Kitts, regarded the strike as an opportunity to emasculate the
new union movement. The colonial authorities swung backwards and
forwards between a policy of repression and appeasement. Their imme-
diate reaction to the strike was to declare a state of emergency, intern
Gairy and call up a warship, HMS Devonshire, to the Grenadian coast.
By 6 March it had become evident that the strikers could not be coerced
into returning to work and Gairy was released. The violent unrest which
had marked the strike continued and on 16 March two men and a
woman were killed after police from Trinidad fired on a crowd who were
protesting about the arrest of eight workers charged with stealing from
the cocoa plantations.112 On 4 April the colonial administration, the
GMMWU and the employers agreed to establish a Wages Council and
Gairy promised to encourage union members to return to work. The
final settlement which increased the minimum wage and introduced
seven days’ annual holiday with pay, was effectively imposed on the
Grenadian business leaders. The Colonial Office’s labour adviser, Ernest
Barltrop, noted that he ‘had, if anything more difficulty in negotiating
with the employers than with Mr Gairy.’113 The government estimated
that at least 80 estates had been affected by the disturbances and nearly
£ 200,000 of damage had been caused.114 After their effective defeat the
old plantocracy blamed the colonial authorities for doing insufficient to
protect their interests and in September the Governor, Robert Arundell,
even reported rumours that they had devised a ‘fantastic plot’ to abduct
him and utilise the ensuing chaos to gun down the leading participants
in the strike.

Nothing came of the alleged plot but in the Cold War atmosphere
generated by the escalation of the Korean War accusations of commu-
nist penetration of the island were given some credence. Although it
took place on the other side of the world, the North Korean invasion
and subsequent Chinese intervention sparked the gravest crises of the
Cold War and a global search by the Western powers for other potential
centres of subversion. As his subsequent career attested, Gairy was an
exceptionally unlikely candidate for membership of the Soviet bloc and
most colonial administrators were sceptical of claims that he was a com-
munist. Other influential figures were absolutely convinced that he was
under the influence of Marxism; the most insistent of these groups were
the local employers’ organisations. During a meeting with businessmen
on 7 March, W. E. Julien of the Chambers of Commerce told the Gover-
nor ‘this is not a strike – it is stark naked communism laid bare.’ Dennis
Henry of the Employers’ Association asserted that Gairyism ‘bears all the
hallmarks of Communism.’ British officials were insufficiently credulous
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to believe this testimony but they were not invulnerable to Cold War
paranoia. Barltrop judged it ‘very difficult to say whether Gairy is
consciously communist in thought’ but was convinced that some of
his advisers were. He also reported that Gairy’s acolytes were touring
the island proclaiming ‘Stalin for King’.115 As in the Kittitian case the
employers discovered a Westminster route into Whitehall deliberations.
A former Grenadian estate owner with current capital investments in the
island, George Duncan, wrote to the Conservative MP, Tufton Beamish,
who forwarded his comments to the Colonial Secretary with the gloss
that the letter ‘contains a number of important points which I think
are worthy of comment at the highest level.’ Duncan’s most pressing
concern was that the ‘coloured, good chaps’ in the police force, who
were loyal to the monarch, would be unable to maintain order ‘against
70,000 chaps who’ve gone a little mad; they’re just like a lot of chil-
dren and I’m sure that half or more of the cause of this has been
intimidation.’116 Inside the House of Commons, the earlier concerns
expressed about industrial unrest in St Kitts were greatly amplified by
news from Grenada. On 26 February 1951 Anthony Eden pressed the
Opposition view that ‘The first task is to restore law and order so that
the merits of the dispute can be examined.’117 Other Conservative MPs
criticised the Labour Colonial Secretary, Griffiths, for his failure to pro-
tect the property of Grenadian employers. Henderson Stewart and Harry
Legge-Bourke disseminated the employers’ assertions that the strikes
were directed by communists. The latter claimed to have detected the
influence of John La Rose of Trinidad whose organisation, the Work-
ers’ Freedom Movement, was assessed by the Colonial Office as being
‘tainted’ by communism rather than defined by it.118

Metropolitan reactions to the violence that accompanied and contin-
ued after the strike illustrated their jumpiness about the new demotic
politics of their Caribbean empire. In the imagination of British official-
dom Grenada was transformed by Gairy’s actions from being one of the
most comfortable and salubrious outposts in the Caribbean to a crucible
for class conflict and racial antagonism. On 17 March Arundell wrote
despairingly that ‘we have been sitting on an active volcano here for
some time’ and that: ‘Lawlessness was increasing and planters through-
out the island were becoming more and more hysterical.’119 At the end
of April he provided a briefing for Griffiths about the current situation
on the island: ‘The whole atmosphere of Grenada has changed for the
worse. Good manners and friendliness have tended to give way to scowls
and churlishness. One feels that a spark could set the whole thing off
again.’ This prediction was either prescient or self-fulfilling; on 5 May
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Arundell requested that British troops be sent to the island to deal with
potential disturbances after the ‘megalomaniac’ Gairy was charged with
the use of threatening language. Following the dispatch of a company
of Royal Welsh Fusiliers, Gairy was convicted and bound over for six
months. This minor setback did not hinder his broader campaign which
now focused on the first election in Grenada’s history to be held under
a system of universal adult suffrage.120

The new Grenadian constitution introduced on 1 August 1951 was
part of a wider and long-planned reform which took place across the
Windwards. Its provisions included the introduction of universal suf-
frage, the liberalisation of qualifications for membership of the Legisla-
tive Council and the reorganisation of the Executive Council. However,
it was the fourth measure, the establishment of an elected majority on
the Legislative Council, which provided Gairy with an opportunity to
confront the colonial government.121 He formed the Grenada United
Labour Party (GULP) which contested all eight of the elected seats on
the Council. The Colonial Office had not imagined the future impact
of ‘Hurricane Gairy’ when they designed the new constitution and the
prospect of his victory at the polls caused them to immediately con-
sider suspending aspects of its implementation. Arundell warned as
early as March that he had ‘grave doubts’ about holding an election
in the aftermath of the strike. A visit to the Colonial Office by one of
the planters represented on the current Legislative Council, T. E. Noble
Smith, caused the metropolitan authorities to pause. He warned that any
election would be ‘farcical’ and Stephen Luke reported that ‘there was lit-
tle exaggeration in his alarming picture of conditions in Grenada.’ These
hesitations did not, in the end, lead to the cancellation of the elections.
Luke’s superior, Thomas Lloyd, believed any such move would antag-
onise the island’s labour force. In August Arundell dispatched a more
sanguine report which indicated that he expected candidates opposed
to Gairy to win four of the eight seats, with the other four going to the
GULP.122 This proved overly optimistic: in the election held on 10 Octo-
ber 1951, Gairy’s candidates obtained 63% of the votes and six seats
which gave them a majority on the Legislative Council.123 Although he
later suffered setbacks in the 1954 and 1957 elections, Gairy’s eventual
triumph at the polls in 1961, following further constitutional advance,
established him as Chief Minister of Grenada. During these years he
became the incarnation of everything the British liked least and feared
most about ‘small island politics’. His continued influence on Grenada’s
political life can be traced back to the initial impact of the strikes of
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1950–1951 which convinced the general population and the colonial
authorities that life on the island would never be the same again.

Conclusion

In the aftermath of the Montego Bay conference the nationalist vision of
Caribbean politicians was competing on three fronts with the cautious
incrementalist strategies of British imperialism. The first was located at
the point of confrontation between workers and employers where the
need to redress the degrading conditions of the region’s labour force
ensured a continuation of the struggles of the 1930s. In Grenada the
potential for violence and disorder was manifest in Gairy’s campaign.
In many respects, the situation on that island was untypical of the
rest of the Anglophone Caribbean, most notably because of oligarchical
complacency resulting from the absence of major disturbances in the
1930s; but the violence which accompanied the 1951 strike was taken
by the British as confirmation of the dangers which would accompany
the process of decolonisation across the region. As events in St Kitts
illustrated, the Colonial Office were more sympathetic to economic
grievances than to political ones and this typified a tradition of pater-
nalism and trusteeship. Consequently, on the second front, where the
argument over self-government was being conducted, the British pur-
sued an excessively cautious policy which sought to delay and dilute
each successive package of reform. Jamaica is a particularly illuminat-
ing case study because the island had a greater measure of economic
viability than most of the other territories and Manley was increasingly
seen as a potentially reliable collaborator; but even in this instance the
British were reluctant to expedite the transfer of power. Their scepti-
cism about the preparedness of the island for self-government, which
was confirmed by the ongoing disputes between Bustamante and the
British Governors, Huggins and Foot, prompted the PNP to relaunch
their campaign for Jamaican constitutional advance in 1952. At that
point Manley revived a process that had atrophied under the influence
of Bustamante’s innate conservatism and the Colonial Office’s captious-
ness. Such demands for territorial self-government had the potential
to divert nationalist energies away from the third front which was
that of West Indian nation-building; it was here that the gap between
the functional approach of the British and the declared ambitions of the
nationalists was at its widest. Despite their ostensible commitment to
federalism, local politicians proved less persistent in pressing their case
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at the regional level as their capitulation in the SCAC talks illustrated.
After the celebratory CLC meeting in Kingston in 1947 enthusiasm for
federation dissipated and Rance’s report was imprinted with Colonial
Office scepticism about the capacities of the people of the region to run
their own affairs. When the new nation of the West Indies was eventu-
ally established in 1958 its constitution still reflected the equivocations
of British policymaking. By this time the Cold War had impinged fur-
ther on the calculations of the participants and, in some of the islands
the politics of race and migration had become still more prominent and
perplexing.



3
Ordering the Islands 1952–1958

The 1950s witnessed the flourishing of a rowdy, demotic form of poli-
tics in the Anglophone Caribbean. Although this populist tendency was
particularly conspicuous during the many elections in which the newly
enfranchised descendants of slaves and indentured labourers could now
participate, the campaign for independence extended beyond the con-
tests for seats on various legislative councils. Jamaica was in the van-
guard of party formation and during the 1940s the majority of the
population enlisted in the cause either of Manley’s PNP or Bustamante’s
JLP. In the early 1950s Gairy in Grenada and Jagan in Guiana mobilised
agricultural workers who engaged in strikes and demonstrations in order
to secure improvements in their working conditions; in both instances
demands for social and economic justice were soon supplemented by
campaigns for greater political independence. Trinidad witnessed one
of the most innovative examples of populist politics as Eric Williams
initiated a programme of mass adult education in what he called the
University of Woodford Square. The extreme didacticism of Williams’s
university ‘curriculum’ was evident from the focus in his lectures on
the historical record of imperialism and the current sterility of colo-
nial politics but, despite the apparent dryness of some of the lessons,
many ordinary Trinidadians attended.1 The People’s National Move-
ment (PNM), which became the political embodiment of the spirit
engendered in Woodford Square, established itself as the dominant
party in the island’s politics. By the end of the decade the recondite
complexities of federal constitutional arrangements attracted sufficient
interest across the region to fill the letters pages of the Guardian, the
Gleaner and the Advocate with readers’ opinions about issues such as
freedom of movement and customs union. In 1961 the fate of the fed-
eration became the subject of the ultimate manifestation of popular
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will: a plebiscite in Jamaica which led to a victory for the secession-
ists. The response of the metropolitan authorities to these developments
was ambivalent: they accepted the necessity for universal suffrage but
were dismayed that nationalist campaigning had become a permanent
rather than an occasional feature of local politics. They interpreted
the actions of the nationalist leaders in articulating popular discon-
tent as evidence of irresponsibility. More particularly local Governors,
like Hugh Foot in Jamaica, Patrick Renison in Barbados and Edward
Beetham in Trinidad, feared that popular politics betokened class or
racial conflict. Previous stereotypes regarding the passivity of West
Indian people were displaced by visions of violent insurrection in the
name of either communism or racial exclusivity. In the former case, the
colonial authorities constructed a Cold War justification for extending
surveillance and restricting habeas corpus, while in the latter their com-
mentaries about the racial proclivities of imperial subjects generated
heightened vigilance and precautionary measures designed to subdue
actual and potential dissidents.

The Cold War in the Caribbean

In its generalities the mental picture which British policymakers drew
of the communist ‘threat’ in the Anglophone Caribbean was similar to
the image they held of it in the rest of the empire: it depicted the naive
but deprived masses being menaced by the machinations of exogenous
political actors who had joined hands with a handful of indigenous
Marxists. It is in its specificities, however, that an examination of the
workings of the imperial imagination in the Anglophone Caribbean
offers new insight into the politics of the 1950s: British administra-
tors believed that the World Federation of Trade Unions (WFTU) was
propagating communist doctrines throughout the region and that there
were only a handful of committed indigenous Marxists who were capa-
ble of taking effective action to undermine British colonialism but that
the residents of the sugar estates and urban centres like Kingston and
Georgetown, who did not understand the realities of the Cold War,
might be sufficiently reckless to leap aboard the communist band-
wagon unless prophylactic action was taken. The anti-communist tactics
adopted by the British in Jamaica, Trinidad and Guiana varied according
to their perception of local circumstances. There was an open con-
frontation with Marxist politicians in Guiana and covert campaigns in
Jamaica and Trinidad but in each instance the elimination of the danger
of disorder promoted by the left was a prerequisite for decolonisation.
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The Colonial Office and their representatives made their calculations
in the context of the global Cold War and events in East Asia and
East Africa were regarded as particularly ominous. Reports from Trinidad
indicated that the most effective anti-colonial propaganda was a pam-
phlet condemning American tactics in Korea entitled ‘The Napalm
Killers Passed This Way’.2 In Jamaica there was disquiet about the impact
the communist victory in the Chinese Civil War would have upon
Jamaican-Chinese residents. Events in Africa were also widely reported
and in 1953 the Watson report on Caribbean communism noted that
the most insidious propaganda was the material which focused on
colonial topics including the Mau Mau insurgency. As a consequence,
local police were instructed to monitor communications with Kenya.3

Overshadowing all these developments were the direct ties which local
activists like Ferdinand Smith, Richard Hart and Cheddi Jagan had
established with international communist organisations.

Jamaica

At the end of the Cold War the Jamaican political philosopher and
activist, Trevor Munroe, offered a deliberately under-theorised account
of the defeat of the Jamaican left in the 1950s, based on a close reading
of British and American documents. His purpose was to examine the
way in which ‘state structures, civil society and political culture were in
large measure, manipulated and shaped by anti-communist priorities’.4

The resulting book, The Cold War and the Jamaican Left, offered new
evidence of the feebleness of the support offered by the eastern-bloc
countries for Jamaican communists, the occasional misalignment of
British and American views and the potential popular support which the
left had during the 1950s, but its most startling conclusion was also its
most questionable, namely that ‘on occasion the “reactionary” Colonial
Office took up positions in advance of the “progressive” anti-colonial
leadership.’5 The example which Munroe cites in order to support this
analysis is the British refusal to comply with Bustamante’s efforts to
ban communist organisations in 1953. Despite Munroe’s partial exon-
eration of the British, the full record suggests that they could easily
rival Bustamante’s enthusiasm for authoritarianism. The resistance of
the Colonial Office to Bustamante’s proposals was based on a belief
that fighting the Cold War in the Caribbean required a sophisticated
and indirect strategy if it were not to stir up the passions of the local
population, and that Bustamante’s gauche and clumsy efforts simply to
ban communism generated their own dangers of autocracy or boss rule.
The British instigated their own extensive anti-communist campaign
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comprising intrusive intelligence-gathering, restrictions on freedom of
movement and the harassment of local leftists.

Two events in 1952 had a decisive influence on British attitudes to
the Jamaican Cold War. The first was Norman Manley’s decision to
expel the Marxist grouping in the PNP. This arose from a dual conflict
between Richard Hart and Wills Isaacs inside the party and between
Ken Hill and Noel Nethersole within the party’s union affiliates.6 Fol-
lowing an internal investigation Manley was persuaded that the left,
represented by Hill and Hart, had ‘been engaged in propagating com-
munism and building up a communist cell’ inside the TUC and that
this warranted expulsions from the party.7 During a special PNP confer-
ence in March, Hill questioned the validity of the internal enquiry but
was unable to prevent what was effectively an anti-communist purge.
After his expulsion he formed the National Labour Party but its effec-
tiveness was hampered by further disagreements between Hill and the
other prominent expellee, Hart. This fragmentation among the radi-
cals ought to have delighted British officials who feared that the era
of decolonisation would provide new opportunities for the left but it
actually marked the onset of the paranoid era in Jamaican politics. The
unprecedented concern with communism which marked the next two
years was a consequence of the second key event of 1952 which was
the return of Ferdinand Smith to the Caribbean. The story of the British
hounding of Smith has been detailed by his colleague Richard Hart and
the historian Gerald Horne.8 Smith was the quondam Secretary of the
National Maritime Union of the United States. Shortly after the PNP split
he held a meeting with other leftist leaders in Trinidad before reporting
on the state of Caribbean communism to the WFTU in Vienna. He then
travelled back to his home island of Jamaica in July 1952 with, accord-
ing to British intelligence, a sum of £ 700 to be used for the purposes
of extending communist influence in the region. In August 1953 the
Colonial Secretary, Oliver Lyttelton, wrote to Caribbean Governors to
alert them to the existence of a Soviet-backed political offensive in the
region and listed Smith’s return a year earlier, alongside the importing of
communist literature and liaison between Caribbean leftist groups and
international front organisations, as one of the three principal causes of
the extension of the Cold War to the Anglophone Caribbean.9 A Joint
Intelligence Committee (JIC) report completed in that same month con-
cluded that Smith’s activities ‘strengthened the hands of those Jamaican
trade unionists who already had communist leanings and it coincided
with the open declarations of Communist sympathies by the other lead-
ing trade unionists’, including John Rojas in Trinidad and Cheddi Jagan
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in British Guiana. In examining the prospects for communism in the
region the JIC identified two potential sources of trouble: on the one
hand, ‘in most of the territories economic and social conditions are con-
ducive to periodic unrest and disorder’, while on the other there was a
possibility that, even at times when economic discontent was not preva-
lent, it could be fomented by ‘the personal and political ambitions of a
single individual’.10

Those Cold Warriors located in the Caribbean were even more anx-
ious than Whitehall planners to take early action to curtail the influence
of Marxist activists, such as Smith and Jagan. The two most influential
exponents of this unvarnished anti-Communism were the Commander-
in Chief of British forces in the Caribbean, A. C. F. Jackson, and
the Governor of Jamaica, Hugh Foot. As early as June 1952 Jackson
reported that ‘a determined attempt is being launched to exploit the
very fertile field provided by the politically immature population’ of the
Caribbean. As evidence he adduced the activities of Smith and the head
of the London branch of the CLC, Billy Strachan, which he suggested
were designed to secure communist control of unions affiliated to the
Jamaican TUC. On Jackson’s account the visits of the Trinidadian, John
Rojas, and the Guianese, Cheddi Jagan, to Eastern Europe and ongo-
ing Guatemalan subversion in British Honduras formed the other fronts
in the left’s regional offensive. At this early stage, the Colonial Office
brushed aside Jackson’s warnings but later in the year he returned to
the attack. In November he suggested to the Ministry of Defence that
the prospect of Jagan and his communist allies gaining control of the
bauxite resources of British Guiana necessitated the suspension of plans
for constitutional advance in that territory. This anticipated the actions
of British ministers a year later but at this stage the Colonial Office
responded by explaining that the local population was incapable of
‘forming well-disciplined political parties with precise programmes’ and
that the establishment of an effective communist organisation by Jagan
was unlikely.11

If Jackson was a gadfly that was easy to ignore, Hugh Foot was
a much more considerable figure who, as Governor of Jamaica, was
able to implement the most thoroughgoing anti-communist campaign
in the Anglophone Caribbean. Many of the punitive actions which
Foot recommended were never implemented because of fears that such
repressive measures would establish the foundations of a future autoc-
racy in Jamaica but he did instigate a policy of state harassment of leftist
activists. By 1954, partly as a consequence of Foot’s policy of surveillance
and intimidation, Marxist fortunes were in steep decline. Two years
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earlier Foot had not been confident that the communist challenge could
be contained. During a visit to the Colonial Office in December 1952 he
expressed consternation at the prospects of a leftward shift in Jamaican
politics.12 The American consulate reported that the local police esti-
mated that there might be as many as 500 communists in Jamaica.13

Over the course of the following year Foot put a range of suggestions
to the metropolitan government all based on the alarmist premise that
Ferdinand Smith, with the assistance of funds from the WFTU, would
be able to exploit socio-economic grievances in order to undermine gov-
ernmental authority. When N.D. Watson of the Foreign Office’s newly
formed Information Research Department was despatched to the region
to investigate the rise in communist activity, Foot presented a bundle of
counter-measures to him, each of which was designed to demonstrate
that the local government ‘regards Communists as natural enemies.’
He proposed compiling a list of local communists whose movements
should be restricted, the banning of literature, refusal of passports, the
interception of communications and the purging of communist sup-
porters from the higher echelons of the Civil Service. The Jamaican
authorities seem to have been transfixed by the potential impact of
Mao’s revolution on the Chinese community in the country. Five mea-
sures were aimed specifically at this group: refusing entry to Chinese
communists, depriving naturalised citizens of nationality, photograph-
ing and fingerprinting all Chinese entrants, keeping ‘a special watch’ on
those suspected of opium and arms smuggling and offering encourage-
ment to Chinese nationalist organisations to resist communism. Foot
told Watson that ‘there would be need for continuing consultation on
“repressive” measures as the situation developed and, more important,
also on “constructive” actions against communism.’14

Foot’s advocacy of discriminatory measures against the Chinese pop-
ulation and a McCarthyite witch hunt in the civil service were not
welcomed by the British government. Only his proposal to restrict
the freedom of movement of suspected subversives was incorporated
into the Colonial Office’s wider regional campaign against commu-
nism. On 1 November 1952 the government of Barbados had banned
Ferdinand Smith from entering the country in order to attend a meet-
ing of the CLC left organised by Hart. Other representatives of the
Caribbean left were admitted and in response the Colonial Office sought
to devise a more systematic policy regarding restrictions on freedom
of movement.15 The Security Liaison Officers in Jamaica and Trinidad
conferred with Special Branches from the other territories to draw up
a list of 11 Marxists who could potentially be banned from entering
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other territories. The list included Janet Jagan from British Guiana,
John Rojas and John La Rose from Trinidad and Smith and Hart from
Jamaica. In retrospect the most surprising name on the list was that
of the popular and charismatic trade union leader from St Vincent,
Ebenezer Joshua, who later spent a decade as Chief Minister of the
island. Cheddi Jagan and Sydney King were excluded because they were
members of the Guianese government. It was thought too embarrassing
for the metropolitan government to restrict the movements of elected
representatives who possessed ministerial status.16

The illiberal measures undertaken by Foot and the other Gover-
nors focused on monitoring and restricting potential contacts between
Caribbean radicals and international communist organisations. For
example, in October 1953 the Jamaican authorities refused passports to
two alleged communists who were intent on travelling to Vienna for a
meeting of the WFTU.17 The British Minister of State, Henry Hopkinson,
also urged ‘everything possible to be done to limit Mr Smith’s freedom
of movement’ but he and Hart continued to attend WFTU meetings in
Vienna because they already had valid passports.18 When Smith’s pass-
port eventually expired in 1957 the Jamaican government refused to
renew it. The authorities were able to target communists more effec-
tively because they had a surfeit of intelligence about the CLC and
Richard Hart’s newly formed People’s Educational Organisation (PEO).
The interception of post and cable communications between the islands
was a widespread practice and members of the Special Branch read pri-
vate letters sent between La Rose in Trinidad and Hart in Jamaica.19

Labour and political organisations were penetrated by British informers,
one of whom was in attendance at the Barbados meeting of Novem-
ber 1952 where it was noted that, although ‘the group suspected the
servants, they did not discover the identity of the real observer.’20 The
Permanent Under-Secretary at the Colonial Office, Thomas Lloyd, sug-
gested that Grantley Adams would be shocked if he discovered the
extent of British penetration of the CLC.21 Suspected communists in
Jamaica were subject to a regime of police raids, monitoring and harass-
ment which was designed to demoralise them.22 Although the ‘lesser
satellites’ of the movement were singled out for particularly rough treat-
ment on the grounds that they would probably be less steadfast, Richard
Hart, who was certainly a major satellite, recalled that he frequently
found police cars watching his house and was repeatedly tailed by
policemen.23

British resistance to Bustamante’s desire to effectively ban commu-
nism must be placed in the context of this extensive campaign of
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repression and the fear that future Jamaican governments would make
irresponsible use of the authoritarian powers of the colonial state.
Bustamante’s attention was directed towards the communist ‘menace’
following the efforts of Smith and Hart to establish a new union in
rural Jamaica. The formation of the Sugar and Agricultural Workers’
Union (SAWU) created another rival to Bustamante’s own trade union
which had always been particularly strong in the Jamaican country-
side. British officials recognised that the Chief Minister’s opposition
to SAWU was self-interested and interpreted the stridency of his cam-
paign against it as further evidence of the potential for conflict between
an authoritarian post-colonial leadership and a rebellious population.
When SAWU applied to the Ministry of Labour for permission to act as
representatives of the sugar workers on a number of estates in December
1953, Bustamante’s government made clear it would oppose any form of
recognition. Foot was sympathetic to Bustamante but he feared that pro-
posals to give the Jamaican Executive Council new powers to effectively
ban communism on the island were impractical and ‘might in future
be abused’. One of the other Caribbean Governors, Patrick Renison, was
so alarmed that he entered the debate even though it had no relevance
to his British Honduran patrimony. He viewed Bustamante as a poten-
tial dictator and warned ‘decent parliamentary government is at least
as gravely menaced by temptations of boss rule as by communism.’24

British policymakers in Whitehall were divided in their reactions: on
the one hand, they wished ‘good luck’ to any policy which might ‘kill
Ferdinand Smith’s unions’, while on the other they feared that the
precedent might constitute ‘a rod in pickle’ which could be used to
coerce non-Marxist political opponents in the future. Foot informed
Bustamante on 27 January 1954 that he could not support his proposals
for new legislation which ‘would enable whatever political power was in
power to proscribe its rivals’, but the administrative action taken against
SAWU was allowed to stand.25

The arbitrary refusal to recognise SAWU, which breached precedents
requiring employers to negotiate with unions who had the support
of local workers, did not prevent Smith from taking industrial action.
In February 1954 he organised strikes in St Elizabeth and Hanover. This
infuriated Bustamante who wrote to Foot to ask: ‘Why don’t you agree
with Elected Ministers to outlaw communism in this country?’ Foot
told the Colonial Office he was ‘very concerned about all this’ and
appeared to be particularly irritated by the possibility that his own
anti-communist campaign was to be trumped by his Chief Minister’s.
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Following numerous public statements by Bustamante about the dan-
gers of communism, Foot gave a speech to the Chambers of Commerce
which amounted to a diatribe against the leftist threat from within
Jamaica. Having told the story of the Trojan horse he declared the
‘Moscow horse has arrived in Jamaica’. He went on to characterise com-
munism as an insidious foreign threat: ‘It is foreign to all we believe
in and foreign to every good tradition which has grown up in this
Island . . . . The money which made it possible for a small clique of per-
sons who worship the false foreign god of communist materialism to
make any start at all in Jamaica is foreign money.’26 As well as demon-
strating that they were capable of matching Jamaican politicians in
McCarthyite rhetoric, British officials could also summon up almost as
much enthusiasm as Bustamante for new laws to contain the spread of
communism. They believed the Chief Minister was ‘no democrat’, that
the arbitrary nature of his proposals reflected his own political inter-
ests and, in pursuing them, his government had neglected the need for
legislation to control societies and extend emergency powers, without
which the authorities would ‘be almost powerless to deal with militant
Communism’. The Conservative Minister of State in the Colonial Office,
Henry Hopkinson, even went as far as to acknowledge that ‘the growth
of Communist trade unions in the Caribbean may prove to be a problem
incapable of solution on accepted lines.’27

Colonial Office sponsorship of new legislation to control societies and
stipulate emergency powers and Bustamante’s desire to prohibit com-
munist activity of any kind effectively cancelled one another out during
the course of 1954. Foot relied instead on detailed intelligence-gathering
and informal measures of persecution to impede the organisational
efforts of Smith and Hart. The Governor expected the Chief Minister to
consider emergency powers legislation at an Executive Council meeting
on 18 March but found him in ‘a bad frame of mind to say the least’.28

After Bustamante’s direct rejection of the more nuanced Colonial Office
approach Foot proposed a Communist Money Bill which would enable
the government to take action against any local organisation receiving
overseas funding for subversive activities. The Colonial Office thought
Foot was ‘right to recognise these activities as the cloud on the hori-
zon no bigger than a man’s hand’ and initially evinced some support
for the proposal. However, the bill was shelved after it caused con-
sternation among the British government’s legal advisers who thought
it unprecedented. Foot himself opposed the Colonial Office’s propos-
als for stricter regulation of societies because he believed they would
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generate administrative chaos. With Bustamante still resolved not to
compromise on his own demands for an outright ban, the legal sit-
uation in Jamaica was left unchanged by a year of wrangling among
the anti-communists.29 This immobilism did not hinder the efforts of
the Jamaican planters and police to thwart political and union activity
by communists. The SAWU strikes in the sugar industry were deci-
sively defeated by an alliance between the employers, the government
and the two established labour unions, BITU and the TUC.30 On the
political front, agents inside the PEO recorded that ‘confusion and a
modicum of fear have also been created in the ranks due to the fact
that it is realised the police are getting regular and authentic informa-
tion on every move that is made.’31 In September 1955 Foot notified
the American consulate that he estimated there were only 140 com-
munists in Jamaica and that ‘communism is now at its lowest ebb
in this island.’32 During the 1960s the son of Norman Manley and leader
of the National Workers’ Union, Michael Manley, emerged as the voice
of the new left in Jamaica but the 1950s were a decade of successful Cold
War containment for the British in the Caribbean. Whereas Foot had
used indirect methods to defuse the threat posed by Smith and Hart,
in British Guiana the Conservative government in London resorted
to overt intervention in order to circumvent the challenge posed by
Cheddi Jagan and the People’s Progressive Party (PPP).

British Guiana

Decolonisation in British Guiana has attracted more scholarly interest
than any of the other territories in the Anglophone Caribbean, at least
in part because in its case the road to independence was more obviously,
as one of the key secondary sources indicates in its title, ‘a Cold War
story’.33 The rapid growth of the historiography during the last decade
has produced new insights regarding the involvement of the CIA and
the American trade union movement in destabilising the PPP govern-
ment in the early 1960s and changing British attitudes towards the two
key nationalist leaders, Cheddi Jagan and Forbes Burnham. Although
this recent work has clarified some important points of detail for the
later period, in re-examining the events which led the British to suspend
the constitution and eject the first PPP government in 1953 three aspects
have either been neglected or at least need further emphasis. The first is
the phenomenon already noted in the last section, namely the launch
of a British counter-offensive against communism in 1952, which was a
year before the PPP came to power in British Guiana. The territory con-
stituted the most important theatre of Cold War conflict in the region
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but events there need to be judged in the context of developments else-
where in the Anglophone Caribbean. The second point qualifies and
elaborates on the first: although the British believed communism was a
threat in British Guiana they were uncertain about whether the PPP was
a Marxist-Leninist party of the type approved by Moscow. This equiv-
ocation might be better described in terms of the distinctions British
policymakers made regarding the convictions of the PPP leaders. Sydney
King and Janet Jagan were identified as committed communists before
1953; by contrast British uncertainty regarding Cheddi Jagan’s politi-
cal orientation continued into the 1960s, while Forbes Burnham was
initially portrayed as an anti-communist. In retrospect this appears to
be a misjudgement because it was Burnham who moved the country
towards an alliance with the Soviet Union in the 1970s. The third theme
which emerges relates to a wider phenomenon which was observable
across the Anglophone Caribbean: the decisive factor in the process of
decolonisation was the way in which actors interpreted the relationship
between constitutional reform and independence, on the one hand, and
socio-economic divisions and the threat to internal stability, on the
other. British Guiana’s route to independence was unusually complex
and controversial but the same factors were at play as on the islands,
principally the British conviction that a labile and immature population
needed an extended period of political apprenticeship which was pit-
ted against a nationalist argument that true independence necessitated
economic as well as political emancipation. For the former, the sharp
class and racial divisions in the region were a reason to delay, while
for the latter, early independence was a prerequisite for overcoming the
restraints of imperial control and the class divisions which British rule
had established.

In 1966, the year in which Guyana gained independence, Cheddi
Jagan attempted to convict British policymakers of the political crimes
of Machiavellianism, cupidity and neglect in his book The West on Trial.
Jagan’s case for the prosecution became somewhat monotonous as he
painstakingly accumulated evidence of British iniquity from each suc-
cessive episode in the story of Guianese decolonisation. However, his
laborious endeavours have proved useful as a counter-balance to the
even weightier official British record, as detailed in the numerous par-
liamentary Command Papers devoted to events in Guiana during the
1950s and 1960s. One enlightening aspect of Jagan’s account is the
description he offers of the circumstances in which ordinary Guianese
were living after nearly two centuries of British domination. Growing
up on the plantations of Port Morant he thought the ‘sugar planters
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seemed to own the world. They owned the cane fields and the factories;
even the small pieces of land rented to some of the workers for family
food production belonged to them. They owned the mansions occu-
pied by senior staff, and the cottages occupied by dispensers, chemists,
engineers, bookkeepers and drivers. They owned the logies (ranges) and
huts where the labourers lived, the hospitals and every other important
building.’34 Although Jagan’s family did not occupy the lowest rungs of
the estate’s status ladder because his father was a driver rather than a cut-
ter, he still recalled that the poverty was sufficiently intense that he had
to undertake small jobs from an early age because ‘the combined income
of my parents from work in the fields was inadequate even to meet the
barest necessities of life’.35 The circumstances of his upbringing required
Jagan to give careful consideration to the relationship between the coun-
try’s constitutional status and its economic conditions. His conclusion
that British economic interests were the key obstacle to emancipation
derived from his experiences rather than from the study of Marxist
theory. Socialist thinking offered Jagan both an interpretation of the
brutal economic facts of Guianese life and a practical programme for
change. During the Legislative Council debates on Waddington’s polit-
ical reforms in January 1952, Jagan explained that the key test was
‘whether or not we are going to get the opportunity under this new Con-
stitution to make any basic changes in the economy of the country.’ He
criticised Waddington’s Commission for implicitly assuming that ‘our
Constitution must be so formed as not to scare capital which would
come from outside. I would rather have a Government and Constitution
with real powers so that we can rearrange the economy of this country
and get the necessary capital out of it for its development. That can be
done if we have real powers.’36

Jagan escaped from the cane fields by travelling to the United States
to study dentistry. The attainment of professional status was a remark-
able achievement for the son of an estate worker at a time when most
remained illiterate. Jagan chose the distinctly unglamorous profession
of dentist rather than lawyer because he believed his nervousness and
reserve would be less exposed in the examination of patients’ teeth than
in the cross-examination of witnesses.37 In later years his innate shy-
ness and polite manner surprised those who knew of his reputation
for radicalism. V. S. Naipaul saw evidence of this when he met Jagan’s
mother at their home in 1960: ‘The only photograph of interest was
one Dr Jagan had sent back from America while he was a student: a
studio portrait by an unimaginative photographer of a dazzlingly hand-
some young man looking over his shoulder, not unaware of his looks:
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not the face of a politician or a man who was to go to jail for plotting
to burn down Georgetown.’38 Maternal pride in this portrait reflected
Cheddi Jagan’s success in joining the Caribbean educational elite but,
in contrast to those who safeguarded their gains by adopting a con-
servative and defensive political position, he derived from his travels
an awareness of the global socio-economic forces which shaped both
the conditions of Guianese sugar estates and the lives of those living
in urban America. This was partly a matter of closer acquaintance with
examples of overt racism and economic inequality. When domiciled in
Washington and Chicago Jagan came to recognise that his education
was not as wide or as liberal as he had believed; he read Nehru and
Marx and debated with students from around the world.39 His most
important encounter was with an American, Janet Rosenberg, who was
a member of the Young Communist League of Chicago.40 Their relation-
ship subsequently became the subject of prurient speculation by British
and American observers but their affection for one another and a com-
mon view on the most important political issues sustained a marriage
of over 50 years. After his return in 1943 Cheddi Jagan established him-
self in a dental practice but also began to campaign for the political
and economic emancipation of Guiana. He won a seat on the Legisla-
tive Council in 1947 and founded the People’s Progressive Party (PPP) in
1950. The precedent the Jagans were following in naming the PPP was
that set by the Progressive Party of Henry Wallace and Paul Robeson
rather than by Marcus Garvey’s Jamaican party of the same name.41

The central goal of the PPP was to combat British colonial control and
in Guianese conditions this necessitated alliances between residents of
African and East Indian ancestry.

Cheddi Jagan acquired real, if still circumscribed, power when the PPP
won British Guiana’s first election held under universal adult suffrage
in April 1953. The dramatic early success of the party mirrored that of
the JLP in Jamaica nine years earlier and the PNM in Trinidad three
years later. Dynamic and controversial figures like Cheddi and Janet
Jagan, Alexander Bustamante and Eric Williams derived their warrant
to transform moribund colonial politics from electoral success. Jagan’s
opportunity was provided by the Waddington report of 1951. Although
Jagan had criticised Waddington’s proposed reforms during debates in
the Legislative Council, the new Guianese constitution signalled a more
dramatic shift in political authority than either the Governor or the
Colonial Office had intended when they began considering the matter
in August 1948. In that month Theo Lee, who was an elected member
of the Legislative Council and a participant in the Caribbean Labour
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Congress, proposed a motion calling for universal adult suffrage and
internal self-government within five years.42 Aspects of the Colonial
Office reaction were predictable; Creech Jones wrote to the Governor,
Charles Woolley, to insist ‘we ought to do all we can to avoid being
rushed over this question.’43 The origins of the ensuing British miscal-
culations can be traced to their fixation with the racial tensions which
were self-evidently a part of Guianese society. Colonial Office officials
set off on an irregular constitutional course in British Guiana because
they assumed that voting would take place entirely along racial lines.
Their psephological analysis was accurate in identifying that the confer-
ral of universal suffrage would enhance the position of the previously
marginalised community who were the descendants of the indentured
East Indian labourers. What the Colonial Office failed to envisage was
that a multiracial party like the PPP could draw support from both East
Indian and black African-Guianese voters. Woolley explained that the
extension of the franchise implied by the removal of the literacy test
would change the racial composition of the electorate because 44% of
Indians were illiterate compared to 3% of Africans.44 The Indians lived
in the coastal regions and it was argued that they were likely to ignore
the interests of the interior territories, where remnants of the indige-
nous Indian population lived, and that they would inevitably come
into conflict with the urbanised black Guianese population who had
attained a greater degree of social advancement. In the Colonial Office
the Assistant Under-Secretary, George Seel, commented that the newly
enfranchised would be ‘coast dwellers with no knowledge of and no
interest in the interior and torn by racial dissension.’45

The second British error was also a product of their apprehensions
regarding potential conflict between racial groups inside British Guiana.
Woolley predicted that African-Guianese leaders would oppose the abo-
lition of the literacy test which would be enthusiastically supported
by the Indian-Guianese population. For this reason he recommended
that the issue should be resolved by the appointment of British arbitra-
tors. This was an unusual procedure and was opposed by the Permanent
Under-Secretary of the Colonial Office, Thomas Lloyd. However, Creech
Jones accepted that the Governor was the best judge of the situation
inside Guiana and endorsed Woolley’s argument by listing the problems
which were said to distinguish Guianese politics from those elsewhere in
the empire: ‘the sharp division between people of Indian & African ori-
gin, the difficulty of agreement about constitutional advance, the need
for a new mind to be on the political scene & see if deadlock can be
broken.’46 Such considerations also ruled out the appointment of ‘any
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coloured West Indian’ to the Commission.47 As a consequence, the Con-
stitutional Commission comprised three white members: the Oxford
historian Vincent Harlow, who had supervised Eric Williams’s doctoral
thesis; Rita Hinden, who had worked with Creech Jones in the Fabian
Colonial Bureau; and the chairman, John Waddington, who had been
Governor of Barbados and British Guiana for a short time before the
Second World War. On constitutional matters this was a surprisingly
liberal group and their report recommended the conferral of univer-
sal adult suffrage and the establishment of elected majorities in both
the legislature and the executive. They were unable to agree on the
question of whether to create a second chamber which was often a
controversial issue in Caribbean politics.48 In this instance, the major-
ity recommendations of Hinden and Harlow in favour of bicameralism
prevailed, with support from the Colonial Office, against the objections
of Waddington and Woolley. The latter argued that the increased influ-
ence of the elected element in the legislature could be checked far more
effectively by strengthening the Governor’s powers than by appoint-
ing nominees to a weak second chamber. Woolley questioned whether
the limited powers of the second chamber would ‘effectively provide
those checks and balances which the Commission considers essential
and rightly point out are integral feature of democratic Government as
western civilisation understands it.’ Woolley’s reservations were disre-
garded by the Colonial Secretary Griffiths who approved the majority
report on 6 October 1951 in one of his last acts before the defeat of the
Attlee government.49

As they debated the Waddington recommendations all parties began
to ponder the likely outcome of the first general election under the
new constitution and what might occur if Jagan’s newly formed PPP
won. Their predictions were determined less by their views about the
influence of communism in the party than by their assessment of
the administrative competence of Guiana’s politicians. Even before
the appointment of the Waddington Commission, the Colonial Office
complained it would be difficult to persuade capitalist investors ‘that
a Government where politicians of the present calibre have effective
power is one in which they can place serious confidence.’ The pro-
duction of the report then prompted some grumbling that Hinden, in
particular, seemed keen to ease the PPP into power and that the colo-
nial bureaucracy would have grave difficulty accommodating ‘a Jaganite
ministry’.50 Woolley liked to claim that Cheddi and Janet Jagan were
the only two communists in British Guiana but during the debates on
the Waddington reforms he placed greater emphasis on the immaturity
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of Guianese politicians, who were soon to invade both the legislature
and the executive, than on the influence of a familial Jaganite cell.
On 20 September 1951 he wrote: ‘My greater concern is . . . whether with
universal suffrage the general elections will throw up real leaders and
sufficient members of the right calibre for Ministerial office here.’51

In assessing the ideological orientation of the PPP, British policymak-
ers were influenced by the intensification of the Cold War atmosphere
caused by the escalation of the Korean conflict and their scorn for
local politics and politicians but they were also sceptical of alarmist
intelligence emanating from Guiana. Many in the metropolis believed
that sophisticated ideological commitments were beyond the capac-
ity of people inside a country which was socially and economically
underdeveloped. A detailed analysis of the PPP written by the Guianese
Commissioner of Police, Orrett, struck the first note of crisis in April
1951. He correctly predicted that the organisational drive of the PPP
leadership and Janet Jagan in particular would give them a majority
in the Legislative Council. Despite the accuracy of his electoral cal-
culations, Orrett’s forebodings that a PPP victory would constitute ‘a
serious threat to the internal security of the Colony’ have the appear-
ance of a self-fulfilling prophecy. Orrett’s assertion that the PPP had
‘identical’ views to the Jamaican PNP, which was justified on the basis
of ‘their views and Communist methods’, appeared particularly uncon-
vincing, given Manley’s imminent purge of the left. The Colonial Office
did not find his analysis persuasive and succumbed to only minor jit-
ters. Vernon, who headed the West India Department, responded by
accepting that ‘any Communist affiliates must be closely watched’; but
he also accused Orrett of exaggerating the dangers and noted that the
Security Services had ‘checked’ the Jagans and concluded they were
not communists.52 Similarly, the Colonial Office were infuriated when
Britain’s leading Caribbean Cold Warrior, Jackson, who had begun the
pursuit of Ferdinand Smith, insisted that the PPP should not be allowed
to gain control of Guiana’s bauxite resources. Stephen Luke, the Colo-
nial Office Under-Secretary who was soon to become Comptroller for
Development in the Caribbean Commission, wrote to the War Office in
January 1953 to explain: ‘It might be inferred from Brigadier Jackson’s
report that there is a well-organised communist Party in British Guiana.
That is not the case. The people of British Guiana so far have shown
themselves incapable of forming well-disciplined political parties with
precise programmes, and we have no reason to believe that Dr Jagan is
capable of building up a political party in this sense, at any rate in the
foreseeable future.’ Officials in the Colonial Office expressed doubts as
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to whether Jagan would even be able to achieve a majority in the 1953
elections.53

Participating in their first election under universal suffrage on 27 April
the people of British Guiana elected 18 PPP candidates and six from
other parties. Affiliation to the PPP trumped racial considerations: a
black African-Guianese woman, Jane Phillips-Gay, was victorious stand-
ing for Enmore, where most of the voters were Indian plantation
labourers, and the Indian-Guianese Chandra Persaud was elected in
Mahaica with the support of black workers.54 The extent of the PPP tri-
umph attracted the attention of the British Prime Minister, Winston
Churchill. He interpreted the election entirely in Cold War terms
and recommended coordination with the United States in order to
‘break the communist teeth in British Guiana.’ As ‘a joke’ he even
suggested the American contribution might be to dispatch Senator
McCarthy to the country. Four months later the Colonial Secretary,
Oliver Lyttelton, would authorise an intervention to remove the PPP
from power but at this stage he sought to contain the Prime Minister’s
pugnacity by offering a more balanced appraisal: he informed Churchill
that the leaders of the PPP had visited Iron-Curtain countries and might
be in touch with Soviet agencies but their programme was not commu-
nist in nature and they accepted the need for the investment of overseas
capital. They would be given an opportunity to govern.55

Colonial Office assessments of the PPP in government were con-
tinuous with those of the PPP in opposition. Concerns about the
party’s connections to the Comintern’s international-front organisa-
tions increased during the summer months but it was more common for
British policymakers to divide the leaders into ‘extremists’ and ‘moder-
ates’ rather than into communists and non-communists. The moderates
were those who seemed disposed to compromise on their demands
for the redistribution of resources and early self-government while the
extremists were those judged willing to exacerbate social, racial and class
tensions in order to achieve victory in the confrontation with British
imperialism. At the outset the ministerial moderates were identified as
Ashton Chase, Jai Narine Singh and Forbes Burnham and the extremists
as Cheddi Jagan, Sydney King and Joseph Prayal Lachmansingh. The
greatest hazard during the first phase of PPP government was less that
the communist elements in the party would stage a coup and more that
an ideological clash between the leaders of the two factions would lead
to a physical clash between their supporters. After the first month of
PPP administration the new Governor, Alfred Savage, reported that the
two factions had nearly split over the issue of ministerial portfolios and
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expressed relief that they had reached a compromise which had pre-
vented ‘a very serious security situation’.56 Despite his supposed leader-
ship of the extremist faction Jagan was still regarded by many as a ‘fellow
traveller’ rather than as a Soviet surrogate. The head of the Guianese
Special Branch indicated in July that although Jagan could have caused
chaos in the sugar industry he had refrained from doing so. At this stage
it was estimated that the PPP had no plans to disrupt the economy but
that ‘unrest could arise over matters which the Party executive have
no control, resulting from rash promises made in election days and irre-
sponsible action by Ministers and Members of the House of Assembly’.57

Eventual British intervention was more a consequence of alarm at
the stridency of Sydney King’s anti-imperialism and acute disillusion-
ment with Forbes Burnham, who had been identified as the leader of
the moderates, than with Jagan’s policies. By August political reports
from Georgetown indicated that Burnham was ‘proving the most seri-
ous disappointment’ and had shown ‘himself to be viciously anti-British
and to be lacking in balance and judgement.’ King and Janet Jagan were
accused of attempting to deliberately undermine the administration of
the country in order to bring about a revolutionary conflagration which
could lead to the establishment of a pro-Soviet government. It was pre-
dicted they ‘will do everything possible to precipitate a breakdown in
the operation of the Constitution but it is not clear whether Jagan or
Burnham would support such action in the immediate future.’ Reports
such as these caused the Colonial Office to reassess the likelihood of
a communist takeover. Having previously treated talk of a communist
putsch as fantastic, Whitehall decision-makers began fantasising about
British Guiana as a pro-Soviet bastion in the region. The Prinicipal of one
of the West Indian departments in the Colonial Office, J. W. Vernon,
even suggested that the PPP might be aping the tactics used success-
fully by communists in the Balkans.58 Evidence of contact between PPP
leaders and communist organisations in Eastern Europe was obtained
by surveillance and the interception of cables.59 The information which
seems to have most alarmed the Colonial Office was probably obtained
by the Secret Intelligence Service (SIS) in Vienna and was passed on to
Savage on 7 July 1953. It comprised a message from King to the WFTU
and was interpreted as proof that King was working in the interests of
international communism.60

By this stage, Savage was in the midst of a significant row with the
Colonial Office who accused him of failing to curb the PPP extrem-
ists. Propaganda had emerged as the main front in the battle against
communism in British Guiana, so when Savage acquiesced in the PPP’s
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decisions to revoke the Undesirable Publication Ordinance and lift
the ban on the entry of Ferdinand Smith and other leaders of the
Caribbean left, he might have anticipated the horrified reaction of
the Colonial Office. The subsequent wrangle was aggravated by the
fact that Lloyd had written to Savage warning him that Janet Jagan
intended to flood the country with communist literature obtained dur-
ing her trip to Eastern Europe in June. Lloyd explained that the Colonial
Office were formulating a coordinated anti-communist policy across the
Anglophone Caribbean and urged the Governor not to sell the pass
in British Guiana. Unfortunately, the message arrived after Savage had
already accepted Jagan’s proposed liberalisation. Amidst the subsequent
recriminations in Whitehall, Lyttelton opined that Savage’s behaviour
constituted ‘serious signs of weakness and wind’. In apparent antici-
pation of the action he would authorise two months later, on 20 July
he minuted: ‘I am much disturbed and expect the situation to dete-
riorate and not to improve as they appear to think possible.’61 Before
resorting to open intervention, the SIS advocated ‘covert work’ and
an intensification of pro-British propaganda in the Colony. Some of
the documents pertaining to the ensuing information campaign are
partially redacted but the programme assembled as a result of cooper-
ation between British intelligence agencies, the Information Research
Department of the Foreign Office and the Colonial Office included the
sponsorship of anti-Communist articles in the British and Guianese
press, the establishment of a local front organisation ‘as a means of stim-
ulating resistance to Communism by infiltrating a reasonable degree
of politics’ and encouragement of opposition parties which probably
entailed financial subsidy.62 One particularly significant element was the
recruitment of Bookers, who owned the majority of the sugar estates, to
the cause of the anti-communist campaign: the company’s own propa-
ganda extolling the virtues of the British connection was regarded as
one of the best means of responding to the WFTU literature which Janet
Jagan and other PPP leaders were distributing.63

The decision to suspend the constitution occurred once British offi-
cials concluded that even the moderates possessed an incapacity for
efficient government and that the radicals had been too successful in
cultivating Guianese insubordination. A strike in the sugar industry and
reports that King wanted to hold a conference of Caribbean communists
provided the pretext for the dispatch of British troops. Although the
British press, with some encouragement from the government, empha-
sised the ‘red peril’ elements of the story, the invasion was actually a
consequence of metropolitan fantasies about an outbreak of anarchy in
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the colony. Lyttelton reminded the Cabinet on 13 October: ‘We didn’t
act for fear of Comm[unist] coup as some press say: but to secure law
& order while Comm[unist] Ministers were removed.’64 A month ear-
lier Savage had issued his gloomiest report to date. He asserted that PPP
Ministers were motivated by the ‘deepest bitterness’, that this was exac-
erbated by ‘a fanatical hatred by the African Ministers of the white race’
and that Janet Jagan and King ‘appear to believe that by creating disor-
der and economic chaos they would force the issue of self-government
earlier.’ The more specific and immediate cause for alarm was the sub-
orning of the police and the civil service. Lyttelton declared that ‘a halt
must now be called’ which would require the deployment of British
troops, the arrest of the most dangerous leaders and the publication
of an emergency Order-in-Council suspending the constitution.65 He
explained that this programme of action had not been recommended
by the Governor but that it was essential ‘before morale of police
crumbles’.66 His policy was endorsed by Churchill who, in a conversa-
tion with his doctor, singled out British Guiana as a country in which,
during his convalescence from a stroke, the Cabinet had ‘taken things
lying down’. The Prime Minister expressed relish for the ‘bloody row’
which the British intervention would occasion.67

On 30 September the Chiefs of Staff were told that the situation in
British Guiana was ‘rapidly deteriorating’ and that they should make
arrangements to send troops to the colony as soon as possible.68 The
arrival of the soldiers on 8 October was greeted with incredulity because
there was no immediate emergency which justified the intervention.
It had been intended that the landings should be accomplished before
any public announcement was made but, after rumours swept through
the British and Guianese press, Lyttelton complained on 6 October that
‘the element of surprise had now been lost’ and the Cabinet authorised
a preemptive declaration of intent.69 Jagan recalled his initial belief that
speculation about the imminent arrival of British troops was ‘too fantas-
tic’ only to be confounded first by a BBC broadcast and then by a raid
on his home conducted while he was still dressed in his pyjamas.70 The
public rationale for the suspension of the constitution was expounded
by Savage on 9 October and focused on the gradual deterioration of
political conditions which threatened public order in the medium term.
Savage explained that Jagan’s government had undertaken ‘a planned
and continuous programme of strengthening links with communist
countries with a view to making British Guiana a servile state where
people are compelled, under intimidation to give up those freedoms
which we all cherish.’ The story that the intervention was necessary
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to avert a plot to burn down Georgetown did not feature at this stage;
it was fabricated on the basis of reports, issued by Savage after the
deployment of troops, that PPP supporters without cars were buying
large quantities of petrol.71 The notion of an impending outbreak of
incendiarism was incorporated into the subsequent White Paper which
justified the intervention to the British parliament.72 Jagan refuted these
claims in a short book, Forbidden Freedom which was published the fol-
lowing year. He noted the Churchill government’s admission, elicited
by the prominent Labour MP Fenner Brockway and later pursued by
Michael Foot and James Chuter-Ede, that the arson plot had first been
reported on 7 October, weeks after arrangements to assume emergency
powers had been prepared and only a day before the troops arrived.73

Jagan’s speculation that American pressure had influenced British think-
ing were less convincing: the Cabinet agreed to notify the Eisenhower
administration only after the news of the intervention appeared in
the press, while in Washington State Department officials complained
that they lacked authoritative information on what was happening
in Guiana.74

It is often forgotten that, in terms of British party politics, the
Guianese intervention occurred at a wholly propitious moment for
Churchill’s administration: the Conservative Party united in support of
an effective Cold War intervention, while the divisions between the
Bevanites and Gaitskellites in the Labour Party were exposed. In the
midst of their feud over the evacuation of the Suez base, Conserva-
tive MPs united to condemn Jagan and praise the decisive action of
their leaders. Lyttelton’s suggestion that, as a consequence of the inter-
vention, his ‘position in the Conservative Party was strengthened and
reinforced’ was triumphalist and self-congratulatory but accurate. His
account emphasised the contrast between the disarray in the Labour
Party during the debate on 22 October which endorsed the suspension
of the constitution and the delight on the government’s backbenches:
‘Parliamentary parties are prepared to support drastic and unpopu-
lar action if they think it right but when that action gives them a
happy experience they positively purr.’75 Among the purring Conser-
vatives was the future Governor of Bermuda, Roland Robinson, who
blamed ‘the American communist-woman Mrs Jagan’ for introducing
the Anglophobic epithet ‘limey’ into the political discourse of British
Guiana and Philip Bell, who declared that events in Guiana demon-
strated that ‘power without experience leads by a quick and short way
to murder, plunder and riot.’ For Labour, Thomas Reid declared that the
PPP was ‘a thorough bad lot’ which was trying ‘to set up a totalitarian
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Communist state’. His remarks were echoed by the former Indepen-
dent Labour Party member, John McGovern, who insisted ‘Dr Jagan
and his party are a menace.’76 Although some of Aneurin Bevan’s sup-
porters offered lukewarm backing for the PPP, the labour movement
as a whole showed little fraternal feeling for the party. Jagan recalled
his own shock at the prejudicial headlines which greeted his arrival in
London: from the Daily Mirror, ‘Janet Britain-Hater – Hatred of Britain is
Mainspring that Makes Mrs Jagan Tick’; from the Herald, ‘Jagan Men
Had Plot to Set Capital on Fire’; and from the Express, ‘Jagans Aped
Mau Mau Terror’. Sitting in the gallery of the House of Commons he
then endured the attacks of the Parliamentary Labour Party on the PPP’s
record.77 Nothing better illustrates the differences between metropoli-
tan and peripheral perspectives on the economic and political aspects of
decolonisation than the British labour movement’s hostility to Cheddi
Jagan in October 1953. Leaders of British trade-unionism believed that
since its election victory the PPP had advanced the interests of the
Guianese Industrial Workers Union (GIWU), which had been formed
in 1948, at the expense of the older Manpower Citizens Association
(MPCA). They argued that strike action undertaken by the GIWU during
the course of 1953 had been sponsored by communists and that they
were pursuing political domination rather than a resolution to indus-
trial relations problems. When Jagan and Burnham met British trade
unionists, Alice Horan of the General and Municipal Workers Union
condemned the PPP’s sponsorship of the GIWU, which she claimed was
supported by the WFTU. Vincent Tewson, the British TUC’s General Sec-
retary, asked whether Ferdinand Smith had played a role in the recent
strikes. After the cross-examination was over, Labour MPs claimed Jagan
and Burnham had been ‘evasive and with an answer for everything.’78

These attitudes reflected the anti-communism of the British trade union
movement but were also suggestive of the limits which liberation move-
ments in the periphery of empire had to observe if they were to be
tolerated in the metropolis where many liberals and socialists believed
that orderly decolonisation was imperilled by the irresponsibility of the
colonised rather than by the authoritarianism of late imperialism.

In the decade after 1953 the policy of confrontation with Jagan
gave way to a tacit accommodation. Before making the transition to
a potential partner in the decolonisation process, Jagan was, like almost
every other prominent anti-colonial politician in the British Empire,
arrested and imprisoned. Lyttelton and Churchill had pressed for his
internment when the constitution was suspended but had bowed to
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Savage’s objections.79 They awaited a fresh opportunity which was pro-
vided in April 1954 by the imposition and then the immediate breaking
of restriction orders confining Jagan to Georgetown. Janet Jagan gave
an account of the atmosphere in British Guiana at this time to Hart:
‘Police raids, arrests and all that goes with it is as natural as blink-
ing your eyes these days. Hardly a day goes by when a Comrade isn’t
raided . . . I’m so sophisticated I hardly look to see if I am being trailed.’80

She was arrested just before her husband’s release in September 1954
and spent four months in gaol.81 Her own imprisonment coincided
with the Churchill government’s final and comprehensive indictment
of the PPP which was provided by a new Constitutional Commis-
sion, headed by the erstwhile Civil Secretary of the Sudan government,
James Robertson. The Robertson Commission concluded that a period
of ‘marking time’ was necessary because the ‘immature and undiscrim-
inating electorate’ of British Guiana were unwilling to provide a check
on the country’s irresponsible leaders.82 During the ensuing interlude
it became evident that both the policy of cultivating opposition to the
PPP inside Guiana and containing Jagan’s influence within the confines
of a federation were either counter-productive or impractical. Recent
research has demonstrated the extent of British efforts to propagate
rivalry within the leadership of the PPP and it is now evident that the
Colonial Office helped to engineer a breakaway by Burnham’s faction
in 1955.83 The formation of Burnham’s rival party, which became the
People’s National Congress (PNC), aggravated racial tensions because
so many African-Guianese members left the multi-racial PPP after the
split. However, Burnham’s defection also had the paradoxical effect of
assisting Jagan’s return to power because it laid the basis for two-party
politics which was a prerequisite for the further measure of constitu-
tional advance which was agreed to in 1956. It also contributed towards
British disillusionment with Burnham which had been presaged by
Savage in 1953. British officials would by the early 1960s express a
consistent preference for the PPP government over Burnham’s PNC
opposition.

A better option from the British perspective than the dominance
of either of these two parties was to have Guianese affairs guided
by politicians from elsewhere in the Anglophone Caribbean through
the country’s participation in a federation. When Lyttelton’s successor
Lennox-Boyd informed the Cabinet in April 1956 of his intention to
introduce a constitution providing for new elections, he suggested that
the real safeguard for the long term was Guianese membership of the
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West Indies federation.84 Guianese politicians were suspicious of feder-
ation precisely because it threatened to curtail their independence and
they refused to participate in the federal negotiations. After Jagan’s 1957
election victory he reaffirmed the PPP’s opposition to Guianese mem-
bership of the federation. Despite this disappointment, a modus vivendi
was established which, as Jagan admitted, was ‘tantamount to a coali-
tion of the People’s Progressive Party and the Colonial Office’.85 British
offers of incremental reform and the possibility of a repeat of the events
of 1953 caused the PPP leadership to moderate their criticisms of the
colonial regime. Given the lingering bitterness engendered by military
intervention, a permanent accommodation between the British and the
PPP appeared unlikely but the ineffectiveness of the various expedi-
ents taken to erode popular support for the party led to a grudging
British acceptance that Jagan was likely to become the first leader of
an independent Guiana. Such an outcome was only averted because
of the sudden and forceful intervention of the Kennedy administration
in 1962.

Politics, race and reform in Barbados and Trinidad

During the 1950s, amidst the ideological conflict of the Cold War, race
became a global political issue in a way which was unprecedented.
India had achieved its independence in 1947 and established itself
as the first non-white state in the Commonwealth and an influen-
tial anti-colonial voice at the United Nations. Ghana became the first
independent black African nation a decade later. Many of the leaders
of the newly decolonised countries, including Nehru and Nkrumah,
viewed colonial matters such as the Mau Mau war and the extension
of Apartheid in South Africa as different fronts in a liberationist struggle
against European dominance. Even outside of the imperial periphery,
the greater publicity attending to segregationist policies in the United
States as a consequence of the flourishing of the civil-rights campaign
made it a Cold War issue, particularly for those African states who chose
to remain non-aligned. In Britain arguments about race became tied to
discussions of immigration from the imperial periphery following riots
in London and Nottingham in 1958. Controversy over the introduc-
tion of entry restrictions had an obvious impact in the Anglophone
Caribbean, where migration of labour was a means of alleviating unem-
ployment, but the racial politics of decolonisation had a much wider
resonance. In Trinidad and Guiana for example, there was a tendency
for the descendants of indentured labourers from South Asia to look to
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the example of the Indian National Congress as a precedent for polit-
ical organisation, while Nkrumah’s activities in West Africa assumed
much greater salience for those whose ancestors had left the region after
being sold into slavery. In the Western Caribbean, Norman Manley con-
sciously encouraged the notion that collaboration between the races in
the struggle for Jamaican independence would set an edifying prece-
dent for other liberation movements. From the British perspective, the
rising racial consciousness which had been evident since the initial suc-
cesses of Garveyism in the inter-war period was yet another reason to be
gloomy about the prospects for a peaceful transition to independence.
The metropolitan government became increasingly apprehensive that
the new form of mass-electoral politics would provide an opportunity
for the venting of racial grievances. This became evident in the com-
mentary British officials provided on the elections now being held under
universal suffrage in Trinidad and Barbados.

Barbados

The two distinguishing features of political life in Barbados were the
existence of proportionally the largest white European minority in the
Anglophone Caribbean and the continuous retention of a representa-
tive parliamentary system. These phenomena were closely related: in
contrast to the absenteeism prevalent in a nearby island like St Vincent
the plantation owners of Barbados resided in close proximity to their
estates and aggressively defended their political privileges. The leader
of the radical Congress Party Wynter Crawford recalled in his mem-
oirs: ‘Barbados was perhaps the only country in the West Indies that
preserved the rigid racial discrimination after emancipation because
so many whites remained and controlled the land and commercial
enterprises . . . by and large, colour discrimination was more rampant in
Barbados than possibly in any other island in the West Indies.’86 It was
not just nationalist leaders that looked askance at the inegalitarianism
and segregationism of Barbadian life. The Governor of the island in the
mid-1950s, Robert Arundell, who had previously taken responsibility for
the Windward islands, was one of the more conservative British offi-
cials in the region and was prepared to argue that the matter of racial
prejudice was a complex issue because ‘discrimination is more a matter
of class and culture than colour’; but even he accepted that ‘far more
weight is given to colour in Barbados than in most of the rest of the
West Indies.’87 Despite their greater prominence European Barbadians
still only constituted just over 5% of the population. Consequently, in
an era of popular participation in electoral politics, a shift in power out
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of the hands of the white minority and into the hands of the black
majority was inevitable.

The figure most associated with the reordering of Barbadian politics
was Grantley Adams. In 1965, Adams claimed in an interview, tran-
scribed by the American scholar Robert J. Alexander: ‘that he changed
the whole political climate here. When he first entered the legislature
in 1934, the great majority of the black voters voted for their white
“betters” and he was one of the three or four blacks in the House of
Assembly . . . . This has now all changed. Now there is only one white
member of the House of Assembly’.88 Adams was a transitional figure
in Caribbean nationalism whose views and inclinations were more rad-
ical than those of the first generation like Critchlow, Marryshow and
Cipriani but more conservative than those of the second generation
like Williams and Manley. He shared the imperial sentimentalism of
the former and the social progressivism of the latter. In common with
many of his fellow citizens he had at least partly assimilated the notion
of Barbados as a ‘Little England’ with greater affinity to ‘Big England’
than any other territory. Unlike most Barbadians, Adams had expe-
rience of English conditions: he won the Barbados-island scholarship
and studied at St Catherine’s College, Oxford, where his two principal
extra-curricular interests were politics and cricket. Aside from keeping
wicket for the College he joined the Liberal Party and declared his admi-
ration for the meliorist reformism of Herbert Asquith.89 This set him
against reactionaries in both Britain and the Caribbean but also against
more radical socialist prescriptions for change. On his return to the
Caribbean in 1925 he worked as a barrister and became ensnared in
a conflict with the left rather than with the right. Many Barbadians
never forgave him for his lead role in the successful prosecution of
a libel suit against the radical journalist Clennell Wickham. Adams’s
victory in court effectively ended Wickham’s career and appeared to
establish him as an ally of the privileged. Such expectations were over-
turned after his election to the Barbadian House of Assembly in 1934.
From that point Adams launched what his biographer described as ‘a
major assault on the oligarchy of the Island.’90 He campaigned for the
extension of the franchise and improvements in working class con-
ditions and became a prominent figure in the new Barbados Labour
Party (BLP). When the BLP won the 1946 elections Adams, in ami-
able partnership with the Governor, Grattan Bushe, advanced a pro-
gramme of incremental social and constitutional reform. Although for
British officials like Bushe the Anglophile, the cricket-loving Adams
was congenial company, it became evident during the 1950s that
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the Colonial Office doubted his capacities as a regional leader. As he
grew older Adams was increasingly characterised as lazy and irres-
olute. British policymakers were also unpersuaded that a Caribbean
version of Asquithian liberalism would be sufficiently appealing to
obtain populist support in the divisive era of Cold War politics. Despite
their abrasive personalities Manley and Williams were greatly preferred
to Adams because their industry, dynamism and undiluted nationalism
made them more viable alternatives to radicals like Ferdinand Smith or
Richard Hart.

Although no Barbadian featured on the Colonial Office’s authorised
list of Smith’s 11 associates, for British officials, the racial tensions evi-
dent on Barbados made this another potentially dangerous experiment
in decolonisation. The social and political inflexibility of the white
European Barbadian elites and the resentment of the black African work-
ers generated a brittle kind of politics which had been unmissable during
the disorders of the 1930s and achieved renewed prominence in the
December 1951 elections. This was the first poll held on the basis of
universal adult suffrage which was an innovation the Colonial Office
had nervously supported. Adams’s BLP, which effectively represented
black Barbadians, won 16 of the 24 seats, while the Electors’ Associa-
tion, which was the party of white and lighter-skinned residents who
could claim European descent, won only four seats. Another pillar of
the Barbadian establishment, the Advocate newspaper, attributed prevail-
ing suspicions of the Electors’ Association’s manifesto to the difficulty
of trying ‘to compete against an electorate which has been so consis-
tently taught to believe that white men are, like the ancient Greeks, to
be feared, especially when bearing gifts.’91 Governor Savage, who would
later be despatched to Guiana, informed the Colonial Office that the
campaign ‘was very painful as the colour question predominated viz
white and coloured versus black.’ In offering a prognosis Savage admit-
ted ‘the racial issue is my main worry’. He suggested that the situation
could be managed effectively, but only if the white elites cooperated
with Adams in a process of reform. In London, Luke who was mon-
itoring Barbadian affairs at the Colonial Office predicted that further
constitutional advance was the ground on which a racial confrontation
was most likely. He expected that Adams would demand a strengthen-
ing of the executive powers of the elected element and that ‘in their
present temper, the white community may regard this issue as vital
to their whole future and show no disposition to make any sensible
concessions.’ Despite expressing some optimism about the possibility
of surmounting such dangers, he concluded that Barbadians ‘have not
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previously had to face the need for so drastic and far reaching an
adjustment of race relations.’92

As in Jamaica and Trinidad, one of the most difficult issues arising
during the process of constitutional reform was to redefine the rela-
tionship between the legislative and executive branches of government.
In the case of Barbados the representative tradition in the legislature
had persisted but had been held in check by the executive authority
of the Governor. Following the extension of the franchise to the mass
of the population, Adams and the BLP were able to argue that execu-
tive privilege, which had once restrained the cupidity of the plantation
owners, had become a means of frustrating the democratic will of the
people. More mundanely, Adams insisted on the institution of a new
ministerial system in which the leader of the largest party would become
Prime Minister and executive portfolios would be filled by elected mem-
bers rather than nominees and officials. In March 1952 he told Lloyd
that he expected the new constitutional dispensation to become opera-
tive within six or seven months.93 As usual the Colonial Office reacted
cautiously and the combination of metropolitan reservations and divi-
sions within the BLP ensured that reform proceeded at a pedestrian pace.
Many of the new BLP members elected in 1951, including Errol Barrow
and Cameron Tudor, believed that Adams was too hesitant in his pursuit
of redistributionist economic policies, and divisions within the party on
issues like taxation policy and nationalisation had ramifications for the
debates about the constitution. Adams’s early history of collaboration
with the Barbadian elites and his incrementalist approach to politics
were interpreted by many as evidence of ingrained conservatism. The
constitutional arena was a place where Adams could more easily prove
his nationalist credentials and he constantly pressed the British for both
tangible and symbolic concessions in order to bolster his position inside
the BLP. The seriousness of the challenge was eventually demonstrated
when Barrow resigned from the BLP in order to form the Democratic
Labour Party (DLP) in 1955.94

The metropolitan authorities were aware that Adams was encircled
by the younger members of the BLP to his left and the old conserva-
tive European Barbadian elites to his right. They adopted a cautious
approach to constitutional reform in an attempt to avert a confrontation
between what they perceived as two extremes. When the BLP leaders for-
mally presented their demands for a ministerial system of government
in May 1952 Luke again returned to the racial issue. He warned: ‘it may
well mean handing over political power in full to the coloured majority
in a very colour-conscious community; and it will mean handing over
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power to politicians who apart from Mr Grantley Adams himself, have
so far made a very poor showing in the new Barbados House of Assem-
bly.’ Savage was also concerned that, although Adams was reliable, the
younger generation was not. He informed the Colonial Office of the
existence of ‘a growing “left” flank’ inside the BLP which endangered
Adams’s leadership. As in the case of Jamaica after the implementation
of the 1944 constitution, the Colonial Office decided in September 1952
to ‘call a halt’ on the reform process, at the bidding of the Conser-
vative Secretary of State, Oliver Lyttelton.95 It was expected that the
period of remission would be a short one. In the interim they con-
ducted a thorough analysis of Barbadian constitutional traditions in
order to identify those elements which offered the strongest defence
against the potential emergence of a reckless administration dominated
by the left of the BLP. From this investigation they established that,
in the last resort, British influence rested on the Governor’s entitle-
ment, in exceptional circumstances, to reject the advice offered to him
by Ministers. When Adams arrived in London in December 1952 he
demanded that the Governor should finally be obliged to act on the
recommendations of Ministers; the only exceptions he was willing to
countenance related to defence and external affairs. For the British this
amounted to ‘something approaching responsible government’ which
was inappropriate in a territory where the race and class conflicts of the
1930s remained unburied. In April 1953 they presented Adams with an
inelegant formula which retained the Governor’s discretionary powers:
he ‘should, except when it appears to him that grave or exceptional
circumstances compel him to act otherwise, accept, in legislative mat-
ters the advice of Ministers if they are unanimous.’96 Adams initially
assented but later expressed dissatisfaction with the resulting compro-
mise agreement, which included the retention of nominated members
in the Legislative Council. In October he attempted to renegotiate terms
with the new Governor, Arundell. Although Arundell disdained the
disorderly means by which the BLP conducted their business, he rec-
ommended a revised formula specifying that the Governor should act
on the advice of the elected Premier rather than on the unanimity of
Ministers. This was accepted by Munster, the Conservative Parliamen-
tary Under-Secretary at the Colonial Office, who took the opportunity
to reiterate that they only acquiesced ‘so long as the Governor has the
right to refuse their advice in grave or exceptional circumstances and
this I understand is so.’97 In Barbados, as in Jamaica, the British were
tenacious in clinging to the privileges of executive authority against
nationalist demands for greater democratic control.
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British policymakers displayed a similar avidity in defending the
symbols of British paramountcy. Adams later recalled that Lyttelton’s
reluctance to allow him to assume the title of Prime Minister was an
‘amusing’ aspect of the negotiations.98 Oddly, the issue became entan-
gled with the process of African decolonisation. In May 1952 Adams told
Savage that his supporters had noted Nkrumah’s appointment as Prime
Minister of the Gold Coast and were urging him to acquire the same sta-
tus. The matter of what to call the senior minister remained in abeyance
while other constitutional issues were addressed, but it arose again when
Adams visited London in December 1952 and argued for the title of
Prime Minister, against the advocacy of Chief Minister by the Colonial
Office. When Lyttelton wrote to Churchill outlining the constitutional
changes, his primary concern was to secure the British Prime Minis-
ter’s support for the withholding of that title from any elected leader
of the Barbadian executive. Despite the intransigence of Lyttelton and
Churchill on the matter, in April 1953 the interim Governor, Turner,
championed Adams’s cause in a peculiar letter which revealed how one
official thought about local conceptions of race. Turner argued that
Adams’s reluctance to accept the title of Chief Minister was understand-
able in a society where the word ‘chief’ had connotations of primitive
African conditions. As evidence for this he cited the local popularity of
the comic book hero The Phantom, ‘who spends his time accomplish-
ing impossible feats in a sort of American Congo, where the Chiefs
always have big bare bellies and wear bone necklaces and dented top
hats.’ Evidently neither the acting Governor nor the general popu-
lation wished to be associated with such unsophisticated notions of
governance and Turner urged that either Premier or Principal Minis-
ter be offered as an alternative to Chief Minister. The Colonial Office
adjudged the appellation Premier to be too dignified for Adams and
so Principal Minister was initially pressed upon him. It was not until
July 1953 that Lyttelton finally conceded that, in the last resort, he
would allow Adams to become Premier of Barbados, but not, of course,
Prime Minister.99

British anxieties that the racial antagonism generated during the
1951 elections would be amplified under a more advanced constitution
proved unfounded. Adams tolerated the continuation of racial discrim-
ination on the island and the white Barbadians were compensated for
their loss of political power by the retention of their social privileges.
A bill which Adams introduced in January 1956 to prevent shops refus-
ing service to customers on racial grounds was prompted not by the
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intrinsic merits of such legislation but because it was thought neces-
sary to improve the chances of Bridgetown establishing itself as the
capital of the new federation.100 A decade later Adams admitted that
‘social separation of blacks and whites’ was still tolerated, including the
notorious exclusivity of all white social and sporting clubs.101 On the
political front, the BLP left, whose existence had alarmed Savage in
1952, devoted more of their energies to criticising Adams’s failure to
address the problems of unemployment than to an outright assault
on British colonialism. Following their split with Adams in 1955, Errol
Barrow and his supporters in the DLP were decisively defeated in the
1956 elections. Arundell was able to reassure the metropolitan govern-
ment that the racial rhetoric which had been deployed five years earlier
was much less prevalent. By this stage the greatest concern of British
policymakers was the absence of any obviously reliable successor to
Adams, who they criticised for his failure to groom the younger gen-
eration for the responsibilities of office.102 The next step in the process
of transplanting the Westminster system to Barbados was to strengthen
the power of elected ministers, which required a transfer of authority
from the Executive Committee, on which colonial officials continued
to sit, to a Cabinet. During 1957 Arundell accepted with few qualms the
idea that elected members should acquire control of the Executive and
reported that even the conservatives, who had opposed the introduction
of the ministerial system, accepted that such a development was ‘logical
and inevitable.’103 At the moment when Adams formed his first Cabi-
net in early 1958, the metropolitan government remained perturbed by
the possibility that the Caribbean islands might become crucibles for
racial conflict but their attention had shifted westwards from Barbados
to Trinidad.

Trinidad

Just as in Barbados, British officials in Trinidad expected that the new era
of democratic politics would aggravate racial tension and in both cases
these fears were revealing of their own assumptions about the character
of different Caribbean ethnic groups. The population in Trinidad was so
inter mingled that the notion of distinct ethnicities was questionable
but subjective appreciations of racial character were an important fea-
ture of both popular and elite politics. Significant Chinese, Arab and
Portuguese communities had been established but it was the poten-
tial confrontation between the minority group of Indian Trinidadians,
who constituted approximately 35% of the population in 1951, and
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the larger black African group, who accounted for 47%, which became
a focus of British concern.104 Cultural divisions were exacerbated by
socio-economic differences which had the potential to set poor Indian
agricultural workers against the black African working- and middle-
classes of San Fernando and Port of Spain. In this context matters
such as education policy acquired a racial character; politicians like
Simbhoonath Capildeo criticised the colonial government for failing
to eradicate illiteracy because its prevalence in the Indian Trinidadian
villages was not regarded as sufficiently important either by British offi-
cials or by the emerging African Trinidadian elite.105 The issue which
alerted British policymakers in Whitehall to Trinidadian racial tension
was the demand of the newly elected Chief Minister, Eric Williams, that
his government should take control of the police which was part of the
nationalist agenda of his People’s National Movement (PNM).

The sociologist Ivar Oxaal has claimed, ‘No real grasp of Trinidad
politics in the last years of the colonial period can be achieved with-
out understanding the bases of the charismatic authority wielded
by Dr Williams.’106 Certainly none of his contemporaries in the
Anglophone Caribbean has garnered as much posthumous commen-
tary from historians and political analysts.107 There is general agreement
that Williams seemed well qualified to fashion a respectable Trinidadian
nationalism which would reconcile the island’s racial groups and
assuage British worries about the economic and political consequences
of independence. His continuous battles with British officials after his
appointment to the Caribbean Commission in 1948 established his
nationalist credentials and provided material for a series of speeches
which connected his own struggles with the imperial bureaucracy to the
necessity for liberation from colonial rule. Following the termination
of his contract with the Commission in June 1955, he began organis-
ing a new party with the aim of contesting the elections scheduled for
the following year. The PNM was more successful in acquiring popu-
lar support than any of the earlier attempts by Trinidadian politicians
to establish mass political parties. Williams never lost his reputation
as an exceptionally prickly political personality but, from a British
perspective his programme, as well as his academic credentials as an
Oxford-trained historian, were impeccable. Although the emphasis in
his historical work on the material causes of the rise and fall of the
transatlantic slave trade showed the influence of Marxism, as a politi-
cian he was reconciled to international capitalism. He emphasised that
the necessary diversification of the Trinidadian economy would require
the courting of international capital.108 After the PNM victory of 1956,
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Williams invited Teodoro Moscoso to advise on how Trinidad could fol-
low the Puerto Rican model of ‘Industrialisation by Invitation’, which
was sanctioned by Washington.109 As his biographer Selwyn Ryan has
commented he was ‘the first would-be reformer in Trinidad to break
openly with the socialist tradition.’110 On racial questions, instead of
exploiting the potential division between Trinidadians of African and
Indian descent he argued that their subjection to British imperialism
ought to give them common cause. He admonished both the British
for their use of racism to justify oppression and Trinidadians for their
obsessions with the same issues: ‘the absurdity of the ideas expressed
by the world’s great scholars and thinkers are a warning to us that our
own racial prejudices and racial stereotypes will appear equally ridicu-
lous and indefensible to future generations.’111 In a manner similar to
Bustamante in Jamaica, Williams’s appearance prompted much specula-
tion about his own racial origins; many believed that he had Indian as
well as African ancestry although Williams asserted that he was of mixed
European and African descent.112

Williams’s unvarying combativeness led some British and American
officials to claim that he was an anti-white racist. The charge amounted
to a tu quoque counter-accusation which was intended to mitigate the
appalling record of European prejudice in the Caribbean; it was particu-
larly pointed in Williams’s case because in his most significant book,
Capitalism and Slavery, he argued that racism had been essential to
the rationalisation of the brutalities of the slave trade.113 In the con-
text of a widespread cultural Anglophilia in the West Indies, Williams
was notable for his scepticism about British rectitude; this tendency
reflected his resentment at the way he was treated at Oxford Univer-
sity, which was a subject to which he frequently reverted. In a letter to
Norman Manley, Williams explicitly stated his belief that he had been
denied a Fellowship on ‘racial grounds’.114 In her diary, Edna Manley
recorded a more dramatic example of his sensitivity. She described how
a power cut appeared to bring out Williams’s insecurities: ‘in the half
light of the flickering candles, Eric’s whole character changed before
our very eyes . . . . His voice dropped to a sibilant whisper, and he began
to talk of what the English had done to him when he was at Oxford,
of how his letters were opened and messages intercepted’.115 A more
detailed account of the sense of grievance which Williams expressed
to the Manleys is provided by the chapter of his autobiography Inward
Hunger which constitutes an inventory of the racial slights he endured
at Oxford, including the occasions when he was humiliated during an
oral examination and his chilly encounter with an unnamed liberal
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author.116 Like Manley, Williams wanted the colonised to set an example
to the colonisers and envisaged the PNM as a vehicle for racial accom-
modation. He failed in this ambition and by the time of independence
in 1962 his party was identified with the defence of the interests of black
African Trinidadians. The scarring effects of exposure to racial prejudice
were not conducive to generating the liberal idea of colour blind-
ness and, when under pressure, he blundered into crass assumptions
about Indian Trinidadians which he vociferously condemned in others.
Although this slippage away from his pan-racial ideals was the product
of numerous factors, most noticeably the colonial legacy which he anal-
ysed in his work, Williams bore significant responsibility for the rising
racial tensions of the late 1950s which so alarmed British observers.

The British propensity for panicking about racial controversies was
evident during the 1956 election campaign while Williams was still
preaching the requirement for racial solidarity. The Governor of
Trinidad, Edward Beetham, like Foot when confronted with a poten-
tial communist threat in Jamaica and Renison when dealing with the
politics of race in Barbados, demonstrated a jumpiness which was at
odds with the phlegmatic disposition which was supposed to distin-
guish British Governors from the local population of the colonies they
administered. Although surprised by the absence of lawlessness during
the campaign, Beetham predicted that the black African supporters of
the PNM would become disenchanted once it became clear that they
had not obtained an overwhelming triumph at the polls. He warned
that when news of a partial victory reached ‘this volatile section of [the]
population at the end of a long day [it] may lead to spontaneous disor-
ders particularly in Port of Spain.’ Unless sufficient force was available to
restrain the rioters, he predicted ‘trouble would spread like wildfire and
could be very serious.’117 Beetham proved a poor psephologist and his
alarmist predictions about public reaction to the election results were
never tested. The PNM’s success at the polls was more impressive than
had been expected: they won 13 of the 24 seats and obtained 39% of
the total votes cast which was twice the number of the second largest
party, the People’s Democratic Party.118 Beetham’s insistence on calling a
warship to the vicinity was ridiculed by Williams who later recalled the
prevalence of ‘all sorts of rumours of violence and confusion’. On his
own account, this alarmism underestimated the command Williams
could exercise over his supporters: he recorded Beetham’s astonishment
at the speed with which crowds dispersed following instructions from
him to return to their homes.119
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Once elected first minister, Williams’s priorities were economic
growth and constitutional advance. In order to obtain the former he
engaged in an urgent search for capital from overseas investors and the
British and American governments. On the matter of political reform he
advocated a stronger central government for the planned federation and
the removal of the confining colonial conventions which limited the
freedom of action of elected politicians in the territorial units. During
a meeting with Lennox-Boyd in June 1957 he demanded the introduc-
tion of a Cabinet system of government in Trinidad. From Williams’s
perspective this required that the leader of the majority party, in their
capacity as Chief Minister, should have the right to appoint and dis-
miss Ministers, that British colonial officials should lose the right to
vote in the Executive Council, and that the Governor’s discretionary
powers ought to be exercised only on advice from the Chief Minister.120

Given that Cabinet government had already been established in Jamaica
and Barbados, the extension of the system to Trinidad was difficult
to resist and Lennox-Boyd sanctioned its introduction. As elsewhere,
it was only when the relationship between the powers of an elected
first minister and the Governor were examined in detail that the extent
of British reservations became clear. In February 1958 Beetham com-
plained that Williams was seeking to undermine the authority of three
key officials: the Governor, Chief Secretary and Attorney General. Back
in Whitehall, the Assistant Under-Secretary of the Colonial Office, Philip
Rogers, and his subordinate in one of the West Indian departments,
John Marnham, estimated that it was time to think ‘furiously’ about the
implications of further constitutional change in Trinidad. The latter was
dissatisfied with the prospect that the governments of territorial units
would acquire additional powers, while the legislative and executive
scope of the federal centre remained narrowly circumscribed. He reiter-
ated the familiar and futile Colonial Office orthodoxy that an extension
of the powers of elected representatives in one territory ought not to
set a precedent for others and argued that the authority of the federal
centre should be enhanced before any further demission of power to
the units.121

What aggravated the argument about constitutional reform in
Trinidad was the eruption of racial controversy following the first elec-
tions to the newly established federal legislature in March 1958. The
outcome was a surprise victory for the newly formed Democratic Labour
Party (DLP) which had been established only the year before as an expe-
dient to unite Williams’s many enemies. They won six of the 10 seats
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contested in Trinidad. Albert Gomes, who was one of its architects,
described the DLP as a ‘rag bag of dissident elements’. He later con-
fessed that the new party appealed to the sense of grievance among
the Indian population but argued that in Trinidadian conditions ‘in
order to pursue an ordinary democratic end, racial rivalries had to be
exploited.’122 This was the attitude which infuriated Williams: the DLP’s
success in the federal elections seemed to guarantee that the nation-
alist movement would be divided along racial lines even before the
task of eradicating colonialism had been completed. Characteristically
these gloomy thoughts drove him to extreme measures of his own. In a
speech delivered on 1 April 1958 he denounced what he claimed to be
a widely held view among Indian Trinidadians that they owed loyalty
to India rather than to Trinidad. In one infamous passage he described
Indians in Trinidad as a ‘recalcitrant and hostile minority masquerading
as the Indian nation, and prostituting the name of India for its selfish,
reactionary political ends.’ Williams intended to emphasise the need
for unity against colonialism but on this occasion his rhetorical embel-
lishments of this nationalist message were as inflammatory as it was
possible to imagine. The two leading Indian Trinidadian members of
the PNM, Kamaluddin Mohammed and Winston Mahabir, shared the
stage with Williams when he delivered his address. Mohammed served
in a number of PNM Cabinets and eventually became Deputy Prime
Minister and President of the World Health Organisation. Despite his
loyalty to Williams he recalled: ‘Winston and I were sitting together on
the platform and when we heard the speech we turned cold.’ The most
attractive gloss he could place on the ugly elements of the speech was
that what ‘Williams was trying to say was that the elections were fought
on the basis of race and that the Indian minority, a term I found offen-
sive, were trying to remove him from office.’ Mohammed indicated that
at a later moment, in a more reflective mood, Williams ‘realised it had
done a lot of damage.’123 Mahabir was less forgiving and broke with
Williams three years later. He also remembered the ‘horrified glances’ he
exchanged with others as the speech proceeded. Listening to Williams
he felt that Indian members of the PNM ‘experienced a sudden shat-
tering of all the ideals for which we thought we stood. We felt guilty
of all the lies we had preached to the Indians about the genuineness of
Williams and our party.’124

The rising tensions on Trinidad in the aftermath of Williams’s speech
influenced the debate over constitutional reform. Beetham was con-
cerned about the effect of Williams’s rhetoric. On 9 April he wrote:
‘The prognosis for Trinidad . . . could hardly be worse at the moment
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of writing. It is however an unpredictable place and anything may
happen.’ He criticised both the DLP and the PNM for exploiting the
race issue and characterised Williams’s speech as inflammatory: ‘A few
sparks (which may well happen during the forthcoming bye-elections
for the Leg. Co. [Legislative Council]) and the whole country could
become involved, resulting in a state of emergency, troops etc. etc.’125

The minutes composed by Colonial Office staff in response to Beetham’s
report accused him of exaggerating but also revealed some startling
racial assumptions of their own. Despite the ‘nasty bits’ of the speech,
Marnham’s assessment was that it was not ‘too awful’ and that Beetham
was ‘feeling the strain.’ Another official, Baker, provided a gloss which
attended to Williams’s peroration which featured the slogan ‘seek ye
first the kingdom of self-government’. Baker commented: ‘I find it a
queer mixture of scholarly exposition and demagogic invective, end-
ing with a parody of the New Testament that smells unpleasantly of
Africa.’126 The implication that there was something sinister or repel-
lent about the establishment of independence under a government
led by black African Trinidadians informed the subsequent discussion
of constitutional reform. On 21 June 1958 Williams’s deputy, Patrick
Solomon, introduced a motion in the Legislative Council which sig-
nalled the PNM’s intention to deprive the Governor of the power to
legislate. Baxter was responsible for formulating a response in Whitehall
and he concluded that the current political tensions in Trinidad required
a strengthening, rather than the proposed weakening, of the Governor’s
powers. He argued that PNM ministers had not shown themselves to be
competent and ‘a move in the direction of self-government might only
inspire them to dictatorial or xenophobic excesses.’ These thoughts were
endorsed by Marnham who added for good measure that Williams’s
weakness was his unwillingness to accept ‘those self imposed restraints
which alone make British type constitutions workable.’ However, both
he and Rogers reverted to the customary and prudential Colonial Office
thought that resistance to proposals emanating from more moderate
nationalist leaders was not practical politics.127

The disquiet which attended Williams’s plans to reduce the Gov-
ernor’s reserved powers was also evident when preparations for the
introduction of Cabinet government were discussed. This had already
been accepted in principle but became an awkward issue for the Colonial
Office because of concerns about racial tensions in Trinidad. Objections
to the transfer of responsibility for policing to a locally elected Cabinet
Minister came to the attention of Lennox-Boyd when delegations from
both the PNM and the DLP visited London in October 1958. On his
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own account, Solomon, who led the former group and could be almost
as acerbic as Williams, made no effort to reassure the Colonial Office.
He told Lennox-Boyd that the advance to Cabinet government ‘was just
a first instalment and that, like Oliver Twist, we would be coming back
for more.’128 Although he offered concessions on some minor consti-
tutional issues, Solomon insisted that the Governor’s power to refuse
assent to legislation must end and that a member of the elected Cabi-
net should acquire authority over the police. Such demands elicited the
common complaint that the nationalist leadership were displaying dic-
tatorial tendencies. What exacerbated the situation in this instance was
the Colonial Office assessment that ‘the racial situation in Trinidad is a
tense one.’ On this point, Lennox-Boyd found the DLP’s analysis persua-
sive. He described himself as ‘extremely shaken by the talks we had with
the opposition leaders from Trinidad.’ Risking the wrath of Williams,
he declared his outright opposition to the transfer of responsibilities
for policing to a member of the PNM Cabinet.129 Relations between
the colonial authorities and Williams were inflamed further by his cam-
paign against the American military base on Chaguaramas, which will
be discussed in the following chapter.

The combined refusal of American and British policymakers to accom-
modate nationalist demands prompted new bouts of invective from
Williams, to which the transatlantic powers responded in different
ways. American officials refused to make concessions on the base issue
and offered covert encouragement to the DLP; the British government
concluded that, despite the difficulties they experienced in working
with Williams, he was potentially a capable leader of an independent
Trinidad who, in the last resort, had to be appeased. The controversy
over ministerial control of the police culminated in a confrontation
between Williams and the Parliamentary Under-Secretary of State, Julian
Amery, in Trinidad in June 1959. As a trump card, Williams announced
that the PNM would not cooperate with the scheduled reopening of Par-
liament until an elected minister was given authority over policing. His
case was strengthened by one positive and one negative development:
he had the support of the Governor and he had not repeated the inflam-
matory remarks about Indian Trinidadians made a year earlier in the
aftermath of the federal elections. On 29 June Williams told Amery and
Beetham that racial tensions on the island were ‘less than in Notting Hill
gate’. As a former influential member of the Suez group who delighted
in controversy, Amery was one of the least likely Ministers to submit to
pressure from colonial nationalists but he recognised that Williams had
outmanoeuvred the Governor. Although he reported back to London
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about the Trinidad police, that ‘it should not be forgotten that like PNM
they are 90% African’, Amery effectively admitted defeat. He reported
that Williams was ‘aiming at a direct test of strength with UK Gov-
ernment’ and suspected that he might precipitate an election on the
issues of the police and Chaguaramas which he would certainly win.130

In order to avoid this, the Colonial Office conceded ministerial con-
trol of the police to a PNM minister. Williams made a triumphant radio
broadcast on 9 July to declare victory and the establishment of Cabinet
government.131 The following decade was one of continuing racial ten-
sion on the island, culminating in Williams’s own confrontation with
the Black Power movement in 1970. Judged in that context, the Colonial
Office had some justification for their reservations about constitutional
reform in the late 1950s. In the case of both Barbados and Trinidad, how-
ever, the manner in which the metropolitan authorities discussed the
racial politics of the islands revealed much about their own subjective
appreciation of racial issues and in particular their fear that the domina-
tion of Caribbean politics by a mass electorate who were the descendants
of African slaves would lead to disorder. These apprehensions reinforced
the already prevalent sense of caution about constitutional advance in
the territorial units which was also evident during the negotiations to
establish a federation.

Building a West Indian State

At the Kingston and Montego Bay conferences of 1947 nationalist politi-
cians had announced their intention to unite the separate territories
of the Anglophone Caribbean into a single federation. The Colonial
Office had approved of this development but when the details of the
constitution were discussed they imposed a set of conservative princi-
ples in the Rance report which proved unattractive to the nationalists
who, in territories like Trinidad, Barbados and Jamaica, increasingly
devoted their energies to obtaining greater legislative and executive
authority at a local, territorial level rather than to fostering regional
integration. Bustamante, whose prevarication on the federal issue was
one of the key reasons for the dilatory progress of federal constitution-
building, instituted a new phase in the project when he proposed in
August 1951 that a conference should be held to reconsider the Rance
plan. As was now customary, this démarche did not produce immedi-
ate action but in April 1953 a conference was finally held in London to
revise the original recommendations. Preparations for this meeting clar-
ified the terms of the debate about federation: the key disagreements
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between British officials and the local politicians concerned the bal-
ance of constitutional authority and the extent of economic assistance;
the issues in dispute among the units were the site of the federal
capital, freedom of movement and the source of revenue for the fed-
eration. While the British liked to adopt the role of frustrated arbiter,
on the matter of their own powers and perquisites they adopted a lati-
tudinarian approach which was designed to entrench their continuing
influence.

Those playing the role of constitutional architects in Whitehall and
the Caribbean recognised that one of the trickiest aspects of the federal
design was the financial structure of the new polity. If their specifi-
cations placed too great a financial load on the general population,
popular support for federation would almost certainly evaporate. Until
Adams suggested the introduction of a federal income tax in 1958,
there was unanimity that the best approach was the indirect method
of generating revenue from customs. In 1947 the Fiscal Sub-Committee
of the Montego Bay conference had proposed that ‘any form of fed-
eral government should be financed from at least one independent and
major source of revenue, in the collection of which it should have com-
plete legislative and administrative control.’ They agreed that this source
should be customs duties.132 The idea of making the cost of federation
as inconspicuous as possible had political advantages but it inevitably
limited the possibilities of what the federation would be able to achieve
after it was established. This problem was exacerbated by the British
determination to impose the most parsimonious solutions wherever
possible. When the Rance committee deliberated further on this matter
they concluded that the complete transfer of customs revenue from the
units to the centre, as recommended at Montego Bay, would place far
too onerous a burden on the former and provide a superfluity of fund-
ing for the latter. The portion of customs revenue to be allocated to the
federal government was therefore reduced to 25%, with the remainder
to be retained by the units. Even this was criticised in the Colonial Office
as likely to provide too much budgetary license to the spendthrift fed-
eral politicians of the future. Seel, who had been appointed Comptroller
of Development and Welfare in the West Indies, considered that ‘the
financial and economic aspects of the Standing Committee’s recom-
mendations . . . are not the strongest feature of this generally valuable
report.’133

When in February 1952 Lyttelton contacted the governments of the
Anglophone Caribbean territories to urge them to prepare for a new
conference on federation in June, his intention was that they should
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focus their attention on the unsatisfactory financial aspects and on the
method of obtaining a customs union.134 Instead, Lyttelton’s initiative
inadvertently reopened the debate about the balance of constitutional
authority in the putative federation and its connections to the levels
of future British assistance. Some local governments were eager both to
recast those sections of the current plan dealing with the Governor’s
reserved powers and secure additional financial guarantees from the
British. Bustamante seized the opportunity to demand a minimum of
£ 50 million in economic assistance. In July the Jamaican House of Rep-
resentatives also called for the Rance proposals to be revised in order to
secure greater powers for the federation’s elected politicians. Manley’s
PNP demanded that any federation should be fully self-governing.135

Adams also regarded the Lyttelton dispatch as a means of reviving the
more ambitious plans for a federation that had been adumbrated by the
Caribbean Labour Congress. Seel complained that Adams and Manley
did ‘not want federation except on a rigid basis of universal socialism.’136

One source of comfort for the Colonial Office was the relatively accom-
modating position of Trinidad. Gomes, who was the dominant figure
in the island’s politics before the emergence of Williams, campaigned
vigorously against proposals emanating from Kingston and Bridgetown
for major revisions to the federal plan. The author of that plan, Hubert
Rance, who in his new post as Governor of Trinidad had established an
informal alliance with Gomes, visited London in June 1952 and cau-
tioned against holding a conference unless the other islands accepted
the basic principles which he had affirmed.137 Although the determi-
nation of the Trinidadian government to prevent major revisions har-
monised with the cautionary song intoned by the Colonial Office, the
dissonance between Bustamante, Adams and Gomes made it impossible
to hold Lyttelton’s planned federal conference in 1952.

Further complications arose because competing ideas about the rela-
tionship between economic development and political autonomy had
not been resolved during Rance’s chairmanship of the Standing Closer
Association Committee (SCAC). One of the advantages of the federation,
from the British perspective, was that it would provide a channel for a
more rational process of economic planning, leading eventually to the
tapering away of financial assistance to the region. British officials were
prepared to consider a short-term increase in funding for development
in order to secure the longer-term attenuation of their commitment
but they argued that estimates of federal requirements emerging from
the Caribbean tended to ‘gild the SCAC’s lily.’138 In March 1951 the
head of the Colonial Office’s Finance Department, Henry Bourdillon,
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produced a detailed report on development policy which recommended
that funding be diverted away from ‘avoidable recurrent expenditure’,
by which he meant spending on social welfare in unit territories,
towards projects likely to foster economic growth on a regional, fed-
eral basis. He also acknowledged that ‘until quite recently nothing was
done to put money back into these islands in order to expand their
economy’ and that even recent increases in British funding were ‘only
scratching the surface of the economic problem.’139 Nationalist politi-
cians wanted something more than a dent in the hardened veneer of
colonial neglect and political subservience. By the early 1950s their
demands were eliciting some support from local Governors. Blackburne
was so keen to curtail the influence of ‘half-baked rabble rousers’ in
the Leewards that he suggested offering the federation full dominion
status on the grounds that the federal authorities would be obliged to
curb dissidence on the small islands and undertake rational economic
planning.140 Foot offered a less sweeping solution but suggested that
the retention of reserved powers in the field of finance was unnecessary
given the constraints which would be imposed on local policymakers
once they had to confront the problem of federal indigence. He also
recommended that offers of economic aid should be repackaged into
a more palatable form to provide a measure of financial inducement
to Caribbean politicians to integrate. Even Rance suggested, following
some prompting from Gomes, that an offer of additional finance at the
outset of any conference ‘may well spike the guns of certain people who,
while outwardly supporting federation, merely give lip service.’141

Disagreements about precisely when to hold the frequently postponed
federal conference caused almost as many problems as the substantive
issues relating to economics and constitutional authority. A minor crisis
broke out in the Colonial Office in February 1953 when Jamaican and
Barbadian objections to the scheduling of an ‘early’ conference seemed
certain to reduce the slow progress towards the federal goal to a com-
plete halt. Once the difficulties coordinating timetables were overcome
the parties finally assembled in London in April. The most controver-
sial issues during the talks were the constitutional balance of power
and finance, where the problems were familiar, and the implementa-
tion of freedom of movement, which became an arena of bitter conflict
between Trinidad and the other territories. Reginald Maudling, who as
Economic Secretary to the Treasury chaired the financial discussions,
presented the British position. Despite the prompting of Caribbean
Governors to show generosity, the only inducements which he offered
were the promise of £ 500,000 towards the cost of constructing federal
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buildings and the assurance that annual grants to the region would be
sustained at their existing levels for the first five years of any federa-
tion. Losses of revenue to the units as a consequence of federation were
alleviated by reducing the proportion of their customs revenue appor-
tioned to the federation from 25% to 15%, despite the consequential
weakening of the federal centre which this entailed. The chair of the
constitutional meetings, Lord Munster, accepted some minor amend-
ments to the neo-colonial elements in the Rance report, including a
technical change to the financial conditions under which the Gover-
nor of the federation was entitled to employ reserved powers and the
sub-contracting of emergency powers to the governments of the units.
Self-evidently this did not amount to a major redrawing of the federal
plan in order to make it more attractive to nationalist politicians. The
enthusiasm which they had expressed for such a project at Kingston six
years earlier was further dissipated by feuding between them. Adams
persuaded the delegates to transfer the subject of freedom of move-
ment from the Concurrent List, where jurisdiction was shared between
unit and federal governments, to the Exclusive List, in order to prevent
individual units erecting barriers to immigration. This strengthening of
federal authority was noisily resisted by Trinidad and, partly as a conse-
quence of the resulting arguments, the conference abandoned plans to
locate the federal government on that island in favour of Grenada.142

Freedom of movement was important because the ending of restric-
tions on immigration between the islands after the creation of the
federation would allow workers from elsewhere in the Caribbean to
enter Trinidad which was experiencing a period of economic growth.
In this regard federalism could mitigate the prevalence of unemploy-
ment and underemployment elsewhere in the Caribbean. The rise of
Trinidad’s oil industry made it the region’s most dynamic economy but
the prospect of an influx of overseas labour, which would inevitably
depress wages, provided a disincentive for Trinidadian politicians to
accept an open borders policy. By contrast the other territorial govern-
ments regarded an end to internal immigration controls as a natural
consequence of a federal system and one of its principal attractions.
Once again the issue of race impinged on the debate: from the out-
set many of the leaders of Indian opinion in Trinidad had fretted over
their transformation from a large minority on the island to a small
minority in a wider federation which did not include the substantial
Indian population of British Guiana. The revisions made to the federal
plan at London made Trinidad more hesitant still. It took 20 months
for the Legislative Council to approve the new reformulated version of
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federation and only with the qualification that the issues of freedom
of movement and the capital site should be reopened. Rance took the
alarmist view that unless federal plans were finalised by the time of
the September 1955 elections, a new Trinidadian Legislative Council,
under the influence of Indian perturbations, might seek to reverse all
the decisions made on federation.143 Trinidad’s declining faith in fed-
eralism did not initially appear to be balanced by any impairment in
Jamaican scepticism. In the Colonial Office, Rogers expressed concern at
the ‘public talk about Jamaica achieving Dominion status.’ The vision of
each Caribbean territory attaining independence outside a federation
led him to comment: ‘I cannot myself for a moment believe that even
if it were practicable, which I doubt, it can in any way be considered in
the interests of the West Indies.’144

British responses to the post-London controversies were continuous
with their previous attitudes: half-weary resignation at the contrar-
ian instincts of Caribbean politicians and half-unfettered panic at the
prospect that the individual territories might achieve independence out-
side the constraints imposed by a centralised administration. The more
insouciant aspect was evident in the decision to make the arrangement
by which the federation was to be established excessively intricate and
time-consuming. They opted to follow the precedent set by the Cen-
tral African Federation which comprised six stages to be completed after
the local legislatures had approved the London decisions. When this
procedure was outlined to British officials working in the Caribbean,
they expressed concern that support for federation would ebb away
in the midst of the bureaucratic heavy lifting. In August 1954 Luke
warned that the ‘dangers of a loss of momentum are obvious’.145 Three
commissions dealing with the civil service, finance and the judiciary
were not issued with their terms of reference until June 1955 at which
point a new schedule was formulated which entailed another meeting of
Caribbean delegates to discuss the commissions’ reports in January 1956
and the introduction of enabling legislation in the British Parliament
before April 1956. The Colonial Office aimed to finalise a deal before
the elections in Trinidad, which had been postponed until Septem-
ber 1956 precisely because it was feared that an anti-federal grouping
would be victorious. It was also felt necessary to seek a reaffirmation
of the Jamaican commitment to federation following the PNP’s election
victory in January 1955.146 In this regard their thinking was miscon-
ceived: it was the victors in those two elections, Eric Williams and
Norman Manley, who revived the federal project by challenging those
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anachronistic features of the 1953 plan which appeared to guarantee the
federation’s irrelevance.

After their electoral successes in 1955–1956, Manley and Williams
cooperated to resolve the differences between Trinidad and Jamaica.
In retrospect the success of their partnership in promoting federalism
in the mid-1950s has been overshadowed by the significant role they
played in the later demise of the federation in the early 1960s. How-
ever, during the formative period of federal history they reinvigorated
a process which the Colonial Office patronised but could not enliven.
Manley was much more interested in the potentialities of federation
than Bustamante whose first instinct was to ask how much it would
cost Jamaica; while Williams was able to mobilise popular sentiment in
Trinidad in favour of federation in a way which Gomes had failed to
do. Whereas the British regarded federalism as a means to constrain
the excesses of the Caribbean character, the two leading nationalist
politicians argued that it could serve an emancipatory purpose. In his
self-analysis of the public education campaign he launched after leav-
ing the Caribbean Commission, Williams identified the promotion of
federalism as one of the key themes of his early political career. He
insisted: ‘The task of building a West Indian nation is the decisive task
of the present and the future.’ In instrumental terms it was vital to the
linked goals of improving the economic and educational performance
of the region.147 Manley had helped to clarify the purpose of federation
at the 1947 Kingston conference where he argued it would provide a
venue which could fulfil both the creative and economic potential of
the Anglophone Caribbean. It would ‘satisfy the growing ambitions of
our people for an area of action large enough for their creative energies’;
at the same time, the greater political scale would allow for technocratic
solutions to political problems, which he described as planning ‘for a
national future for our people.’148

The ascendancy of Manley and Williams suited the Colonial Office
in the sense that they were precisely the kind of nationalist politicians
with whom they liked to deal: an eminent lawyer and a distinguished
historian seemed far more likely to opt for the politics of ‘modera-
tion’ than firebrand labour leaders such as Alexander Bustamante and
his Trinidadian contemporary, Uriah Butler. In another sense they pre-
sented a more dangerous ideological challenge because both Manley and
Williams had a sense of entitlement and were eager to free the region
from the politics of cultural deference and dependency. Immediately
after his appointment as Chief Minister, Manley sought amendments to
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the latest federal plan, including the removal of the three British offi-
cials who were to be members of the federal executive. The Colonial
Office responded by making clear their determination that their offi-
cials must stay.149 When, during preparations for the next preparatory
conference, Manley’s ideas were endorsed by the Governor, Hugh Foot,
suspicions were aroused that the two of them were engaged in a com-
prehensive project to redesign the federation to suit Jamaica. During a
visit to London in October 1955 Manley received some sympathy for the
specific problems he had in dealing with the scepticism of the Jamaican
public which Bustamante was assiduously cultivating.150 The real charge
against Manley was that he was stoking his own form of populist anti-
colonial politics by seeking to curtail British influence. In November
Lloyd wrote to Foot about Manley: ‘should he insist upon these consti-
tutional amendments he could count on being held in the West Indies
as the champion of constitutional freedom whilst those who felt com-
pelled to oppose him would be branded as reactionaries. If it were true
that he wished to destroy Federation there could be no better or simpler
way . . . of doing it.’ Foot replied by stating with surprising bluntness: ‘to
suggest that he is so dishonest as to wish to destroy Federation for which
he has stood throughout his political life and so mean as to endeav-
our to gain political credit by doing so is something which I certainly
can never believe.’ Lloyd responded in conciliatory fashion. He praised
Foot’s diplomatic skills and urged him to ‘get Manley to come here in a
reasonable frame of mind.’151

By the time Lloyd’s letter arrived in Jamaica, Manley had already
escalated his campaign for revisions in a way that the Colonial Office
regarded as thoroughly unreasonable. On 30 November he presented
seven propositions to the House of Representatives which amounted
to a radical reformulation of the federal scheme. In addition to the
removal of officials from the executive, Manley demanded that the
elected Prime Minister should appoint Senators to the upper house, that
the Governor-General’s reserved powers should be circumscribed, that
the federal government should have greater discretion over regional
planning, that the scheme of British financial assistance should be
improved and that the method of constitutional revision should be
altered and reconsideration given to the respective status of unit and
federal ministers. The metropolitan government responded by seeking
to isolate Manley through an appeal to the conservative instincts of
many Caribbean politicians and their apprehensions about Jamaican
hegemony inside the federation. The Colonial Office registered the view
of Manley’s opponents, with which they clearly concurred, that the
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changes would destabilise the new federation ‘by concentrating too
great power in the hands of the Prime Minister and by unduly weak-
ening the restraining influence of the British Government.’ They opted
to convey to Manley, Adams and Gomes the importance of respecting
British constitutional requirements and ‘to warn them not to disregard
these interests’ when planning further revisions to the federal plan.152

As might be expected, Adams, as the author of the CLC federal plan
was reported to be ‘broadly sympathetic to Manley’s ideas’; they there-
fore had to turn to Gomes, who had been operating in an informal
alliance with the Colonial Office since the 1949 SCAC meetings, to lead
the opposition to the new Jamaican proposals. The actions of the Colo-
nial Office to undermine Manley prompted Foot to complain about a
concerted effort to put the Jamaican delegation ‘in the dog house’. Foot
claimed that Gomes was attempting to prevent discussion of Manley’s
ideas ‘for his own personal reasons’ and emphasised that the circum-
stances of Jamaican party politics required Manley to campaign for a
more advanced constitution. In his conversations with Manley, Stephen
Luke found him willing to compromise on the issue of the Governor’s
reserved powers but not on the exclusion of British officials from a role
as voting members of the executive.153

It was Eric Williams who came to Manley’s aid by subverting Gomes’s
resistance to constitutional revision during the course of the 1956
Trinidadian election campaign. He regarded the Jamaican proposals for
a more advanced federal constitution as admirable on their own terms,
but they also provided an opportunity to assault the conservatism of
Gomes and the nascent PNM’s other electoral opponents. Williams’s
attack on the federal constitution focused less on the presence of officials
in the executive and more on the extensive powers which the Governor-
General would exercise. During their ongoing correspondence Williams
told Manley that he regarded the mobilisation of support for a new con-
ception of federation as the ‘coup de grace’ in the PNM’s campaign. The
Woodford Square lecture which he delivered in January 1956 on the sub-
ject of the pros and cons of federation concentrated much more on the
pros than the cons, while also providing a critique of both the original
Rance proposals and the 1953 London agreement. In contrast to Manley,
who often emphasised the spiritual purpose of greater unity, Williams
focused on the historical context and the material benefits of federa-
tion. He argued that ‘Federation is a simple matter of common sense’:
in a world of large states, the 700,000 inhabitants of Trinidad would be
powerless unless they united with the other Anglophone Caribbean ter-
ritories. What must be prevented was the establishment of a federation
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which was a continuation of colonial rule rather than the manifesta-
tion of a new autonomous nation. Williams criticised the willingness of
the existing Trinidadian Legislative Council to compromise with British
rule: ‘in 1956 we find Trinidadian legislators leading the procession and
waving banners which call for more of the colonialism that has ruined
us, selling our birthright as West Indians for a mess of federal pottage
for themselves.’ He concluded by declaring that his audience should
regard themselves as the true legislators of the country and invited
them to pass a resolution opposing any federal constitution in which
a British Governor possessed reserved powers.154 Just before Gomes and
the Trinidad delegation left for London in February, Williams issued
an open letter denouncing their failure to consult the people and
demanding revisions to the 1953 plan.155 This bout of populist agitation
occurred while Luke was conducting a survey of regional opinion on
behalf of the Colonial Office. He predicted that the necessity to avoid
giving the impression that they were collaborating with British impe-
rialism during Trinidad’s election year would oblige members of their
delegation to support Manley’s campaign for revisions and might even
require them to make ‘more far reaching points of their own i.e. the set-
ting of a date for Dominion Status and the appointment of indigenous
governors.’156

A freezing English February proved an inauspicious environment for
the latest federal conference. Mordecai recalled: ‘shivering winds, snow-
storms and icy rains proved lethal to visitors from the sunny West
Indies. The list of casualties, including the main performers, grew daily,
and the jagged tempers of those who resumed gave evidence of their
discomfort.’157 Despite the pressure Williams was applying from outside
the Trinidad legislature, Gomes courted further unpopularity by acting
as the principal defender of British policy. In response to Lennox-Boyd’s
welcoming address, he went as far as to declare ‘he was somewhat jeal-
ous of the fact that the Secretary of State had so often been right whereas
West Indians had so often proved wrong.’ Manley and Adams followed
this unwelcome testimony by immediately presenting the case for revi-
sions to the 1953 plan; the latter noted ‘that HMG had been giving the
units an increasing measure of self-government and that it would not
be appropriate to grant less to the new Federation.’ At the ninth meet-
ing on 16 February Manley argued for the first of his seven propositions:
the exclusion of British officials from the Executive Council. Lennox-
Boyd insisted that they should sit as full members because Britain would
remain ‘deeply involved both morally and financially in the Federa-
tion.’ Manley described their presence as ‘unnecessary and harmful.’ The



Ordering the Islands 119

following day he moved on to the third of his propositions, the exten-
sive reserved powers of the future Governor-General, which was the
issue on which Williams was campaigning. Manley wondered why such
safeguards were regarded as essential in the Caribbean but not thought
necessary in the new constitution of the Gold Coast. He was told by the
British representative at the session, James McPetrie, that Britain had an
‘ultimate interest’ in financial matters.158 The Colonial Office believed
that the federation could not expect to be liberated from British political
control while remaining in a state of financial dependence and, in that
respect, their case was strengthened by Manley’s reversion to the fifth
proposition which called for an increase in financial assistance. Despite
their disagreements on other matters, there was almost unanimous sup-
port among Caribbean delegates for the Jamaican notion of a federal
consolidated fund backed by a £ 2 million loan from the British Treasury
offered at a nominal rate of interest.159 Amidst the escalating arguments
Manley achieved some progress: the revisions made to the 1953 plan in
the 1956 conference report included the removal of British officials from
the executive and their replacement with three nominees who would be
unable to vote, a new formula for the exercise of the Governor-General’s
reserved powers, a doubling of the Treasury’s support for the construc-
tion of a federal capital and some vague provisions for British assistance
in raising a loan should circumstances make this necessary.160 Although
this did not constitute a radical restructuring, the marginalisation of the
official voice in the executive in favour of greater authority for elected
representatives did make the new settlement more palatable to national-
ist opinion and ensured that the putative federation began its life closer
to the goal of political independence.

If one side of the conference was concerned with how to wrestle
greater political autonomy and financial assistance from the British, the
other was dominated by unavailing attempts to reconcile the differing
interests of the Caribbean parties. The place where these collisions had
the greatest impact was in the contiguous domains of revenue collection
and customs union. This had always been a battlefield for the conflict-
ing interests of the territories. Sydney Caine began his investigation of
financial issues in June 1955 and three months later produced a report
which sought to resolve the arguments over finance but actually pro-
vided the pretext for a new round of disagreements. Caine effectively
overturned the 1953 London plan by rejecting the notion that the fed-
eration should be dependent for its revenue on a proportion of the units’
customs income; as an alternative he recommended a return to the orig-
inal principles outlined at Montego Bay that it should have powers to
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raise money through taxes on both consumption and income. Given
the political and practical difficulties in establishing a federal income
tax, he proposed that for an initial period the new federal government
should rely on levies on petrol, cigarettes and alcoholic beverages.161

When Lennox-Boyd endorsed this idea some delegates objected that
new consumption taxes ‘might arouse local opposition.’162 The notion
of a customs union was even more controversial. Although the terri-
torial units were expected to harmonise trade policies in the longer
term, it was accepted that in the short term they would continue to
set their own independent tariffs and duties. It was on the question of
any long-term alignment of customs duties that Manley was at his most
prickly and uncooperative. The PNP had plans to invest in the Jamaican
economy and extend welfare provision which would place additional
burdens on the budget of the unit government and there was a possi-
bility of the entire programme being jeopardised by the loss of revenue
entailed in the establishment of a federal levy and the gradual harmon-
isation of duties. On 20 February there was a full-scale row between the
Jamaican and other delegations over the issue of customs union. Carl
La Corbiniere of St Lucia took the lead in representing the interests of
the small islands, who believed that revenues should be diverted away
from the unit budgets and towards the federal government so that they
could be spent on regional development. He threatened to reserve their
position on all other aspects of the federation unless stronger guaran-
tees were offered that customs union would be imposed at an early
stage.163 The final report of the conference stipulated that a Commission
on Trade and Tariffs would report on the matter within two years of the
establishment of the federation. In a similar vein it was agreed to delay
the implementation of the Caine recommendations by making provi-
sional arrangements for funding the first five years of the federation.
During this transitional period it would be reliant on profits made from
currency trading, a mandatory levy on the units and powers to enforce
a limited customs levy of its own.164 Once again the possibility of a con-
sistent and reliable source of federal income had slipped away. If the
constitutional recommendations amounted to moderate progress then
the excessively cautious financial provisions constituted a setback; the
postponement of a final resolution of the revenue controversy ensured
that after the federation was established, arguments about tariffs and
taxation would remain a toxic political issue.

A final matter which caused friction between the Caribbean islands
and would eventually generate a conflict between the local nationalists
and the Anglo-American allies was the question of the site of the federal
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capital. This had already been hypothetically relocated from Trinidad
to Grenada without any actual construction work being undertaken.
At the London conference in 1956 delegates from St Lucia, Antigua,
St Kitts and Barbados vied with one another in claiming that they
would make the best hosts, while spokesmen for Trinidad and Grenada
reasserted their claims.165 The final conference report contained the
plaintive admission that after ‘lengthy discussion’ the delegates had
concluded they were ‘not in possession of all the information neces-
sary to enable us to reach a final decision’. Responsibility for choosing
a location was entrusted to a fact-finding mission chaired by a former
member of the Indian Civil Service, Francis Mudie.166 Six months later
the Mudie Commission reported to the Standing Federation Commit-
tee (SFC) that it would be more economical for one of the large islands
to host the capital. In a maladroit political manoeuvre they argued the
case for Jamaica, which had professed the least interest in acting as host,
on the grounds that the societies of Barbados and Trinidad were cor-
rupted by racial prejudice. This was typical both of the Colonial Office’s
attentiveness to racial feeling in the imperial periphery and their insen-
sitivity to nationalist sentiments. Williams exploited the widespread
affront caused by Mudie and at the second meeting of the SFC in Jan-
uary 1957 obtained a final decision in favour of Trinidad’s claims. Even
Williams’s opponents repudiated the Mudie Commission and applauded
his triumph in securing the capital and Trinidad’s participation in the
federation.167 The selection of the precise location of the capital became
the responsibility of yet another commission which in April recom-
mended the Northwest peninsula of Trinidad around Chaguaramas as
the most suitable of the seven sites examined: it was close to the
metropolitan facilities available in Port of Spain and suitable for further
development.168

One unmistakable difficulty with the choice of Chaguaramas was
that the peninsula had been occupied by the American military since
the conclusion of the destroyers for bases deal between Roosevelt and
Churchill 15 years earlier. The proposal dismayed the British govern-
ment, infuriated the Eisenhower administration and, paradoxically in
view of later developments, irritated Williams’s Trinidadian govern-
ment. Reports from Washington noted that the suggestion that they
should evacuate any portion of Chaguaramas constituted ‘a painful sur-
prise’. The Eisenhower administration refused to consent to the idea.
Partly as a consequence of the moderate stance adopted by Williams’s
government and partly in deference to British views they did agree to
talk to Caribbean politicians about the matter in London.169 At a time
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when final preparations were being made for the establishment of the
federation, British policymakers hoped that exposure to the intensity
of Caribbean sentiment on the issue of the capital’s location would
moderate Washington’s uncompromising refusal to lease any of the site
back to Trinidadian jurisdiction.170 At this initial stage it was Manley
who articulated nationalist resentment of American neo-colonialism,
which Williams would subsequently elaborate and amplify. In present-
ing the case for dividing the peninsula between the federal bureaucracy
and the US armed forces, Manley complained: ‘the Americans held
far more land than they really needed; this was the trouble with the
US military, they behaved in small islands as if they had the whole
of the North American continent to spread themselves in.’171 How-
ever, it was Williams who took the opportunity of his encounter with
American officials in London to unleash an indignant denunciation
of Anglo-American imperialism and instigate a four-year campaign to
regain control of Chaguaramas. The controversy over the capital site,
alongside the revenue-raising dilemma, were the two matters which
dominated the short life of the federation and will be considered in the
next chapter.

Apart from agreeing to return the capital to Trinidad the SFC made
few decisions which altered the architecture of the federation. After his
election Williams continued to criticise what he later described as ‘the
disgraceful constitution, colonialist top to bottom’, but chose to coop-
erate because it included provisions for a major review after five years.
In a letter of 11 December 1956, Manley attempted to reassure Williams
on this point by asserting ‘I am absolutely certain that at the end of
the first five years if we unitedly wish to we will get Dominion Status
for the asking.’172 Although it meant suspending the campaign he had
begun a year earlier, in January 1957 Williams publicly accepted that it
was not feasible to seek a more advanced constitution before the estab-
lishment of the federation.173 At the SFC meeting in May 1957, which
chose Chaguaramas as the federal capital, delegates also discussed the
issue of the review period and agreed that provision should be made to
allow for major constitutional changes before the end of the five-year
interim period. Other disagreements regarding the powers of the federal
government proved irreconcilable. Jamaica remained stoutly opposed
to an early customs union and Williams continued Gomes’s policy of
resisting further liberalisation on the issue of freedom of movement.174

The disagreements on these vital matters reinforced the lack of authority
and independence which were a consequence of British determination
to keep the federation under colonial supervision. These constraints did
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not make the federation an attractive arena for Manley and Williams
who opted to remain as Chief Ministers of their local island govern-
ments rather than seek federal office. Manley’s decision was regarded
as particularly shocking because he was perceived to be the leader who
could both enthuse Jamaican opinion and mediate between the Eastern
Caribbean islands. His friend and biographer Philip Sherlock recalled
that he felt ‘as though he had struck me in the face’ when Manley told
him he would stay in Jamaica rather than seek to lead the new federal
government in Trinidad.175 On reflection Sherlock acknowledged that
Manley had been needed in Jamaica to combat Bustamante’s increas-
ingly destructive anti-federalist rhetoric. Grantley Adams of Barbados
became federal Prime Minister but was perceived by many as a third-
choice candidate. A further damaging personnel matter was the decision
to appoint Patrick Buchan Hepburn as the first Governor General which
incensed Manley. Buchan Hepburn, who became Lord Hailes, was a
middle-ranking figure in Conservative politics with no experience of
the Caribbean. Manley partly blamed the British government for the
decision but argued that the appointment of a ‘Lord Somebody’ who
was unknown in the region, rather than a more eminent figure with
experience of colonial affairs, was also a consequence of the inability of
local actors to effectively convey their views. During the short life of the
federation Hailes would be persistently at odds with both Manley and
Williams.

Conclusion

For the architects of British decolonisation the 1950s were the age of
anxiety: they fretted that the conflict with communism in East Asia
would spread to the rest of the empire, that conflicts between black
and white people in the remains of the British empire in Africa would
taint their record and undermine their moral authority and, most of all,
they doubted the capacities of the emerging generation of nationalist
leaders to maintain the political equilibrium of the newly independent
states of the old imperial periphery. In the Caribbean such neuroses
were evident in the hysterical reaction to the return of Ferdinand Smith
to Jamaica, the anxious commentary on the heightening of tensions
on Barbados and Trinidad caused by the triumphs of African-Caribbean
nationalist elites in the era of mass participation elections, and in the
earnest application of various curbs and checks on the authority of the
electoral element during the process of federal constitution-building.
By the time the federation was inaugurated on 3 January 1958, a
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slightly more reassuring atmosphere prevailed. Despite the precedent
set by Gairy none of the small islands had succumbed to mob rule, the
handful of Caribbean Marxists had been marginalised and Adams’s elec-
tion seemed to guarantee that the first federal Prime Minister would be
the most Anglophile of Caribbean politicians. The medium and longer-
term consequences of British strategy were less salutary. Efforts to inhibit
the potentially irresponsible behaviour of nationalist politicians in their
new regional forum by retaining elements of colonial control encum-
bered the federation with a constitution which was less advanced than
that of the unit territories and this, in turn, contributed to its demise.
Furthermore, although British ministers and officials expressed concerns
about the latent dictatorial tendencies of local leaders, their own perse-
cution of those who challenged the terms on which decolonisation was
being offered set a precedent for the authoritarianism of the postcolonial
era. None of this was inevitable or wholly caused by British actions but
the obsession of imperial administrators with the politics of dissent nar-
rowed the possibilities available to local nationalists. The optimism of
British officials in 1958 that progress was being made was widely shared
and the long-term future of fragmentation and political turbulence can
only be understood through an examination of the expedients adopted
once things started to fall apart.



4
The Triumph of Disorder
1958–1962

Examined in retrospect the demise of the federation lends itself to a
teleological explanation in which the constant arguments amongst the
principal actors led inevitably to its dissolution amidst much rancour
and bitterness in 1962. This was not how it was experienced at the
time. Until the Jamaican referendum in September 1961, which most
expected Manley and the anti-secessionists to win, it was assumed by
the participants that the majority of the inhabitants of the Anglophone
Caribbean would attain independence as one nation called The West
Indies. Constitutional reform was enacted in 1960 in order to intro-
duce a system of Cabinet government and this appeared to mark the
penultimate step in the process of decolonisation. At the Lancaster
House conference the following year preparations were made for inde-
pendence in 1962. It was only once the Jamaican people voted to leave
the federation that it became evident that the attempt to achieve politi-
cal unity across the Anglophone Caribbean had been overly ambitious.
Faced with the piecemeal, disorderly constitutional process which they
had regarded as the worst possible outcome, British policymakers were
inclined to blame the regional leaders for the failure and their views
have been endorsed by many later commentators. Whilst it is impossi-
ble to ignore the contribution made by local rivalry, this ought not to
obscure the culpability of a metropolitan government which was com-
mitted theoretically to federalism but which was, at the level of detailed
policymaking, unsympathetic to the dilemmas which confronted the
people of the Anglophone Caribbean. On the matters of future eco-
nomic assistance to the region and the contentious question of the
relationship between Jamaica and the federal centre, the Colonial Office
proved a parsimonious benefactor and a partial umpire. The consistent
backing which they offered to Manley and his PNP government when
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they made the case for a looser federal system was surprising because,
in principle, the Colonial Office favoured tighter integration. This was
partly explicable in terms of longstanding concerns about small island
irresponsibility which the British hoped to contain inside the federa-
tion by sponsoring responsible ‘big island’ leadership, as epitomised by
Manley’s careful, studious style of politics. Aside from the issue of per-
sonalities, a lack of metropolitan generosity relating to the continuance
of financial assistance and the introduction of immigration controls
in Britain further soured the debate about federation. A greater will-
ingness to compromise on these matters would have entailed costs; it
was considerably more straightforward for British policymakers to offer
conditional support on the issue of ejecting American forces from the
planned federal capital site because concessions from Washington to
local demands that they evacuate Chaguaramas would have a negligi-
ble effect on British interests. What the escalating controversy over the
renegotiation of the American lease illustrated was that overt threats to
the orderly process of transferring power continued to command British
attention; and this provided a notable contrast with the rather careless
way in which they handled the mundane constitutional negotiations
about the future of the federation.

The federation against neo-imperialism: Chaguaramas

When thinking about the past, the nationalist leaders who challenged
British imperialism in the middle of the twentieth century were trans-
fixed by the destructive legacy of racism and authoritarianism they were
about to inherit but when they turned their attention to contemporary
circumstances they could not but notice the significance of the Cold
War. Figures such as Nkrumah, Nasser and Nehru feared that under the
auspices of the superpower conflict, Western domination would con-
tinue in a form which was modified by the end of European political
control but still underpinned by economic dependency, political influ-
ence and military occupation. Unlike the leaders of the Non-Aligned
Movement, Eric Williams was an ardent advocate of the West’s cause
in the Cold War. His critique of slavery and neo-imperialism may have
been shaped by Marxism but he was uncomfortable with even the
Fabian socialism espoused by most of his peers in the Anglophone
Caribbean: members of the People’s National Movement (PNM) were
briefed to reply to the question ‘Is the party socialist?’ with the deci-
sive rejoinder, ‘No, it is nationalist!’.1 Williams chose instead to fight
American power with great intensity on a very narrow front comprised
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of the issues of financial aid and military occupation. The ferocity of the
campaign which he conducted against the Chaguaramas base from June
1957 attracted the attention of American policymakers and Washington
would, for a short period, seek his removal through a covert programme
of cooperation with Trinidadian opposition groups. To this extent the
emphasis in the historiography on the local reactions to American Cold
War policymaking is justified.2 However, it is incomplete without a
fuller account of the way in which ministers and officials in London
were discomforted both by Williams’s inflammatory rhetoric and the
American reaction to his campaign. The materials of Caribbean pol-
itics were assessed as highly combustible by the Colonial Office and
Chaguaramas appeared to possess the potential to act as a spark for fur-
ther unrest. While the Colonial Office acknowledged that Williams was
willing to fan local discontent when it suited his interests, they recog-
nised that over the longer term he was likely to be an upholder of order
in the Anglophone Caribbean.

This origin of the Chaguaramas controversy can be traced to the deal
struck between Winston Churchill and Franklin Roosevelt during the
Second World War which granted the American armed forces access to
bases in the Anglophone Caribbean. In August 1940 the British ambas-
sador to Washington, Lord Lothian, received a list of locations in which
the Americans wished to acquire military facilities. Churchill’s govern-
ment subsequently agreed to grant 99-year leases on various territories,
including the west coast of Trinidad, in return for the transfer of some
almost obsolescent destroyers to the Royal Navy.3 A Commission was
established to advise on the precise location of the bases and their
activities drew the attention of George VI who asserted that it was regret-
table that ‘we may well feel obliged to make concessions and submit to
off-hand treatment, such as we should not tolerate in ordinary times.’
He expressed the hope that any deal would not affect the conditions
of life of his West Indian subjects.4 The Governor of Trinidad, Hubert
Young, initially supported the establishment of an American base on the
assumption that it would spur economic development. Once he discov-
ered that the American Navy wanted to locate the base at Chaguaramas
on the northwest peninsula, enthusiasm transformed to indignation.
Construction on the chosen site, Young argued, would have an excep-
tionally damaging impact on the social life of Port of Spain because
the beaches and countryside in the area were the main source of recre-
ation for the residents of the capital.5 His objections were overruled and
his captiousness drew the attention of Churchill who dismissed him
rather than face continued conflict with Washington on the matter.
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When Williams discovered the documents itemising Young’s criticisms
of Anglo-American policy he used them as the basis for an attack on
British colonialism and American neo-imperialism.

Prior to the London conference of July 1957 Williams had not
objected to hosting the Chaguaramas base and his new PNM admin-
istration even suggested that the other federal leaders were endangering
local security by seeking to eject the Americans in order to make space
for the new capital of The West Indies. His decision to launch a rhetor-
ical assault on the American presence in Trinidad during a conference
which had been designed to reconcile the parties constituted a com-
plete reversal of policy which has never been adequately explained.
In the absence of any decisive evidence revealing his motivation, the
most convincing hypothesis must be that the initiation of Williams’s
campaign was partly an expression of genuine fury at the manner in
which Trinidad’s interests had been swept aside because of wartime exi-
gencies in 1940 and partly a product of careful calculation about how
to fortify his domestic political position and strengthen his bargaining
hand in negotiations with Britain and America about financial aid. From
his perspective the underlying cause of the dispute was Washington’s
unwillingness to reconfigure relations with new nations like Trinidad
which appeared to indicate that American hegemonic influence would
become a form of neo-colonialism. The campaign against the base
served useful political purposes in rallying support for the PNM and he
constantly stressed that the Trinidadian public resented the American
presence. In his memoirs Williams merely states that he used the ‘new
information’ regarding the Young correspondence as the basis for three
demands: the American evacuation of Chaguaramas, a Joint Commis-
sion to select a new site to which American facilities could be transferred
and the revision of the 1941 treaty under which the base facilities had
been granted.6 The first two-thirds of the memorandum he submitted
comprised an analysis of the documentary record which was designed to
prove that the base had been imposed on Trinidad despite the objections
of the local government; the final third consisted of a condemnation
of current American policy. Perhaps the most revealing passage dealt
with the global politics of base negotiations in which the retention of
military facilities by the Western powers was taken as symbolic of polit-
ical subservience. Most strikingly, Williams appeared convinced that
his own domestic standing was threatened by the occupation of the
northwest peninsula: ‘What appears to the Americans as only a base,
what the SFC sees as only the capital, I see as an explosion of the
first order.’7



Triumph of Disorder 129

Reverberations from Williams’s explosive contribution to the debate
about Chaguaramas eventually led the Eisenhower administration to
consider the means of getting rid of Williams altogether. In the shorter
term, his memorandum caused something approaching panic at the
highest levels of the British and American governments. Throughout
the ensuing crises, London constantly urged Washington to appease
Williams, because his cooperation was necessary if the federation was
to survive with Trinidadian participation. On 19 July, the day after
Williams’s memorable intervention, the new British Prime Minister,
Harold Macmillan suggested to Eisenhower the appointment of a Joint
Commission to examine the Chaguaramas issue. The President accepted
the proposal the following day despite the reservations of some of his
senior advisers.8 The Chairman of the Joint Chiefs of Staff (JCS), Arthur
Radford, was ‘excited’ by Williams’s actions which he interpreted as an
attack on American interests in the Caribbean. Evidently with Williams’s
threat of an explosion in his mind, Eisenhower argued: ‘we don’t have
much of a choice. We are going to be driven out.’9 After the princi-
ple of a Joint Commission consisting of representatives from Trinidad,
the West Indies, the United States and Britain had been conceded an
argument broke out over its terms of reference. On instructions from
Macmillan, who was apprehensive about American reactions, the Parlia-
mentary Under-Secretary at the Colonial Office, John Profumo, steered
the Caribbean delegates in London away from an exclusive focus on
alternative sites for the American base and towards a wider remit which
would encompass an examination of the problems of any relocation.10

This proved a significant concession because, once the Commission
began work under the chairmanship of the former Governor of the
Gold Coast, Charles Arden-Clarke, it spent much of its time dealing
with the practical difficulties which would arise from any attempt to
move American military facilities. Their deliberations were also accom-
panied by provocative articles in the American and Caribbean press,
which illustrated both the proprietorial attitude of the American author-
ities and the heightening sensitivity of Caribbean leaders to any further
infringement on their territorial integrity. On 11 August 1957 the
New York Times published a story headlined: ‘Navy Aims to Keep Base
on Trinidad’. The paper reported that American officials were confi-
dent they would retain their ‘slice of tropical paradise’ in Trinidad and
that they would soon complete work on a new missile-tracking station
which had begun three months earlier.11 As a consequence of Sputnik
and the associated development of intercontinental missile technol-
ogy such facilities were portrayed as vital to American security. In the
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Caribbean American press stories were interpreted as an attempt to prej-
udice the outcome of the Joint Commission. After the latest reports from
the New York Times were imparted, the letters pages of the Gleaner and
Trinidad Guardian became clogged with accusations of American insen-
sitivity. The backlash culminated on 19 August when Gleaner headlines
announced the willingness of the future federal Prime Minister, Grantley
Adams, to ‘Talk Tough’ with the Americans and his view that ‘America
Holds UK by Throat.’12 On 7 October the Standing Federation Com-
mittee (SFC) passed a resolution regretting the decision to expand the
facilities at Chaguaramas before the investigation of alternative sites had
been completed.13

The Colonial Office had little interest in the intrinsic merit of the
American case for keeping Chaguaramas but sought to quell the gath-
ering conflict between Caribbean and American opinion regarding the
base. They urged the SFC to show tolerance on the matter of the track-
ing station while advising the Americans not to issue public rebuttals
of the statements made by Manley, Williams and the other Caribbean
leaders.14 Once again it was Williams’s intervention which upended
the British balancing act and the Colonial Office responded by seek-
ing further concessions from Washington. On 15 January 1958 the
Trinidad Guardian published an interview with the official responsi-
ble for supervising the final construction of the missile station. This
prompted the Trinidadian government to issue a memorandum criti-
cising the Americans for what was ‘generally interpreted as an attitude
of domination to a small friendly neighbour.’ Officials at the American
embassy in London complained that Williams was hostile and unrea-
sonable and suggested the Colonial Office persuade him to moderate his
position. The Governor of Trinidad, Edward Beetham, recorded that the
Chaguaramas issue ‘has caused us all here a great deal of embarrassment’
but that he could do nothing to ‘muzzle the press nor the politicians
anymore than you in the United Kingdom may do.’15 News that the
impending Joint Commission report would endorse the American argu-
ment against the lease of any part of the base to the federation evoked
the usual British misgivings about potential political turbulence. The
American Under-Secretary of State, Christian Herter, issued advanced
warnings about the determination of the American authorities to retain
their facilities and urged the Colonial Office to do everything possible to
restrain incipient anti-American feeling on the islands. This evoked little
sympathy in London where the principal preoccupation was with what
the newly installed Governor-General of the Federation, Lord Hailes,
described as ‘a political storm’ which would blow across the region
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once the news broke that the Joint Commission had decided to frus-
trate efforts to build the new federal capital on the northwest peninsula
of Trinidad. The Foreign Secretary, Selwyn Lloyd, insisted that prophy-
lactic measures designed to circumvent the Caribbean backlash would
only have a short term effect and complained: ‘the Americans want it
both ways, in both encouraging anti-colonialism of all kinds and then
lecturing us for not behaving as colonialists.’ The British ambassador
in Washington, Harold Caccia, was told to explain that they could not
expect London to play its role in lowering the political temperature
of the Chaguaramas issue while the Americans were expanding their
facilities ‘which is certain to be noticed and cause further uproar at the
precise moment when they themselves want us to keep things as calm
as possible.’16

The concern in the Eisenhower administration that Williams was pio-
neering anti-Americanism in the Anglophone Caribbean prompted a
covert intervention in Trinidadian politics designed to foster an oppo-
sition movement which they hoped would be more sympathetic to
their interests. The two principal sponsors of this idea were Admiral
Joseph Wellings, who was an American representative on the Joint Com-
mission, and the Consul-General in Port of Spain, William Orebaugh.
Both had been exposed to the intensity of Williams’s feelings on
the subject of the American presence at Chaguaramas and concluded
that action should be taken to undermine his political position prior
to the first federal elections which were to be held in March 1958.
On 10 February State Department officials noted that Wellings wanted
to provide ‘the opposition to Dr Williams with appropriate materials to
combat the latter’s stand that Chaguaramas should be released’ and indi-
cated that they would support such a proposal on condition that ‘any
materials provided to the opposition should be disseminated without
attribution.’ The kind of propaganda with which the opposition were
supplied appears to have focused on the details of Williams’s acrimo-
nious divorce. In the aftermath of the federal elections Orebaugh noted
that Ashford Sinanan of the Democratic Labour Party (DLP) ‘has been
helpful in many ways. His assistance on Chag in the past and the help
we can expect in the future are easily demonstrable.’ Reporting that
Williams was considering legal action against Sinanan following the lat-
ter’s personal attacks upon him, Orebaugh offered some explanation for
the DLP’s success in the federal elections: ‘The recounting of his marital
problems before the federal election helped and the Sinanan trial can be
even more fruitful.’ Sinanan was not sued but he did have discussions
with Ivan White of the State Department about how best to publicise
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the $21,000 in alimony payments which it was believed that Williams
owed to his first wife who was an American citizen. He promised White
that the DLP ‘would continue to fight Williams on the Chaguaramas
issue.’17

Williams’s merited suspicions that the American consulate was offer-
ing covert support to the opposition only fortified his determination
to challenge the report of the Joint Commission when he eventually
received a copy on 27 March. They concluded that there was ‘no signifi-
cant portion of the useable area within the Chaguaramas Naval Base that
is not essential to the base’s mission’.18 Publication was delayed for two
months while the British and American governments pondered how to
manage the inevitable adverse local reaction; the former still regarded
Williams as a useful partner in the process of decolonisation while the
latter suspected he was a threat to hemispheric unity. Orebaugh warned
that the ‘negro racism’ of Williams and the PNM would stimulate ‘anti-
white and possibly specifically anti-American feeling.’19 The Eisenhower
administration pressed the British to explain in stark terms to the lead-
ers of the new federation that they would have to find somewhere other
than Chaguaramas for their capital. Profumo ignored American appeals
and instructed his officials to formulate some new potential concessions
to ‘save West Indian face’.20 On 7 June Lloyd wrote to the American Sec-
retary of State, John Foster Dulles, requesting that he accept a review of
American base facilities in the region after 10 years. This was presented
as a means of supporting the ‘moderate’ stance of the federal Prime
Minister, Grantley Adams, whose relative temperance on the issue did
not prevent him questioning the Joint Commission’s decision. Despite
opposition from the Department of Defense, Dulles reluctantly agreed
to the idea of a future review which, it was hoped, would assuage anti-
American sentiment. In the case of Williams it had no such effect; he
and Manley sought an early conference of Caribbean leaders to exam-
ine ways in which to challenge the Joint Commission’s report. The State
Department were ‘extremely worried’ by Williams’s attitude and com-
plained to the British embassy in Washington that he had even gone so
far as to have Orebaugh put under surveillance.21 However, when the
British colonial attaché from the embassy visited Trinidad to investigate
he placed the blame squarely on Orebaugh who, he noted, was still nos-
talgic for his role in organising special operations in Italy during the war
and now appeared to be adopting a similar approach in Trinidad: ‘If he
could take to the hills and organise an anti-PNM movement . . . he would
be perfectly happy and would probably do a thoroughly good job.’22



Triumph of Disorder 133

Although Orebaugh’s collusion with the DLP exacerbated the tensions
over the base issue they were not their source, which was located in
Williams’s belief that the American presence impinged on the sovereign
rights of Trinidad at the brink of independence. In order to extract con-
cessions from Britain and the United States before the final demission
of power he sought to mobilise the general public. He later admit-
ted: ‘I used every possible artifice to keep the Chaguaramas issue alive
and before the public and embarked on a relentless campaign to this
end.’23 The most compelling testimony about Williams’s attitude was
provided by the Jamaican Frank Hill who was broadly sympathetic to
the Trinidadian case. He wrote to Manley on 29 October 1958 that
Williams ‘is bitter and fanatical about the American occupation . . . he
is convinced that the Americans will break under the public strain and
clear out. He believes this sincerely and is preparing to heighten the
intensity of his campaign.’24 The danger which Williams did not heed,
but which magnified British apprehensions, was that he might force
Washington to a point where they would insist on his removal. Philip
Rogers, who was the Assistant Under-Secretary responsible for Caribbean
affairs in the Colonial Office, warned in October 1958: ‘Dr Williams has
become almost uncontrollable on this issue . . . his activities represent a
very serious danger to the relations of the West Indies, the United States
and the UK.’25

At a press conference in September 1958 Williams itemised the malign
consequences of the base in terms of its impact on the economy, health
and social relations. He particularly emphasised that 2,000 acres of
the base were used ‘for plantation activity competing with Trinidad
farmers.’26 The next astonishing step in his escalation strategy was to
suggest, in a speech on 3 July 1959, that the new technology employed
at the secretive missile-tracking station constituted a grave medical
risk.27 Williams’s deputy, Patrick Solomon, was dispatched to London
to demand an investigation into the health hazards arising from radi-
ation emanating from Chaguaramas.28 Solomon recalled that the PNM
leadership was aware of the consequences which American nuclear test-
ing had for the people of the Pacific and were alerted to a potential
local danger by a sudden surge in electrical consumption in the base
area. They were conscious of their lack of expertise but indignant that,
when practical concerns were raised, American officials treated them
with ‘all the arrogance and lordly contempt for Trinidad, its peoples
and its institutions.’29 In an effort to propitiate Trinidadian opinion a
British scientist from the Royal Radar Establishment visited the island in
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August and issued a reassuring report.30 To deal with the more quotid-
ian gripes which arose from hosting a large American base, Trinidadian
officials were offered a series of formal consultations with the American
Consulate. One of the most contentious issues in these discussions was
the existence of the Macqueripe Club inside the base which had a pri-
vate members list and which, according to Williams, represented ‘one
of the worst forms of racial discrimination of any kind’.31 The racialist
policies of the American military had been a source of rancour since
the war but the renewal of the accusations was interpreted by Williams’s
opponents in Washington as a gratuitous incitement.32 Despite attempts
at reassurance by the new Consul-General, Robert McGregor, Williams
itemised the broader historical case against the base in what he described
as ‘one of my best and effective speeches’ to an audience at Arima on
17 July 1959. The address was entitled ‘From Slavery to Chaguaramas’
and it contended that from 1898 the United States government had
been attempting to create an American Mediterranean in the Caribbean
and that this was an imperial project in the tradition of European expan-
sionism. Having placed the dispute in this context Williams asked the
question of the British and Americans ‘whether they are for colonialism
or not.’33

Under the rhetorical barrage which Williams directed at the base
many in the Eisenhower administration continued to argue that an act
of colonialism, in the form of the removal of a locally elected leader,
was precisely what was required in Trinidad. This brought them into
conflict with the British, who were eager to appease Caribbean opin-
ion by acceding to the request, which the federal leaders made in June
1959, for a conference to consider amending the terms of the 1941 base
agreements.34 The initial response of the Eisenhower administration was
that yet more negotiations about Chaguaramas and the other bases
would ‘serve no useful purpose’; they also complained that the British
government ‘despite requests on our part have taken no steps to curb
Dr Williams. It is believed that unless he is checked, we will continue
to have trouble.’35 Selwyn Lloyd suggested to his American counterpart,
Christian Herter, that the United States would soon be obliged to rene-
gotiate terms with the newly independent governments of the region.
On the assumption that some concessions would have to be made either
before or after independence, the State Department modified their oppo-
sition to an early conference.36 However, the Department of Defense
remained opposed to concessions and stolidly committed to Williams’s
downfall. At a meeting of State and Defense officials on 21 September
Wellings argued on behalf of the Navy that any concessions ‘would
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build up Williams’ political strength and degrade the US position in
the Caribbean’. During ‘a discussion of the possibility of Eric Williams’
downfall’ spokesmen for the State Department warned that Rudranath
Capildeo, who was expected to be the next leader of the opposition DLP,
was no better than Williams because he had ‘Communist influences in
his background’. The argument became so embittered that the Defense
Department refused to communicate with the State Department about
the issue. Herter resolved the dispute by ignoring Defense objections
and informing the British in November that they were willing to attend
a revision conference.37

To the consternation of the British, Williams continued his escala-
tion strategy during preparations for the latest conference. Matters were
complicated by the continuing distrust between Williams and Adams
which encouraged the former to demand bilateral negotiations between
Trinidad and the United States over Chaguaramas which would exclude
federal representatives. The Americans had only agreed to convene a
revision conference on the assumption that they would be dealing
with the federal rather than the Trinidadian government. Instead of
welcoming the American offer of talks, Williams resented the sugges-
tion that federal officials would decide the future of the base without
consulting his government. In a message to London he complained:
‘We have been left alone to bear the full burden of our struggle to
vindicate our rights. Never at any time has HMG given the slightest
indication that it considers the cause for which we are struggling a just
one.’38 The new American Consul-General, Edwin Moline, was also the
object of Williams’s anger even though he was far more sympathetic
to Caribbean nationalism than Orebaugh. In March 1960 he offered
a partial recantation of his previous belief that it was possible to do
business with Williams and suggested ‘we can do nothing but seek to
exploit every opportunity to bring a degree of sense into the Premier
who is congenitally disposed not to be sensible.’39 Moline complained
about the febrile political climate on the island and further evidence of
this was provided by the rally which Williams and the PNM organised
in April 1960. In contrast to the sweeping overview he had offered in
the ‘Slavery to Chaguaramas’ speech, on this occasion Williams dealt
with contemporary politics and focused attention on the ‘combina-
tion of American resistance, British indifference and Federal hostility’
which had prevented the PNM government from regaining control of
the northwest peninsula of the island. To this list he added ‘domestic
sabotage’ in the form of the local press, opposition politicians and dis-
sidents in the PNM.40 He again framed the Chaguaramas controversy in
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terms of a choice between national independence and neo-colonialism.
Before protestors set out on their march from Port of Spain to the base,
Williams set fire to a number of historical documents which he claimed
represented the seven deadly sins of colonialism. Amongst them were
the base agreements of 1941.41 These incendiary actions infuriated the
Governor-General Hailes, who was almost as resentful of Williams as
the Americans. The day after the march he complained to the British
Colonial Secretary, Iain Macleod, of the ‘unpleasant, almost sinister
atmosphere in Trinidad.’ Williams was blamed for the mephitis on the
grounds that it ‘is not possible incessantly to preach hatred and discon-
tent without effect.’ In a slightly sinister passage of his own, Hailes even
speculated: ‘The longer this is allowed to continue, the nearer Williams
will get to the point of no return.’42

Despite Hailes’s reservations, most British policymakers still believed
they could temper Williams’s unalloyed nationalism and that he was
the leader most likely to channel local anti-imperialism into a tolera-
ble form. John Marnham of the Colonial Office told Ivan White that
‘it was essential to achieve Dr Williams’s support of any new agree-
ment if he was not to create further difficulties after independence.’
He asked in a new form the old question: ‘if it would be possible to
squash up somewhat in Chaguaramas to make room for the new fed-
eral capital.’43 Fortunately for the British the person least concerned
about the problems of squashing up or even moving out was President
Eisenhower. At a National Security Council meeting on 17 March 1960
Eisenhower argued in favour of a more generous approach to Williams
and Trinidad. He noted ‘Cuba should be a warning to us’ and indicated
that the abandonment of American military facilities ‘would not be a
bad thing except for the sums of money we have put into our base
there.’44 This set the tone for a more emollient approach to Williams
which was evident in the second half of 1960. The State Department
attempted to finesse the controversial issue of bilateral negotiations
between Trinidad and the US by suggesting that, following any initial
meeting of all parties, delegates from the individual territories, rather
than the representatives of the federal government, would be allowed
to take the lead in presenting their case to US officials.45 This idea went
through a series of transformations until in June 1960, during his suc-
cessful trip to the Caribbean, Iain Macleod offered an elaborate proposal
for a three-stage negotiation: the first and the third stages would be
trilateral and involve the British, American and federal governments.
Crucially substantive negotiations would occur in the second stage dur-
ing which Trinidad would take the lead in bilateral negotiations on the
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Chaguaramas issue.46 Williams accepted this formula and, despite some
further friction between all parties, they met for the preliminary first-
stage negotiation in London in November. After the formalities were
performed the representatives travelled to Trinidad where the various
bargaining ploys were played out on Williams’s home territory.

The Stage 2 negotiations which began with a preliminary meeting
in Port of Spain on 29 November, before the delegates decamped to
the more soothing environment of Tobago, proved a convivial affair.
Williams accepted that the Americans could retain a portion of the
northwest peninsula and in return Washington offered a generous com-
pensatory aid package. Ambler Thomas, who attended the meeting in
his capacity as Assistant Under-Secretary at the Colonial Office, sug-
gested that White of the State Department believed the Trinidadian del-
egation had ‘taken the shirt off his back.’47 Despite some resistance on
both points, Williams secured financial assistance in the form of grants
rather than loans and the approval of a list of major capital projects
which would receive American financial support: the establishment of
a liberal arts college, reclamation of land at Caroni, the construction of
a new road to Chaguaramas, port modernisation and improvements on
the railway.48 Williams presented the deal as a triumphant success and
estimated that the package was worth WI $ 111.7 million. After years of
constant campaigning to eject the Americans, the leaders of the DLP and
critics on the left of the PNM were critical of the fact that they were to
remain on the northwest peninsula. Williams’s concession on this point
triggered the final and decisive split with C. L. R. James who noted that
‘the general opinion among all persons who take any political interest
in affairs is that Chaguaramas has been sold out.’49 In the Legislative
Assembly Lionel Seukeran of the DLP ridiculed the ‘miserable pittance’
which Williams had obtained at Tobago; comparing it unfavourably
to the assistance offered to other countries in which the Americans
retained bases, he questioned whether the PNM campaign had really
been worth the accompanying bitterness and vindictiveness.50 After the
backlash the cordiality of the Tobago conference dissipated and differ-
ences emerged over the interpretation of the provisions of the assistance
package. Domestic Trinidadian scepticism about the extent of American
recompense for the continued occupation of the northwest peninsula
motivated Williams to insist upon a maximalist interpretation of the
aid agreement which obligated Washington to pay the full costs of the
approved projects. In May 1962 the American Consul-General in Port
of Spain reported that relations with Williams had ‘come full circle
again’ and that ‘Chaguaramas will remain as the whipping boy to stir up
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agreement at the expense of the United States.’51 Williams’s criticism of
American frugality was not merely a matter of gamesmanship or domes-
tic party politics. Given the scarcity of local capital at the moment of
political independence, additional development assistance was essen-
tial if Trinidad was to attain a measure of economic independence. For
Williams this was a question of compensation for the exploitation of
the island by the British and the Americans. At a more practical level,
uncertainty regarding the extent of future American assistance made
effective budgeting exceptionally difficult. A policy paper written in the
immediate aftermath of independence explained: ‘It would appear that
economic assistance for the fundamental projects will be given in small
driblets – which makes it impossible for the government to make firm
long-range plans.’52 Fortunately for both parties, in the midst of a much
more pressing Caribbean crisis on Cuba, the Kennedy administration
agreed to set a figure on future levels of American assistance. Reporting
one year into the era of independence the first American ambassador to
Trinidad could declare that the new state had established a constructive
relationship with Washington.53

Independent Trinidad did not become a centre of radical anti-
Americanism and Eric Williams proved himself a ferocious critic of
the Caribbean left, including Castro, Jagan and the Grenadian politi-
cal party, the New Jewel Movement (NJM). His attacks on the American
presence at Chaguaramas in the late 1950s had elements of crude polit-
ical utility maximising: it enabled Williams to mobilise PNM support
against his enemies in the DLP and provide an effective negotiating
card to be played against the old colonial enemy and the new regional
hegemonic power. Aside from the dictates of expediency, it allowed
Williams and the people of Trinidad to configure some normative prin-
ciples which would distinguish the era of independence from what had
gone before. He argued that, despite continuing inequalities in wealth,
political influence and military power between Trinidad and the United
States, any true sense of autonomy demanded that the consent of the
peoples of the Caribbean must be given in decisions affecting their coun-
tries. The occupation of the whole of the northwest peninsula as a con-
sequence of a wartime deal agreed to by Churchill and Roosevelt against
the objections of local opinion provided a paradigmatic example of the
inequity in colonial relationships; in this sense, Williams chose wisely
in prolonging the campaign. However, he also jeopardised his own posi-
tion because the ongoing protests validated British and American judge-
ments that the newly independent Caribbean territories might become
a site of resistance to their authority. For Washington the key threat
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was that organised political movements under the influence of the left
would become imbued with anti-Americanism. The American Defense
Department believed Williams and the PNM were guilty of orchestrat-
ing regional hostility to their presence. He was defended by the British
Colonial Office who had a much greater fear of disorganised lawless-
ness and anomic protest. They tolerated Williams on the assumption
that after independence his leadership would effectively channel the
turbulent currents of Caribbean opinion into the less volatile form of
party politics and organised campaigning. In this instance, British pol-
icymakers were more perceptive, despite the fact that their perceptions
were based on the kind of clichés about colonial subjects which had
sustained imperial rule. By 1962 they were increasingly concerned that
the absence of figures like Williams on the small islands and in British
Guiana would disrupt the process of decolonisation.

The federation for itself: aid and immigration

Numerous scholars and participants have conducted post-mortems into
the early death of the West Indies federation and most have concluded
that either the structural problems associated with regional integration
or the inadequacy of nationalist leadership were to blame. British poli-
cymakers have escaped relatively unscathed. The structural explanations
have tended to focus on the divergent interests of the different ter-
ritories in the Anglophone Caribbean. In upholding a broad theory
designed to explain the successes and failures of a variety of federal
systems, Chad Rector utilised the case of the West Indies to demon-
strate that larger units, such as Jamaica and Trinidad, will be reluctant
to integrate if they can see few material benefits and can obtain those
objectives which do require a measure of collaboration through interna-
tional treaty regimes.54 What Rector leaves out of account is the context
provided by colonialism and the Cold War which are incorporated in
Jason Parker’s explanation. Having provided a broader framework of
analysis Parker also concludes that regional factors were decisive and
that the federations of the Cold War era ‘fractured along ethno-linguistic
lines that long predated the US-Soviet Conflict.’ The collapse of the fed-
eration of The West Indies occurred because romantic pan-Caribbean
sentiments were rejected ‘in favor of insular identities.’55 Such a view is
congruent with the conclusions offered by Ashton and Killingray: ‘The
diversity of islands scattered over a wide area, each with its own insti-
tutions and jealously guarded interests and political ambitions, made
a federation difficult if not impossible to achieve.’56 Those writers who
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have dealt with matters of agency have also focused on the attributes
of the periphery. The Caribbean economist, Arthur Lewis, who knew
the participants, stated in plain terms, ‘the leadership of the Federation
was awful.’57 The writer who has come closest to indicting metropoli-
tan agents is Amanda Sives who has pointed to ‘the failure on behalf of
all the participants (British and West Indian) to create a strong institu-
tional framework.’58 On the assumption that the failings on the latter
side have been extremely well documented the remainder of this chap-
ter will provide an account of some of the problems which arose from
British policy.

A revisionism which attempted to make the case that cooperation
between the nationalist leaders of the Anglophone Caribbean during
the four years of federation led to some lasting achievements would
not get very far. The current historiography has established beyond
doubt the divisiveness of regional politics, while successful examples
of functional cooperation in the realms of transport or higher educa-
tion took place outside the federal framework. What can be said is that,
despite their differences, the nationalist leaders shared a clear vision of
what they wanted to obtain from federation: the overriding goal was
to achieve greater economic independence and social equality through
the promotion of integration between unit economies and diversifica-
tion of economic activity across the region. Paradoxically, this meant
that, in the interim, they required a greater measure of financial assis-
tance in order to rectify the oversupply of labour and the undersupply
of capital. On both fronts they did not secure a sympathetic hearing
in the metropolis. The arguments they made against new restrictions
on migration to Britain and in favour of the continuation of sub-
stantial budgetary assistance from the metropolitan government were
discounted in London. For the regional economies the outflow of peo-
ple to Britain in the 1950s provided a source of remittance income and
relieved the problems of unemployment and underemployment which
had been a feature of the region since emancipation. Despite labour
shortages in Britain, many metropolitan politicians regarded migration
from the Caribbean as a threat to the social order of the country which
necessitated restrictive legislation. On the financial front, the British
Treasury proved unsympathetic to the argument that centuries of impe-
rial neglect had produced a regional economy only just able to maintain
its citizens above a subsistence level of consumption. Elected politicians,
who began to take over economic ministries from colonial financial
secretaries in the decade before 1958, now faced the prospect of the
curtailment of British economic assistance at a time when the greatest
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threat to newly forged democratic systems was the poverty of the major-
ity of the electors. Politicians like Manley and Williams argued that a
united Anglophone Caribbean would be better able to secure additional
financial assistance during the transitional era between the end of impe-
rial control and the first few years of independence. The disappointing
answers which federal leaders received from the metropolitan power
on these matters constituted embarrassing evidence of continued impo-
tence; a triumph on either one would certainly have strengthened the
position of Adams’s federal government and demonstrated the potential
material benefits of unity.

Although legislation to control migration into Britain was not intro-
duced until after the Jamaican referendum of 1961, it became one of the
most controversial issues in relations between the British and the fed-
eral government at a much earlier stage. The disenchantment felt across
the Caribbean at the imminence of restrictions soured relations between
metropolis and periphery. It was unfortunate for the federal leaders that
the first year of the new organisation’s existence coincided with racial
conflict in British cities. Caribbean migrants in Nottingham and West
London were first disconcerted and then alarmed by the hostility of
their reception in Britain. Local gangs frequently attacked the conspic-
uous new black inhabitants of the cities and in August 1958 fighting
broke out in St Ann’s in Nottingham. According to the Caribbean res-
idents of the area the violence began with an attack by Teddy Boys
on a black man who had visited a local chemist shop at night, which
was a time when most of the other recent immigrants observed a self-
imposed curfew. In Notting Hill the situation was aggravated by the
presence of Oswald Mosley’s fascist Union Movement which aimed
to mobilise white disenchantment and direct it against Caribbean
migrants.59 Street-level tensions in British cities became a problem for
Caribbean politicians because they provided a pretext for the campaign
to limit Commonwealth immigration at a time when labour mobility
was an important means of relieving unemployment and underemploy-
ment. The Times claimed the disturbances in Nottingham had been
triggered by an attack by a black man on a white woman outside a pub.
Such reports prompted the MPs for Nottingham North and Nottingham
Central to call for controls, while the Conservative MP Cyril Osborne
urged a one-year moratorium on all Commonwealth immigration to
prevent a British facsimile of the racial conflict at Little Rock in the
United States. Alarmed by this vehement reaction, Trevor Huddleston,
whose reputation had been established by his recent book about African
Apartheid Naught for Your Comfort, warned that if the violence was used
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to justify the tightening of immigration controls ‘it will be evident that
this country positively desires a colour bar and is prepared to enforce
one.’ The Marquess of Salisbury, who had assumed the leadership of
the Conservative right following his resignation as Lord President of the
Council in 1957, replied by declaring himself ‘extremely apprehensive
of the results, economic and social, for Europeans and Africans alike that
are likely to flow from an unrestricted immigration of men and women
of African race into Britain.’ In a notorious leader on 4 September 1958
The Times effectively endorsed Salisbury’s arguments and stated ‘there is
a colour problem in our midst.’60 Three months later Osborne proposed
a motion in the Commons demanding restrictions on the entry of those
who could be characterised as ‘unfit, idle or criminal’ and the repatria-
tion of all recent immigrants who had been found guilty of a criminal
offence.61

Whilst in the pages of The Times, Salisbury had disavowed the notion
that the debate had anything to do with racism, around the Cabinet
table it had been a different matter. Before his resignation, Salisbury
had been the strongest advocates of restrictions. During a discussion on
immigration from the Caribbean in November 1955 he stated that he
was concerned about the ‘effects on racial characteristics of the English
people in the long run.’ Norman Brook, the Cabinet Secretary, clari-
fied Salisbury’s view for the Prime Minister: ‘Some ministers, notably
the Lord President, favour early legislative action to guard against the
long-term threat to the racial character of the English people.’62 Divi-
sions in the Cabinet led to a deadlock and it was decided to monitor
the situation. The tone of this monitoring was self-consciously calm
and measured but included analysis of the prevalence of miscegenation.
A draft progress report dated 29 June 1957 recorded: ‘many coloured
men are married to or living with white women of low standing or low
morals. The number of half-caste children in these districts is increas-
ing and many are thought to be illegitimate.’63 The new Prime Minister,
Harold Macmillan, responded to what he described as the ‘race riots’ of
August 1958 by authorising a new look at the immigration question.
Ministers remained in their entrenched positions on the issue of restric-
tions but agreed to a less controversial measure which allowed for the
deportation of those found guilty of criminal offences. Salisbury had left
the Cabinet because of disagreements about policy towards Cyprus but
on 13 January 1959 supporters of controls in the Cabinet reiterated the
potential threat to domestic tranquillity posed by immigration: ‘Though
racial disturbances appeared to have subsided for the time being, failure
to act might lead to a recurrence, to the formation of extremist groups,
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and to a demand for more stringent measures of control which could
prove to be highly controversial and have serious implications in our
relations with other Commonwealth countries.’64

Opponents of controls deployed two arguments in these discussions:
the evidence that the number of migrants from the Caribbean was
decreasing and the outright opposition of Caribbean politicians to
new restrictions. After consulting Caribbean leaders, in September 1958
Lennox-Boyd reported to the Home Secretary, ‘Rab’ Butler that any
tightening of the regulations under which passports allowing entry to
Britain were issued, ‘would lead to a serious loss of faith in the United
Kingdom.’ Having been insulted by a policeman on Harrow Road on
the day of his meeting with Lennox-Boyd, Manley insisted that the
problem was not one of economics but ‘basic racial hostility’ in Britain.
He also drew attention to the inflammatory nature of fascist literature
being distributed on the streets of London.65 Manley’s objections would
almost certainly have been unavailing without a sudden and dramatic
reduction in the numbers of Caribbean migrants. New figures revealed
that in the last six months of 1958 only 5,000 people had entered
Britain from the Caribbean compared to 15,000 in the first half of 1957.
At the Home Office, Butler and the Permanent Under-Secretary, Charles
Cunningham, were confident that the situation could be managed by
measures to improve housing conditions and establish better race rela-
tions. On 22 July 1959 the Cabinet Sub-Committee dealing with the
issue agreed that no further action should be taken in the short term.66

The decision not to act on immigration was provisional and no guar-
antees were offered regarding future policy. To many in the Caribbean
the violence in Nottingham and London tarnished the image of Britain,
while the debates which followed seemed to portend the introduction
of discriminatory legislation. Negotiations over financial assistance pro-
vided another test of whether Britain took the rhetorical commitment
to the welfare of the old members of the empire and the new members
of the Commonwealth seriously. During the first phase of federal nego-
tiations after the war, British policymakers assumed that any discussion
of financial assistance after independence was premature because they
intended to retain ultimate authority in the Anglophone Caribbean for
many years to come. At the end of 1959, however, pressure from local
nationalist governments, and in particular Eric Williams in Trinidad,
and a change in personnel, with the replacement of Lennox-Boyd by
Macleod at the Colonial Office, led to an acceptance of an abridged
timetable for independence. Once it was acknowledged that indepen-
dence would probably come in two years rather than four or five, a
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decision on the nature and extent of future British aid became more
urgent. The acceleration of decolonisation provided the metropolitan
government with considerable leeway in financial negotiations because
existing obligations, which amounted to approximately £ 6 million
annually, would lapse once a transfer of political power had occurred.
If this happened sooner rather than later, the long-term costs to the
Exchequer were effectively reduced. A Colonial Office briefing estab-
lished that any effort to curtail assistance which had already been
promised would be wholly unacceptable to Caribbean opinion: despite
the absence of any binding obligation, the Federal government believed
they had ‘a very strong moral claim to the outstanding balance of the
£ 8.75 million already negotiated for the first quinquennium of the
ten year period (1959–1963); and probably a somewhat lesser but still
arguable claim to the money they might have received during the sec-
ond quinquennium (1964–1968) due to be negotiated in 1963.’ On the
political side of the equation the Colonial Office also noted ‘that unless
Federation can successfully move into independence fairly soon there
will be a danger that the larger territories, such as Jamaica and Trinidad,
will grow impatient and as they, in any case, will have to carry the bur-
den of the other small Islands, they might in the end decide they would
“better go it alone” and secede from the Federation.’67

Sensitivity to these financial and political considerations ought per-
haps to have established the basis for a relatively generous package of
financial assistance but Treasury parsimony continued to more than
counter-balance the arguments of the Colonial Office. From the outset
of the negotiations British policymakers refused to offer any estimate
of the levels of assistance to be provided to an independent federa-
tion, although they did make clear that they would not agree to an
interim increase which is what federal leaders had requested. The visit of
Manley to Britain in January 1960 occasioned the first bilateral discus-
sions on financial aid to the federation after independence and proved
an inauspicious affair. This was a moment at which disenchantment
with federation in Jamaica was growing and Blackburne reported before
his arrival that Manley was ‘thoroughly depressed’ by the continuing
squabbles over federal taxation and customs union.68 As the Colonial
Office turned to potential financial inducements the Treasury urged
caution. Official briefings for the Chancellor, Derick Heathcoat-Amory,
reminded him that it was customary to terminate grant-aid at inde-
pendence. In this context he urged that ‘on purely tactical grounds, it
would be undesirable to begin passing encouraging messages to the West
Indies at this stage.’ The eventual formula agreed to by the Colonial
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Office and the Treasury incorporated four rather vague commitments
to an independent federation: it would be eligible for Commonwealth
assistance loans on the same terms as less developed regions, the British
government would promote negotiations for American and Canadian
assistance to the federation, it would have access to any committed but
unspent development funds and the continuation of grant-in-aid on a
tapering basis would be considered for up to a maximum of 10 years.69

The most significant of these provisions was the fourth which had been
authorised by the Chancellor, with the proviso that such assistance
would be on a ‘strictly tapering off basis.’70 For Manley the calcula-
tion was straightforward: a reduction in British economic assistance,
including the proposed tapering, meant a larger financial burden on
Jamaica in supporting the less developed territories of the federation
after independence; the larger the financial burden on Jamaica, the
more difficult it was to sell continued membership to the Jamaican
public. An offer of decreasing assistance on an unspecified scale con-
stituted a disincentive to remain in the federation. While expressing
resentment at Manley’s lack of appreciation for British efforts, Macleod
also conceded that the discussions had probably reinforced secession-
ist sentiment. He expressed disappointment that Manley had responded
to the vague offer of ‘some transitional assistance’ by insisting it ‘did
not go far enough’. Macleod made the parenthetical comment ‘it goes
considerably further than HMG have ever gone before in discussion
of aid after independence.’71 Four months later Manley announced
his decision to hold a referendum on Jamaican membership of the
federation.

A combination of global economic developments, which were redi-
recting the European economies away from the old imperial periphery,
and the fragility of their financial position, in terms of the quotidian
task of balancing budgets left federal politicians and the governments of
the individual units in the unfortunate position of mendicants with an
ever-lengthening list of demands. When Macleod visited the Caribbean
in June 1960 he offered general reassurance but was unable to address
any of their concerns in detail. In summarising the discussions, the
Colonial Office recorded that Chief Ministers from the small islands
opposed the potential tapering down of economic assistance and urged
that it ‘should if possible be increased, while the Federal and Jamaican
Ministers also pressed the need for continued help to the Federation.’
Two particular sources of vulnerability were the shift in British trad-
ing patterns towards Europe and the liberalisation of the dollar, both
of which threatened the price which Caribbean exports could obtain in
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commodity markets. Macleod’s interlocutors feared ‘Britain was
abandoning the system of restrictions and preferences on which the
West Indies had built up their economy.’ They were also apprehen-
sive that a recent upsurge in Caribbean migration after the downturn
of 1958 might prompt the Macmillan government to impose restric-
tions. Vere Bird of Antigua made some particularly pointed and telling
observations in support of their case: ‘It was not inconsistent with
the concept of sovereignty for a nation to receive assistance, and
[he] mentioned the circumstances of the United Kingdom immedi-
ately after the Second World War. He also referred to the assistance
which had been provided by the United Kingdom to Somalia which
was likely to budget for a substantial deficit for years to come.’72

Caribbean politicians argued that the case for further economic assis-
tance did not amount to an appeal to altruism in response to local
infirmity but rested on a moral obligation to help rectify the economic
problems which the British empire was handing on to the indepen-
dent states. Initially, the principal weakness in their argument was its
lack of detail; when this was remedied by Eric Williams, British offi-
cials became thoroughly alarmed. Williams’s analysis indicated that,
in order to diversify the economies of the small islands and thus
relieve the economic burden on Jamaica and Trinidad, Britain would
have to contribute $ 442 million in the decade after independence.73

G. W. Jamieson, who advised Macleod on economic aspects of colo-
nial affairs, represented this calculation as further evidence of ‘self pity’
and suggested that Caribbean politicians ought to recognise ‘that the
West Indies are at least lower middle class in the nations of the world
and not . . . among the under-paid and under-privileged.’ This would no
doubt have come as a surprise to the unemployed of West Kingston
or the underemployed plantation workers of St Kitts. Such attitudes
provided a discouraging backdrop to the next round of financial dis-
cussions which occurred in London in November 1960. The Minister
of State at the Colonial Office, Lord Perth, was informed that the
Trinidadian request would amount to an annual subsidy of £ 6.6 mil-
lion. His brief stated: ‘We are in no position to make any additional
concessions or promises at this juncture.’ Inevitably the resulting talks
proved even less satisfactory than Manley’s discussions in January.
Adams told Perth that the Trinidad estimate was a conservative one
and that economic assistance ‘should be of a substantial order . . . they
were poorer than any of the dependent territories which had so far
achieved independence, most of which, such as Malaya and Ghana,
had substantial resources.’ Williams emphasised that his recommenda-
tions would have to be fully implemented in order to increase local
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economic productivity. Manley indicated that the need for assistance
was ‘tremendous’, that the Trinidadian estimate was a minimum figure
and that, in the absence of support on this scale, the West Indian
economy ‘would fail to take off, which might lead to total economic
collapse, which would inevitably be followed by widespread social
disruption.’74

The Perth negotiations coincided with the reopening of the minis-
terial debate about Caribbean immigration which was now marked by
a new tone of alarmism. Although fewer people from the region had
sought residence in the immediate aftermath of the 1958 disturbances,
the scale of unemployment on the islands and the fear that restrictions
were pending, led to an increase in numbers two years later which was
presented as a serious threat to domestic social peace.75 On 25 Novem-
ber 1960 Butler presented new figures to the Cabinet. He explained that
43,500 West Indians had arrived in the first 10 months of the year and
described the increase in numbers as ‘a potential source of serious dis-
turbance.’ John Hare, the Minister of Labour, predicted that they might
face an annual inflow of 100,000 people and indicated that the ‘quality
is dropping’.76 Three months later Macleod warned that the immi-
nence of a final constitutional conference on independence meant that
it was a ‘specially awkward moment’ to tighten immigration regula-
tions but the Cabinet pressed ahead. Finally on 30 May 1961 Macleod
acquiesced ‘with distaste’ to the introduction of legislation to restrict
Commonwealth immigration although it was agreed to delay an offi-
cial announcement and Macmillan advised that Manley should not
be told.77 Despite this apparent secrecy, in the absence of any reas-
surances from Whitehall, Caribbean politicians became convinced that
legislation was imminent and lobbied unsuccessfully to prevent it. The
Colonial Office had agreed in December 1960 that the West Indian
Commissioner in London, Garnet Gordon, could be informed of the
decision to reconsider controls. Consequently, when Macmillan visited
the Caribbean in March 1961 there was only one issue which the fed-
eral leaders wished to discuss with him: the probability of restrictions
on Caribbean workers entering the United Kingdom. The Dominican
writer and federal politician, Phyllis Shand, urged him not to take an
‘unkind’ attitude but the emphasis which Macmillan placed on the high
levels of unemployment amongst current migrants clearly signalled the
future direction of policy.78 In a later bilateral meeting with Macmillan,
Eric Williams linked economic aid, immigration and the fate of the
federation: ‘The future depended on the UK, if she were to withdraw
her support and stop West Indian immigration there would be a social
revolution and a Castro situation in the West Indies. The success of
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the Federation depended on powerful British intervention; otherwise
there would be a break up.’ In Barbados, the Premier, Hugh Cummins,
told Macmillan ‘the main problems in which they were interested
were those of Immigration and of the Common Market.’ Macmillan’s
empty-handed response merely confirmed Caribbean suspicions. Adams
concluded that private lobbying was counter-productive and in April he
publicly aired his belief that the British intended to put an end to West
Indian immigration before the end of the year. He warned: ‘unless we do
something about it God help us in Barbados and Jamaica especially.’ The
Barbados Advocate responded by stating ‘Every one of the political par-
ties in Barbados and the West Indies realise that a partial answer to the
problem of unemployment and underemployment in the West Indies is
to promote emigration to those countries which provide opportunities
for West Indians.’79 Macmillan fumed privately that the Adams state-
ment was ‘disgraceful’ but the government’s press statement could only
declare, entirely disingenuously, that there were no current plans for
such legislation.80

By the time of the stormy Lancaster House conference on federal
independence in June 1961, all the key protagonists were aware that leg-
islation restricting the entry of Caribbean people into Britain was immi-
nent. Had the Macmillan government revealed precisely how advanced
these plans were the atmosphere might have been worse still but the
Adams statement was symbolic of the distrust which now attended any
negotiations between the federal leaders and the British government.
On 12 June the former united to demand a guarantee that the metropoli-
tan government would maintain access to Caribbean migrants. Macleod
was unable to offer any reassurance. The controversy over the likely
extent of financial assistance after independence also rumbled on and
proved just as difficult for the British to finesse. The refusal to offer any
estimate of the amount of financial aid the federation would receive
after independence brought Caribbean irritation with British procrasti-
nation to a climax. It also became entangled with arguments between
the local leaders over plans to establish freedom of movement within
the federation; this seemed an essential requirement for any form of
political unity but Trinidad feared an influx of small island residents
would jeopardise its economic future and continued to play an obstruc-
tive role. Bramble from Montserrat recognised that migration within
the federation was ‘intricately bound up with the most complex prob-
lem facing the Federation, namely that of economic aid.’ Williams
was even blunter and argued that a British guarantee of financial
assistance for the small islands, as adumbrated in his government’s
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paper on the economics of federation, was vital to prevent a poten-
tially catastrophic outflow of labour from the Leewards and Windwards
to the large islands. He insisted: ‘the present discussion should begin
with a clear acknowledgement by the United Kingdom Government
that the present economic conditions of all the territories was their
sole responsibility.’ Although some delegates were sceptical of Williams’s
tactics and urged that the case must be made independently of discus-
sions of freedom of movement, they were united in believing that the
British ought to finally go beyond the vague generalities of the Manley
formula.81

In preparing for the conference Macleod had anticipated that the
most difficult issue which would arise ‘was likely to be the insistence
of on the part of the smaller islands on discussion of an interim plan for
economic development as the price for their continued support of an
independent federation.’82 It had been evident since Heathcoat-Amory
had devised the ‘tapering down’ formula before the discussions with
Manley in January 1960, that there was a conflict between Treasury
frugality and demands emanating from the Caribbean for an interim
increase in aid to lessen the additional burden which would accrue
to the large islands once they assumed responsibility for the poorer
islands inside an independent federation. By June 1961 the gap between
Caribbean expectations and Treasury intentions had grown even wider.
As independence approached and the local actors became more expec-
tant, the Treasury became ever more vigilant. They insisted that no new
commitments should be offered and that even the Manley formula,
which prescribed a decrease in British funding, should also entail a
shift in the form of assistance from grants to loans.83 Such was the
pressure on Macleod at the outset of the Lancaster House conference
that he sought to test Treasury resolution by advising Macmillan that
some financial inducement might be necessary to prevent the confer-
ence from failing.84 Treasury officials were insistent that ‘The West Indies
are already due to get more money than we think their needs justify
after independence’ and any additional assistance would have to be
found from money already allocated for development elsewhere.85 Con-
sequently all Macleod could offer the federal leaders was the promise
of an official mission to the Caribbean to report on the region’s eco-
nomic problems.86 This did nothing to mitigate fears of future federal
indigency. It was the prospect of having to sustain the economies of the
Eastern Caribbean with the help of their own inconsiderable resources
which opponents of the federation in Jamaica emphasised during the
referendum campaign which began in August. The future JLP Prime
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Minister, Edward Seaga, who supported the secession cause, recalled:
‘To us, the significant progress which Jamaica was making economi-
cally should not be jeopardised by the burdens of the other islands,
which were much behind in the race for development.’87 In a more cir-
cuitous manner the secessionists also benefitted from the concessions
Manley had extracted from the British during the various squabbles
which attended the ongoing constitutional negotiations. In particular
the guarantee which Manley obtained, that if Jamaica left the federa-
tion it would be allowed to proceed to unilateral independence, gave the
impression that continued participation in the apparently endless nego-
tiations about the federal constitution was actually delaying the final
liberation of Jamaica from colonial control. The history of British efforts
to referee these contests regarding the future shape of the federation also
had an influence on its eventual collapse.

The federation against itself: the origins of the Jamaican
referendum

For the first couple of years of the federation’s life, many national-
ists feared that the British would utilise the impulse towards regional
unity in order to slow the advance towards independence on each indi-
vidual island and this fostered scepticism about the federal project.
At Montego Bay representatives of the Caribbean labour movement had
insisted that constitutional development for the islands should not be
hindered in that way but, as the events of the 1950s had demonstrated,
Colonial Office procrastination regarding constitutional reform was a
persistent feature of the politics of the period. After the federation was
established the dominant themes in British policymaking were that the
islands should not obtain independence outside the federation and that
metropolitan influence over the federation should be retained until the
local political leadership had demonstrated their competence in stabil-
ising the finances of the region and containing the dangers of racial or
class conflict. This was at variance with the nationalist view that fed-
eration would expedite the process of ending colonial control. In this
sense the British strategy was self-defeating: the slow progress of federal
advance at the centre made the alternative of independence for the units
more attractive as the notion that regional political cooperation would
ensure an early end to British control became ever more implausible.
This situation was exacerbated by the bitter controversies which raged
between Adams, Manley and Williams and by the favouritism which
the British showed to Manley, which was a consequence of the fact that
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his desire for a weaker federal centre facilitated the Fabian tactics of the
British.

The federal election of 25 March 1958 produced a small majority for
the parties of the Caribbean left who were aggregated together as the
West Indies Federal Labour Party (WIFLP). Members of the new parlia-
ment had so few powers to influence the economic and social affairs
of its constituent elements that it was inevitable that the attention of
elected representatives should be fixed on its own constitutional future.
Although provisions had been made for a review after five years, the
first two years of the federation’s history were dominated by efforts to
strengthen its own position in relation both to the units and to the pre-
siding colonial power. At the outset of the first parliamentary session
the former PNP radical Ken Hill introduced a motion proposing that a
committee should be established to investigate how the federation could
achieve dominion status as rapidly as possible. He was motivated by a
mixture of nationalist principle and political expediency. On the one
hand, he was returning to the idea of federalism as a vehicle to obtain
early independence which had been frustrated by colonial officialdom;
on the other, Hill remained resentful at his expulsion from the PNP in
1952 and the PNP was a constituent of the WIFLP government of the
federation to which he was now opposed. As Mordecai emphasised in
his account, the new federal executive led by Adams ‘shrank from the
danger of being charged by the Opposition with dragging their heels
towards a goal which inevitably must be achieved.’ In order to main-
tain their nationalist credentials Adams’s federal government resolved
to hold a conference on dominion status by June 1959 at the latest.88

As a consequence the issue of independence became the most press-
ing question for the planned Inter-Governmental Conference (IGC),
although the conflicting schedules of the various participants required
its postponement until September 1959.

In the interim, federal politics were marked by immoderate feuding
between the various protagonists but, because historiographical atten-
tion has been focused on nationalist divisions, it is often forgotten that
this encompassed rows between colonial officials appointed to the fed-
eral and unit governments. The most illuminating illustration of this
tendency was the quarrel between the Governor-General of the Fed-
eration, Lord Hailes, and the Governor of Trinidad, Edward Beetham.
Their escalating antipathy was partly fuelled by politics, as Hailes
tended to support Adams while Beetham defended Williams during
the Chaguaramas controversies, but was greatly aggravated by concerns
about protocol and status. Beetham was embittered by his eviction from
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the Governor’s residence in Port of Spain in order to make way for
Hailes and a demarcation dispute, concerning the extent of the smaller
adjoining property to which he had been relegated, ensued. Hailes was
irritated by Beetham’s preoccupation with the size of his garden and
countered by accusing him of withholding telegraphic correspondence
with the Colonial Office. Despite the triviality of the issues involved,
the domestic disagreements between the two men had head-scratching
political consequences. On 2 July 1958 Hailes censured Beetham and
Williams for colluding to prevent him from undertaking a birdwatch-
ing visit to Caroni and claimed that the Federal government wanted
Beetham sacked. In a concluding sentence which revealed much about
his attitudes to his neighbour and to the government of Trinidad, Hailes
stated: ‘I cannot believe that a Governor who is playing off his own per-
sonal wishes with a man like Williams and his Ministers, who have their
own dangerous aims and ambitions, is a good thing.’ First Beetham and
then Hailes had to be recalled to London in order to achieve a reconcil-
iation and establish a more united front amongst British officials in the
Caribbean.89

Acquaintance with the Beetham–Hailes dispute provides a useful
perspective on the tripartite altercations between Manley, Adams and
Williams. Colonial bureaucrats were as implicated in the politics of
the personal vendetta as the politicians who they were supposed to
be mentoring. In the case of the nationalist leaders, Adams’s notorious
evasiveness, Manley’s towering temper and Williams’s immoderate sen-
sitivity all played a role in the eventual collapse of the federation but
the focus on personality may distract from the economic and political
constraints which influenced their policies. Once nationalism had estab-
lished the basis for a system of democratic politics, an improvement in
the living standards of the mass of the population became a necessity.
The transcending of the politics of oligarchy and imperialism required
politicians to satisfy the material needs of the newly enfranchised. As a
consequence the participants in the federal drama were required to
formulate policies which would provide more and better-paid employ-
ment, rectify the extreme economic inequities of the old imperial system
and improve social infrastructure, such as housing. In September 1959
Eric Williams supplied the outline of such a programme in The Eco-
nomics of Nationhood but this document reflected Trinidad’s preference
for a powerful federal centre. Manley contested such a conception and
argued for greater economic autonomy for the units.90 Jamaica was the
island where parochial sentiment was strongest and where the fed-
eration seemed least likely to offer economic benefits. As the largest
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island it would take responsibility for subsidising the small islands of
the federation as British economic assistance tapered away. One of
the most prominent examples of Jamaican particularist tendencies was
Manley’s determination to grant tax concessions to the oil company
Esso as an incentive to build an oil refinery on the island. This pro-
posal was part of a broader strategy for encouraging capital investment
as a means of addressing the most serious social problem on the islands
which was joblessness. From the perspective of the Eastern Caribbean
islands it illustrated Jamaica’s disregard for the longstanding aim of har-
monising taxes and customs which was an essential element in the
process of regional integration. As the only significant oil producer in
the Anglophone Caribbean, it had been expected that Trinidad would
monopolise refining and Williams objected to any exemptions designed
to encourage a rival industry elsewhere in the federation. On this occa-
sion Adams, in his role as guardian of federal interests, backed Williams
and the nature of his backing sparked a furious row which embittered
relations between Jamaica and the federal government.91

In a press conference on 8 September 1958 Adams emphasised that his
government supported the equalisation of trade and investment policies
inside the federation and appeared to hint that, should unit govern-
ments grant their own tax concessions, such as the one Manley planned
to grant Esso, the federal government could act retrospectively to gather
the lost revenue by imposing new taxes on the units. Adams’s statement
infuriated Manley. The two men met in Jamaica on 30 October to dis-
cuss the matter. After an apparently amicable conversation Adams held
another press conference at which the issue of retrospective taxation
again arose, and what followed, as Mordecai put it, was that ‘all hell
broke loose.’92 The Gleaner reported that Adams had gone as far as to
claim ‘that the Federal Government, not withstanding any tax holidays
granted by Unit Governments, would levy its own income tax after five
years, and make it retroactive to the date of Federation.’ This entirely
transcended debates about industrial tax incentives and summoned up
nightmarish visions of an enormous federal levy on Jamaicans as the
price of federation. In its editorial on 1 November the Gleaner advised:
‘Jamaica must endeavour to protect the federation from itself. If the task
proves impossible it must take adequate steps to avoid an aftermath
involving the sacrifice of its future in a mirage visible only to the eyes
of federal dreamers.’93 Despite his lawyerly fluency Manley found it dif-
ficult to find the words to express his anger to Adams and settled for the
moderate formula: ‘I hope that you would assist in dispelling any con-
fusion that may be created by Gleaner headlines which are at variance
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with general reporting of yesterday’s press conference.’94 To Williams he
was blunter and complained that Adams’s press conference had ‘undone
all the work of the last year in trying to get Jamaica to look at Federation
with rational eyes.’ He asserted that his opponents ‘were beginning to
get worried and were looking for something to stop our upward move
when this God-given business of more taxation, ransacking of incen-
tive legislation and imposing retroactive taxation was handed out to
them.’95 This was of course a reference to Bustamante who was perhaps
the Caribbean politician least likely to decline the opportunity for mis-
chief, which the Adams press conference provided. On 5 November the
Jamaica Labour Party secured a front-page headline in the Gleaner by
taking out an advertisement on its inside pages which demanded that
Jamaica should either quit the federation or demand a rewriting of the
federal constitution to vitiate the already feeble powers of the central
government.96 Manley publicly disdained Bustamante’s threats but, as
his letter to Williams demonstrated, he recognised that the taxation
controversy had unleashed latent Jamaican hostility to increased con-
trol from Port of Spain. The row continued until, following a month of
further equivocation on the issue, Adams finally stated unambiguously
on 9 December that the federation would not act retroactively in the
field of taxation. Despite this concession and the eventual completion
of negotiations with Esso, the oil refinery was not constructed until after
the Jamaican referendum.97

For the British the retroactive taxation affair validated and reinforced
three tendencies already evident in their thinking: the belief that Adams
was a much less effective federal leader than Manley would have been,
the desire to foster private capital investment as a substitute for British
aid and the conviction that a further period of British supervision of
federal affairs was necessary. This last inclination irritated nationalists
in the Eastern Caribbean for whom the process of incremental consti-
tutional reform seemed to involve the indefinite postponement of the
final transfer of power from Britain. When in January 1959 Williams
set a deadline of 22 April 1960 for federal independence, metropolitan
policymakers effectively established a tacit alliance with Manley which
was designed to foster delay. For some Conservative ministers in Britain
the process of dissolving the empire was proceeding far too rapidly.
Men like the Colonial Secretary, Alan Lennox-Boyd, his Parliamentary
Under-Secretary, Julian Amery, and the Commonwealth Secretary, Alec
Douglas-Home, believed that nationalist politicians should serve an
extended apprenticeship before obtaining independence. At the end
of October 1958 Home wrote to Lennox-Boyd to insist ‘there can be
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no question of “dominion status” for the West Indies within the next
four years.’ He feared that any constitutional conference would focus on
the independence issue rather than on the dull, difficult task of recali-
brating the constitutional relationship between the units and the centre.
In response Lennox-Boyd alluded to the weakness of the current federal
government which was ‘hardly worth the name’ and agreed it would
be necessary to strengthen the power of the federal centre. He reassured
Home that the Colonial Office would utilise the impending conferences
as ‘an invaluable opportunity of making clear . . . just how far they have
go before the Federal Government could be considered one that can
properly be sponsored for full membership of the Commonwealth.’98

Despite these expressions of concern regarding the weaknesses of the
federal government, which harmonised with Adams’s agenda, British
representatives in the Caribbean were still eager to promote Manley,
who was the most ardent advocate of a decentralised federation, as a
regional leader. In January 1959, Hailes, who had sat alongside Home
and Lennox-Boyd inside previous Conservative governments, suggested
to the latter that Adams was ‘not quite a big enough man’ for the job of
federal Prime Minister and recorded that Manley and ‘most responsible
people in Jamaica’ would be reluctant to secede from the federation. He
argued that the ‘line to plug’ at the forthcoming Council of Ministers
was that independence outside a federation would be politically dan-
gerous and might even produce a series of local dictatorships. Rather
than expediting federal independence, British strategists sought to redi-
rect attention towards the need to realign constitutional arrangements
in the units and at the centre. This would be the work of the forth-
coming conference to revise the political systems of the Leewards and
the Windwards, which currently lagged behind those of the other fed-
eral territories, and the IGC, which would reconsider the nature of the
federal constitution. These conclaves were eventually delayed until June
and September 1959 respectively, which proved a relief to British policy-
makers. In the preceding January Lennox-Boyd had taken up the Fabian
theme which reappeared so frequently in British analyses of constitu-
tional advance. He advised: ‘delay is all to the good at present; it may
allow time for tempers to cool after the Adams–Manley dogfight . . . if
Adams can manage to put both conferences off (and I do realise this
won’t be easy) something will have been gained if only time.’ His epistle
also explained that the British preferred to foster inactivity rather than
decisive action until the ‘real difficulty with the question of finance’ was
resolved; only once this had been accomplished could independence be
envisaged.99
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During the summer of 1959, British policymakers, with Hailes in the
lead, gradually recognised the necessity to accelerate the timetable for
independence. As was the case in almost every instance of decoloni-
sation, it was nationalist pressure which forced the pace. On 26 June
1959 Jamieson, who was the British official most directly involved in
the various local negotiations, warned his seniors, that they should ‘be
prepared at least in our own minds for the worst.’ What the worst
entailed was that the federal leaders would demand independence by
late 1960 or early 1961. In a calculated act of defiance, which exceeded
Jamieson’s worst expectations, Williams pre-empted the Colonial Office
by announcing that British imperial rule in the Anglophone Caribbean
would end on 22 April 1960. During late 1959 British resistance to the
acceleration of the independence timetable slowly crumbled but minis-
terial foreboding about the consequence of rapid decolonisation in the
Caribbean persisted. Home believed there was ‘a strong case for playing
for the maximum time’ while Amery argued that the very earliest fea-
sible dates were in 1963 or 1964. Hailes was the most sympathetic to
the idea of an earlier date for independence, probably because national-
ist pressure was felt more acutely in Port of Spain than anywhere else.
During his visit to London in August 1959 there was much discussion
of how local rivalries might be exploited to encourage delay. On the not
entirely secure basis that ‘Jamaica was in no particular hurry for inde-
pendence’, Amery predicted that the forthcoming IGC meeting could,
with some British steering, agree on an earlier, compromise date ‘which
might fall not far short of acceptance by HMG.’ The Permanent Under-
Secretary at the Colonial Office, Hilton Poynton, recorded Hailes’ view
that further tactical manoeuvres to extend the independence timetable
were becoming impractical; the Governor-General doubted whether
they would be able to ‘put the brakes on for any other than practical
reasons’. He did acknowledge, however, that Williams’s brazen advocacy
of an impractical deadline could ‘bring Mr Manley into opposition and
result in some compromise that might be more reasonable.’ Although
they hoped that Jamaican caution would act as a check on Trinidadian
recklessness, when the hostility between the participants threatened the
federation itself, it became necessary to consider ways to appease nation-
alist sentiment. Matters were greatly complicated by the continuing
rivalry between the centralising Trinidadian vision and the devolution-
ist Jamaican approach to federation. These differences became more
pronounced in May 1959 when the Trinidadian PNM and the Jamaican
PNP issued rival manifestos. On the issue of trade, for example, the PNM
made the case for early customs union as a prelude to independence
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within a year, while the PNP insisted that each unit should retain pow-
ers to implement protectionist measures.100 Although Manley’s cautious,
incrementalist approach to federal matters was useful to the British in
tactical terms, and Williams’s desire to expedite independence was irri-
tating, the Colonial Office also recognised that the latter had a much
clearer vision of how to ensure federalism produced a viable form of
regional integration. Rivalry between Jamaica and Trinidad was useful
only so long as it did not jeopardise the continuation of the federal
enterprise. As the date for the IGC grew nearer, Amery attempted to
reassure Home that ‘they would do nothing to hasten the process’ of
constitutional advance, while adding the reservations, which reflected
Hailes’s view rather more than his own, that: ‘The Federation is still a
delicate plant and any excessive check at this stage to West Indian aspi-
rations could have grave repercussions on the standing of the Federal
Government and even compromise the existence of the Federation.’101

These already muddy waters became murkier still as the matter of
racial politics again intruded on British debates about their Caribbean
empire. One of the reasons that Home at the Commonwealth Office
was so determined to delay any announcement on federal indepen-
dence was that the Jamaican decision to impose trade sanctions against
South Africa had strained relations with the new Verwoerd government
at a time when the British hoped for their cooperation in deciding the
future of the Central African Federation. News reached the Colonial
Office in February 1959 that, at the prompting of the influential PNP
minister, Wills Isaacs, Manley intended to prohibit imports from South
Africa in protest against apartheid. British officials and ministers were
furious at the decision. Although legal advice indicated that they could
not prevent the embargo, Lennox-Boyd told the Governor of Jamaica,
Kenneth Blackburne: ‘I cannot do other than deprecate any action to
discriminate against a member of the Commonwealth on account of
that country’s domestic politics in another field.’ The British secured
some delay in the implementation of the policy. During the short lull
the Commonwealth Relations Office became ever more alarmed by the
‘wider repercussions which any definite action by the Jamaica Govern-
ment might have.’ Potential consequences included a South African veto
of Commonwealth membership for The West Indies. Minatory signals
issued from Pretoria about their reaction to a Jamaican boycott led the
British High Commissioner to inform the South African Foreign Min-
ister, Eric Louw, of their opposition to sanctions and to restate their
own position, which was that they had no view on his government’s
‘native policy’.102 In June, Manley made clear that the boycott would



158 Ordering Independence

proceed. Blackburne complained privately, and with a telling use first of
a belittling, commonplace metaphor, and then of distancing quotation
marks: ‘It is unfortunate that Manley and his boys should have decided
to boycott South Africa just at this moment . . . . We all tried to persuade
them against it, but they were determined to show their disapproval of
“apartheid” in this way.’103 Verwoerd responded to the imminence of
sanctions by warning that his country’s ‘excellent relations’ with Britain
‘would be seriously impaired if Jamaica persisted in her wish to boycott
South African imports as a protest against apartheid.’104 In a series of
messages to Manley discouraging him from proceeding with the boy-
cott, Blackburne emphasised that the South African government had
‘taken a most serious view’ of Jamaican actions.105 Home continued to
fume about the Jamaican policy even after it became a fait accompli and
disassociated himself with advice from his officials that London had no
legal authority to prevent the boycott. He exercised his frustrations by
authorising an eventually unissued Cabinet paper which stressed that
Britain ‘clearly have a responsibility for Jamaica behaving in accordance
with good Commonwealth neighbour standards. It is equally clear that
Jamaica is now using for avowedly political reasons a power that we del-
egated to her solely for trade and economic purposes.’106 One notable
aspect of the South African controversy was the continuing tendency
of British policymakers to absolve Manley of much of the blame for a
policy they despised, and blame demotic local politics as represented
by populist and supposedly dangerous figures like Wills Isaacs who was
also a sceptic about federation. Amery, who had dissuaded Manley from
making the initial announcement in May, insisted that the PNP leader
had very little interest in pursuing it and did so only because of party
pressure.107

Similar instincts governed British reactions to the Inter-Governmental
Conference (IGC) of September 1959 which was perhaps the worst-
tempered meeting in the entire history of the federation. The partici-
pants scrutinised and found wanting almost every aspect of the current
federal dispensation but were unable to agree on any remedial measures.
Amidst the array of contentious topics, the conflict between the cen-
tralising demands of Trinidad and the devolutionist aims of Jamaica
constituted the seminal controversy. Before the conference, Manley
wrote to Adams to reaffirm the position his government had set out
in May, namely that federal jurisdiction should be limited to essen-
tial matters, such as trade policy, but ‘there would remain a larger field
of items which do not come under the jurisdiction of the Federation
except with the consent of the Unit than at present exists.’108 This set
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the Jamaican delegation on collision course with the Trinidadian party.
Williams published The Economics of Nationhood before the conference.
The principal theme of this document was that: ‘Only a powerful and
centrally directed economic coordination and interdependence can cre-
ate the foundations of a new nation.’109 The expectation of continuing
disagreements on the question of centralisation fuelled a separate con-
troversy over the redistribution of seats in the House. It was widely
accepted that because its population was roughly half the total of the
entire area Jamaica should be allowed to increase its allocation from
37.8%. Unfortunately Bustamante’s accusations that the PNP would sell
out Jamaican interests encouraged cupidity on Manley’s part and he pro-
posed a maximalist formula which would raise the figure to 49.2%.110

This entailed a significant reduction in representation for the small
islands and various alternative means of apportioning the seats were bat-
ted backwards and forwards between the many participants in a spirit
of increasing bad temper until Adams accepted that a decision would
have to be deferred. Two Ministerial committees were established, one
to examine representation and the other customs union.

The manner in which the British apportioned blame for the failure
of the IGC is instructive. Despite criticisms of Williams’s tactics, they
were willing to indulge him because of his usefulness as an ally against
the forces of disorder in the region. Officials at the Colonial Office did
not have to like Williams to recognise that his plans for federal cen-
tralisation offered precisely the kind of constitutional template which
would promote economic self-sufficiency while keeping in check any
more populist politics based on racial or class antagonisms. A full report
on Williams’s conduct, and those of the other participants, was provided
by Philip Rogers, who represented the Colonial Office at the IGC meet-
ing. Rogers’ assessment was that Williams ‘who, as you know, produced
an impressive paper and speech on the economics of nationhood and
the need for a strong federation, had overdone it politically.’ Although
Manley’s inflexibility was acknowledged as problematic it was placed
in the context of increasing opposition to federalism in Jamaica. As in
the case of the South African boycott, Rogers’ report blamed the rigid-
ity of Jamaica’s position on others and concluded that Manley was ‘still
a Federationist and though he thinks in terms of a weaker Federation
than we believe to be practicable, he is prepared to discuss the degree of
power to be given to the Federation.’ What Rogers did not mention was
that the comparative dilatoriness of the Jamaicans on the independence
issue helped to mask indecision in Whitehall about the setting of a date.
Despite his intransigence at the IGC, Manley retained his heroic status
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for British officials who still hoped he would become more involved in
federal affairs. It was onto Adams and the small island politicians that
most of the blame was heaped. The former was singled out by Rogers as
‘unfailingly inept and irritating to all his delegates.’ The St Lucian repre-
sentatives were also censured for producing an astonishing paper which
‘frightened the Jamaicans at least as much as the Trinidad paper.’111

Given their belief in the essentially juvenile nature of small island affairs
a Manley-type politician running a Williams-type federation was for the
British the perfect solution to the refractory politics of the region but
one which it seemed almost impossible to attain.

British disillusionment with Adams’s performance at the IGC
strengthened Manley’s position and had an indirect influence on the
seminal decision to guarantee that Jamaica could obtain early indepen-
dence outside the federation. John Mordecai later claimed that there
was ‘no question of a plot to oust Sir Grantley.’112 However, failure
at the IGC encouraged the Colonial Office to consider the possibility
of a constitutional coup. Nigel Fisher, who was Parliamentary Under-
Secretary in the Colonial Office at the time of the federation’s demise,
recalled that it ‘was run by a second eleven from the small islands’ and
suggested that replacing Adams with either Manley or Williams ‘might
have made the difference between success and failure for the federation
as a whole.’113 In the weeks after the IGC, Rogers continued to criticise
Adams’s handling of the meeting and concluded that the inefficiency of
the federal government ‘stems essentially from the appalling inadequacy
of Sir Grantley Adams.’114 When Manley visited London in January 1960
he discussed with British officials the possibility of replacing Adams.
Rogers reported that Manley was willing to consider such a manoeu-
vre in a couple of years, on condition that Jamaican terms for a revised
federal architecture were accepted. Hailes wanted more urgent action
and suggested Adams should resign on the grounds of ill health so that
Manley could take over as Prime Minister as soon as possible. His reports
of Adams’s ‘decrepitude’ also prompted Amery to wonder ‘whether M
[Manley] could be persuaded to take over without a stop gap.’ Immediate
action proved impractical but Manley’s indispensability was reaffirmed,
as was the necessity to help protect him against the continual onslaught
of the JLP over the federation issue. From Kingston, Blackburne urged
that measures be taken to ‘strengthen his hand’.115 During the London
talks in January 1960 Macleod made what turned out to be a damag-
ing concession to Jamaican secessionist sentiment by promising that ‘no
threat, undue pressure or punitive action was contemplated’ should they
pursue unilateral independence.116 Macleod’s solicitude was predicated
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on the entirely accurate perception that Bustamante and the JLP would
continue their attacks on the federation and the less justified assump-
tion that concessions to the PNP would help them resist the onslaught.
Manley articulated the dilemma in which he felt himself, as a pro-
ponent of an incrementalist but pro-integrationist policy, besieged by
federal zealots on one side and Jamaican isolationists on the other. He
told a meeting of PNP members ‘in the long run there are real and
great advantages in federation but that those advantages cannot be
accepted at the price of anything that would destroy or injure us in a
fundamental respect.’ Any measures which would retard efforts to alle-
viate Jamaican poverty and unemployment, Manley declared, would be
unacceptable.117 After returning from London he announced that the
Colonial Office had provided him with a ‘potential permit to secede.’ He
explained: ‘We have made it clear we cannot and will not remain in a
Federation which had the right to take over all the economic controls of
the area as soon as it becomes independent . . . . If we cannot reach early
agreement, Jamaica will leave Federation and will seek independence on
her own. This is fully understood.’118

The continuing concessions made to Jamaican interests did almost
nothing to divert Bustamante from his relentless focus on the exces-
sive costs of federation. The committee established after the IGC to deal
with the electoral representation of units had already agreed on a for-
mula which increased Jamaican representation to 48.4% of the seats
in the House of Representatives, which constituted a clear victory for
Manley and the PNP government.119 Success in resolving that issue with
surprising speed gave greater salience to the other matters which had
been deferred, namely customs union and taxation policy, and these
were taken up again at the next ministerial meeting in Port of Spain
in May 1960. These issues still divided opinion between Jamaica and
the other members of the federation but the implicit recognition by
many of the participants that early customs union was impractical con-
stituted a further attempt to allay Jamaican concerns. No concessions
were made to the centralist vision of Trinidad but the mere possibility
of them attracted obloquy from the JLP. In a series of messages sent
in the midst of the negotiations Bustamante asked: ‘What does Fed-
eration mean to Jamaica? More direct taxes, tax on consumer goods,
interference with our industries, thereby causing reduction in unem-
ployment [sic], more hunger to the thousands of already hungry people
and more tears.’ When Manley brushed aside Bustamante’s complaints
that he was trying to force the federation down unwilling Jamaican
throats, the JLP leader advised: ‘If you describe these statements again
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as “rubbish” or “nonsense”, I can only suggest you pay a visit to a good
psychiatrist.’120

Considerations of party political advantage prompted Bustamante to
launch a formal campaign against federation despite the fact that tech-
nical arguments about representation, customs union and taxation had
been, or seemed likely to be, resolved in Jamaica’s favour. He resented
the JLP electoral defeats of 1955 and 1959 and feared that the financial
backing offered to the PNP by Jamaican business interests who favoured
federation would permanently marginalise his party. The future Prime
Minister and Bustamante acolyte, Edward Seaga, recalled that the JLP
leader was infuriated by his inability to raise any more than £ 60 for
an impending by-election in St Thomas. On the evening of 30 May he
told Seaga: ‘I never liked this damn federation any way. I am going to
pull Jamaica out of it.’121 Within hours of the news of Bustamante’s new
anti-federation campaign appearing in the Gleaner on 31 May, Manley
announced that he would hold a referendum on the issue of Jamaica’s
continuing participation. Manley later suggested that he could not give
‘logical reasons’ to explain why he made this decision.122 Although it
was a finely poised choice which was widely criticised at the time, the
explanation appeared fairly straightforward: it was the only way to deci-
sively resolve the contest with Bustamante which was sucking the life
out of federal and Jamaican politics. No definitive compromise on any
federal issue was possible while the JLP was threatening to take the first
opportunity to secede. Perhaps equally pressing from Manley’s perspec-
tive was disunity within the PNP. Influential figures such as Wills Isaacs
continued to warn of the costs of continuing Jamaican membership of
the federation. Gordon Lewis emphasised the importance of the infor-
mal coalition between the JLP and the right wing of the PNP ‘to foment
the victory of Jamaican nationalism with its emphasis more and more
on the theme of material benefits.’123 By transferring the final decision
to the Jamaican people, Manley gave himself greater domestic room for
manoeuvre but at the cost of gambling with the entire future of the
federation.

British policymakers were optimistic that Manley’s decision would
lead to a favourable resolution of pan-Caribbean, domestic Jamaican
and PNP controversies. The amenable attitude shown by Macleod
during his visit to the region in June 1960 seemed to establish the
basis for improved relations between the metropolis and the periph-
ery. He endorsed the decision to hold a referendum and Manley told
C. L. R. James that Macleod was ‘completely sincere and determined in
sticking to the policy that what we do in the West Indies at this time
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is our own business.’124 The Colonial Office approved the referendum
largely because they expected a Manley victory. Officials went as far as
to suggest that ‘there seems to be no doubt at all that Jamaica will vote
in favour of Federation’ and even contemplated the possibility ‘that the
“Busta challenge” will peter out to the extent of it becoming unnec-
essary to hold one.’125 The one dissenting voice was Hailes who told
Macleod: ‘I can’t be v. happy about the referendum’.126 On 24 Octo-
ber Blackburne attempted to reassure Hailes following a discussion with
Manley: ‘I have little doubt that he will be able to bring the referendum
off all right when the time comes.’127 Macleod also initiated a renewed
effort to obtain compromises on the vexed question of relations between
the federal centre and the units and sought to appease Trinidad over the
setting of a date for independence. The long history of British irresolu-
tion on this last point, which had continued up to the Home–Amery
exchanges in autumn 1959, came to an end with Macleod’s discussions
with Caribbean leaders in June 1960. He offered both an immediate
move towards a Cabinet form of government for the federation, which
would allow Adams to preside over meetings of the executive, and a
promise that ‘as soon as you in the West Indies are agreed on the kind
of independent Federation you want you will find us ready and willing
to help you achieve it.’128 He avoided offering any specifically British
views on the precise structure of the federation but persuaded Manley
and Williams to begin serious consideration of a compromise. As a con-
sequence of all this, the visit has been portrayed as ‘a triumph of skill
and planning.’129 Judged from a longer-term perspective Macleod’s more
accommodating attitude towards the nationalist cause cannot be con-
sidered too little but it did occur too late. Fisher, who was a friend of
Macleod, noted that ‘he always regarded the Caribbean as his main area
of failure.’130

Efforts to accommodate Jamaican requirements reached their climax
at a meeting between Williams and Manley on Antigua in August 1960
but, despite British championing of the resulting agreement, the new
deal negotiated outside a federal framework produced a backlash which
contributed to the eventual destruction of the federation. During the
Antigua talks Williams was more conciliatory than was his custom
because of the necessity to finally resolve the controversies which were
now the only block to independence and to strengthen the hand of
Manley, who was a personal friend and political ally, in the referen-
dum. The two men devised the idea of a ‘third list’, which later became
known as the ‘reserve list’, the items on which would remain outside
the ambit of federal control for a minimum of five years. At the end
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of this interim period the consent of the Regional Council of Ministers
would still be necessary to transfer ‘third list’ items from unit to fed-
eral control. It was agreed that income tax and industrial development
policies would definitely be included on the ‘third list’ and possibly
education and government borrowing. Although he later disputed this
version of events, the contemporary record of their discussions found in
the Manley papers, shows that Williams initially agreed that a majority
of two-thirds would be required to transfer items to federal control and
the voting formula would be based on representation by population.
As Jamaicans constituted roughly half the total population of the fed-
eration, under the Antigua formula they would have an effective veto
over changes to the content of the ‘third list’. Manley also triumphed
on the matter of federal revenue. It was provisionally agreed that, in the
absence of any powers to tax income, the federal government should
continue to depend on a portion of customs revenue from the units.
The proportion was to be cut from 30% to 20%. On the issue of freedom
of movement, which was the one area in which Trinidad was fearful
of federal authority, Manley agreed to give ‘sympathetic consideration’
to a Trinidadian plan to establish an incremental procedure based on
gradually increasing quotas for internal migration.131

Despite their influence, Manley and Williams were unable to impose
the further dilution of federal authority they envisaged at Antigua.
Following Williams’s return to Trinidad the new Governor, Solomon
Hochoy, witnessed an unusual open confrontation between Williams
and his two key lieutenants, Patrick Solomon and John O’Halloran,
both of whom objected to the extent of his concessions. Williams’s
unusually solicitous attitude to Jamaican dilemmas was evident when
he explained that, because of his earlier assertiveness on the subject
of Jamaican interests, Manley ‘now finds himself out on a limb and
appreciates that he cannot get back easily.’ Solomon was infuriated by
the notion of a popular two-thirds majority to have items removed
from the ‘third list’ and claimed it was tantamount to ‘Jamaica saying
that they will be able to do what they like for as long as they like.’
O’Halloran insisted that any provision allowing Jamaica to control its
own trade policy independently of federal attempts to promote harmon-
isation would guarantee a shift in industrial investment out of Trinidad
and into Jamaica. In response Williams emphasised his dilemma: ‘Either
Trinidad goes more than half way to meet Manley and so make it possi-
ble for Jamaica to stay in the Federation, or risks a complete breakdown.’
Hochoy seconded Williams’s arguments and pleaded ‘let us try to find
a formula which could help Manley.’132 Although the British had in
the past always supported the notion of a stronger federal centre they
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now turned their fire on the opponents of a scheme which further viti-
ated the powers of an already feeble federation. Hailes had an even
more difficult job in dealing with the reactions of Adams and federal
ministers. He claimed that Adams’s response was entirely emotional
and based on ‘hurt feelings’ rather than on the damage done to fed-
eral viability. His report to Macleod stated: ‘Adams is quite capable,
if his position is assailed, of trying to pull down the pillars of the
temple. In his muddled head he flirts with the idea of a Federation
without Jamaica, in which – so he thinks – he could more easily hold
his own.’133 On 14 September Adams wrote to Manley to denounce
what he believed to be a conspiracy to undermine him. Despite the
fact that he had discussed this matter with the Colonial Office earlier
in the year, Manley disclaimed any involvement in a plot to unseat
Adams.134

Prior to the next IGC in October 1960 Manley was confident that
he and Williams had ‘resolved all our differences’ and that the only
serious obstacle to the ratification of the Antigua deal was opposi-
tion from Williams’s senior ministers, who he hoped to appease during
further discussions.135 The Chaguaramas issue was also apparently near-
ing resolution and, despite Adams’s resentment, this was the moment
when there seemed the greatest likelihood of concluding the apparently
never-ending series of controversies which blocked the road to federal
independence. Instead, the second IGC proved almost as bad-tempered
as the first and the old controversies re-emerged in new forms. Under
pressure from his own party Williams gave a captious performance.
He now objected to the idea, which he had endorsed at Antigua, that
Jamaica should have an effective veto over any extension of the powers
of the federal government and rejected various compromise proposals
on freedom of movement on the grounds that Trinidad had conceded
so many other points. By the conclusion of the discussions, as Mordecai
noted, the usual positions had been reversed and Manley ended the con-
ference ‘on far better personal terms with the Eastern Caribbean leaders
than did Williams.’136 The doubt which Williams cast over the Jamaican
veto now made it more difficult to shore up Manley’s domestic posi-
tion in advance of the referendum and this engendered a new period
of fretfulness in the Colonial Office. On his return, Manley confronted
objections to the potential loss of the veto from his own party. Wills
Isaacs demanded that the federation should have no powers to interfere
with the policies which units pursued on industrial development, that
Jamaica should retain a veto over the transfer of powers and that the
introduction of a federal income tax must be prohibited. Unless these
conditions were met, he announced ‘he would break with his party and



166 Ordering Independence

oppose it.’ In response to this news, the Parliamentary Under-Secretary
at the Colonial Office, Hugh Fraser, pondered whether the debilitating
erosion of federal power could be compensated for by getting rid of
Adams and his ministers: ‘Once established I hope that a first eleven as
opposed to the second eleven team we have at the moment in office can
make federation work. But for a long time to come I fear it will be a weak
federation and not the sort of federation the theorists would desire.’137

In the months before the frequently postponed third IGC of May
1961 three events occurred which have already been discussed: the
London talks on financial assistance which ended in disappointment,
the Tobago conference which resolved the Chaguaramas issue in a spirit
of relative amity and the Macmillan visit to the Caribbean which con-
vinced local leaders that their worst fears about immigration controls
were justified. The second development strengthened Williams’s hand
but for the other participants the events of the winter of 1960–1961
warranted only pessimism about the future. For nationalist politicians,
the setbacks in negotiations with the British had particularly serious
consequences for the debate about freedom of movement within the
federation. On 23 March 1961 Adams warned the federal Cabinet that
unless they removed internal barriers to migration ‘the case against
restriction of West Indian migrants to the UK would be extremely weak
and that restrictions would probably be introduced before the end of
1961.’138 Six weeks later at the IGC Adams pressed the case for free-
dom of movement but was confounded by Williams’s opposition which
focused on another aspect of British policy, namely the plans to cur-
tail or taper down British financial assistance. His reasons were reported
by the Colonial Office’s observer, Ambler Thomas, and were perfectly
logical: ‘Williams has repeatedly tied Freedom [of] Movement with the
question of external aid to the smaller territories. His argument is that
if there were to be a tight federation on the lines he has consistently
urged there would be adequate powers at the centre to promote capital
development over the declared Federation. This would make it possible
to tackle the immigration problem at its roots by providing employ-
ment opportunities in the smaller territories.’139 The final compromise
proposal recognised the force of these arguments: although granting
the federal government nominal control over freedom of movement by
including it on the exclusive list, it allowed for a nine-year transitional
period during which units would be allowed to prevent the federation
from exercising these powers. More ominously, the implementation of
the deal was conditional on a new and better offer of financial assistance
to the small islands from Britain.140
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Manley supported federal ministers against Trinidad on the free-
dom of movement issue but on the questions of the reserve list and
the Jamaican veto, he continued to exercise the obstinacy licensed
by British policymakers’ views of his indispensability. Before the IGC
the Deputy Permanent Under-Secretary at the Colonial Office, William
Gorell Barnes, estimated that ‘our chances of success with a Manley on
the scene will never again be higher’. In adopting what he described
as a ‘back seat driver’ role, the British continued to steer the con-
stitutional vehicle down a road of yet more concessions to Jamaican
opinion.141 At the outset of the climactic Lancaster House conference
in June, and with evident approval from the British observer, Ambler
Thomas, Manley disregarded Adams’s objections and insisted that the
items included on the ‘third list’ at Antigua, namely income tax and
industrial development, should remain the responsibility of the units.142

Manley promised to undertake further consultations in Jamaica about
the transfer of these items to the federal government but the outcome
of these enquiries was never in doubt. At the moment of his arrival
back in Kingston, Manley was met by JLP protestors, including Edward
Seaga, denouncing him for failing to obtain definitive endorsement of
the Jamaican veto at the IGC and demanding an early referendum.143

Within the PNP, Wills Isaacs also rejected any compromise over the veto
issue. On 22 May Manley wrote to Adams to say that the Jamaican veto
must be retained, offering only the compensatory prospect that in a few
years time the federation could acquire ‘law-making powers as far as
income tax was concerned provided the percentage of income tax that
they could collect was constitutionally limited.’144

By the time of the Lancaster House conference both Williams and
Adams had grown tired of the requirement to appease Jamaican opin-
ion because of the referendum. Rather than refereeing federal disputes
on the federal constitution the Colonial Office openly sided with the
Jamaicans in order to secure a victory for Manley in his dispute with the
JLP. Patricia Robinson, who was a personal assistant to Williams, con-
cluded that he was exasperated by this attitude: ‘he began to blame the
British, who were never sure of Williams . . . . Manley spoke their lan-
guage . . . . Manley was really their candidate, and to reassure Manley
they were prepared to agree anything. They were really darned irritated
when Manley was forced into a corner as they thought.’145 The most
significant aspect of the conference was the isolation of the Trinidadian
delegation on the freedom of movement issue. The inability of Macleod
to offer any substantial concession regarding financial aid, combined
with continuing pressure on Trinidad from the British government and
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the other delegates to accept unrestricted migration between units,
tested Williams’s limited patience. He snapped when yet another new
formula designed to secure Jamaica’s interests was adumbrated. This lat-
est proposal entailed the abolition of the reserve list which had been
devised by Williams at Antigua. Items which had been allocated to
this list, namely income tax and industrial policy, would be transferred
back to the concurrent list. However, the consent of the unit legisla-
tures, as well as the federal legislature, would be necessary before items
on the new concurrent list became subject to exclusive federal control.
In assuaging Jamaican anxieties the proposal effectively universalised
their veto by giving it to every one of the units. In response, Williams
effectively withdrew from the negotiations on the grounds that the new
formula merely compounded federal feebleness by extending a conces-
sion designed to meet Jamaican requirements to all parties. Most of all,
the assent given to the British formula by the other delegates ‘showed
the power of the Colonial Office . . . the power and influence of the Colo-
nial Office was never greater than on its death bed. The Colonial Office
had merely to crack the whip and all the Territories fell in line – all
except Trinidad and Tobago.’146 Williams did not make public his criti-
cisms of the Lancaster House deal but, because nothing had been done
to meet any Trinidadian desiderata, he reserved his position on all the
conference proceedings.147 He also expressed his resentment to Manley
in an exchange of bitter letters which, a year on from the Antiguan
rapprochement, dissolved the political alliance and personal friendship
between the two men.148

Having secured a new form of Jamaican veto, Manley began cam-
paigning on the referendum issue immediately after his return from
London but waited until 3 August 1961 to announce that polling day
would be 19 September. Jamaican control over income tax and indus-
trial incentives had been the dominating features of arguments about
federation since Adams’s press conference of October 1958. Although
the Lancaster House meeting effectively guaranteed that the federa-
tion would not be able to impinge on these areas of national life,
Manley needed to make a positive case for continuing participation. The
promise of early independence for the federation was difficult to exploit
because of the guarantee, secured in January 1960, that if the country
seceded it could obtain unilateral independence. Even the imposition
of Jamaican terms at Lancaster House caused problems for Manley
because the sour resentment at the outcome amongst other regional
leaders left open the possibility of yet more negotiations which would
modify what had been intended as a final settlement. Adams and the
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federal government openly condemned the Lancaster House formula
and seemed eager to commence another round of negotiations after the
referendum.149 The notion that the federation had secured a more gen-
erous package of British financial aid than the territories would have
obtained through bilateral negotiations also seemed implausible. Dur-
ing the campaign the JLP leaders exploited the economic frustrations
of the Jamaican public which were symbolised by the unmistakeable
financial chasm between those Seaga characterised as the ‘Haves’ and
the ‘Have-nots’.150 The absence of federal achievements in the three
years of its existence made it tricky for Manley to present a convincing
case against secession either on narrow financial or broader visionary
grounds. The turnout of 60.87% was low by Jamaican standards of the
time and indicated a degree of apathy amongst PNP supporters. These
abstentions ensured that the secessionist voters outnumbered the pro-
federationists by nearly 40,000 or just over 8% of the total who turned
up at the polls.151

The independence race: Trinidad versus Jamaica

The referendum result did not end the clashes of interest between
Jamaica and the smaller islands but reframed them. For Adams and
the leaders of the Eastern Caribbean, it was important that the reso-
lution of the constitutional dilemmas posed by secession should await
the establishment of a revised federal dispensation. In Jamaica the JLP
and the PNP were for once united in demanding immediate indepen-
dence. From a British perspective there was a case to be made for stalling
the process of decolonisation across the region in order to facilitate a
federal revival in the East but, based on their past record and on the
praise and sympathy evinced for Manley in the aftermath of the refer-
endum, there was little doubt about whom they would favour. Of the
many considerate messages Manley received from British officials and
politicians, perhaps the most effusive came from Blackburne: ‘That the
finest man in the history of the West Indies should be treated in this
way makes one despair of our democratic theories and practices.’152

Such solicitations did not temper Manley’s usual forceful presentation
of the Jamaican case and less than a fortnight later he was exchanging
much testier messages with Blackburne regarding Macleod’s warnings
that he avoid unguarded comments on the future of the federation
during a planned trip to New York.153 The American visit passed off
without incident but the PNP government was unyielding in its insis-
tence that the constitutional course now set for Jamaica must be charted
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on the basis of previous assurances that the country would be granted
independence following secession. For Manley, the future of the feder-
ation was now irrelevant. The day after the referendum result he told
his Cabinet that he would urge the Colonial Office to ‘fix the earli-
est possible date for Independence for Jamaica’. The Cabinet settled
on 31 May 1962. A delegation was despatched to London with orders
that they ‘come back with a record that the demand had been uncom-
promisingly made and thereafter, if necessary, the Government should
fight relentlessly for this objective.’154 As Mordecai later noted, the talks
between Manley and Macleod in October 1961 ‘destroyed whatever fed-
eral hope of an adequate respite could have remained.’155 Although the
Colonial Office believed the 31 May date was impractical, under pres-
sure from Manley, Macleod promised to ensure that enabling legislation
was passed through the British parliament by the end of March 1962.156

This kind of guarantee to Jamaica was precisely what federal min-
isters had been desperate to avoid. In the race to save the federation
Adams had actually beaten Manley to London by a week. He expressed
optimism that a viable federation of the nine remaining states could
be constructed but warned ‘early Jamaican independence would cer-
tainly queer the Trinidad pitch.’157 His argument that Williams would
rather seek unilateral independence, and thus reduce the remaining
nine federal states to eight, than allow Jamaica to rush to indepen-
dence ahead of Trinidad, had considerable force but was rejected by
Macleod. The unsympathetic reception given to Adams heralded the
arrival of an even tougher line towards the small island leaders. For
the British the greatest advantage of federation was that it facilitated
a graceful imperial retreat by transferring responsibility for the polit-
ical and financial good conduct of the small islands to Jamaica and
Trinidad. Under Manley’s eventual leadership it was expected that con-
tinuity would trump revolutionary change, that the British connection
would be guaranteed and that orthodox capitalist economics would
resolve many of the social and economic problems of the region. In the
aftermath of the secession vote they were no longer able to contemplate
this uplifting vision and Whitehall policymakers faced what Macleod
described to Macmillan as the ‘most dismal prospect’ of being burdened
for the foreseeable future with responsibility for the Leewards and the
Windwards, all but one of which ran annual budgetary deficits.158 Based
on assumptions about the incapacities of the local leadership to deal
with the social, political and economic problems which would arise
at independence, the only remaining options the British were willing
to consider were a new federation controlled by Trinidad or should
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Trinidad insist on unilateral independence, the retightening of the reins
of colonial control. A month after the referendum, Ambler Thomas rec-
ommended that local administrators in the Eastern Caribbean should
make full use of their constitutional prerogatives in order to counteract
the tendency of local politicians to ‘act independent’. He concluded:
‘I think the more relatively gentle jolts and checks which the small
island politicians receive when they overstep the mark from now on
the better since sooner or later we are going to have a pretty sharp
clash with them.’ Local administrators were instructed to prepare for a
more uncompromising response to any future importunings from local
nationalist leaders. Thomas’s sentiments were echoed by Hailes on the
other side of the Atlantic who declared, ‘a much tougher line will have
to be taken with the small territories in future if anything is to be
salvaged.’159

Although both had been foreshadowed, Macleod’s endorsement of
Jamaican secession and the Home Office’s announcement of legislation
to control immigration constituted a double blow to hopes of a fed-
eral revival. On 18 September Macleod obtained agreement from the
Cabinet that, in view of the precedents in terms of size set by Sierra
Leone and Cyprus, they would authorise Jamaican independence. In the
midst of the discussion of Jamaica’s future, ministers sounded a cau-
tionary note that the other islands in the Caribbean should no longer
expect ‘full financial support’.160 Once the decision was made, Poynton
expressed Colonial Office concern about ‘the likely effect on the pos-
sibility of preserving an Eastern Caribbean Federation built around
Trinidad.’ The impatient and uncompromising approach towards the
affairs of the Anglophone Caribbean was also evident over the issue of
migration to Britain. Legislation had been expected for at least a year
but had been delayed until after the Jamaican referendum. Macleod
announced ‘I detest the bill’ but, despite the ramifications for the fed-
eration, accepted that it would have to be included in the Queen’s
Speech.161 In Cabinet, Butler admitted that the legislation would be seen
to be ‘aimed at colour’. During discussions the unsentimental nature of
the planned trade-off became clear: ‘The Bill would provoke some crit-
icism from other Commonwealth countries but this was preferable to
the continuing risk of ill-feeling over incidents in this country involving
coloured Commonwealth immigrants.’162 The parliamentary announce-
ment on 31 October prompted the leader of the Labour Party, Hugh
Gaitskell, to declare: ‘It is all very well that we wish the West Indies
well . . . but it is then rather difficult, I think, to take steps which might
threaten them economically.’ The party’s deputy leader, George Brown,
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interpreted the proposed legislation as a concession to Oswald Mosley’s
campaign to ‘Keep Britain White.’163

Immigration controls had economic, political and cultural implica-
tions in the Anglophone Caribbean. In political terms they made it more
likely that Trinidad would withdraw from the federation. Williams’s
greatest concern had always been that freedom of movement within
a federation would lead to an influx of poor small-islanders to Trinidad.
Now that migrants would find it more difficult to gain access to Britain,
Trinidad’s potential problems were magnified. The racial motivation
behind the restrictions was even more perturbing to opinion in the
Anglophone Caribbean. In correspondence with the Deputy Prime Min-
ister of the Federation, Carl La Corbiniere, C. L. R. James applauded
Adams’s efforts to revive the federation but complained that the immi-
gration issue had been badly handled. He wanted to mobilise West
Indian people to show that the restrictions were felt ‘as a personal blow’
and suggested: ‘Britain is breaking with a tradition of many centuries.
This proposal to limit immigration is part of the new outlook of the
new Britain . . . it comes in regard to the West Indies at a time when every
consideration should be given to them, especially in view of indepen-
dence and the difficulties of the Federation.’ His proposed response was
a campaign to demonstrate ‘that the West Indian people, the body of
the people, see this and feel it as a personal blow.’164 On 17 Novem-
ber Adams took up the historical theme of the role of free movement
of goods and people in a letter of protest to Macmillan and warned
him of the consequences of immigration controls. He stated: ‘It will in
future be difficult for any person from the Commonwealth to accept
unreflectingly the oft repeated assertion of multi-racial partnership.’
Macmillan’s weak propitiatory reply was that the planned measures
were non-discriminatory and would apply to independent Common-
wealth countries as well as the dependent states of the Anglophone
Caribbean.165

In contrast to the decisive action undertaken on the issue of immi-
gration, British policymakers were uncertain what policy to adopt in
relation to the remaining federation of the nine until Trinidad’s posi-
tion was clarified. Williams’s public reticence on federal matters in the
final months of 1961 made matters particularly difficult. He refused to
speak to Hochoy as the official representative of British colonialism but
the intelligence received by the Colonial Office from other sources sig-
nalled his continuing resentment over the Lancaster House decisions.
Arthur Lewis, who was given the task of redrafting the federal consti-
tution, recorded that Williams was ‘full of venom’ for those he blamed
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for the collapse of the federation and that the arguments at Lancaster
House ‘still rankled and he was absolutely fed up with most of the
principal characters.’ At various points Williams lashed out personally
against Macleod, Manley and Adams. In policy terms he announced he
‘would have nothing whatever to do with the Grantley Adams Feder-
ation; that must pack up and its leaders disappear.’ The only area of
ambiguity was whether Williams might participate in the reconstruc-
tion of some form of Eastern Caribbean federation on his own terms
which would revert to the centralising notions contained in the Eco-
nomics of Nationhood. Such a policy was less attractive because Jamaica’s
exit seemed certain to augment the economic burdens of integration
which would fall on Trinidad. Williams declared the ‘Colonial Govern-
ment had gotten the West Indies into the mess and had the duty to
take the initiative to get us out.’166 The completion of Lewis’s report
on constitutional reform in November and the decisive electoral victory
of the PNM in the Trinidadian election of December enabled Williams
to respond to a specific set of proposals from a secure political plat-
form. His own later account emphasised the hostility of the PNM to
the new financial arrangements envisaged by Lewis. On his interpreta-
tion of the figures, Trinidad would contribute 75% towards the federal
budget, while receiving only 50% of the political representation in the
legislature.167

The key influences behind Williams’s decision to take Trinidad out
of the federation were self-evident: prestige, in the form of his desire
that Trinidad should not lag behind Jamaica in the independence race,
and economic calculation, in terms of the likely costs to Trinidad of
continuing membership. On both counts British policy was influential:
Macleod’s agreement to early legislation to facilitate Jamaican indepen-
dence ensured that the decolonisation race was reaching the final sprint
for the line, while the imminence of British immigration controls only
increased the disincentive for Trinidad to accept freedom of movement
which would, at some point, be an inevitable consequence of federation.
However, Williams saw no advantage in committing himself on federal
issues while the electoral consequences of such a policy remained uncer-
tain. The battles between the PNM and the DLP had reached a ferocious
climax at the end of 1961; both parties were aware that the victor of the
December elections would lead Trinidad to independence. The leader of
the DLP, Rudranath Capildeo, accused Patrick Solomon of sponsoring a
campaign of intimidation; Solomon later claimed Capildeo would ‘whip
himself into a frenzy of passion reminiscent of Hitler in his heyday.’168

On 15 October the DLP held an enormous rally at the Queen’s Park
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Savannah. Capildeo responded to growing evidence that the police were
deliberately breaking up his party’s meetings by declaring: ‘I shall call
upon my supporters to arm themselves and protect themselves in such
circumstances.’169 Williams’s eventual victory was therefore soured by
the intensification of racial antagonism on the island, about which the
British had always been nervous, and the animosity generated by the
campaign became an almost insuperable obstacle when it came time to
negotiating the terms of Trinidad’s independence.

Despite their reservations regarding the domestic stability of Trinidad,
the British government took Williams’s decision, like Manley’s, as a
fait accompli. When the newly elected parliament met on 12 January
1962, Williams unleashed his foaming resentment at Trinidad’s isola-
tion at Lancaster House and accused Manley and Macleod of killing ‘the
bastard federation.’ Two days later the General Council of the PNM
formulated a motion demanding unilateral independence which was
approved by a Special Convention of the party on 28 January. The
new Colonial Secretary, Reginald Maudling, arrived in the Caribbean
amidst these developments and concluded that ‘if people wanted to
remove themselves from the federation it would be better to let them
go.’170 He was much less explicit regarding what policy he would adopt
towards the rump federation. The discussion which ensued when he
returned to London illuminated some of the uncertainties of British
policy at this point. Both the ‘small island problem’ and the racial
tensions on Trinidad remained preoccupations. Some ministers argued
that it would be possible to ‘counteract the rapid growth of the Indian
population in Trinidad’ by allowing the Windwards and Leewards to
establish a unitary state across the Eastern Caribbean under leadership
from Port of Spain. This was another reheating of the old arguments
about the need for big island management and prompted a radical
counter-suggestion that each small island might obtain unilateral inde-
pendence. The objection to this was predictable: ‘the Government could
not afford altogether to avoid a moral obligation to avert the chaos and
bankruptcy in the smaller islands which might well ensue.’ The key to
ministerial strategy was the reassertion of British political control in the
form of a latitudinarian enabling bill which would allow Maudling to
impose his own solutions in the Eastern Caribbean.171 In an era domi-
nated by global anti-colonial sentiment this set the basis for a renewed
confrontation with Caribbean nationalism.

Unfortunately for Adams and his ministers, their attempts to preserve
existing federal structures occurred at the same time as a financial
scandal caused by the cupidity of the Eric Gairy government in
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Grenada which attracted the label ‘Squandermania’ and which reaf-
firmed metropolitan contempt for the politics of the small islands. The
willingness of British ministers to lump together all the leaders of the
Windwards and Leewards was evident from Maudling’s dismissive sum-
mary: ‘they were always having rows those chaps’.172 By far their greatest
row was with Maudling himself. During his discussions with federal
ministers on 24 January 1962 he indicated that the current federal sys-
tem would be formally dissolved within two or three months. Adams
responded ‘that the people of eight territories wanted Federation.’
He argued that Jamaica, Trinidad and the federal eight, consisting of
Barbados, Grenada, St Vincent, St Lucia, Dominica, St Kitts, Antigua and
Montserrat, should achieve independence simultaneously.173 Despite
continuing to favour federalism in principle, the Colonial Office rejected
Adams’s pleas, ostensibly because it would be impossible to coordinate
timetables. More significantly, they were emphatic that the existing fed-
eration would have to be wound up and any replacement which did
emerge would do so as a dependent, not an independent, territory.174

In retrospect, a more frank disclosure of British plans during Maudling’s
trip to the Caribbean, would have at least vitiated the accusations of
betrayal which were made following his statement to Parliament on
6 February 1962. After outlining plans to terminate the existing fed-
eration Maudling offered the most tepid of support for its putative
replacement. He declared: ‘Having seen one Federation of the West
Indies collapse in the way we are seeing now, I would be unhappy
about setting up another until I was confident that it would last.’
Gaitskell pointed out that the people of the Windwards and Leewards
would resent being returned to the status of Crown Colonies.175 This
assessment was confirmed by the deluge of telegrams which flooded
into the Colonial Office as their administrative outposts on the islands
recorded the adverse local reactions to Maudling’s announcement.176

Members of the federal Parliament also queued up to denounce cur-
rent British policy as well as to anatomise past errors, including
the ‘exit permit’ which Macleod had granted to Manley back in
January 1960.177

It was two of the most conservative and Anglophile leaders of
Caribbean nationalism who led the charge against the dissolution of
the federation, namely Grantley Adams and Albert Gomes. Despite his
prominence in stimulating Trinidadian nationalism in the 1930s, the
latter had become a bête noire of his peers and he was usually happi-
est denouncing the puerile nature of Caribbean politics, which he liked
to contrast with the mature attitude evinced by the colonising power.
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He later observed ‘it was always the influence of the Englishman in the
chair that managed the miracle of West Indian unity when it seemed
impossible of achievement.’178 Despite this unusual degree of sympa-
thy for the metropolitan power, Maudling’s decision to dissolve the
federation shocked Gomes who sponsored a motion in the federal par-
liament authorising the dispatch of a delegation to London as the first
step in a campaign to save the federation. Adams agreed to lead the
delegation and denounced Maudling’s ‘immoral and monstrous act’ in
the House of Representatives.179 In his biography of the federal Prime
Minister, Hoyos noted that after Maudling’s announcement, Adams’s
‘growing anger with the Colonial Office could no longer be contained’.
He condemned British policy in a letter to Maudling on 15 February and
began contacting potential allies in the metropolis.180 All of this activ-
ity seems merely to have irritated the Colonial Office. They had their
own grievances with federal legislators arising from plans for a finan-
cial compensation bill which prioritised payments to politicians rather
than civil servants. Maudling described the scheme as ‘bordering on the
scandalous’ and vetoed it through the use of an Order-in-Council.181

After their unsolicited arrival, the federal delegation were ostentatiously
ignored for five days until the Minister of State, Lord Perth, eventu-
ally agreed to a short meeting with Adams. When Maudling eventually
deigned to see the delegates it was in a spirit of reciprocal resentment.
Gomes gave a memorable account of the meeting in which Maudling
dismissed their pleas to abandon or at least modify the Enabling Bill
which would dissolve the federation: ‘the arrangement of the room sug-
gested a lecture by the professor to the students . . . . When eventually
we had been invited to sit Mr Maudling, addressing no one in partic-
ular asked: “Well what can I do for you gentlemen?” His anger was ill
concealed.’ He accused the federal ministers of lying when they claimed
that they had not been consulted about the Bill. Gomes expressed his
resentment at the overt display of colonial inferiority: ‘The political des-
tiny of over 3,500,000 West Indians was just a routine Parliamentary
chore to Englishmen . . . . What I remember most is the bitter humilia-
tion, the sense of being just another item in the Englishman’s casual
self-preoccupation.’182

A further source of Maudling’s ire was the suspicion that Adams
and Gomes were exploiting their contacts with Labour politicians in
order to generate a partisan controversy in British politics.183 There were
marked similarities between the case for the perpetuation of the federa-
tion which Adams adumbrated and the criticisms made of government
policy in the House of Commons. In a radio address delivered just
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before he travelled to London, Adams offered an overly optimistic but
pointed assessment: ‘it is inconceivable that the British would accept
the undemocratic nature of the Central African Federation should be
given the full backing of Her Majesty’s Government while the fully rep-
resentative West Indian Federation is savaged to the irremediable loss of
our people.’ Adams took up the matter of the retrogressive nature of the
new policy in a final plea to Maudling on 12 March. He complained that
the Enabling Bill was ‘a retrograde step in the history of the West Indies
and will give sweeping powers to Her Majesty to introduce whatever
kind of legislation she thinks fit in the West Indies.’ It was the basis for
‘an absolutely reactionary type of Crown Colony government.’184 Simi-
lar issues were raised by Labour’s spokesman on colonial affairs, George
Thomson. He claimed it was ‘shabby’ to introduce the Enabling Bill
while the federal delegation was left waiting for an audience with the
Colonial Secretary. Like Adams he noted the parallels with the Central
African Federation: ‘Is it conceivable that had Dr Banda wanted to secede
from the Central African Federation the same treatment would have
been accorded to Sir Roy Welensky?’ On 26 March another Labour front-
bencher, Denis Healey, took up both the issue of the discourtesy shown
to Adams during his visit and the broader political issues. On the former
he secured an apology from Maudling regarding the cold-shouldering
of the federal delegation; on the latter Healey attended again to the
contrast between British policy towards the Central African Federation,
where secessionism was being resisted, and the government’s unwilling-
ness to support the integrationist case in the Caribbean. He expressed
in more moderate tones the anger of the federal leaders about the terms
of a bill which effectively returned them ‘to some sort of Crown Colony
status.’185 On this point there was no apology. Colonial Office policy was
the logical conclusion of the uncompromising line they decided to take
with the smaller territories after the Jamaican vote. The federation was
formally dissolved on 23 May 1962.

From a strategic perspective the decision to expedite the dissolution
of the federation was a success despite the outbreak of tactical hiccoughs
following Maudling’s 6 February statement. The unit governments, with
whom the British would now deal, had frequently been at loggerheads
with the federal executive and offered Adams’s ministers no support.
For the two largest units, Jamaica and Trinidad, the disbanding of the
federation was a liberation in the sense that it facilitated early inde-
pendence. The disputes which accompanied the final negotiations were
of a minor character compared to the tumultuous rows of the previ-
ous four years. Given the fiercely partisan nature of Jamaican party
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politics it was predictable that the most contested aspect of the draft
constitution concerned provisions to prevent electoral fraud, which the
JLP initially regarded as insufficiently rigorous. During the course of a
surprisingly equitable constitutional conference in London in February
1962 a revised formula was agreed to which satisfied both parties.186

After the conference the British Cabinet endorsed 6 August as the date
for independence.187 Expectations that Manley would be the first Prime
Minister of an independent Jamaica were confounded when the PNP lost
the election of 10 April and Bustamante formed a new JLP government.
British policymakers reflected on the result with equanimity. Although
in the 1940s the British had feared Bustamante as a demagogue and a
potential dictator he was now 78 and surrounded by business-orientated
technocrats like Robert Lightbourne, Donald Sangster, Hugh Shearer
and Edward Seaga, the last three of whom would each become Prime
Minister. Blackburne went as far as to declare: ‘They are a good lot –
better in some ways than the last government but it remains to be seen
how well Bustamante can lead them and make them into a team.’188

In July the JLP administration negotiated a financial settlement which
wrung from the Treasury a small amount of financial assistance in the
form of unspent development funds, loans and grants.189 Some resid-
ual resentment at the consequences of Jamaican secession still lingered.
On returning to Jamaica, Foot was saddened by the insularity of local
politics, which was evident in ‘cheap scoffing at the small islands’ and
concluded, ‘Jamaica had chosen a second best. It was a victory for
reaction.’190 For Jamaicans independence day was the culmination of
an arduous journey during which the colonial power had played an
obstructive rather than a facilitating role. Even a conservative politician
such as Seaga recalled ‘the raising of the Jamaican flag in slow tempo to
the resounding crescendo of the Jamaican anthem was the emotional
highlight of my life.’191

Trinidadian politicians were determined to keep pace with their
Jamaican counterparts. From Williams’s perspective, the British had
already frustrated a first attempt to obtain independence on 22 April
1960 and ‘we had had enough experience in four years of what was
meant by just waiting on the British to make decisions for the West
Indies.’192 The requirement to hustle the British forward and his own
concerns about the divisiveness of the 1961 elections caused Williams
to adopt a relatively flexible position, even if he did not always adopt a
lenitive tone, during the talks which took place in early 1962. When ask-
ing the Attorney-General, Ellis Clarke, to draft a constitution he urged:
‘I want that Constitution. I want it right away. I want it yesterday.’193
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However, he did amend Clarke’s draft as a consequence of public con-
sultations. During the independence conference which commenced
on 29 May he initially resisted further changes proposed by the DLP
but, when faced with a potential breakdown, Williams compromised.
Maudling recalled that the negotiations were exceptionally difficult.
He was alarmed that, in the absence of any agreement, there was ‘the
real danger of major racial tensions.’194 However, after days of immo-
bility Williams made a deal with Capildeo which met some of the key
demands of the DLP, including additional guarantees of judicial inde-
pendence and safeguards against electoral malpractice.195 Even after the
conference Trinidad’s future relationship with Britain and with the small
islands, particularly Grenada, was still not definitively resolved. Discus-
sions with the Chief Minister, Herbert Blaize, about the possibility of
Grenada forming part of a unitary state with Trinidad continued into
the post-colonial era but eventually proved abortive.196 Williams effec-
tively abandoned attempts to gain substantial financial assistance from
Britain but obtained assurances of continued representation during dis-
cussions of British plans to enter the Common Market. Progress was so
smooth in the weeks following the London conference that Williams
remarked to the latest Conservative Colonial Secretary, Duncan Sandys,
on 11 July, ‘that people were wondering whether Trinidad might get
more attention by being more difficult.’197 Most British policymakers
regarded Williams in quite the opposite light: he was seen as compli-
cated, prickly and persistent, but in ideological terms he was recognised
to be conservative and pragmatic. It was difficult for the old impe-
rial power to fault the values which Williams espoused in a speech
to an Independence Youth Rally on 30 August 1962, the day before
Trinidad gained its independence. He told his audience that as the first
post-independence generation they must regard ‘Discipline, Production,
Tolerance’ as their watchwords.198 This ascetic, utilitarian agenda was a
somewhat forbidding start to the new era in Trinidadian history but
offered reassurance to British policymakers who were still listening out
for sounds of disharmony.

Conclusion

Personal animosities played their part in the decline and fall of the
federation. Although the British enjoyed anatomising the complicated
rivalries between Adams, Manley and Williams and found the first to
be a useful scapegoat, the contretemps between Beetham and Hailes
demonstrated that metropolitan policymakers could be as quarrelsome
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as their Caribbean counterparts. As Hailes pointed out, his dispute
with Beetham inflamed the extremely sensitive relations between the
Trinidadian and Federal governments. But it was the ill feeling between
the British and the West Indian parties which was of greatest significance
in bringing about the demise of the federation and was symptomatic of
wider conflicts of view. The most important of these was the nation-
alist belief that economic vulnerability and the exigencies of the Cold
War would constrain the liberty they hoped to acquire at independence.
On the question of Chaguaramas and the other American bases, the
British were willing to tolerate Eric Williams’s outspokenness and were
not persuaded by Washington’s caricature of the Trinidadian leader as
a dangerous, anti-American demagogue. Although his barbs could be
discomfiting, Williams was a familiar cultural figure for the British and
was explicitly committed to regional integration and the propagation of
Western economic and political models in the Anglophone Caribbean.
The British were inclined to endure criticisms from Caribbean leaders
as long as they did not appear to impinge on wider British interests.
However, the comprehensive failure of the federal leaders to extract con-
cessions on the linked issues of immigration and aid demonstrated that
the ostensible British commitment to Caribbean integration had its lim-
its. On the one hand, the British were concerned that, in the wake of
the voyage of Caribbean migrants on the Empire Windrush, disorderli-
ness would travel across the Atlantic with the new arrivals; on the other,
they regarded the federation, and in particular a federation dominated
by Jamaica and Manley, as a guarantor of regional order. Partly because
they overestimated Manley’s power to influence Jamaican and federal
opinion, and partly because of Treasury frugality, they offered insuffi-
cient support to prevent the collapse of the federation. This contributed
to the process of chaotic decolonisation in the Caribbean which they
had hoped to avoid. For years British policymakers had been denigrat-
ing the capacities of the leaders of the small islands and British Guiana,
but with the declaration of independence for Jamaica and Trinidad,
they now had no alternative other than to devise new strategies for the
remnants of empire in the Anglophone Caribbean left behind after the
painful demise of the federation.



5
Order and Disorder between
Dependence and Independence
1962–1969

As the imperial tide ebbed, the remnants of empire acquired greater
prominence in British politics simply because the territories in the
Anglophone Caribbean were one of the handful of items left on the
colonial agenda. After Trinidad and Jamaica became independent events
in the region began to receive more attention at the highest levels of the
British government. The introduction of proportional representation
in British Guiana, the establishment of an Eastern Caribbean federa-
tion, the financial scandals on Grenada and the existence of a separatist
movement on the tiny island of Anguilla were all subjects of discus-
sion, and of varying degrees of controversy, amongst Cabinet ministers
during the 1960s. Although many of the preconceptions regarding the
region, including assumptions about West Indian profligacy and cap-
tiousness, were held in common by British elites, divisions did emerge
between activists and fatalists. The latter group were conscious of the
constant misfiring which had accompanied British policymaking in the
region and contended that its leaders ought to be allowed to make
their own mistakes rather than have miscalculations forced on them
by Whitehall. The activists believed that the moment before decoloni-
sation was completed should be the period of maximum metropolitan
vigilance and that the process ought to be directed by the colonial
power up to its completion. These differences were evident in the argu-
ments between Denis Healey and Michael Stewart in the case of the
British intervention in Anguilla, but had even greater salience during
the two years of Conservative government between 1962 and 1964
when the imperial minded activist Duncan Sandys replaced the fatal-
istic Reginald Maudling, as Colonial Secretary. Sandys promoted the
notion of an Eastern Caribbean federation which, if it met British con-
stitutional requirements, was expected to be an effective prophylactic
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against further instability on the Leewards and Windwards and sought
to shield British Guiana from Moscow’s overshadowing influence by
covertly manipulating Guianese politics. Such activities vindicated the
apprehensions of many nationalist politicians in the region, who were
alert to the possibility that the terms set by the British for a final political
separation could constrain their future as independent countries. Both
Errol Barrow, who eventually abandoned the Eastern Caribbean federa-
tion in order to seek unilateral independence for Barbados, and Cheddi
Jagan, who was the most prominent victim of the activist policy, looked
back on the period as one of struggle to obtain true autonomy. What-
ever the merits of their arguments, the conflict between metropolitan
and peripheral actors remained a prominent feature of the last years of
the British Empire.

Decolonisation deferred in British Guiana

Gloomy apprehensions about plans for a smooth transition to inde-
pendence being unsettled by Cold War machinations were fulfilled in
British Guiana. What was surprising and alarming for British policy-
makers was that the corrupting influence emanated from Washington
rather than from Moscow. In contrast to the half-hearted efforts of
the communist-dominated WFTU to organise leftist resistance to the
British across their Caribbean empire between 1952 and 1954, the
American trade union movement in the early 1960s, represented by the
American Federation of Labour and the Congress of Industrial Organi-
zations (AFL–CIO), organised a sustained and successful campaign of
subversion inside British Guiana with the connivance of the Kennedy
administration. In 1963 they sponsored a devastating general strike
which sealed tight the racial divisions which had been festering since
the multi-racial People’s Progressive Party (PPP) had split eight years
earlier. Many Colonial Office bureaucrats, British trade unionists and
even ministers were initially aghast at American presumption but a fac-
tion of the Conservative Party, represented in the Cabinet by Sandys,
sought to exploit American Cold War prejudices in order to pursue their
own campaign against Cheddi Jagan. Although there is now a mature
historiography dealing with this episode, the overwhelming focus on
the motives of the Kennedy administration has tended to overshadow
the contentious debate about the future of British Guiana within the
British government.1 The initial resistance in London to interference
from Washington has been recognised but the role of Sandys’ later
independent initiatives, which included the deliberate sabotaging of
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the 1963 constitutional conference, the imposition of a new electoral
system and the fostering of sectarian divisions within Guiana, all require
further illumination.

The campaign against Jagan can be divided into three phases, each
of which was marked by Anglo-American tensions. The first began
with Jagan’s re-election in August 1961 and was characterised by esca-
lating dissatisfaction in the Kennedy administration with the PPP
government’s conduct; it climaxed in February 1962 when fires broke
out across Georgetown during the course of CIA-sponsored protests
against budgetary measures designed to raise revenue from the coun-
try’s small middle class. In this period the British tolerated American
intrusions but rebuffed proposals to unseat Jagan who, they insisted,
was a more credible partner in the decolonisation process than the
Kennedy administration’s protégé, Forbes Burnham. The second phase
began with British capitulation to Washington’s demands: in Septem-
ber 1962 Macmillan accepted Kennedy’s scheme to destabilise the PPP
government by cultivating divisions amongst its leaders and support-
ing opposition parties. Despite the change in policy, British officials still
resented the presumption of American agents operating in Guiana and,
when the British refused to utilise the strikes of 1963 as a pretext to
eject Jagan and restore direct rule, the Kennedy government accused
the British of complacency. A new agreement in September 1963 ush-
ered in a third phase which, in some respects, was characterised by a
greater emphasis on British subterfuge than more direct American meth-
ods, as Sandys contrived a pseudo-constitutional strategy designed to
defeat Jagan through the manipulation of the electoral system. Dur-
ing this period the Americans remained impatient to replace Jagan with
Burnham but, whereas at the outset the British had doubted the pru-
dence of such a policy, in this third phase the main disagreements
concerned the tactics to be adopted to achieve this outcome.

The initial willingness of the British to defend Jagan from his critics
inside the Kennedy administration stemmed from their own disap-
pointment and frustration with Burnham. His later reputation has been
tarnished by retrospective knowledge of the repressive policies Burnham
pursued as Prime Minister of an independent Guyana after 1966. Years
of election rigging, the suppression of opposition movements and the
corruption of the nation’s finances, all appeared to demonstrate the pre-
science of an alarmist pamphlet, Beware My Brother Forbes, written by
his sister, Jessie Burnham. Published as an item of PPP propaganda in
1964, it warned: ‘His motto is the personal ends of power justify ANY
means used to achieve them. His bible is The Prince by Machiavelli. And
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should he come to power we will be only pawns in his endless game
of self-advancement.’2 He was the clever son of Barbadian migrants to
Guiana who won a scholarship to study in London where he gained
a political education through his participation in the West Indian Stu-
dents’ Union. In 1953 Burnham was identified as the nearest equivalent
to a Guianese Manley, capable of constructing an alliance between the
middle classes and the workers which would steer the country to a safe,
non-Marxist future. His pragmatism on economic issues was all the more
pronounced in contradistinction to radicals like Janet Jagan and Sydney
King. As Colin Palmer has noted, when his faction split from the PPP
it appeared that the cause was political philosophy, rather than race:
‘Burnham attracted the more ideologically conservative members of the
PPP, a group consisting of both Indians and Africans. Jagan had the sup-
port of those who were identified as Marxists.’3 Over time it became
more difficult to discriminate in this way: in terms of mass support,
it was evident at the 1957 elections that Burnham was reliant on the
African-Guianese population of Georgetown. In the following decade
he became more unscrupulous in cultivating this group in order to harry
Jagan’s PPP government. During the London constitutional conference
in March 1960 the Colonial Office concluded that Jagan was the more
sincere and Burnham the more duplicitous of the two dominant figures
in Guianese politics.4 This judgement was confirmed when the Gov-
ernor, Ralph Grey, blamed Burnham rather than Jagan for the racial
tensions which accompanied the elections of 1961.5

American policy plotted a reverse course to that of the British as they
became increasingly enamoured of Burnham and ever more vitupera-
tive in their denunciations of Jagan. The State Department had been
relatively inattentive to the events of 1953 but the thought of Jagan’s
return to power as a consequence of the 1957 elections prompted them
to question whether the British were taking their Cold War duties in the
region seriously. In July 1957, Grey’s predecessor as Governor, Patrick
Renison, attempted to reassure the State Department that most mem-
bers of the PPP ‘are not communists and do not have any understanding
of communism.’ He was confident that Cheddi Jagan could be either
‘tamed’ or, if necessary, in the last resort, ‘hung’. American diplomats
were unconvinced and, once Jagan had won the election, the Deputy
Under-Secretary of State, Robert Murphy, told the British Ambassador to
Washington, Harold Caccia, that ‘certain Communists would build up
Jagan and use British Guiana as a base for penetration of other areas.’
From the American perspective an opportunity to bolster Burnham’s
position was missed when a number of PPP members resigned from the
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government in 1959. At this point the American Consul-General com-
plained that the Colonial Office were sustaining the Jagan government
and ‘will go to considerable lengths to avoid making a martyr of him.’6

The Secretary of State in the new Kennedy administration, Dean Rusk,
again raised American concerns about British Guiana in a meeting with
the British Foreign Secretary, Alec Douglas-Home, in May 1961. Home
insisted that there was no better alternative to Jagan, other than the
incorporation of British Guiana into the West Indies federation.7 Even
at this late stage federalism was still seen as the most effective container
for Caribbean radicalism. Grey believed ‘that British Guiana will have a
pretty sad future if it does not join the Federation’. However, he was dis-
creet in promoting the idea on the assumption that any overt attempt
at persuasion would be interpreted as colonial meddling and generate
an adverse local reaction.8 In the aftermath of the Jamaican referendum,
the always distant likelihood of Guianese accession became entirely fan-
ciful and the British were forced by American pressure to reconsider the
policy of domesticating Jagan which they had pursued since the PPP
election victory of 1957.

The period between Jagan’s third electoral triumph in August 1961
and the February 1962 budget witnessed American policy shift from a
position of critical dissent from British policy to one of active determi-
nation to remove the PPP from power and replace them with a People’s
National Congress (PNC)-dominated government led by Burnham. Just
before the polls opened, after learning of Colonial Office predictions
that Jagan’s PPP would win an overall majority with between 20 and
22 seats, Rusk wrote to Home explaining that, given the precedent
established by Castro, they were unwilling to tolerate Jagan any longer.
Another electoral victory for his party, Rusk warned ‘would cause us
acute embarrassments with inevitable irritations to Anglo-American
relations.’ For a brief period, immediately after Jagan’s re-election the
administration seemed willing to consider sympathetically the reas-
surances offered by the Parliamentary Under-Secretary at the Colonial
Office, Hugh Fraser, in London and Grey in Georgetown and ‘to accept
as a working premise the British thesis that we should try to “educate”
Cheddi Jagan.’9 Between 11 and 16 September 1961 a State Department
delegation attended talks in London which produced an odd compro-
mise. On the one hand, the two parties agreed to ‘a wholehearted across
the board effort to cooperate with the newly elected administration
headed by Jagan’; on the other, a secret programme was initiated to
isolate the Guianese left and cultivate politicians who could form an
‘alternative leadership’, should the policy of collaboration with Jagan
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fail. In a letter to Macmillan, the Colonial Secretary, Macleod, portrayed
this as ‘a big advance’ in American thinking on British Guiana but was
obliged to record that ‘its positive elements of friendliness and economic
aid will only be implemented subject to our acceptance of their covert
programme.’10 Although much of the official record has been released
only with redactions, the contents of Macleod’s letter, which essentially
recommended acquiescence to American demands, and the subsequent
course of events indicate that the Macmillan government reluctantly
authorised the commencement of CIA subterfuge in British Guiana at
this point.

The most striking indication that the American government was will-
ing to reassess its policy towards the PPP in return for a greater influence
over political developments inside British Guiana was Kennedy’s offer
to meet Jagan in October. Jagan was one of the most ambitious of the
Caribbean leaders in his vision of what a post-colonial society could
achieve and hoped that the Americans would offer economic assis-
tance which, in the absence of local capital, was essential in order
to improve the country’s infrastructure and diversify production. The
Washington visit proved disillusioning for both parties: the slight tilt
in American perceptions towards a more generous view of Jagan was
reversed and the prospects of a major American aid programme for
Guiana receded into the unforeseeable future. Officials at the British
embassy in Washington had such low expectations of the encounter
that they were able to declare that the outcome was ‘as good as we or
Jagan had reason to hope for.’ However, they also admitted that Jagan
was ‘deeply suspicious of US sincerity believing he was once more get-
ting the run around’ and that the visit had ended with the Guianese
leader telling American officials what he thought of the miserly poli-
cies of the administration.11 It was the disobliging remarks which Jagan
made about the Cold War during a sensationalist edition of Meet the
Press which appear to have been a turning point in American atti-
tudes. When Kennedy saw the broadcast, during which Jagan appeared
to defend international communism, he immediately ‘got upset about
it’ according to Under Secretary of State, George Ball. On 20 October,
in a telephone conversation with Ball about Jagan, Kennedy recom-
mended ‘we ought to go cold with him’.12 At their meeting four days
later Kennedy was forced to defend his country’s foreign policy record
against Jagan’s accusations that the United States persistently meddled
in the affairs of the independent states of Latin America.13 On Jagan’s
own account he went as far as to accuse Kennedy of overthrowing the
short-lived Janio Quadros government in Brazil and of constraining the
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actions of his successor, Joao Goulart.14 After the meeting, the Deputy
Assistant Secretary of State for Inter-American Affairs, Richard Goodwin,
who had been in attendance, concluded ‘there is a good chance that this
fellow is a communist’ and suggested that ‘we can drag our feet as much
as we want on actual implementation’ of any economic aid programme.
The overt foot-dragging of his American interlocutors disabused Jagan
of any inclination he had ever possessed to accept reassurances about
Washington’s goodwill. He returned to Georgetown disheartened and
embittered or as Ball succinctly put it, ‘a very unhappy man’.15

Jagan’s pessimism was justified by the extent of resistance inside
and outside the country to his efforts to alleviate British Guiana’s eco-
nomic dependency. The finances of the country were wholly reliant on
the overseas markets for bauxite and sugar, which generated employ-
ment in mines and on plantations but did not produce sufficient
revenue for investment in policies to relieve the chronic problems of
urban joblessness. Whereas Adams in Barbados and Manley in Jamaica
were able to attract international capital in order to address similar
problems, the Cold War hostility which was a product of Jagan’s com-
mitment to Marxism deterred overseas investors and necessitated new
measures to increase government income. He turned to the Cambridge
economist Nicholas Kaldor for assistance and on 31 January 1962 the
PPP government introduced a budget which reflected Kaldor’s advice.16

The political orientation of the budget speech reflected the priority
which the nationalists gave to autonomy and stated that ‘foreign aid
is no substitute for self determination either economic or political.’
The financial details included the introduction of a capital gains tax,
new property taxes and a tax on gifts, as well as compulsory savings
measures to prevent the outflow of capital.17 Essentially, the Jagan gov-
ernment was turning to the country’s small European-Guianese and
African-Guianese middle class as a source of revenue to rectify the
absence of external economic assistance or capital investment. There
was an immediate political backlash from these groups and growing
tensions in Georgetown culminated in an outbreak of mob violence
on 14 February. Grey, who had opposed the budgetary measures from
the outset, initially argued that Jagan should resign in order to forestall
the deployment of troops but, when a series of arson attacks two days
later threatened the destruction of the city, he relented and instructed
the Royal Hampshire regiment to defend key facilities.18 The distur-
bances illustrated the fanaticism of Jagan’s local opponents and raised
suspicions inside Guiana of CIA complicity. In the evidence it pre-
pared for the international Commission of Enquiry which investigated
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the disturbances, the PPP identified poverty, low wages and external
manipulation as causal factors. Jagan argued that the withholding of
American aid was part of a strategy designed to undermine the sta-
bility of his administration. PPP documents testified that ‘interference
of foreign interests in the internal politics of the country strengthened
the opposition to the Government and encouraged the use of violence
by groups which had planned to overthrow the democratically elected
Government by force.’19 Grey insisted that this draft submission be
sanitised for international consumption and the passages referring to
American-sponsored anti-PPP propaganda were removed.20 Confirma-
tion of CIA culpability was eventually provided by a New York Times
investigation in 1994. William Howard McCabe, operating under the
auspices of the AFL–CIO, was identified as an influential actor in direct-
ing and funding opposition activities. Stephen Rabe, who has offered
the most detailed account of these events, concluded: ‘the Kennedy
administration would need the skills of a legendary lawyer like Clarence
Darrow or F. Lee Bailey to explain away in a court of law the evidence
that the Kennedy administration encouraged and financed the attacks
on the Jagan government.’21

Alongside its covert campaign of destabilisation, the Kennedy admin-
istration made a diplomatic intervention to delay decolonisation. The
President was irritated by the British decision to deploy troops because,
as the State Department explained to the American Ambassador in
London, ‘it had effect of shoring up tottering Jagan regime.’22 His atten-
tion now turned to London’s willingness to expedite Guianese inde-
pendence. Partly because they underestimated the deleterious impact
of Jagan’s Washington visit, British policymakers were still planning to
hand over power to the PPP government later in 1962. At a meeting
of the Colonial Policy Committee on 20 December 1961, Macleod’s
successor, Maudling, secured ministerial approval for an acceleration
in constitutional advance with a view to meeting Jagan’s proposal to
obtain independence in May 1962. At this stage, British ministers pro-
posed taking a robust line with Washington and argued that accelerating
decolonisation by six months would not make a great deal of difference
and that ‘even if during that period the Americans’ worst fears were
substantiated, it would in any case not be within our power to hold
British Guiana down by force.’23 After the incendiarism of February 1962
this was precisely what the British were required to do for four years.
Although the arsonists in Georgetown failed to topple the Guianese gov-
ernment, Jagan’s opponents in Washington remained eager to disabuse
the British of the notion that this would be the end of the matter. Rusk
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wrote to Home on 20 February to say ‘it is not possible for us to put
up with an independent British Guiana under Jagan’ and instructed the
British to organise new elections and to ensure a PPP defeat. Macmillan
would eventually endorse exactly such a policy but at this stage he
was shocked that Washington should order his government to switch
to a strategy of ‘pure Machiavellianism’. Home responded by criticis-
ing American policy as being a ‘prime mover’ behind the telescoping of
the decolonisation process elsewhere and by suggesting that their anti-
colonial prejudices had provided opportunities for communists around
the world. It was, on Home’s account, not possible to make a sudden
exception for British Guiana because ‘we cannot now go back on course
we have set ourselves of bringing these dependent territories to self-
government.’24 The British government was cognisant of the American
government’s sponsorship of the Georgetown disturbances. They had
licensed a CIA role in the country in September 1961 but only on con-
dition that the Kennedy administration sought a rapprochement with
Jagan. From the British perspective, only their half of the deal had been
realised. In the aftermath of the disturbances one Colonial Office official
noted that Washington had done nothing to help Jagan since Septem-
ber and that ‘the Americans bear a load of responsibility for what has
happened in British Guiana.’25 Four years later Fraser recalled that the
Macmillan government ‘was finding the CIA was sort of trying to stir
things up a bit . . . they wanted to see Jagan was discredited . . . it may
have been that they wanted just to keep us with British rule there
permanently.’26

British Guiana was becoming a conspicuous irritant in Anglo-
American relations and during the next few months, it was discussed
during Schlesinger’s visit to London, Home and Rusk’s meeting in
Geneva and Fraser’s trip to Washington. The effect of these conver-
sations was a British decision to prolong the process of Guianese
independence. Macleod and Maudling were extremely uncomplimen-
tary about Jagan when they spoke to Kennedy’s Special Assistant, Arthur
Schlesinger, at the end of February; the former dismissed him as an
LSE Marxist and the latter called him an ‘utter fool & bloody bastard.’
In deference to American sensitivities they indicated that independence
could be delayed but, despite their reservations about Jagan, they sug-
gested that Burnham’s PNC was even more ill-prepared to run Guianese
affairs.27 In Geneva in March, Rusk restated the American position that
‘the United States were really terrified of another Cuba on their con-
tinent.’ Home responded by indicating that the British government
preferred to consider the ‘overt possibilities of delay’ rather than to
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license any further covert action.28 During his visit to Washington Fraser
tried to persuade Kennedy that he was exaggerating the importance of
a territory that was ‘really nothing but a mudbank’. He implied that
Burnham and the leader of the United Force (UF), Peter D’Aguiar, were
responsible for racial tension and characterised Jagan as ‘a nice man
surrounded by mildly sinister characters some of whom were worst
kind of anti-colonialist.’29 Despite his contempt for the Guianese oppo-
sition, Fraser effectively conceded to the Americans that immediate
independence was not practicable and that colonial control would con-
tinue until another election could be organised.30 On 3 April 1962
Maudling notified his colleagues that ‘it would be desirable to hold
fresh elections in the Colony before it finally becomes independent.’
This effectively reversed the decision to grant independence, made just
four months earlier, but would, Maudling reported, ‘be welcome to the
Americans.’31

The next problem confronting the Anglo-American partners was that
in any future poll, Jagan would be likely to repeat his triumphs of
1953, 1957 and 1961. To ensure that this did not happen, the Kennedy
administration developed a Political Action Program for British Guiana.
Although numerous redactions to the relevant documents have hin-
dered efforts to establish precisely how Kennedy intended to ensure
Jagan’s defeat, the course of events and the broad strategy which the
administration pursued can be detected. The programme comprised
a series of measures to ensure Burnham’s succession to the Guianese
premiership. As early as May 1962, Ralph Dungan, Kennedy’s Special
Assistant, in response to an urgent appeal on behalf of Burnham by Sen-
ator Thomas Dodd, had offered the authoritative statement that future
policy ‘undoubtedly would have as an element the strengthening of the
Burnham forces’.32 The Political Action Program which was presented
to the British Ambassador, David Ormsby-Gore, in July stated explic-
itly: ‘The President has personally studied the problem and come to
the conclusion that there is no alternative to developing a program
to bring about a suitable coalition and to assure that Jagan does not
win a new election.’ This was to be accomplished through CIA sup-
port for the PNC and the encouragement of new Indian parties who
would attract voters away from the PPP. There was unease amongst
some members of the administration about this course, most notably
from Schlesinger and National Security Advisor, McGeorge Bundy. The
latter was convinced that ‘Jagan will indeed go the way of Castro if
he is not prevented’ but was apprehensive about the proposed plan
because ‘it is unproven that CIA knows how to manipulate an election
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in British Guiana without a backfire.’ Similarly, Schlesinger accepted ‘the
Burnham risk is less than the Jagan risk’ but questioned whether the
CIA operations could be organised in a way which ‘will leave no visible
traces’.33

American relentlessness on the subject of British Guiana effectively
eroded British scruples on a subject where Macmillan decided that there
was nothing very important at stake. The Prime Minister suggested in
May 1962 that it would be beneficial to be ‘cooperative and forthcom-
ing’ in response to American concerns about Guiana.34 His appointment
of Duncan Sandys as Maudling’s successor two months later represented
a concession to the old imperialist school in the Conservative Party.
Sandys’ desire to impart a Churchillian robustness to the defence of
Britain’s global interests extended to aping the wartime Prime Minis-
ter’s tendency to dictate minutes at odd times during the middle of the
night.35 To the even greater dismay of his officials, Sandys evidently
believed that Guiana was a corner of the world where Britain should
flex its imperial muscles by ousting Jagan for a second time. In August
1962, he expressed the fear that Jagan would use the ‘communist lever’
and, in order to prevent this, made the bizarre suggestion that constitu-
tional provision could be made to allow the United States to intervene
in Guiana after the country had obtained independence. More conse-
quential were his proposals to introduce a new electoral system which
would replace traditional constituencies with a system of proportional
representation.36 Now that key members of the British government were
in greater sympathy with American Cold War priorities, in September
1962 the British Ambassador David Ormsby-Gore finally brought forth
Macmillan’s secret answer to the question of what should be done about
Jagan. The contemporary sensitivity, and the subsequent problems for
historians in uncovering the full story, are evident from Bundy’s mes-
sage to Schlesinger that Kennedy wanted there to be no written record
of Macmillan’s response and that its contents should be withheld from
the State Department. What is known is that the President regarded it
as ‘satisfactory’.37 One detailed element of the programme which can be
discerned is the encouragement that was given to potential PPP defec-
tors. It was hoped that if his supporters in the Guianese legislature could
be persuaded to abandon him, Jagan might be removed without the
need for a further election. When Macmillan enquired about the status
of the anti-Jagan programme in March 1963 Sandys reassured him: ‘cer-
tain plans are being considered which might result in the defeat of the
Jagan Government in the British Guiana Legislature. If this occurred, it
would of course alter the whole situation.’38
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The failure to secure enough defections from Jagan’s party to bring
about his downfall necessitated further temporising on the issue of inde-
pendence; Fabian tactics were essential in order to give the Americans
time to fortify the Guianese opposition. The constitutional conference
which had been scheduled for early 1962 was constantly deferred and
when it finally did meet in November 1962 it proved wholly inconclu-
sive. Jagan believed that Guianese independence would be delayed for
as long as Western policymakers reckoned their economic interests were
endangered. After the conference he submitted a critique of Sandys’
policy to Grey which amounted to an attack on the British failure to
apply notions of government by consent to their colonial empire. He
pointed out that recent events in Aden, where the inhabitants of the
town had been forced into a federation with the states of the interior,
and the evidence from recent Guianese history demonstrated that, even
in its last throes, colonialism was anti-democratic. Following a decade
of constitutional stagnation he rejected proposals for proportional rep-
resentation and demanded a constitution as advanced as that of Jamaica
or Trinidad, both of which had just become independent.39 Grey was
infuriated by what he regarded as Jagan’s lack of realism and reported
to the Colonial Office, ‘the trouble with this chap is not that he is
a Communist or Communist sympathiser etc. but that he just is not
cut out to be a Premier or a Minister or anything else of a practical
nature.’40

The air of jaded resignation in Grey’s telegrams was replaced by alarm
once it became evident that the PPP’s attempt to enact a new Labour
Relations Bill was likely to provoke even more turmoil than the budget
controversy of the previous year. Burnham’s supporters in the Guianese
Trades Union Council (TUC) argued that the bill, which was intro-
duced by the Jagan government on 16 April 1963, was designed to
undermine the industrial relations supremacy of the Manpower Citizens
Association (MPCA), whose rivals in the Guiana Agricultural Work-
ers’ Union (GAWU) were affiliated to the PPP. They responded with a
series of stoppages which amounted to what has been described as the
world’s longest general strike.41 The strike was accompanied by escalat-
ing racial violence between African-Guianese supporters of the PNC and
MPCA and Indian-Guianese supporters of the PPP and GAWU. Despite
continuing metropolitan frustration with Jagan, the colonial authorities
in Georgetown were more critical of the inflammatory racial rhetoric
employed by Burnham during the strike. As a consequence Anglo-
American disagreements about the practicalities of removing Jagan
persisted. Sandys initially speculated that the chaos which the strike
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was causing in Georgetown ‘may have weakened Jagan’s support sig-
nificantly’ and could therefore facilitate a new election which the PPP
would lose. Once Grey disabused the Colonial Secretary of this idea by
contrasting the professional competence of the PPP with the disarray
inside the PNC, more radical ideas were aired.42 For a brief moment it
appeared that London would appease Washington by reimposing direct
rule and arresting Jagan. In May Sandys suggested to the Cabinet that
a state of emergency might have to be declared but Grey remained bit-
terly opposed to such a measure ‘until the situation in British Guiana
has grown very much worse.’43 Sandys contented himself with making
provisional plans for the suspension of the constitution, while finalis-
ing arrangements for a new electoral system which would deny Jagan
yet another election victory at some future date.

Whilst Sandys pondered how to bring his new activist strategy to
fruition, the differences between the British and American attitudes to
the strike on the ground in Georgetown became more pronounced. Grey
declared his determination to persist with the plan which had been
agreed after the 1961 election ‘to make the best of Jagan.’44 His toler-
ance of the PPP, at a time when Jagan was attempting to mitigate the
effects of the strike by importing oil and flour from the Soviet Union,
angered American officials who were covertly backing the strikers. The
Consul-General, Melby, warned just before the outbreak of industrial
hostilities, that further delay would only make it more difficult to get
rid of Jagan and by June was in despair that, despite the escalating chaos
in British Guiana, British officials had ‘acted thus far only to prop up
Jagan which [is] neither short term or [sic] long term answer.’45 The
direction and funding of the strike was at least partly in the hands
of the AFL–CIO acting through intermediaries such as McCabe, who
had also played a role in the 1962 budget protests and Gene Meakins
of the American Newspaper Guild.46 By contrast, the British TUC was
enlisted in an attempt to reconcile Jagan’s government and the dissi-
dent Guianese unions. Although the British left had demonstrated its
Cold War credentials and lack of sympathy for the PPP in 1953, the
political nature of the 1963 strike offended the conservative traditions
of British unionism. After initially sympathising with the MPCA, the
British TUC recognised that their Guianese counterparts were engaged
in an attempt to destabilise the government in collaboration with the
Americans and Burnham. Their representative, Walter Hood, began by
espousing fraternal solidarity with the strikers’ cause and in May 1963
solicited an additional £ 1,000 for their relief fund.47 As he saw him-
self increasingly marginalised by American unionists and witnessed
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the extent of the disorder he became more sceptical and complained:
‘I keep on arguing that it is not our job . . . to get rid of the Govern-
ment . . . there are many who look on this now as a Jagan must go
movement . . . there is no doubt in my mind that racism is well on the
surface.’ Robert Willis of the London Typographical Society, who was
despatched by the TUC to mediate, was even more critical of the strikers
and as a consequence secured the enmity of Burnham. He was perturbed
when the Guianese TUC refused to end their action even after Jagan
effectively abandoned the controversial industrial relations legislation.
Having finally secured an agreement, he reported that the Guianese
unions ‘were not so much concerned with settling the strike as with get-
ting rid of Dr Jagan and they were obviously expecting the suspension
of the constitution.’48 When Willis was congratulated by the Conser-
vative Minister of State, Nigel Fisher, for resolving the strike, he went
as far as to recommend additional economic assistance to the PPP gov-
ernment; Fisher responded that this would give an ‘unfair advantage’
to Jagan.49

Back in Washington, the Kennedy administration was dismayed
by British unwillingness to utilise industrial conflict as a pretext to
impose direct rule. The meliorist behaviour of Grey and the British
TUC seemed like a betrayal of the ‘satisfactory’ response offered by
Macmillan in September 1962. Sandys’ criticism of the strike as ‘a polit-
ical action’ in Parliament on 18 June 1963 particularly rankled and
was said to represent ‘the unwillingness of the UK to cope with the
Jagan government.’50 Rusk complained that the British government had
disavowed their promises to ‘take effective action to remove Jagan’
and informed the American embassy in London that the State Depart-
ment would not accept a policy of early independence, ‘leaving the
mess on our doorstep.’ Yet another round of Anglo-American consul-
tations were undertaken which reaffirmed the goal of defeating Jagan.
At Washington’s insistence Guianese affairs were the principal subject
when Kennedy met Macmillan at the end of June. During the discus-
sions Kennedy was emphatic that the PPP would turn Guiana into a
Communist state and urged Macmillan to either impose direct rule or
ensure that Jagan was replaced by a coalition between Burnham’s PNC
and Peter D’Augiar’s UF, which was the party of European-Guianese
business interests. Sandys responded by predicting that, if there was
an early election under the current system, Jagan would win again. He
also adverted to the pseudo-constitutional solution he had mentioned
to Macmillan in March by specifically suggesting that ‘we ought to make
a really effective effort to get the two members of the PPP to cross the
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aisle . . . this meant that we would have to increase the bribe.’51 British
policymakers preferred to suborn members of the Legislative Council as
a means of bringing about Jagan’s downfall, rather than resort direct
rule, which was Washington’s favoured solution. Over the next few
months a new strategy was formulated which combined elements of
American and British tactics. On 19 September 1963 Kennedy outlined
to Macmillan a plan for ‘a series of moves in September or October
[which] would result in the removal of the Jagan government.’ Covert
elements of the programme included American action ‘to steer Forbes
Burnham and Peter D’Aguiar on the right path, creating and launch-
ing an alternative East Indian party, and a real economic development
programme.’ The British were expected to suspend the constitution
and introduce a new electoral system based on proportional represen-
tation. Hilton Poynton, the Permanent Under-Secretary at the Colonial
Office, filled in the remaining details in a subsequent minute: a new
constitutional conference would be held in October which would end
in stalemate; this would provide a pretext for Sandys to scrap the
constituency system which was a measure that they expected to be con-
demned by Jagan; PPP resistance to electoral reform would then present
an opportunity for the British to impose direct rule; and further mea-
sures could then be taken to ensure the PPP was defeated in the next
elections. The only potential danger, which Macmillan alluded to in
his reply to Kennedy, was that Burnham and Jagan might reach a rec-
onciliation despite Anglo-American effort to foster their antipathy. He
admitted that they were reliant on American agents ‘doing whatever
they can to discourage any joint moves either for a coalition or for an
outside enquiry, either of which might upset all our plans.’52

This Machiavellian scheme established the basis for one of the
most extraordinary constitutional conferences in the history of British
decolonisation. When the Guianese political parties met at Lancaster
House on 22 October 1963 their ostensible purpose was to ‘settle the
unresolved constitutional issues’, most notably whether to continue
with the British system of single-member constituencies or implement
proportional representation.53 A compromise seemed necessary in order
to end racial violence and establish the basis for early independence.
However, the covert purpose of the British hosts and arbitrators was to
ensure that the conference would fail. During a discussion with his offi-
cials on 7 October, Sandys stated: ‘It was important to ensure (both at
the conference and in the meantime) that Dr Jagan and Mr Burnham
failed to agree either on the terms of reference or on the composi-
tion of any good offices commission.’ As a guarantee that Burnham
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made no concessions to Jagan the Colonial Office was ordered to ensure
‘that there was someone at the conference to advise Mr Burnham gen-
erally.’ Once the conference was suspended, the British would exploit
the chaotic situation in British Guiana to justify the suspension of the
constitution and the imposition of proportional representation which
would guarantee an electoral defeat for the PPP.54 In the event, it was
only the surprisingly muted reaction of Jagan to these manoeuvres
which robbed the British of the opportunity to remove his government.
The expected pretext never arose because on 25 October, having agreed
on nothing else, Jagan consented to join with Burnham and D’Aguiar
in submitting all the issues in dispute to the Colonial Office. Each party
promised to abide by whatever solution was proposed by Sandys. Jagan’s
capitulation was partly an act of desperation, which he later justified on
the basis that he believed that it was the only possible means of securing
a final British commitment to set a date for independence.55 Brindley
Benn, who was part of the PPP delegation, claimed that Jagan naively
believed reassurances that the Colonial Office would reject proportional
representation as alien to British traditions. Even so, Benn thought, on
the occasion of his submission, Jagan’s demeanour reminded him of
‘when you have a bad school report and you are carrying it to show your
father.’56 From the Anglo-American point of view Jagan’s unexpected
capitulation facilitated the imposition of a new voting system which
would favour a coalition between the PNC and UF but it also made the
resort to direct rule impractical. Although he had unknowingly circum-
vented plans to remove his government, Jagan’s naivety was exposed
by Sandys’ announcement on 31 October that Guiana would adopt
the Israeli electoral model, which was based on strict proportionality,
rather than the mixed German model. Even Burnham later admitted
that he would have accepted the German system and accused the Colo-
nial Office of ‘really rubbing Dr Jagan’s nose in the sand unnecessarily.’
On a separate occasion, Burnham indicated that he partly understood
that Jagan’s reasoning proceeded from a sense of vulnerability: ‘one of
the reasons for Jagan’s signing was that he could not exercise power in
a hostile Georgetown which I controlled.’57

The rigid proportionality of the Israeli system, which effectively trans-
formed the whole country into a single constituency, was important to
Sandys because it ensured greater representation for small parties. The
largest of the smaller parties, the UF, was the most hostile to Jagan’s
regime and was certain to increase its representation under the new
dispensation. Despite an almost complete lack of sympathy between
Burnham and D’Aguiar, their joint opposition to the PPP was regarded
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as sufficient basis for the formation of a post-election coalition. But
Anglo-American plotting went further than this and envisaged the
establishment of new parties who would appeal to Indian-Guianese sup-
porters of the PPP. If such parties could capture a handful of seats they
would guarantee Jagan’s defeat. One idea taken up by the British was
to divide Muslim and Hindu voters and portray the PPP as the party of
the latter; another was to encourage former members of the PPP who
were discontented with Jagan’s leadership to establish parties of their
own. Hints from the archives indicate that elements of this strategy were
being implemented before the London constitutional conference but
most of the evidence proving Anglo-American culpability derives from
a later period. On 19 December 1963 Sandys explained to Rusk that
Jagan’s acquiescence at the London conference had robbed the Colonial
Office of any pretext for suspending the constitution. For the purposes
of ensuring his electoral defeat, it was best that Jagan stay in office
and suffer the economic consequences of a lack of external financial
assistance. In the interim British and American agencies would ensure
‘everything should be done between now and the elections to encourage
the formation of new parties.’ There followed some discussion of poten-
tial leaders. Scepticism was expressed about the capacities of Balram
Singh Rai, who had been expelled from the PPP in 1962 and was men-
tioned by Rusk as a potential alternative to Jagan. Sandys concluded the
meeting by stating ‘everything had to be subordinate to the aim of secur-
ing Dr Jagan’s removal from office through the new elections. To do this
one might have to put up with a number of things which one didn’t
like.’ The kind of ‘things’ envisaged are evident from a short note of a
meeting which Sandys held with his officials on 25 February 1964 which
illustrates British efforts to encourage confessional divisions. Sandys
asked ‘what progress had been made in encouraging alternative parties
to form.’ His officials reported a distinct lack of success but noted that
Hussein Ghanie was planning to establish a sectarian party which would
become the Guianese United Muslim Party (GUMP). Sandys ordered
‘that financial encouragement should be given to Mr Ghanie and no
questions asked.’58

In Georgetown, the new Governor Richard Luyt utilised the consti-
tutional device of last resort, the issuing of Orders in Council by the
British sovereign, to accrue ever greater powers. As a consequence, Jagan
was once more effectively an opposition figure campaigning against the
implementation of proportional representation by the British colonial
authorities. In February 1964 the GAWU launched a strike whose osten-
sible aim was to obtain recognition from the sugar producers but the
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issue of conditions on the estates was submerged under the wider politi-
cal struggle. As Seecharan later commented in his analysis of the action:
‘the recognition issue, by 1964, had become the arena for Jagan’s anti-
PR campaign.’59 Under the influence of the two rival political parties,
the PPP and the PNC, the question of what the most appropriate elec-
toral system was for the country became a pretext for racial violence.
Jagan conducted a last counter-offensive against what he regarded as an
ersatz programme of independence, which would secure constitutional
autonomy but hand control of Guiana over to a Burnham government
that would run the country in the interests of American, Canadian
and British commercial investors. In one of his final meetings with
Grey, who was recalled because of his anger at the way that the covert
American alliance between Burnham and the CIA had stoked racial ten-
sion, Jagan argued that the country was effectively being governed in
the interests of overseas capital. In his first meeting with Luyt he pre-
dicted that any attempt to end the violence through the formation of a
government of national reconciliation between the PPP and PNC would
be vetoed by Washington.60

The situation was not quite as clear-cut as Jagan believed: despite
the implementation by the Anglo-American partners of a medium-term
plan to defeat the PPP government, some British officials were willing to
consider a potential grand coalition between Jagan and Burnham. Hav-
ing long feared that decolonisation in the Anglophone Caribbean would
be accompanied by disorder, the Colonial Office remained uneasy about
the longstanding American policy of cultivating political stalemate
and social unrest. On 25 May 1964, the Indian-Guianese inhabitants
of Wismar, who formed a minority of the population in the vicin-
ity of the bauxite mines at McKenzie, were attacked, apparently by
African-Guianese workers. On 6 July approximately 40 people were
killed when a boat travelling along the Demerara River to Wismar was
blown up. Most of the crew and passengers were African-Guianese.
In the days that followed five Indian-Guianese residents were mur-
dered in McKenzie. At the end of the month the PPP’s headquarters
in Georgetown was bombed.61 Luyt reported: ‘The inter-race hatred and
fear are quite frightful – worse than anything I saw in Africa.’62 The
extent of the violence provided a justification for further restraints on
the PPP government. On 13 June Luyt assumed new emergency pow-
ers and arrested the Deputy Prime Minister, Brindley Benn. However,
these incidents also caused the British to reconsider their opposition
to the formation of a coalition government prior to the election. Luyt
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hoped that power sharing by the two main parties might attenuate
racial tension but the idea caused mystification in Washington and the
Johnson administration opposed it. After initially showing some enthu-
siasm for the proposal, in July Burnham made clear that the PNC would
not join any coalition with the PPP. Poynton recorded Colonial Office
suspicions ‘that Burnham was put up to this by the Americans though,
of course, we cannot prove it.’63

In terms of domestic British politics Conservatives such as Edward
Gardner shared the American view ‘that to grant independence to a
Communist Government was sheer madness.’64 He told the Commons
that it was a ‘beneficial fact’ that the PNC was almost certain to come
to power under the new electoral system. The last hope for the PPP was
that the Labour Party would reverse Sandys’ policy after their expected
victory in the imminent British election of 1964. The traditional lack
of sympathy for the PPP in British labour circles manifested itself once
more in the form of rows within the NEC about whether to oppose pro-
posals for proportional representation.65 As Conservative opinion rallied
behind Sandys’ activist policies, some Labour MPs cast aside doubts
about Jagan, in order to attack the Conservative government’s policy.
On 27 April 1964 Arthur Bottomley proposed a motion to the Com-
mons opposing the submission of the new electoral system for royal
assent. He noted that the only Commonwealth countries with a sys-
tem of proportional representation were Malta and Australia and neither
of them had the inflexible Israeli version imposed by Sandys.66 How-
ever, the Labour Party’s show of solidarity with the PPP was perfunctory.
Even though Jennie Lee and Fenner Brockway offered support for his
motion, Bottomley withdrew it without forcing a division.67 Janet Jagan
was pleased at the evidence of some resistance from the Opposition
and concluded that a Labour government would rather ‘get a proper
solution for our country than tamely follow the Conservatives.’68 Her
confidence proved entirely misplaced. Christopher Mayhew informed
the State Department that there was a conflict between Bottomley’s criti-
cal group and the shadow Foreign Secretary, Patrick Gordon Walker, who
‘would be inclined to implement current British policy’. Gordon Walker
offered his own assurance that any future Labour government would
go no further than considering alternative, less crude versions of pro-
portional representation. He doubted Jagan was the menace which the
American administration imagined him to be, but indicated that Labour
would not object ‘if a way could be found for the US to put its troops into
BG.’69 Given the tepid support for Jagan offered even by the Bottomley



200 Ordering Independence

group and the tenacious Atlanticism of Gordon Walker, it was pre-
dictable that the Labour government would not abjure Anglo-American
plans to ensure the electoral defeat of the PPP. Wilson met Jagan on
29 October, two weeks after Labour’s victory at the polls, and explained
that, although they might have made some changes had they come
to power in June, ‘it was now too late and HMG saw no alternative
but to let the elections go forward.’ Faced with Jagan’s predictions that
Burnham would establish a right-wing dictatorship, Wilson attempted
to offer assurances that Labour would not offer independence to any
government which did not have broad support from both Indian- and
African-Guianese.70

Any hopes that the new Labour government might revive the idea
of a PNC–PPP coalition after the Guianese elections in December were
unrealistic: the whole of Anglo-American planning was predicated on
the notion of a post-election PNC–UF coalition and Washington had no
intention of allowing backsliding. During preparations for his impend-
ing first visit to Washington, Wilson initially expressed the view that
a Jagan-Burnham coalition ‘was the prerequisite for stability in British
Guiana.’71 He was soon disabused of the idea that the American admin-
istration would tolerate the idea of bringing Jagan back into government
when three years of planning to get him out were about to be consum-
mated. In briefing Johnson for his meeting with Wilson the day before
the Guianese elections, George Ball, who had observed the evolution
of policy since the first days of the Kennedy administration, noted that
they offered ‘the prospect of replacing the Jagan government with a
non-communist coalition government with which we can cooperate.’
He recommended that Wilson should be told that the US would refuse
to offer economic assistance if Jagan had any place in the next gov-
ernment. Neither Wilson nor Johnson appears to have been eager to
discuss potential differences over Guiana at their first meeting and their
advisers exchanged well-established views: the British again stressed that
the Americans had too favourable an opinion of Burnham and the
Americans reiterated their fears of a communist Guiana.72 Had Jagan
achieved an electoral miracle, a crisis would have ensued which might
have required the attention of Johnson and Wilson but, although he
did come perilously close to winning an outright majority with over
45% of the vote, the PNC and the UF won a sufficient number of seats
to form a coalition government. One notable aspect of the results was
that Sandys’ diligent cultivation of new parties proved fruitless: the Jus-
tice Party and the GUMP did not dent support for Jagan and the PPP
amongst Indian-Guianese voters.73
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The inability of the PPP to secure more than 50% of the vote in the
Guianese elections of December 1964 signalled the end of the most
ambitious attempt undertaken by a Caribbean leader to challenge the
concept of independence propagated by the British. While Williams and
Manley quarrelled with London on constitutional issues, their economic
and social programmes were approved by the metropolitan authori-
ties. Trade union leaders, such as Bustamante in Jamaica and Butler in
Trinidad, aroused British distaste for the demotic character of Caribbean
politics but their ideological position was essentially conservative and
never went beyond demands for incremental improvements in work-
ers’ conditions. Jagan, by contrast, sought to mobilise urban and rural
workers behind a programme which challenged the control of the econ-
omy by overseas business, including American and Canadian bauxite
companies and British sugar interests. The shock to British sensibilities
administered by the propagation of such a programme led to Jagan’s
dismissal in 1953. By 1961 there was some confidence in the Colonial
Office that the PPP had been domesticated but once it became evident
that Washington was prepared to cause chaos inside the country rather
than witness a transfer of power to Jagan, the British were forced to
reassess their view of Forbes Burnham. The improvement in Jagan’s rep-
utation amongst metropolitan policymakers had been mirrored by a
decline in Burnham’s but the decision to overthrow the PPP govern-
ment required some rehabilitation in the image of the PNC leader. After
the 1964 election Wilson’s government tried to persuade themselves and
the international community that Burnham would be a moderate and
competent leader of an independent Guyana.

One aspect of this rehabilitation was to further denigrate Jagan and
his liberationist ideas and contrast them with Burnham’s supposed prag-
matism. This approach was facilitated by Jagan’s bitterness at what he
interpreted as yet another betrayal which led him to adopt a policy of
unyielding non-cooperation either with Burnham or the new Colonial
Secretary, Anthony Greenwood. After the election, PPP leaders seemed
resigned to defeat and Luyt was now able to dismiss Jagan as being
‘just like another scrawny little Indian’.74 Although more moderate in
his language, Greenwood complained that Jagan ‘constantly harps on
the past and on the injustice which he feels himself to have been
subject.’ In tactical terms, this oppositionism proved advantageous for
Burnham. After meeting the local leaders during his trip to the country
in March 1965, Greenwood recommended a constitutional conference
to arrange the terms of Guianese independence before the end of the
year. This harmonised with the views of Luyt who suggested: ‘It may
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be that the time has come not to link internal peace and indepen-
dence as closely as we have perhaps done in earlier thinking.’75 Even
if this principle was to be abandoned in practice, it was still necessary
to accommodate Wilson’s previous assurances that Guianese indepen-
dence would not be granted before progress was made in reconciling
the country’s racial groups. The tangible element of the British solu-
tion was an investigation by the International Commission of Jurists
(ICJ), whilst the intangible element consisted of a new interpretation
of Burnham’s political character which emphasised previously unno-
ticed elements of discretion. There was some conflict between these two
aspects of British strategy. The notion of an ICJ mission to the region
was introduced by the Colonial Office to pacify critics in Whitehall and
Westminster who resisted Luyt’s effort to abandon the linkage between
order and independence and wanted Burnham’s government to serve a
longer apprenticeship under colonial supervision. At the OPD meeting
which approved the accelerated programme of independence, Wilson
insisted that an ICJ report should be a precondition for a Guianese inde-
pendence conference.76 Burnham was eager to expedite the process of
decolonisation and interpreted the proposed ICJ investigation as evi-
dence of British prevarication. On 1 June 1965 he told Luyt that the
question of the racial imbalance in the police force and other pub-
lic services was ‘an unjustifiable red herring’ which the Labour Party
had devised to appease its internal critics. He threatened to resign if
preparations for an ICJ investigation caused the putative independence
conference to be delayed beyond the end of 1965. On the same day,
Wilson told the Commons that his government would hold a confer-
ence ‘as early as practicable’ and that he would be disappointed if it did
not occur before the start of 1966.77 This pacified Burnham in the short
term and although further squabbling ensued over the precise date, the
UF and PNC delegates finally met in London on 2 November 1965.
The PPP boycott of the meeting ensured that it was a relatively tem-
perate affair. Burnham agreed to implement the proposals of the ICJ
report, which recommended measures to ensure a more balanced repre-
sentation of Indian- and African-Guianese in public life, in return for a
guarantee of independence in 1966.78

Despite Burnham’s combative approach during the final constitu-
tional negotiations, British and American policymakers felt obligated
to express greater optimism about his capacities once independence
became imminent. On his visit to Washington in October 1965
Greenwood told a receptive audience of State Department officials that
‘he thought Burnham had done very well during the last year all things
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considered. He hoped that once the United Kingdom could no longer be
used as a whipping boy the Africans and Indians would see the necessity
of working together’.79 Burnham’s position was further strengthened by
additional economic assistance from the US which had been denied
to Jagan. The American Consul in Georgetown declared: ‘The United
States has probably been the greatest single factor in making Burnham
successful . . . continued US influence and manipulation will be required,
although it will probably have to be even more skilful once the Burnham
administration is sovereign.’80 For British policymakers, Guyanese inde-
pendence on 26 May 1966 marked the end of a decolonisation episode
which had caused greater angst than any other in the Anglophone
Caribbean. They remained uncertain about the outcome of their machi-
nations. The Joint Intelligence Committee (JIC) provided a mixed view
of the likely future of the country, as exemplified by their suggestion
that Burnham was ‘determined to remain in power at all costs but he will
try to do so by constitutional means.’ The continuation of a British mil-
itary presence was described as ‘a stabilising influence’. In retrospect the
least prescient aspect of the report was its assertion that Burnham was an
‘anti-Communist’ who would ensure that Guiana would ‘lean towards
the West.’ The only caveat which was entered alongside this judgement
related back to Grey’s old reports about Burnham’s racial sensitivities;
the JIC considered that he was ‘essentially a nationalist and to some
extent anti-white and so is likely to resist United States domination.’81

In the first decade of independence Burnham would resist American
domination to the extent of declaring Guyana a Cooperative Republic,
nationalising those industries previously under the control of over-
seas capital and establishing a friendly relationship with Castro. It was
Burnham rather than Jagan who declared: ‘I personally think we have
a lot of things to learn from Cuba, especially how she has organised
her educational system and work and study.’82 For the Guyanese, the
24 years of PNC government after the United Force was ejected from
the coalition in 1968 were marked by continuing racial antagonisms as
well as authoritarianism and cronyism. In retrospect it is clear that the
British assessment of 1961 that Jagan would prove a better partner in
the post-independence period than Burnham was almost certainly cor-
rect. The revision of policy undertaken by Sandys and Macmillan and
then implemented by Wilson and Greenwood was a failure in its own
terms of keeping communism out of South America; and the manipula-
tion of electoral politics and the stimulus given to racial grievances by
American and British policymakers mark Guiana out as an exceptional
case in the history of the end of Britain’s Caribbean empire. The natural
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proclivity for an orderly transfer of power fell prey to the dictates of the
Cold War and, despite the feigned optimism of 1966, under Burnham’s
leadership Guyana became a troubled post-colonial state.

The Eastern Caribbean federation and Barbadian
independence

By the time the saga of Caribbean federalism finally ended, the young
politicians who had attended the Kingston and Montego Bay confer-
ences in 1947 had become middle-aged, and the middle-aged politicians
had grown old. Although some secondary accounts of events in the
region abandon the narrative at the point in 1962 when Jamaica and
Trinidad obtained independence, discussions of an Eastern Caribbean
federation continued until 1965.83 The tendency to omit any detailed
consideration of the last three years of negotiation is justified on the
grounds that ongoing talks about integration amongst the Eastern
Caribbean islands had very little consequence; that many of the themes
of the period, including most obviously the various rows over the
proposed distribution of power between federal centre and unit govern-
ments, were continuous in a mundane way with what had gone before;
and that the territories involved had much less influence over regional
affairs than the larger islands. Nevertheless, the story is incomplete with-
out an account of the demise of plans for a Federation of the Little
Eight, the Little Seven, without Grenada, or even the Little Six, without
Antigua. Events after 1962 further illuminate aspects of British policy
and, in particular, their obsession with ‘small island syndrome’, the
symptoms of which supposedly included financial recklessness, politi-
cal demagoguery and vulnerability to foreign infections. In addition it is
impossible to understand the manner in which Barbados moved directly
to independence and the small states travelled indirectly to the same
destination via Associated Statehood, without recognising that both
these journeys were undertaken as alternatives to the establishment of
an Eastern Caribbean federation.

The only comprehensive study of the end of empire in the smaller
states of the Eastern Caribbean has argued that the process was best
understood in terms of a transatlantic triangle drawn between the
region, the United States and Britain. On Cox-Alomar’s account the
Lesser Antilles were ‘an uneasy buffer zone between the British and
American empires.’84 As their actions in British Guiana amply illus-
trated, Washington was determined to prevent any repetition of events
in Cuba in the Anglophone Caribbean and expected the British to take
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the necessary prophylactic action. In contrast to the Guianese case, how-
ever, the low-level nudges from Washington regarding potential security
issues in the Leewards or Windwards were supererogatory because offi-
cials in London remained constantly alive to the slightest evidence of
potential instability in those territories which had been regarded as a
source of imperial disorder since the outbreak of labour disturbances
on St Kitts in 1935. Following Jamaican secession in 1961, the Colo-
nial Office pursued a punitive policy against the governments of the
small islands who, they estimated, had been given too much licence
because of the apparent imminence of independence inside a feder-
ation controlled by Jamaica and Trinidad. At the outset of the Little
Eight negotiations in February 1962 British policymakers insisted that
local politicians had only two choices: the continuation and even aug-
mentation of British colonial control or incorporation into a federation
with a strong central government capable of responsible supervision
of the units. In his initial response to the first meeting of the lead-
ers of Barbados, the Leewards and the Windwards, Maudling admitted
that he was taking ‘a pretty strict and austere view on the conditions
which would need to be satisfied especially before a Federation of the
Eight could become independent.’ The numerous criteria which needed
to be met included a general sense of unity and effective administra-
tion but more specifically federal control of economic development and
responsibility for law and order.85

In addition to an institutional framework, the British required a reli-
able collaborator who they thought capable of steering the federation in
the direction of fiscal rectitude and sound administration. The leader of
the Democratic Labour Party (DLP) in Barbados, Errol Barrow, initially
appeared to meet this specification. Barrow assumed the role previously
enacted by Manley: he was portrayed as the resolute and competent
politician against whom the incapacities of the small island politicians
could be measured. Hugh Fraser described him as ‘outstanding among
West Indian politicians. He is both a man of strength and a fixer.’
Local Colonial Office officials, such as the Administrator of Antigua, Ian
Turbott, were also impressed, and assessed him to be ‘head and shoul-
ders above all the other “Little Eight” leaders’ and ‘the only real hope
for the future of the area.’86 Barrow was the son of a radical Anglican
priest who had been attracted to both trade unionism and the black
empowerment philosophy of Marcus Garvey. Young Barrow was taken
to see Garvey by his father and he later recalled: ‘I will never forget
that meeting because that was when I heard Garvey say: “The trouble
with the black man is that he goes to bed too early and he wakes up too
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late.”’87 This was precisely the sort of assiduous black consciousness with
which the British could work and Barrow’s industriousness was regarded
as a welcome alternative to the alleged indolence of Grantley Adams.
Like Manley, Barrow’s mature ideological orientation was a recognis-
able form of Fabian socialism.88 Despite all this, he never generated
the same degree of personal affection amongst British policymakers as
the Jamaican leader. During the three years of negotiations about the
Eastern Caribbean federation, relations deteriorated as Barrow’s defence
of Barbadian interests was identified by the Colonial Office, and in par-
ticular by the official responsible for umpiring the negotiations, John
Stow, as a key reason for its declining prospects.

Barrow became Chief Minister of Barbados as a result of the DLP elec-
tion victory of 1961. In the aftermath of the Jamaican referendum, he
disparaged the efforts of his old rival, Grantley Adams, to save the exist-
ing federation; his alternative policy of bringing together the leaders of
Barbados, the Leewards and the Windwards as a Little Eight grouping,
who could create a new federation, appeared to the Colonial Office to
have greater merit than the policy of trying to salvage the old constitu-
tion. The Barbadian proposals necessitated a rethinking of the balance
of power between the federal centre and the units, to the advantage of
the former. At the outset, Stow urged the metropolitan government to
offer Barrow ‘some encouragement’.89 The notion of resuming federal
negotiations was met with a degree of ambivalence in the metropolis
but it had the support of three notable Conservative politicians: the
outgoing High Commissioner and former Chief Whip, Lord Hailes, the
Parliamentary Under-Secretary at the Colonial Office, Hugh Fraser, and
even the former Prime Minister, Anthony Eden, who was a regular visi-
tor to the Caribbean. They shared concerns about the potential for racial
unrest on Trinidad which made the alternative policy of allowing Eric
Williams to incorporate at least some of the Windwards and Leewards
into a unitary state an unattractive proposition. Hailes argued that they
should do nothing to encourage Williams’s Trinidadian expansionism
‘so long as there is a chance of forming a viable federation of the Eight,
which seems to me now to offer the best chance of avoiding indefinite
fragmentation in the Eastern Caribbean and of achieving political and
economic stability.’90 Although the Colonial Office expected opposition
to this policy from the Commonwealth Relations Office and the Trea-
sury, their proposals to endorse the idea of a federation of the Eight
‘went through the CPC (as the Secretary of State put it) like a dose of
salts.’ The jovial Secretary of State was Maudling who acknowledged
that yet more federal negotiations might ‘involve the retention of the
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present corrupt, inefficient and top heavy administrations in the smaller
islands.’ Despite this somewhat prejudicial assessment, he persuaded his
peers to accept a federation of the Little Eight on the basis that the alter-
natives would either generate a larger financial burden on Britain, in
the event of continued fragmentation, or would endanger the stability
of the region, in the event of the islands’ incorporation into Trinidad,
where ‘political conflict’ along racial lines was expected.91

On 16 April 1962 Maudling informed the Commons that the estab-
lishment of a new federation in the Eastern Caribbean ‘appears to offer
the best solution to the problems of the area, provided that the Con-
stitution of the Federation is such as to provide adequate powers to
the Federal Government and to offer a reasonable prospect of eco-
nomic and financial stability.’92 The Chief Ministers of Barbados, the
Leewards and the Windwards sketched out the general principles of fed-
eration during a conference in London the following month.93 Having
achieved substantial progress in the three months since the first Lit-
tle Eight meeting in February, British officials hoped that, if the new
constitutional scheme could be modified in the direction of greater cen-
tralisation, rapid progress would be possible, but instead the principles
adumbrated at the London conference became the subject of prolonged
wrangling between the island governments. Rather than attempt to
describe the constantly moving constellation of forces between the
eight islands across the three-year negotiation process, it is sufficient to
offer a broad outline of three interconnected developments which pre-
ceded the collapse of the putative Eastern Caribbean federation in April
1965 and established the basis for unilateral independence for Barbados
and Associated Statehood for the Windwards and Leewards. These were
the gradual splintering away of some of the small islands from the
Little Eight group, the burgeoning sense of dissatisfaction caused by
British refusal to clarify the financial settlement and rising demands for
unilateral independence on Barbados.

The attitudes of particular islands to federation often reflected their
economic interests but it was possible to take different views as to what
the interests of an individual territory might be at a time when the eco-
nomic ground was shifting beneath the feet of policymakers. As a conse-
quence the personal proclivities of political leaders were often decisive.
For example, Herbert Blaize and Vere Bird in Grenada and Antigua could
find plentiful economic justification for their instinctive anti-federalism.
After his election victory in September 1962 Blaize abandoned the new
federal project to pursue negotiations with Williams and thus reduced
‘the Eight’ to ‘the Seven’. Trinidad had long been a favoured destination
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for Grenadian migrants. Following its independence, unitary statehood
with Trinidad offered the prospect of employment opportunities for
Grenadian labour at a time when the British were imposing immigra-
tion controls, a larger market for Grenadian producers and a way for
nationalists to achieve early independence. On this basis, Blaize per-
suaded Grenadian voters to support his proposals for integration into
Trinidad.94 While the other Leeward and Windward islands continued
their discussions on federation, the PNM government in Trinidad began
ponderously to explore the implications of the effective annexation of
Grenada. Williams’s prevarication on the issue eroded Blaize’s politi-
cal position. By 1965 negotiations were suspended and Grenada had
reached another constitutional dead end, although by a different route
to that followed by the Little Seven.95

At the other end of the Lesser Antilles, the island of Antigua felt itself
remote from Trinidad. Its government had been the most sympathetic
to Jamaican reservations about a strong centralised federation. The local
labour leader and Chief Minister, Vere Bird, had, unlike Bradshaw in
St Kitts, chosen to remain on the island during the federal era and
shared the cautious incrementalist approach of Manley. He recalled:
‘They would have been better to leave a fair amount of autonomy with
the territories and let the people see the benefits of federation and then
from year to year strength would have been added and the federa-
tion would still be here today.’96 When Bird made this argument at the
Barbados Regional Council of Ministers (RCM) in May 1963 it essentially
amounted to a recantation of the more integrationist principles agreed
at the original meeting of the Little Eight in February 1962. Bird became
the focus for the obloquy of both British administrators and the other
Chief Ministers. After a bad-tempered altercation with Bird, the Colonial
Office’s Parliamentary Under-Secretary, Nigel Fisher, declared ‘Argument
with him is almost impossible since he is incapable of understanding
what federation means.’97 Such demonstrations of imperial disapproval
did not endear the federal concept to Bird who was increasingly confi-
dent that Antigua had a greater capacity to stand on its own than any
of the other islands because of the revenues generated by its pioneer-
ing role in developing the Caribbean tourist industry. After the fractious
Barbados conference Bird’s eagerness to pursue unilateral constitutional
advance became increasingly evident and led to speculation that a Little
Six might federate without Antigua. In December 1964 Bird authorised
a tacit withdrawal from the federal negotiations and this decision was
formalised four months later.98 Antigua’s final exit was influenced by
events in St Lucia where John Compton’s victory over George Charles
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in the elections of June 1964 increased Bird’s sense of estrangement from
the federal process. Whereas Charles had been sympathetic to Antigua’s
devolutionist stance, Compton was an ardent integrationist and follow-
ing his appointment as Chief Minister demanded additional powers
for the federal centre. When the island leaders gathered for the first
and only time as the Little Six in April 1965, Compton denounced the
decentralising principles underpinning the gimcrack federal constitu-
tion now on offer as unsatisfactory and absented himself from the final
meetings.

Despite their differences over the balance of power between the fed-
eral centre and the island governments there was one thing which had
the potential to unite the Chief Ministers of all the islands and would
have greatly encouraged integration, namely an assurance from the
metropolitan government that a federation would receive more finan-
cial assistance than a miscellany of individual island polities pursuing
unilateral independence. However, the prospect of increasing aid to
a Caribbean federation generated suspicion and dissension within the
metropolitan government. For as long as federal plans remained impre-
cise, the Colonial Office and the Treasury were able to accommodate
one another but the rapprochement between the two departments did
not last. At the start of the Little Eight negotiations in April 1962 the
Minister of State at the Colonial Office, Lord Perth, suggested that in
order to obtain ‘strong central powers for the Federation’ it would be
worth considering a bribe in the form of ‘being apparently slightly
more generous’ over the issue of a British financial subsidy. The Trea-
sury were already committed to providing unit governments with the
unspent sums allocated to the now defunct federation for the period
up to 1963 and were prepared to extend the same terms to any succes-
sor organisation which took up the reins of federal authority. They also
adhered to the established notion of a tapering down of grants from
that point and adopted Arthur Lewis’s suggestion that this should occur
at an annual rate of 15%. In order to mitigate the effects of this loss of
income it was hoped that international funding for development pro-
grammes could be sustained at existing levels for five years after 1963.99

This calculation was founded on the overly sanguine expectation that
British obligations would be displaced by American and Canadian aid.
All these conjectures had an air of unreality because Treasury policy was
based on an assumption, which turned out to be warranted, that the
Eastern Caribbean federation would remain unborn.

It was evident to all parties in the negotiations that the smaller islands
in the Eastern Caribbean were vulnerable to fluctuations in commodity
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prices, that diversification, including the extension of economic activ-
ities into tourism and light industry, was a necessity and that capital
was urgently required to develop the infrastructure of the region. Once
the local leaders asked for specific sums to achieve these objectives,
the modus vivendi between the Treasury and the Colonial Office col-
lapsed with damaging consequences. A report by the economist, Carleen
O’Loughlin, which suggested that the extent of assistance required
amounted to £ 59.5 million over a decade, was unanimously endorsed
by the RCM in September 1963.100 The Treasury’s horrified response to
O’Loughlin’s estimates of the requirements of ‘the Eight’ was continu-
ous with the attitudes on display in reaction to Williams’s assessment of
the economic needs of ‘the Ten’ two years earlier. On 4 October William
Armstrong, the Treasury’s Permanent Secretary, told his opposite num-
ber in the Colonial Office, Hilton Poynton, that they ‘were far from
convinced the gains to be had from such a federation would justify
any sizable expenditure of money in order to achieve it.’ Armstrong’s
junior officials were even more strident in their condemnation of the
O’Loughlin proposals.101 The Colonial Office were ambivalent about the
details of the programme but were irritated by the outright hostility of
the Treasury. While refusing to endorse O’Loughlin’s figures, officials
believed that an increase in economic assistance was a price worth pay-
ing to achieve a viable federation. By contrast, Conservative ministers
in the Colonial Office expressed weary indignation about requests ema-
nating from the Caribbean. First, Fisher declared, ‘I do not see why we
should be blackmailed’ and then Sandys asked, ‘Why should we bribe
these people into the federation? What does it matter to us?’102

The reasons why the Caribbean federation mattered in the metropo-
lis had been evident since the 1940s: greater unity amongst the islands
offered the best guarantee of the continuance of British cultural, eco-
nomic and political influence after the inevitable process of decolonisa-
tion was complete. It was this assumption which underpinned Sandys’
eventual endorsement of the Colonial Office’s compromise proposal,
under which the Treasury would be more generous and the island politi-
cians would accept less. Sandys’ natural combativeness soon manifested
itself in sallies against both Treasury stinginess and small island cupid-
ity; he succeeded only in making a minuscule dent in the Treasury’s
tough line on aid to the putative federation, while completely alienating
Errol Barrow, whose influence over the future of the Eastern Caribbean
would be decisive. Bureaucratic hostilities on the Whitehall front esca-
lated to ministerial level when Sandys wrote to the Chief Secretary to
the Treasury, John Boyd-Carpenter, on 26 November 1963 to respond to
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the objections which Armstrong had voiced to Poynton. Sandys’ princi-
pal argument was that Barbados would not assume responsibility for the
small islands unless they could be made less of an economic burden dur-
ing the transitional period prior to independence. Boyd-Carpenter was
unimpressed and declared ‘it is not good enough for the S of S [Secretary
of State] to seek to increase expenditure here unless he give it priority
over other areas.’ Sandys then enlisted the Foreign Secretary, Butler, to
warn that any alternative to federation would cause ‘political difficulties’
and disappoint the Americans. In the face of an assault from two depart-
ments, Boyd-Carpenter and Armstrong decided the best tactical option
was to suggest ‘an anodyne formula’ which gave a superficial appearance
of greater generosity without offering any firm commitments. They set-
tled on the suitably bland promise, that they would ‘when the time
comes, be ready to consider whatever case there may be for increased
aid having regard to their other commitments at the time.’103 Sandys
instructed Fisher, who was himself sceptical about the claims of the
small islands, to ‘press the Chief Secretary hard’ for a firmer commit-
ment but he made no progress in persuading the Treasury to move
beyond the heavily qualified indication that they might be willing to
consider additional funding at a later stage.104

In the midst of the Whitehall battle over economic assistance Sandys
flew to East Africa where he met Errol Barrow during the Kenyan
independence celebrations. Barrow, like many West Indians, had been
indignant at the repressive policies adopted by the British during the
Mau Mau insurgency and this sentiment was reinforced by discussions
with Jomo Kenyatta and other African nationalists. Sandys seemed to
be suffering from a combination of apprehensiveness about the likely
Caribbean reaction to British equivocations over the O’Loughlin pro-
posals and ongoing irritation at small island impecunity. When the
two met, Sandys adopted a censorious tone that lingered in Barrow’s
mind. Eight months later he was still brooding about Sandys’ curt sug-
gestion that Britain was unhappy at the notion of ‘buying a federation’,
to which he had responded bluntly that the people of the Caribbean
were not ‘selling a federation’.105 At the time, the confrontation ampli-
fied Barrow’s reservations about the federal project. He declared that
British policy was ‘humbug’, that it was embarrassing that Zanzibar had
achieved independence before Barbados and that Kenyatta had been
admirably restrained, given that he ‘had ample provocation for “turning
all the British out of Kenya”.’106 Although other British policymak-
ers tried to find more diplomatic ways of expressing their reservations
than Sandys had managed, the absence of any detailed response to the
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O’Loughlin proposals became ever more conspicuous as 1964 wore on.
Colonial Office officials were aware that their reticence on finance had
become an active disincentive to federate. Barrow calculated that the
annual cost to Barbados of subsidising the Leewards and Windwards
would be $ 1.4 million. Poynton noted in June 1964 that, in circum-
stances where the Maltese government was being offered a £ 40 million
subsidy over 10 years, ‘it will be increasingly difficult to argue that we
cannot commit ourselves so far ahead to figures of this degree and mag-
nitude for the West Indies.’ He explained the apparent inconsistency
by the crude fact that an Eastern Caribbean federation was not worth
‘as much money as ten years defence facilities in Malta!’107 The final
offer made to the November 1964 RCM reflected Treasury discretion and
comprised a promise to continue international aid at current levels for
five years; none of the Caribbean delegates regarded this as an adequate
alternative to the expanded 10 year programme of financial assistance
outlined by O’Loughlin.108

Following his tour of the Caribbean in February 1965 Greenwood
conceded that demands for additional aid would play a ‘big part’ in
negotiations and that any federation ought to obtain independence
‘within a reasonably short period of time of its being fully established.’109

His qualified optimism proved wholly unjustified because on both these
points the patience of Barrow’s government had run out. In British cal-
culations Barbados occupied an intermediate position between Jamaica
and Trinidad, who were assumed to be capable of unilateral indepen-
dence, and the Windwards and Leewards who, they insisted, would
have to remain in some form of colonial relationship with Britain
should federation fail. From Barrow’s perspective, the end of colonial
rule in Barbados was necessary to validate the nationalist credentials
he had established in the election of 1961. While pressing the case for
greater financial assistance to any new federation, the Barbadian gov-
ernment had also insisted that it ought to obtain ‘independence at its
inception.’110 This put Barrow at odds with the British who argued that
the new federation, like the old, would have to serve a period of colo-
nial apprenticeship. In the aftermath of his conversation with Sandys in
Nairobi, Barrow began making provisional plans for unilateral Barbadian
independence, while participating in the federal negotiations to ensure
that he avoided any appearance of culpability when they collapsed.
In February 1965 Stow reported that Barrow was making active prepa-
rations for such an eventuality.111 Once the final break occurred as a
consequence of Antigua’s withdrawal and the collapse of the Little Six
negotiations in April 1965, Barrow found himself in the same situation
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as Manley after the Jamaican referendum: both his political reputa-
tion as a forthright nationalist and his conception of the national
self-interest required that he expedite the inevitable end of British
authority. He set a timetable which anticipated a constitutional con-
ference in November 1965 and independence by July 1966.112

Although the British had few compunctions about the principle of
Barbadian independence, the actuality engendered the habitual feel-
ings of ambivalence and fears for the future. After a period of relative
calm on the domestic front, Barrow’s push for a final demission of
power was accompanied by noisy recriminations between the various
factions on the Barbadian political scene. He confronted a split within
the DLP caused by the attachment of more radical Barbadian politi-
cians to the federal idea. The key figures in this group were Erskine
Ward and Wynter Crawford both of whom resigned from the party
in protest at Barrow’s unwillingness to make any attempt to revive the
now moribund Eastern Caribbean federation. Crawford believed federal-
ism was a prerequisite for economic specialisation across the region and
for the fostering of a wider market for Barbadian manufactured goods.
He recalled ‘the federation meant a lot for Barbados’ and that Barrow
had been disingenuous in his support for integration.113 While Crawford
and Ward regarded the federation as the only means to obtain genuine
political and economic autonomy, Barrow was also challenged by con-
servative opposition groups, including the Barbados Labour Party and
the Barbados National Party who advocated the continuation of some
form of dependent relationship with Britain for as long as was necessary
to revive the federal arrangements. They demanded a further election
to test public opinion on the matter. This domestic political turmoil
awoke the usual British neuroses and even prompted Greenwood to
wonder whether to endorse the final stage of Barbadian decolonisation.
By October 1965 Stow was complaining that the speeches of the vari-
ous protagonists in the independence controversy had ‘gone down to a
very low level’ and predicted that there would be ‘some broken heads at
these meetings in the atmosphere of tension in which they take place.’
Barrow feared that the British would procrastinate on the independence
issue and had he known more of the attitude of Greenwood, he would
have found justification for his apprehensions. In a minute written in
November 1965, Greenwood asked his officials ‘Are we not prejudging
the issue by talking about an “independence conference”? Surely we
will need a conference which will tell us what is wanted? And is there
any point in such a conference unless we know what authority the del-
egates have?’ By this stage, Greenwood’s officials were too immersed in
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the usual protocols of decolonisation to be diverted by the doubts of
the Secretary of State. Poynton explained that they would not have a
conference unless there was a demand for independence but if such a
conference was called there would be nothing else for it to discuss other
than independence.114

Greenwood soon made way for Lord Longford and then, in quick
succession, Frederick Lee, but the metropolitan authorities maintained
a vigilant attitude in overseeing Barbadian politics. As was customary,
British reservations were personalised; they focused on the character
of Errol Barrow, who had once been seen as a dependable collabora-
tor, with the requisite nous to subdue the volatile politicians of the
Leewards and Windwards. By the end of 1965 he had been mentally
reallocated to what was more or less the only other conceptual cate-
gory which colonial bureaucrats used to classify Caribbean nationalists:
the volatile demagogue with despotic instincts. In October, officials
indicated they were ‘going to have serious trouble with Mr Barrow’
and, in the following month, his efforts to counter the pro-federalists
on Barbados were described in an official memorandum as ‘extraordi-
nary’. He was accused by the Colonial Office of displaying ‘dictatorial
tendencies’.115 In January 1966, Barrow’s motion declaring that his gov-
ernment would seek immediate unilateral independence was passed
by the Legislative Council despite protests from the opposition, who
insisted that the DLP must seek a new mandate before an irrevocable
decision was made. The controversy threatened to wreck the constitu-
tional conference in June, which proved as acrimonious as the famously
bad-tempered Trinidad conference four years earlier. Opposition calls for
an early election produced a dilemma for the Colonial Office: they were
increasingly distrustful of Barrow and his reluctance to give Barbadians
an opportunity to vote on the matter seemed to confirm suspicions that
his regime would be autocratic, but any refusal to grant independence
was certain to lead to a prolonged controversy which would provide him
with an opportunity to stimulate nationalist sentiment. Lee insisted on
fresh elections before independence but, in order to prevent any public
accusations of British interference, secured Barrow’s acquiescence in the
form of a secret and informal understanding. From Barrow’s perspective
the grudging attitude of the Colonial Office was continuous with the
colonial past. He believed Lee was ‘looking for an excuse to say we could
not reach agreement on Independence and therefore to postpone it.’116

The report of the conference proceedings recorded the objections of the
opposition groups to various elements of the new constitution but did
not contain any reference to Barrow’s promise to hold an election.117
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The covert nature of the deal only generated new anxieties. Lee sought
written confirmation of the agreement from Barrow and when none
was forthcoming a degree of panic struck Whitehall. It was feared that
Barrow was engaged in an act of duplicity. The Parliamentary Under-
Secretary at the Colonial Office, John Stonehouse, warned that there
was a ‘great danger that Barrow will get away with it.’ Despite reassur-
ances from Stow, there was a belief in Whitehall that if he was allowed
to renege on his promise to hold an election before independence, ‘the
anti-British trait which has recently been evident in Mr Barrow’s state-
ments and actions, would be reinforced by contempt for the British
government’s actions.’ Stow guessed that Barrow would keep to his
side of the bargain and in September the minor crisis subsided when
he reaffirmed his promise and announced elections for November
1966.118 The DLP was victorious at the polls and governed Barbados
for a decade after the declaration of independence on 30 November.
Unlike Duncan Sandys’ surrogate, Forbes Burnham in Guyana, Bar-
row stepped down when defeated by the opposition in a free election
in 1976.

The Windwards, the Leewards and Associated Statehood

The constitutional to and fro on the Windwards and Leewards
in the two decades after Montego Bay provides plentiful evidence
for the notion that the British had very little idea of how to deal with
the politics of the two island groups. After 1947 there had been what
amounted to a second wave of disturbances on the small islands dur-
ing which a younger, less bourgeois nationalist leadership had emerged
that was treated by the British colonial authorities with a mixture of
fear and contempt. Bradshaw, Bird, Gairy and Joshua parlayed trade
union activism into political influence and were at the forefront of
demands for greater autonomy for the Anglophone Caribbean. The colo-
nial authorities responded by gradually increasing the elected elements
in local legislatures and executives on a piecemeal basis until in 1959
they approved a series of coordinated constitutional advances which
were implemented in 1960. The conferral of political authority was pred-
icated on the assumption that the supposed impulsiveness of the new
popularly elected Chief Ministers would be restrained by the process of
Caribbean integration. After the Jamaican secession from the federation,
the Colonial Office expressed its determination to retrieve the powers
they had just granted. Further constitutional advance for the territories
was ruled out for so long as an Eastern Caribbean federation seemed
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a possibility. Once this project was poisoned by the same toxic mix-
ture of peripheral acrimony and metropolitan dissimulation which had
killed the wider federation, it was necessary to make other arrangements.
Any new proposals had to deal with two potential causes of instability:
small island indigence and the vulnerability of the territories to malign
external influences. It was anticipated that the volatility of local poli-
tics could yet transform the region into a zone of economic instability,
a battlefront in the Cold War or both. In October 1965 the Foreign
Office noted that Washington would inevitably be concerned about the
emergence of mini-states in such a sensitive region and endorsed Colo-
nial Office apprehensions about the emergence of ‘seven potential little
Haitis or Cubas’.119 The imposition of Associated Statehood in early 1967
gave British policymakers greater constitutional influence and hence
a greater measure of assurance than the normal procedure of offering
internal self-government as a prelude to independence. The two islands
which the British concluded were most likely to generate a Duvalier or
a Castro were Grenada, where they had failed to extinguish Gairyism,
and Anguilla, which was tied to St Kitts and Nevis in what proved to be
an unstable union.

Grenada

In a celebrated account of Grenadian politics Arthur Singham
characterised the career of Eric Gairy as an archetypical example of
the challenge posed to institutional authority by charismatic leader-
ship. Borrowing from Weber, Singham argued that once an alternative
emerges to colonial rule in the form of a populist nationalist leader,
‘there is almost bound to be a struggle for legitimacy by the actors repre-
senting these two authority systems.’120 The outraged imperial reaction
to Gairy’s challenge to the norms of decolonisation was validated by
his excesses: these were recognised by Singham when he published The
Hero and the Crowd in 1968 and were corroborated by the appalling
authoritarianism of Gairy’s government during the following decade.
The contemporary distaste colonial bureaucrats felt for Gairy is perhaps
best illustrated by a Colonial Office briefing note from April 1966 which
described him as ‘a man who is almost too bad to be true.’121 Such British
consternation was not specific to the case of Grenada: the extreme exam-
ple of Gairy’s misrule was utilised to illustrate the principle, which the
Colonial Office never doubted, that the small island leaders would abuse
the authority granted them at the end of empire. The corroboration
for this thesis provided by events on Grenada licensed their inattention
to the particularities of each case. Gairy’s career was taken as only a more
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startling instance of the volatility of Caribbean nationalism which was
also evident in the cases of Barrow on Barbados, Southwell on St Kitts or
even Ronald Webster on Anguilla.

Gairy’s great achievement had been to force Grenadian commercial
interests and the colonial administration to acknowledge the demands
of the rural poor for improved working conditions. While the rest of
the Anglophone Caribbean had been set aflame by labour protests in
the 1930s, the local oligarchy was consoled by the relative calm on
Grenada. This bred complacency and it was not until the strikes and
disturbances of 1950–1951 that the notion of Grenada as one of the
most stable societies in the Caribbean was shattered. Gairy pursued
an opportunistic strategy based on the exploitation of rising discon-
tent amongst estate workers but he also played an important role in
organising labour and mediating between workers and employers. His
success in securing wage increases and new entitlements established a
reservoir of popular good will on which he drew for decades. In the
immediate aftermath of the strikes he used the momentum generated by
the achievements of the Grenada Manual and Mental Workers’ Union
(GMMWU), and the new opportunities available following the intro-
duction of constitutional reform, to secure representation for popular
demands in the legislature. The electoral campaigning of his Grenada
United Labour Party (GULP) was entirely personalist and the party
offered an even more extreme example of boss rule than Bustamante’s
domination of the Jamaica Labour Party. The limits of such an approach
were evident in the 1957 elections in which the GULP was effectively
contained within its agricultural base and won only two of the eight
seats which were contested. During the campaign Gairy was accused
of disrupting the meetings of his opponents and specifically of lead-
ing a steel band through a gathering of supporters of the rival Grenada
National Party (GNP); as a consequence he was excluded from the Leg-
islative Council on the grounds of electoral malpractice. Whatever the
formal justification for the action, it could be portrayed as a trans-
parent attempt to marginalise the rural interests which he represented
and provided a suitable platform for him to develop his favourite anti-
colonialist theme. He was so successful that in the election of March
1961 GULP won eight of the 10 seats in the legislature. Although
for a short time the British continued to uphold the ban on Gairy,
in August they accepted the inevitable: following his readmittance to
the legislature he was appointed Chief Minister which was the out-
come that the Colonial Office had long hoped to avoid but had long
feared.122
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What added to British perplexity regarding how to deal with
Grenadian politics was that the GULP’s triumph at the polls occurred
after elected politicians had been given greater control of the execu-
tive under the reforms enacted across the Leewards and the Windwards
in 1960. Furthermore, Gairy’s appointment as Chief Minister coin-
cided with the Jamaican referendum vote which ensured the demise
of the federation. Now that Norman Manley, or even Grantley Adams,
was no longer available to discipline renegade elements in the Eastern
Caribbean, the British wanted guarantees of the stability and probity
of those territorial governments which remained within the imperial
system. Instead, Gairy brought unprecedented levels of patronage and
clientelism to the administration of Grenada which inevitably proved
intolerable to the colonial bureaucracy. Gordon Lewis provides an effec-
tive summary of the charges which were confirmed by the findings of
the Commission of Enquiry into the Control of Public Expenditure in
Grenada: ‘the deliberate and systematic violation of financial regula-
tions, the browbeating of public servants, the deliberate destruction of
the morale of the civil service, the illegal purchase with public monies
of luxury items, including an expensive piano and a phonograph for
the chief minister’s residence.’123 In June 1962 Maudling informed the
Commons that the constitution had been suspended and that Gairy had
been dismissed on the grounds that ‘if he remained in office under the
constitution then in force, the same financial malpractices and the same
threats against the Civil Service would continue.’124 The narrow GULP
defeat in the new round of elections conducted in September 1962
was more a consequence of the unpopularity of federalism in Grenada,
which Herbert Blaize and the GNP exploited by campaigning for uni-
tary statehood with Trinidad, than of disenchantment with Gairy.125

The wider point about the era of ‘Squandermania’ was that it incarnated
all the fears of political disorder which troubled British policymakers.
Three years after the suspension of the constitution, the talks on both
federation and unitary statehood with Trinidad had both effectively
collapsed and fears of continued malpractice constituted the principal
British reservation regarding any advance towards self-government for
Grenada and the other small islands.

The great advantage of the novel status of Associated Statehood,
which had first been granted to the Cook Islands in 1964 before being
considered for the Windwards and Leewards, was that the United
Nations recognised it as a legitimate means of ending colonial con-
trol but, unlike full independence or even internal self-government,
it was sufficiently malleable to allow the metropolitan power to retain
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some influence. The major disadvantage was that the domain of British
control was greatly circumscribed: only in those cases where there
was a threat to residual British responsibilities for external affairs and
defence could intervention be legitimate.126 As the Anguilla case would
demonstrate this allowed some flexibility in cases where policymakers
in London could construe domestic developments as a threat to order,
but it manifestly did not apply when financial rectitude was imperilled.
When Greenwood discussed the Associated Statehood formula with his
officials on 14 September 1965 his main concern was ‘the inefficacy of
the financial sanction’ provided by a constitutional formula in which
the grounds for intervention were restricted to security threats. A num-
ber of Colonial Office officials were sceptical of the entire enterprise
precisely because it offered no means of imposing budgetary restraint,
despite the obligation to continue providing British aid. The Deputy
Permanent Under-Secretary, A. N. Galsworthy, declared ‘it was only in
respect of these territories that we had this difficulty about financial mal-
administration’ and suggested that they would be unable to prohibit
‘bad financial policy’ despite the obligation that the British executive
owed to Parliament to account for the spending which they authorised.
The counter-argument was that Associated Statehood offered the least
offence to nationalist sentiment while guaranteeing some measure of
metropolitan control and it prevailed amidst a great deal of grumbling
from the Treasury and the Commonwealth Relations Office about the
legitimacy of the procedure.127 At the end of September the Colonial
Office began consultations with its local representatives regarding the
next stage of constitutional advance, in November the Commissioner
for the West Indies, Stephen Luke, toured the islands to judge local
reactions and in December the proposals for Associated Statehood were
published.128

The impossibility of justifying any further overt interventions on the
grounds of financial wrongdoing made it urgent to assure the posi-
tions of the handful of politicians on the Leewards and Windwards
in whom the Colonial Office had some measure of confidence; a list
which emphatically excluded Gairy and rather more hesitantly included
Herbert Blaize. Fears of what a future Gairy administration might do
sharpened the British focus on ensuring the continuation of the GNP
administration. The new Administrator of Grenada, Ian Turbott, had
outlined a strategy to accomplish this in February 1965. His propos-
als were underpinned by the straightforward notion that it was ‘better
to try and assist Blaize than to permit Gairy to return and reintroduce
his corrupt practices.’ The impediments to successfully implementing
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the plan were Gairy’s charismatic appeal to many Grenadian voters,
which contrasted with Blaize who was characterised as ‘honest but inef-
fective’, and the economic constraints caused by declining prices for
the staples of the Grenadian export trade, including cocoa, nutmeg and
bananas. Turbott urged the implementation of a ‘package deal’ which
would include measures of administrative reform and ‘certain advances
constitutionally patterned on perhaps British Honduras, plus more eco-
nomic aid but not up to the amount Trinidad is suggesting’.129 It was the
constitutional issue which proved most straightforward for the British to
resolve. By the middle of 1965 proposals for unitary statehood between
Grenada and Trinidad and the Eastern Caribbean federal negotiations
were both in abeyance. Blaize had campaigned for union with Trinidad
as the most direct path to independence for Grenada; after the Williams
government had effectively eliminated that option, the Colonial Office
chose to make constitutional concessions to the GNP which could be
presented to the electorate as a success for the politics of pragmatism.
In November, Blaize requested the immediate restoration of the 1960
constitution which had been effectively suspended in 1962 and ‘pressed
very hard’ on the issue of additional economic assistance. The Colonial
Office approved the idea of giving Blaize ‘a “piece of bacon” for him
to take back with him’ in the form of the full restoration of the 1960
constitution. The only danger they foresaw was that, if the implemen-
tation of the Associated Statehood formula was delayed ‘and Mr Gairy
is returned to power in Grenada, we shall be back in the same awkward
position as we were from 1960 to 1962.’130

British administrators knew that the ongoing economic problems of
Grenada and Blaize’s failure to obtain his initial goal of union with
Trinidad left him in a vulnerable position and that the restoration of
the constitution was unlikely to be decisive in swinging public opin-
ion behind the GNP. Like Barrow in Barbados, Blaize was eager to
postpone any general election until after the constitutional issues had
been resolved. Although both the GNP government and GULP opposi-
tion had reservations about the Associated Statehood formula, it was in
Blaize’s interest to claim credit first for the restoration of the 1960 con-
stitution and then for any further incremental move towards greater
autonomy. Turbott reported before the 1966 Windward Islands con-
stitutional conference, at which both the GULP and the GNP were
represented, that Gairy would probably refuse to sign any report with-
out a guarantee of early elections, while Blaize was certain to demand
an 18-month postponement. Despite the chequered history of the
island’s developing democracy, electoral calculations were as important
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in Grenada as anywhere else and Turbott explained: ‘The local scene is
fairly simple; if there was an election tomorrow Gairy would probably
win and Blaize knows this. But the GNP . . . feels it would win an elec-
tion in the latter part of 1967.’ As on the issue of the restoration of the
constitution, the British sought to accommodate Blaize. Although they
acknowledged the precedent set by the secret deal which required Bar-
row to go to the polls before independence, the Colonial Office stated
explicitly ‘that they cannot deny the fact that they would not welcome
Mr Gairy back in office . . . . We are therefore not anxious to see early
elections.’131 The controversy rumbled on during the long Windwards
conference which commenced on 18 April and ended on 6 May. It was
only on the final day that Lee insisted that Gairy sign the report with-
out any formal or informal assurance of early elections. The principal
difference between the Associated Statehood proposals for Grenada and
the other Windwards Islands was that the former included a special for-
mula on finance which stated: ‘The Constitution will contain provision
to secure that there is no expenditure from public funds except where
there is statutory authority for such expenditure and unless a prescribed
procedure has been complied with, which secures full Parliamentary
scrutiny.’132

Although Gairy was browbeaten at the London conference, as Associ-
ated Statehood became imminent he adopted more belligerent tactics to
try to force an election. In January1967 the four GULP representatives
on the Legislative Council, including Gairy and his wife, resigned. This
rendered the legislature barely quorate and necessitated a number of
by-elections during which the imposition of Associated Statehood and
Blaize’s refusal to go to the polls could be used to embarrass the GNP
government and the colonial administration. It also gave an opportu-
nity for officials in Whitehall to reaffirm Gairy’s status as ‘the worst
and most unpleasant of all the political figures in the Windwards and
Leewards with whom we have ever had dealings.’ His rivals and asso-
ciates were also characterised as dangerous radicals, including the trade
union leader, Derek Knight, who was believed to be ‘out for destruction’,
and a new GULP spokesman, Michael Sylvester, who was described by
Turbott as having ‘one of the worst anti-white chips on his shoulder
I have ever seen’.133 In February 1967 Gairy held a candlelit march from
Market Square in St George’s to Government House where he submitted
a petition demanding a general election and internal self-government
rather than Associated Statehood. Turbott was pleased and relieved that
the crowd did not resort to violence but reported ‘how long one is
going to be able to hold them peacefully is difficult to say’.134 Despite
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Turbott’s determination to postpone the impending by-elections, Gairy
avoided any further provocations on the assumption that it would be
unwise to provide the British with an opportunity to intervene before
the inevitable general elections which he expected to win. When the
polls opened in August 1967, the GULP won seven seats and the GNP
three. Charles Roberts, who was Britain’s senior representative to the
new Associated States, offered an insightful analysis of the result, which
focused on economic discontent rather than the mystical appeal of
Gairy’s charisma. He explained, ‘whereas we and senior civil servants
in Grenada tend to remember with horror the previous administration
of Mr Gairy . . . the workers on the estates remember that period as one
when they received large increases in wages.’ Despite British praise for
Blaize’s industry and common sense, the GNP government ‘did not put
additional money in the workers’ pockets.’ Although there was now
a tendency to suggest that Gairy was more moderate and malleable
than Knight and Sylvester, after visiting Grenada for the opening of the
new Parliament, Roberts declared: ‘I see no reason to be optimistic’.135

Roberts’ sense of foreboding was entirely justified by the events of the
next 10 years, while his analysis of the causes of the GULP victory in
1967 provided a persuasive and uncomfortable explanation for the rise
of Gairyism and the ineffectiveness of British counter-measures. Their
dismay at these developments did not prevent the metropolitan gov-
ernment from endorsing Grenadian independence, with Gairy as first
Prime Minister, in 1974.

St Kitts

The story of the unsuccessful British effort to promote centripetal-
ism in the Anglophone Caribbean reached its dismal conclusion with
Anguillan secession from the new Associated State of St Kitts–Nevis–
Anguilla. Having failed to preserve the unity of their colonial territories
in a regional federation and then failed in their efforts to promote
integration between Barbados, the Windwards and the Leewards, the
metropolitan government failed even to maintain the association of the
three small islands contained within this micro-state. The British were
not wholly responsible for this disappointing record; the peculiar con-
stitutional inadhesiveness of the local territories was greatly influenced
by the parochial nature of Caribbean politics as promoted by Caribbean
politicians and manifest, in this instance, in the uncompromising asser-
tion of Kittitian rights by Robert Bradshaw and the captiousness of
the leader of the Anguillan separatists, Ronald Webster. But the British
were grudging, suspicious and equivocating partners in the process of
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decolonisation and their misgivings were more apparent on the small
islands. The case of Anguilla was particularly significant because by 1969
the full British Cabinet was devoting its attention to this latest instance
of Caribbean secessionism and the resulting invasion of the island by
a small force of troops and policemen became front-page news. It was
warranted on the basis of the residual rights and obligations which the
British had retained under the Associated Statehood formula because of
their apprehensions about future mismanagement of the islands’ affairs.
Although the intervention was intended to subdue the secessionists, it
led instead to the permanent separation of Anguilla from St Kitts and, in
this respect, symbolised the counter-productive nature of much British
policy in the region during the era of decolonisation.

In the middle of October 1965 Greenwood discussed the failure of the
Eastern Caribbean federation with Rusk in Washington. He attempted to
adopt a reassuring tone but his affirmation that the security situation in
the Eastern Caribbean was stable came with the caveat that this might
change ‘if there was a collapse of the sugar price.’136 Of all the islands
it was St Kitts which still had the greatest dependence on the export
of sugar and where the miscarriage of plans for an Eastern Caribbean
federation provoked most alarm. The problem of dependence on sugar
had both an immediate, provisional aspect in the form of a series of low
annual crop yields of cane and a longer-term, intractable aspect in terms
of global overproduction which was driving down prices. Between 1961
and 1963 Kittitian governmental revenue declined from BWI $ 8.3 mil-
lion to BWI $ 5.2 million.137 As in the case of the wider federation,
the economic grievances of nationalist politicians became a prominent
feature in negotiations about Associated Statehood. The failure of pro-
posals for an Eastern Caribbean federation in 1965, which occasioned
the new round of constitutional negotiations, coincided with a poten-
tially catastrophic financial crisis for Paul Southwell’s government on
St Kitts. Southwell had taken over the leadership of the Kittitian nation-
alist movement after Robert Bradshaw had left for Trinidad to participate
in the federal government. He was unpopular with British administra-
tors who criticised him both for the stridency of his anti-colonialism
and his habit of quoting Shakespeare at the slightest provocation.
At the end of 1965 his government was confronted with a particu-
larly disastrous year for sugar production; British intelligence reports in
August indicated that the crop would amount to 38,000 tons which
was the lowest recorded for many years and that the ‘effect on the
general economy of the territory and on the finances of the Govern-
ment is likely to be little short of disastrous.’ This prompted a haughty
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outburst from one Colonial Office official: ‘What St Kitts does not seem
to realise is that the world does not need their sugar – there is a 2 million
ton surplus estimated for 1965.’138

Alongside the economic emergency, Southwell had to deal with the
constitutional crisis attendant on the abandonment of plans for inte-
gration in the Eastern Caribbean. It was partly because the island
represented such an extreme example of a sugar monoculture that the
federation was particularly important to St Kitts. Integration into a
wider regional economy, which included wealthier territories, offered
the prospect of political independence and economic diversification.
At the same time the history of exploitation and conflict during the
development of the sugar industry on the island had generated a fierce
nationalism which became manifest in the strikes of 1935 and 1948.
Even as the federal negotiations proceeded Southwell lobbied for a
loosening of colonial control. In January 1964 his suggestion that the
establishment of internal self-government for the Bahamas and British
Honduras ought to set a precedent for St Kitts was dismissed by the
Colonial Office on the grounds that this would lead to an ‘awkward
stage’ in the process of constitutional advance.139 Once it was cer-
tain that the latest federal project would fail, Southwell reiterated his
demands for internal self-government. On 12 May 1965 he wrote to
the Colonial Office to register his ‘great distress’ at the abandonment
of the federal enterprise and his view that the current Kittitian con-
stitution, which was ‘neither fish nor fowl’, should be amended. Just
as their predecessors in Jamaica, Trinidad and Barbados had been, the
nationalist leadership in St Kitts were suspicious of British procrastina-
tion and insistent on the need for the rapid devolution of power to
locally elected executives. During the summer of 1965 Southwell pressed
for a constitutional conference in October; by September it was evident
this would not be feasible and he wrote to London again to demand an
early demission of power.140

Southwell favoured internal self-government as a first step towards
independence but British bureaucrats were still thinking in quite differ-
ent terms; internal self-government was rejected by the Colonial Office
precisely because it ‘does not work well (if at all), as the example of
British Guiana has shown, where a government is behaving badly and
where the move to independence is delayed.’ The British view of the
Windwards and Leewards was that ‘unless they federate they should not
move to full independence either now or in the foreseeable future.’141

The Associated Statehood formula was designed to maintain a modicum
of British control over events in the Eastern Caribbean for a significant
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period of time. In particular, the metropolitan government reserved the
right to intervene in the case of violent disturbances which would con-
stitute a threat to security. When Greenwood consulted his officials on
14 September 1965 they emphasised that local British representatives
ought to have sufficient powers to deal with any significant challenge
to the status quo. Stow, who had superintended the aborted federal
negotiations, complained ‘he could not actually see how the UK rep-
resentative could cope with public disorder.’142 The revised proposals for
Associated Statehood offered a latitudinarian formula which appeared
to cover most eventualities: the British government would be free to
legislate ‘to prevent circumstances arising or continuing in the terri-
tory’ which threatened their residual responsibilities for external affairs
and defence.143 When presented with the Associated Statehood for-
mula by Luke in November, Southwell was more suspicious than many
of his peers and raised two issues of concern: whether St Kitts might
still obtain independence as part of a revived federation and whether
financial aid ‘would be greater or less’. Questions were inevitable as
to why the Leewards and Windwards were being offered this novel
solution to the constitutional puzzle as an alternative to internal self-
government. Luke reported that Southwell was ‘unconvinced that these
proposals are preferable to full internal self-government for which he
had asked, but he is at least prepared to negotiate on them.’ On 3 Jan-
uary 1966 Southwell wrote to Greenwood to insist ‘the way should be
made abundantly easy either for the proposed constitutional status to
be succeeded by complete Independence preferably within a Federation
but if necessary, without it.’144

Partly as a consequence of further inter-island feuding and partly
as a consequence of the fact that, in the Colonial Office’s estimation,
‘Mr Southwell’s approach to these proposals had more reservations in
it than almost anybody else’s’, a separate constitutional conference was
held for St Kitts.145 Alongside the need for British assistance to meet
the financial crisis on the island and concerns about the inferiority
of the Associated Statehood formula in comparison with internal self-
government, a third complicating factor in preparing for the meeting
was the status of Anguilla and Nevis, both of which had longstanding
constitutional ties to St Kitts. The recent history of political fragmenta-
tion conditioned the British to take particular cognisance of secessionist
feeling in the two satellite territories where there was greater disquiet
about the possibility of Kittitian dominance under the Associated State-
hood formula than in the case of equivalent territories such as Carriacou
and Barbuda which were destined for unity with Grenada and Antigua.
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In order to represent Nevisian and Anguillan sentiment at the consti-
tutional conference, the British insisted that Eugene Walwyn of the
United National Movement and Peter Adams of the People’s Action
Movement were invited to attend as representatives of these islands.146

By the time negotiations commenced on 12 May 1966, Southwell had
resigned himself to separate representation for the satellite islands and
to the Associated Statehood formula. Rather than dissipate their energies
contesting every issue, the Kittitian delegation focused on the most sig-
nificant question in dispute which concerned the level of financial aid.
British refusal to guarantee additional funding generated great ill feel-
ing and Southwell insisted that their dissatisfaction with current levels
of assistance was registered in the final report. The British acknowledged
that ‘the economy of the Territory would continue to be vulnerable so
long as it was almost wholly dependent on sugar production’, but prac-
tical measures to encourage diversification were limited to an offer of
assistance with a technical feasibility project designed to examine the
potential role of an airfield in promoting tourism. On the matter of the
satellite territories, the delegates agreed to the establishment of ‘a system
of local self-government in Nevis and in Anguilla’ based on the creation
of local Councils. Unfortunately, the precise method of selecting the
members of the Council was left unspecified. Wilson’s last Colonial Sec-
retary, Fred Lee, told the Overseas Policy and Defence Committee that
the island councils were ‘the main novel feature of the constitutional
arrangements’ and that, because of the refusal to offer any precise guar-
antees regarding financial assistance, Southwell had been exceptionally
reluctant to sign the final report of the conference.147

As was usually the case in the story of decolonisation in the
Anglophone Caribbean, the ambiguity which served as an expedient
to surmount one constitutional hurdle set the precedent for future
controversies: Southwell’s misgivings regarding the adequacy of future
economic assistance, the vagueness surrounding the devolution of polit-
ical power to the satellite islands and the controversial nature of the
prerogatives retained by the British under the new constitution, each
contributed to the two-year crisis over Anguilla which began with the
implementation of Associated Statehood in February 1967. From the
outset it was evident that the government in Basseterre would not have
sufficient revenue to address the economic demands of the Anguillans.
Whereas one could easily see Nevis from St Kitts and the two islands
had broadly similar levels of development, Anguilla was 70 miles across
the sea and had no electrical grid or effective telephone system. The
island had initially been settled by Kittitians and Nevisians but the
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economy had never surpassed basic subsistence conditions. The con-
stitutional history of the territory was chequered but, for the most part,
the tie to St Kitts had been preserved in various forms, while conditions
on Anguilla were neglected both by British Empire-builders and, in the
twentieth century, by the new leaders of Caribbean nationalism, includ-
ing Bradshaw and Southwell. The islanders themselves were convinced
that propinquity and recent history meant that the latter had greater
culpability and turned to their more distant masters in Whitehall for
redress, unaware of the tendency amongst metropolitan policymakers
to assume that the demission of political power signalled the beginning
of the end of the short era of financial assistance to the region. Given
British concern at the number of micro-states which were emerging fol-
lowing the shattering of plans for an Eastern Caribbean federation, they
hoped that the remaining fragments would not be smashed into yet
smaller pieces. British parsimony and lack of sympathy for local nation-
alism once again generated a form of diplomacy which aggravated rather
than mitigated the effects of the feuds between island politicians. Aside
from the issue of scale, the most significant differences between the col-
lapse of the regional federation in the Anglophone Caribbean and the
secession of Anguilla from St Kitts were, firstly, that in the latter case a
centralised state with effective authority over the constituent elements
of the polity had been established in Basseterre and, secondly, that
whereas the larger states had been most sceptical of the benefits of unity
in the West Indies federation, in the case of St Kitts–Nevis–Anguilla it
was the tiniest unit which was most eager to break away.

The Administrator of St Kitts was the Vincentian, Fred Phillips, and
during three visits in the course of 1966 he became increasingly alarmed
about the hostility with which the Associated Statehood formula was
greeted on Anguilla. He registered the unmissable fact ‘that the island
was very badly neglected’ and noted that ‘each time I sensed a greater
level of frustration and hopelessness among the islanders about the way
they perceived themselves as being treated by St Kitts.’148 In January
1967 he informed the Colonial Office that a popular campaign in favour
of secession from St Kitts and the continuation of colonial status had
begun. In the absence of additional assistance from Britain, the new
government in Basseterre was planning to begin the new constitutional
era with an increase in taxes which, Phillips warned on 27 January,
was certain to fuel discontent on Anguilla. He recommended that the
possibility of additional financial aid to resolve some of the economic
problems should be reconsidered. A week later Phillips’s gloomy predic-
tions were vindicated when fighting broke out at a beauty contest which
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was intended to select an Anguillan candidate to contest the Ms State-
hood Queen title with rivals from St Kitts and Nevis. The police force,
which consisted of Kittitians, used tear gas on the crowd. The essen-
tially economic motivation behind the protests was confirmed when
the Minister for Overseas Development, Arthur Bottomley, visited the
island to mark the commencement of the era of Associated Statehood
on 27 February. Protestors demanded separation from St Kitts but the
individuals who spoke to Bottomley were principally concerned with
the poor condition of the roads, the lack of electricity and the inade-
quacy of medical and educational provision.149 On the constitutional
issue, British efforts to encourage the Kittitian government to expe-
dite the establishment of a local council were met with suspicion by
Bradshaw, who had returned to the post of Chief Minister in the interval
between the Kittitian constitutional conference and the declaration of
Associated Statehood, and now accused Wilson’s government of engag-
ing in ‘imperial blackmail’. The leaders of the Anguillan secessionists
were as suspicious of the Kittitians as Bradshaw was of the British and
opted to boycott the nomination process by which the local council was
supposed to be chosen.150

During the following two years, metropolitan officials persistently
criticised Bradshaw for his inability to empathise with the frustrations of
the Anguillans and the emerging leaders of the secessionist movement
for their recklessness. It was the proclivities of the latter that were seen as
posing a greater threat. Since the riots of the 1930s British policymakers
were alert to any evidence of local demagoguery or external subversion
which might set off a new insurrectionary movement in the region and
the Associated Statehood formula had been designed to retain a British
right of intervention in such instances. Despite the tiny scale of the
Anguillan rebellion the fear remained that, in this very late episode in
the decolonisation story, the British would once more be embarrassed
by the exposure of an unhappy colonial legacy. On 30 May 1967 the
Anguillans ejected the Kittitian police and declared themselves indepen-
dent. A plebiscite held in July endorsed the decision by 1,813 votes to
five. The following month Peter Adams, who had attended the origi-
nal conference on Associated Statehood, was effectively sidelined by the
secessionists after he cooperated with a Commonwealth mission that
was attempting to mediate. At the end of the year an interim settlement
was reached which entailed the dispatch of a British administrator called
Anthony Lee to the island. He was unable to obtain Anguillan consent to
a definitive agreement which would recognise Kittitian authority, while
devolving a measure of political power to the Anguillan local council.
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The crisis escalated when in February 1969 a second referendum was
held which was as decisive as the first in proclaiming the Anguillans’
desire for independence. On 11 March, the Labour politician, William
Whitlock, acting in his capacity as Parliamentary Under-Secretary at the
Foreign Office, went to Anguilla with the intention of finally impos-
ing a settlement on the secessionists but was chased off the island by
armed gunmen just a few hours after arriving. The Wilson government
responded by sending a force of British paratroopers and metropolitan
policemen who made an unopposed landing on 19 March.

What prompted the British invasion of Anguilla was the belief that
local extremists, in combination with external agents, might turn the
island into a centre of corruption in the Caribbean. The role of resident
incendiarist was allocated to Ronald Webster and of alien subversives
to the American mafia. As a substantial property owner, successful mer-
chant and minister of the Seventh Day Adventist Church, Webster was
a very different kind of revolutionary from Cheddi Jagan or Ferdinand
Smith. The New York Times described him as ‘a small dark wiry man
of 43 who does not smile or laugh easily’ and noticed that he lived
in a pink house on the east of the island with his mother, wife and
children.151 British officials in the region portrayed Webster as the
uncompromising representative of the Anguillan extremists, who were
pitted against a smaller faction of moderates. Lee, who administered the
island while negotiations for a final settlement continued, advised in
February 1969: ‘Webster is completely out of his depth and his sense of
proportion and reasoning has deserted him, he has the emotional sup-
port of the mass of the people while moderate men recognise he is no
longer rational . . . . Words fail me to describe Webster.’152 The particular
source of Webster’s purported extremism was his willingness to embrace
shady American investors as partners in the Anguillan independence
project. As early as August 1967 the Minister of State at the Foreign
Office, Malcolm Shepherd, had declared that Anguilla was ‘wide open
to strong-arm influences . . . there are interested bodies who feel there is
money to be made from these little islands.’153 The interests to whom
Shepherd was coyly referring were Mayer Lansky and the American
mafia who were supposedly looking for alternative locations for money
laundering now that they were no longer welcome in Cuba. Webster
was alleged to be connected to these groups through his relations
with the Anguillan hotelier Jerry Gumbs and an American financial
investor, Frank Holcomb.154 The British embassy in Washington man-
aged to obtain access to FBI files on Holcomb and found evidence that
he was a ‘disreputable character’ but did not have a criminal record.
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On 15 February 1969 Holcomb returned to Anguilla and the Foreign
Office briefed ministers that he and Webster were engaged in ‘group
intimidation’ of their political opponents whose ‘common reaction is
disgust at Webster’s espousal of a foreigner, Holcom [sic], and preference
to wash their hands of the whole business.’155 Reports by British offi-
cials in the region predicted that, after the second referendum, Webster
would set up a ‘one man dictatorship.’156 Richard Crossman, who sat
on the government’s Overseas Policy and Defence Committee which
took the decision to intervene, compared the Anguillan situation to an
Evelyn Waugh farce but, like the majority of Labour ministers, was per-
suaded by the Foreign Secretary, Michael Stewart, that ‘gangsters wanted
to turn it into a gambling resort, a casino and make it independent of
Britain.’157

The uneventful post-invasion history of the island has demonstrated
quite how fanciful British ministers were in imagining that Webster’s
Anguilla would end up looking something like Batista’s Cuba. Once
exposed to the scrutiny of the world’s media the fantastic and night-
marish visions of a new Caribbean dictatorship in powerful alliance with
Miami gangsters evaporated. Journalists were united in offering confir-
mation that Anguilla was not overrun by local gunmen and American
hoodlums, and cartoonists and satirists had fun at the Wilson govern-
ment’s expense. What followed was a series of recriminations between
Cabinet ministers. Barbara Castle recorded Denis Healey squabbling
with Michael Stewart over whether Webster was ‘the leader of the
Anguillan people’, as the former had it, or ‘a leading Anguillan’, as
the latter preferred. It was Stewart who came off worse as ministers
protested that they had been misled over the nature of the ‘disreputable
elements’, the role of Webster and the attitude of the Caribbean states
towards the use of force.158 The principal beneficiary of the backlash
against Stewart was Webster. Rather than detain him, the government
opted to negotiate with him, on the basis that he was, as Healey asserted,
the representative of Anguillan opinion. Formulating an interim agree-
ment proved arduous and the task was assigned first to Hugh Foot,
who as Lord Caradon was British Ambassador to the United Nations,
and then, at a lower level, to John Comber, who replaced Lee after
it became clear that his personal differences with Webster were irrec-
oncilable. Every concession to Anguillan opinion aggravated relations
with the Kittitian government. The deal which Bradshaw had concluded
with Whitlock to restore the unity of the islands was effectively aban-
doned and on 1 April he denounced British policy in general, and Foot
personally in a vituperative letter.159 Although the British did not talk
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publicly about endorsing secession, Bradshaw’s perception that they had
now accepted it as a fait accompli was wholly warranted. Five days after
Bradshaw sent his letter to Foot, a Foreign Office briefing note recorded
that a consensus had been reached among officials ‘that the Anguillans
should live under an administration of their own choice and should not
be returned to St Kitts’ and ‘that despite his many and serious inad-
equacies we shall have to try and work with Webster.’160 An interim
settlement with Webster was reached at the end of April and in Decem-
ber the Wilson government announced that Hugh Wooding had agreed
to chair a commission to investigate the long-term future of Anguilla.
His report, published a year later, proposed the establishment of a more
powerful Anguillan Council which, although maintaining a titular tie
to St Kitts, would be effectively autonomous.161 The Anguilla Acts of
1971 and 1980 first made provision for the separation of the island and
then formally dissolved the tie as a prelude to Kittitian independence in
1983.162 Anguilla remains a British Overseas Territory.

Conclusion

There is almost no evidence that, in the aftermath of the collapse of the
original pan-Caribbean federation, the British reconfigured their policies
in the region. Instead there was a continual worrying away at the same
fixations. Consequently the demise of the Eastern Caribbean federation
was almost an exact replica in miniature of the failure of the earlier
attempt to unite the whole of the Anglophone Caribbean, with the
caveat that in the former case the new political union never came into
existence at all. In attempting to arbitrate between the various parties,
British policymakers once more assumed that the larger islands, in this
case Barbados, would willingly take on the role of financier and police-
man of the Leewards and Windwards at a time when external financial
support for the fragile economies of the region was to taper away. While
publicly endorsing the goals of West Indian nationalism, British pol-
icymakers regarded West Indian nationalists as a disreputable crowd.
In Grenada there was certainly plenty of corroborating evidence for such
a view in the events of Eric Gairy’s political career. In the new state
of St Kitts–Anguilla–Nevis by contrast, the British elevated a parochial
protest into a major international crisis. Lastly, in the most significant
episode of all in British Guiana, the same Cold War paranoia which had
prompted the frantic containment exercise against Ferdinand Smith a
decade earlier, was evident in the Byzantine plotting against Cheddi
Jagan. It was true that some British officials did take a more realistic view
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of Jagan’s programme than did the Americans but the focus on the
machinations of Kennedy, the CIA and the American trade union
movement has somewhat obscured the ardent Cold War campaigning
of Duncan Sandys. Much of the disagreement between London and
Washington over Guiana concerned methods: the British did not believe
that the brutal but decisive action favoured by the Americans was fea-
sible in an era of decolonisation and they resorted to fabled British
methods of covert imperial intrigue. Although the Colonial Office had
reluctantly allowed the agents of the Kennedy administration to propa-
gate disorder in the name of the Cold War, they retained their distaste
for the turmoil of demotic politics; and it was this disposition which
had governed their strategy during the years of confrontation with
the liberationist demands of the nationalist leaders of the Anglophone
Caribbean.



6
Conclusion

Fifty years have passed since Jamaica and Trinidad became the first two
territories in the Anglophone Caribbean to obtain political indepen-
dence from Britain. From a comparative chronological perspective the
region lagged behind much of Africa and Asia in the race for freedom
from imperial control. The delegates at the Kingston and Montego Bay
conferences in 1947 did not expect to wait between 15 and 20 years
for independence and in the case of the small islands many waited
longer. Nationalist politicians in the region were conscious of devel-
opments in West Africa: the attainment of independence for Ghana
in 1957 provoked feelings of pride and solidarity amongst African-
Caribbean people but also rueful contemplation of their continued
subordination. The Indian-Caribbean residents of Guiana and Trinidad
were conscious of the fact that, had their ancestors not travelled to
the Caribbean to become indentured labourers, they would have been
living in the independent state of India. Perhaps the most interesting
comparison of all was with an earlier British empire in the Western
hemisphere in what became the United States. In the eighteenth century
the white slave-owning elite of the 13 colonies on the American main-
land launched a successful insurrection against British control, almost
two centuries before the black descendants of slaves obtained political
power in the Anglophone Caribbean in a relatively peaceful manner.
While the American War of Independence provided a heroic story of
such potency that it was able to sustain the triumphalist ideology of
American exceptionalism, the relatively mundane history of constitu-
tional negotiations during which compromise was a reluctant necessity
has had much less of an animating or uplifting effect on the outlook
of people living in the Anglophone Caribbean. Indeed the histories of
West Indian independence written from the region have been lacerating
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in their criticisms of the nationalist leadership. It is not surprising that
many writers and activists from the region increasingly linked the local
struggle to the wider project of black nationalism: the population of the
Anglophone Caribbean may have been 200 years behind the British and
German colonists of North America in obtaining independence but their
drive for liberation was coeval with the civil rights campaigns inside
the United States. In both cases attention was drawn to the correla-
tion between darker skin colour and economic subordination and in
the Caribbean this fuelled a further re-examination of the relationship
between political and economic independence. This had been a concern
of the nationalist leadership before the formal transfer of power but the
region remains in the economic periphery half a century after it left the
political periphery. This conclusion will briefly attend, first to the poli-
tics of authoritarianism, liberationism and their connections to broader
themes concerning order and disorder, then to notions of developmen-
talism, external intervention and their connections to the themes of
dependence and independence, before returning to a re-examination of
the British role in the decolonisation of the Anglophone Caribbean.

Authoritarianism and democratic politics
in the Anglophone Caribbean

The violence which accompanied the strikes and protests in the region
during the 1930s provoked a crisis of imperial legitimacy: to many in
the metropolis they illustrated both the requirement for reform and
the dangers inherent in the process of decolonisation. During the next
40 years the British pursued a strategy predicated on the necessity to
contain the insurrectionist impulses of the general population, particu-
larly on the apparently less stable small islands. The postcolonial history
of the region reveals that aspects of this approach were misguided.
The assumption that larger islands could form a stable core for the
Anglophone Caribbean appears questionable, given that Jamaican poli-
tics has been more turbulent than that of the Windwards and Leewards,
with the partial and qualified exception of Grenada. Furthermore, the
source of much of the disorder of Jamaican politics has been the author-
itarian instincts of the state and the corruption of the Westminster-style
two party system by former collaborators in the process of decoloni-
sation inside the JLP and the PNP. During the 1960s the JLP was
unsuccessful in providing jobs and improved working conditions for the
urban poor. Bustamante’s successors survived in power for a decade after
independence despite these failures, partly because they were effective
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in further developing a violent form of clientelist politics, which was
manifest in efforts to reshape the infrastructure of West Kingston to
suit their electoral interests, and partly because of the fragmentation of
the opposition.1 The small, organised factions of the Marxist left, repre-
sented by groups such as the Unemployed Workers’ Council, remained
divided from the more amorphous, less organised opposition politics
of those who were committed to a Garveyite politics of black cul-
tural assertiveness, such as that of the Rastafarians. These tendencies in
Jamaican affairs came together in the Rodney riots. The historian Walter
Rodney sought to produce an ideological synthesis which recognised the
specificities of racial oppression in a Caribbean context, while acknowl-
edging the significance of universal class structures to any genuinely
emancipatory project.2 He promoted his work on the University of West
Indies campus at Mona. The JLP government of Hugh Shearer first
demanded that the Vice-Chancellor stop Rodney’s activities and then,
in October 1968, refused to allow him to re-enter the country. Intel-
lectuals, PNP members, trade unionists and the unemployed united to
oppose the ban but the march they organised from the university cam-
pus ended in violence as first JLP partisans and then the police attacked
the protestors.3 The Rodney riots were a precursor to the urban warfare
of the 1970s, during which both parties armed their supporters as the JLP
sought to resist the renascent PNP of Michael Manley. These develop-
ments reached their nadir in 2010 when the JLP government responded
to an American extradition request by launching an armed assault on
its own supporters in West Kingston in an attempt to arrest Christopher
‘Dudus’ Coke.

Trinidad has not witnessed quite the same levels of state violence
against the population as Jamaica and British fears of a race war on the
island after independence have proven misplaced. Nevertheless the pol-
itics of cultural assertiveness also influenced Trinidadian politics, and
in 1970 and 1990 they appeared to threaten a revolutionary transfor-
mation of the island’s politics. The rise of the Black Power movement
in the United States was echoed in Trinidad by the formation of the
National Joint Action Committee (NJAC) in 1967. Under the direction of
Geddes Granger, the NJAC criticised the failures of Williams’s economic
strategy: on their account his reliance on overseas capital investment
had left the country in a position of subservience to external inter-
ests. They particularly focused on the role of Canadian investors who,
they argued, were exploiting the resources of the country through a
form of economic imperialism which left the black majority in penury.
Granger assumed a similar role to Rodney in Jamaica in mobilising
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popular discontent behind a form of liberationist politics which recog-
nised the significance of race. Between 1969 and 1970 the University
of Woodford Square, which had been a PNM stronghold, became the
forum for protests against the Williams government. After his initial
attempts to appease the protestors failed, Williams declared a state
of emergency in order to forestall a march by the NJAC on 21 April
1970; this in turn precipitated a mutiny amongst those elements of the
army who were discontented with their own conditions. As in Jamaica
the postcolonial state proved as robust in defence of its interests as
the colonial state. Williams restored his authority by filling Trinidad’s
jails with his opponents. Ryan estimates that 87 soldiers and 54 polit-
ical activists were charged with treason, sedition or mutiny between
April and November and concludes that the lasting effect of the distur-
bances was to increase the race consciousness of Trinidadian society.4

One aspect of the Black Power movement in the United States was
to have particular resonance in Trinidad. In both cases a turn away
from Christianity and towards Islam was motivated partly by a distaste
for the former as the religion of New World slavery and partly by an
ideological affinity with Islamic notions of social justice and equality
before God. The traditional Muslim population of Trinidad was made
up of the descendants of Indian indentured labourers but during the
1970s and 1980s, the conversion of a number of African-Trinidadians
to Islam changed the confessional pattern of Trinidad’s demography.
The converts’ organisation, Jamaat al-Muslimeen, initially appeared to
be confined to the margins of the island’s politics but on 27 July 1990
armed members of the group stormed the Red House Parliament and
held the Prime Minister, A. N. R. Robinson, and a number of his minis-
ters, as hostages. The leader of the coup attempt, Yasin Abu Bakr, took
over the television station. His broadcast of the news of the revolution
astonished the general population and led to outbreaks of looting and
arson in Port of Spain. The army remained aligned with the established
government and after six tense days Abu Bakr surrendered.5 Although
the precise circumstances in which the aborted coup was conducted
were peculiar to Trinidad it was an exceptionally forceful demonstra-
tion of the salience of cultural factors in the postcolonial politics of
the region.

The response of territorial governments to challenges to the status
quo has been coercive and punitive but British expectations that, with-
out a powerful federal centre, the nationalist leaders of the region would
establish personalist dictatorships have proven to be misplaced. With
the notable exceptions of Grenada under Gairy and Guyana under
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Burnham, democratic parliamentary elections have remained a fea-
ture of political life in the Anglophone Caribbean after independence.
Despite the violence which has accompanied Jamaican electoral cam-
paigns, outcomes have been largely uncontested and both PNP and JLP
governments have left office to make way for their bitter rivals. In the
Eastern Caribbean, although the political parties that were in the van-
guard of the struggle for independence have often proven difficult to
dislodge, most of them have been removed from office as a consequence
of electoral defeat. On Barbados, Errol Barrow, whose supposedly dicta-
torial tendencies had been advertised within the British government in
the months before independence, was defeated in the 1976 election and
succeeded as Prime Minister by Grantley Adams’s son, Tom Adams. Four
years later, the St Kitts and Nevis Labour Party which, following the
deaths of both Bradshaw and Southwell, came under the leadership of
Lee Moore, was defeated by the opposition People’s Action Movement of
Kennedy Simmonds who then led the country to independence.6 It was
on St Vincent that the party of labour went into earliest and steepest
decline. Ebenezer Joshua had been an early bête noire of the Colonial
Office but they were unable to prevent him from becoming Chief Minis-
ter of the island in 1956. His People’s Political Party (PPP) was eventually
defeated by the St Vincent Labour Party in the election of 1967 and in
1979 the PPP lost every seat it contested.7 The party which proved most
difficult to dislodge was the Antigua Labour Party (ALP) of Vere Bird and
his sons, Vere Jnr and Lester Bird; it spent nearly four decades in office,
with a five-year hiatus in the early 1970s, and was responsible for the
slow corruption of political life on the island.8 Discontent with the ALP
intensified after an investigation by Louis Blom Cooper and Geoffrey
Robertson in 1990 confirmed that Vere Bird Jnr was implicated in the
transhipment of Israeli arms to the Medellin drug cartel in Columbia.9

By the late 1990s many Antiguans had concluded that the ALP were only
able to cling to office because of the manipulation of the voting sys-
tem. A three-person Commonwealth Observer Group which witnessed
the 1999 election identified malpractice including problems with the
electoral register, ALP dominance of media outlets and the cooption of
the organs of the state for the purposes of party political campaigning.
Even in the case of Antigua, however, the ALP eventually suffered elec-
toral defeat: in 2004 Baldwin Spencer’s United Progressive Party won an
election which was again monitored by a Commonwealth team who
declared it ‘credible’, despite continuing imperfections.10

One tradition of thinking which nationalist leaders inherited from the
era of metropolitan control was that, in a place as inherently unstable
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as the Anglophone Caribbean, order was best secured through authori-
tarian politics; this was most starkly illustrated in Guyana and Grenada.
In the former case, the politics of electoral fraud reached a higher degree
of perfection under the direction of Forbes Burnham than the Birds ever
achieved in Antigua. The PNC’s electoral triumphs in 1968, 1973 and
1980 appeared to show ever-increasing support for Burnham’s premier-
ship; on the last of these occasions his party won 41 seats compared
to 10 for Jagan’s PPP. The favoured tactic of the governing party was
to make fraudulent use of the overseas vote. An investigation by the
British Parliamentary Human Rights Group (PHRG) into the 1980 elec-
tions found ‘massive evidence that large numbers of eligible voters were
denied the right to vote.’ A further report by the PHRG, in collabo-
ration with Americas Watch, reviewed the entire history of electoral
manipulation as well as itemised the PNC’s control over the media and
intimidation of the opposition.11 Despite his official adherence to the
doctrine of Cooperative Socialism, Burnham outmatched other lead-
ers in the region in his assault on opposition from the left. As well as
an expansion in the numbers of the police and army he established
paramilitary groups such as the Guyana National Service and the Peo-
ple’s Militia, which became known in the demotic as ‘kick down the
door gangs’.12 Two events drew international attention to the corrupt
and sinister nature of Guyanese politics. In 1978 the entire popula-
tion of the Jonestown community was murdered or committed suicide.
The residents were members of the People’s Temple, which was one
of a number of bizarre religious sects which Burnham had sponsored
and which became an informal part of the Guyanese security state.13

In 1980, Walter Rodney, who had returned to Guyana to resume his
career of political activism, was killed by a car bomb while campaigning
as an electoral candidate against the PNC. Rodney had played a key role
in the establishment of the Working People’s Alliance and was in the
midst of preparing a history of Guyanese labour which was published
posthumously. Only after Burnham’s death in 1985, did the politics of
electoral coercion begin to recede sufficiently for a measure of reconcil-
iation between opposition groups and the government to occur which
paved the way for the return of Cheddi Jagan and the PPP to power in
1992.14

In the aftermath of his election victory in 1967, Eric Gairy embarked
on a policy of repression in which any challenges to his personal rule
were interpreted as a threat to political order on Grenada. He responded
to the spread of Black Power movements across the Anglophone
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Caribbean even more violently than Shearer in Jamaica or Williams
in Trinidad. Demonstrations in St George’s in May 1970 echoed the
challenge to Williams in Port of Spain but, whereas in Trinidad the gov-
ernment’s efforts to introduce repressive legislation were frustrated by
the parliamentary process, in Grenada Gairy was able to force through
an Emergency Powers Act. He also established a personal protection
unit, which later became known as the Mongoose Gang. These ‘police
aides’ came to regard the role of intimidating the opposition as an essen-
tial part of their remit and they particularly targeted the emerging New
Jewel Movement (NJM). This new group was a coalition of Marxists,
Black Power activists and liberal reformists who demanded indepen-
dence from residual British control, while also challenging Gairy’s
autocracy. On 18 November 1973 NJM leaders were attacked by Gairy’s
police force during a visit to Grenville to consult with local business
leaders about a planned strike. Two months later Gairy’s thugs murdered
Rupert Bishop during an assault on the headquarters of the Seamen and
Waterfront Workers’ Union.15 Despite opposition to Gairy’s rule from all
sections of society, including the church, the independent trade unions
and the middle classes as well as the radical left, he was successful in
negotiating independence from Britain and won the first elections of
the postcolonial era through a mixture of intimidation and fraud. It was
in these circumstances that the NJM resorted to extra-Parliamentary
methods and, while Gairy was in Barbados, a popular revolution took
place in March 1979. The spark which set off the coup was the wholly
plausible rumour that Gairy was planning to have the NJM leaders
assassinated.16

The risk of concentrating on the exceptional moments in the his-
tory of the region after independence is that it paints a picture of
life in the region that manages to be both too bleak and too flat-
tering. The portrayal can be taken as too bleak because moments of
crisis such as the failed coup in Trinidad or the national emergency in
Jamaica during the attempt to arrest Coke are untypical; the regimes
of Burnham and Gairy are unrepresentative of the general political life
of the region and most governments have come and gone in a recog-
nisably democratic process. However, the irregularity of political crises
also camouflages the ongoing desperation and poverty of many peo-
ple who live in the region. An analysis of the place of the Anglophone
Caribbean in the structures of international politics and economics,
which will be necessarily brief, can at least provide some sense of these
conditions.
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Development, dependency and overseas intervention
in the Anglophone Caribbean

Political autonomy and economic development were prioritised by
the nationalist politicians who emerged in the 1930s and 1940s.
Since the conquest of the region by the European powers, political
activity in the Americas had been constrained by the exigencies of
British, French, Spanish and Dutch policy. Although in the case of the
Anglophone Caribbean, metropolitan influence had often been limited
by the power of the plantocracy and the neglectfulness of the imperial
authorities in London, from the middle of the nineteenth century the
imposition of Crown Colony government in all the territories, other
than Barbados, demonstrated that British interests could be made to
prevail. The gradual transfer of legislative and executive authority to
locally elected politicians and the diminution of crown influence in the
twentieth century amounted to the essence of decolonisation. However,
politicians in both the metropolis and the periphery were acutely con-
scious of the fact that political power was not always exercised through
formal constitutional means, as the case of American involvement in
British Guiana demonstrated. It had been hoped that the vulnerability
of the territories to covert and overt intervention would get remedied
by establishing a strong federation which would have a significant voice
in regional and international politics, but the disintegrationist effect of
island loyalties left the region politically fragmented and susceptible to
pressure from overseas. The financial fragility of the newly elected gov-
ernments was not remedied in the last years of imperial control and
the nationalists were conscious that additional capital was essential to
achieve the seminal goals of developing and diversifying their economic
base. The notion of developmentalism became integral to the politics of
the Anglophone Caribbean after the riots of the 1930s. For long peri-
ods of its colonial history, economic policy had been directed simply
at maintaining the viability of the plantation system. The independent
governments inherited a relatively novel responsibility for both ame-
liorating the worst social effects of economic inequality and expanding
the range of productive activities on the islands.17 Now that legislation
and executive action both rested on popular consent this was essential;
unlike colonial administrators, democratically elected politicians were
obligated to show concern for the social conditions in which economic
activities were conducted. However, remedial measures, such as efforts
to attract overseas investment and increase exports, inevitably increased
dependence on overseas capital and international markets.
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One avenue of economic self-help which was available to the govern-
ments of the newly independent Caribbean countries was to pool their
own internal markets and capital resources, which meant a return to
the principles which had underpinned the defunct federation. When
the Prime Minister, Grantley Adams spoke in the final adjournment
debate of the federal Parliament, he chose to quote one of the Fireside
Poets, James Russell Lowell, who provided an imaginary rendering of
Oliver Cromwell’s views of the likelihood of a republican utopia: ‘And
doubtless, after us, some purer scheme/ Will be shaped out by wiser men
than we.’18 Prospects for a republican England and a united Caribbean
have proven equally unsatisfactory. The history of the Caribbean Com-
munity (CARICOM) has not established a basis either for political union
or markedly greater regional self-sufficiency. CARICOM was preceded by
the Caribbean Free Trade Association (CARIFTA) which, in 1965, took
over the task of coordinating regional policy with the aim of liberalising
trade policy. It was only with the signing of the Treaty of Chaguaramas
in 1973 by the independent states of Jamaica, Trinidad, Guyana and
Barbados that a Common Market was established. Although it included
agreement to a common external tariff, the treaty allowed numerous
exemptions which facilitated the continuation of quotas and unequal
duties between the member states. In 1989 CARICOM set itself the more
ambitious goal of establishing a Single Market and Economy but it was
not until 2006 that the members began phased implementation of a
programme which was intended to culminate in the free movement of
labour and the harmonisation of tax policies.19 These were the issues
which had caused the demise of the original federation and their enact-
ment by CARICOM has once again been accompanied by acrimony and
procrastination.

Given the limits of regional cooperation, national planning became
the principal influence on economic policy but, in many respects,
the story of political independence has been the story of a loss of
local economic control. In the 1950s and 1960s a new generation of
economists working on the nearby mainland of South America, includ-
ing Raul Prebisch and Andre Gunder Frank warned of the dangers
which dependency posed to peripheral economies; at the same time
Norman Manley, Alexander Bustamante and Eric Williams pursued poli-
cies which increased the dependence of the Anglophone Caribbean
on overseas capital. Given the absence of local financial resources, the
inevitable curtailment of British economic assistance and the necessity
of finding jobs for the increasing numbers of unemployed and under-
employed, greater reliance on external investment appeared to be a
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requirement of any programme to diversify production. It was the fail-
ure of this strategy which laid the basis for continuing social instability
on Jamaica and Trinidad. The new industries which were financed by
overseas capital generated an estimated 20,000 additional jobs in the
1950s and 1960s which was wholly inadequate to meet the expansion
of the population, which in Jamaica amounted to an increase of 25,000
annually between 1956 and 1968. Had it not been for the Immigration
and Nationality Act of 1965, which reopened the American labour mar-
ket to Caribbean migrants, the social pressures caused by the oversupply
of labour would have been even more pronounced. In 1968, which
was a peak year, 17,470 Jamaicans and 5,266 Trinidadians emigrated to
the United States.20 The stagnation in economic production during the
1970s made the task of relieving the extremes of poverty which existed
on the islands still more onerous. Having gained control of economic
strategy from the British in the 1940s and 1950s, nationalist leaders in
Trinidad, Barbados and Jamaica were obliged to surrender it to the Inter-
national Monetary Fund (IMF) as other sources of international credit
dried up. The most contentious and extreme instance of this develop-
ment was in Jamaica where Michael Manley initially resisted proposals
which would entail financial retrenchment but in 1977 negotiated a
deal with the IMF which required significant reductions in government
expenditure.21

With the partial exceptions of Antigua and Grenada, on the
Windwards and Leewards democratic traditions have largely been
upheld but the inequities of the status quo have never been adequately
confronted. Significant growth has been achieved but frequently at the
expense of substituting or supplementing low-wage employment in the
plantation economy with low-wage employment in the service sector.
The strategy of continued reliance on agricultural exports and a new
foray into services has generated problems of its own. In the case of
Antigua, Paget Henry has noted that after 1960 governmental energy,
which might have been devoted to encouraging a measure of economic
diversity, was wholly transferred to the promotion of tourism. The num-
ber of tourist arrivals on the island increased from 12,853 in 1958 to
97,901 in 1980. Henry also itemised the factors which limit the stimu-
lant effect of tourism: employment in the industry tends to be seasonal;
the low wage and low status jobs are generally filled by local people,
while top managerial and clerical positions are occupied by expatriates;
few links have been established with the wider economy; and there is a
great deal of financial ‘leakage’ away from the island in the form of the
import of goods and additional services from overseas.22 Nevertheless,
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Antigua and the other islands of the Leewards and Windwards were able
to achieve a significant measure of growth in the 1980s, which was the
first decade of full independence, as the recovery of the global econ-
omy after the crises of the previous decade led to a rise in commodity
prices and a boom in international tourism.23 British scepticism about
whether the small islands could be economically viable has proven mis-
placed but they remain vulnerable and dependent upon the vicissitudes
of the international economy.

During the era of political independence the Anglophone Caribbean
witnessed fewer examples of overt external meddling and subterfuge
directed from outside the region than the Hispanophone Caribbean.24

The most conspicuous exceptions were the American invasion of
Grenada in 1984 and the still unresolved controversy over CIA involve-
ment in the defeat of the Manley government in the 1980 Jamaican
election. Reagan’s decision to send the marines to Grenada has been
justified on the grounds that it took place at the behest of regional
governments and prevented the consolidation of a nascent military dic-
tatorship under Hudson Austin in the aftermath of the murder of the
Prime Minister, Maurice Bishop.25 A more convincing interpretation is
that the intervention was the logical conclusion of a policy of American
confrontation with the civilian administration of Bishop’s New Jewel
Movement. The emergence of ‘another Cuba’ in the Anglophone
Caribbean had long been anathema to American policymakers and this
message was constantly reiterated to the British government during the
era of decolonisation, most stridently in the case of Guiana. Evidence of
the Marxist inclinations of the NJM leaders inevitably prompted a reac-
tion in Washington. The Reagan administration attempted to prevent
the European Economic Community, the World Bank and the IMF from
funding various development projects which the Bishop government
sought to undertake. They also made a loan to other local govern-
ments through the Caribbean Development Bank conditional upon the
exclusion of Grenada.26 Tom Adams of Barbados and Eugenia Charles
of Dominica acted as regional cheerleaders for the American invasion
but there is little doubt that it would have gone ahead without their
support. Despite the reservations of the American Joint Chiefs of Staff,
Reagan’s new National Security Adviser, Robert McFarlane, had briefed
him on the need for a major operation, ostensibly to rescue American
nationals, on 17 October, which was after the arrest of Bishop but two
days before his execution and Austin’s declaration of martial law.27 The
scale of the invasion and its dramatic rendering by Hollywood in Clint
Eastwood’s film Heartbreak Ridge have given the event unmistakeable
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prominence in the history of America’s relations with the Caribbean; by
contrast, the question of whether there was an attempt by the CIA to
destabilise the Jamaican government in the 1970s remains an ongoing
source of controversy. The dissident CIA agent, Philip Agee, claimed that
a number of CIA agents were operating in support of the JLP from the
American embassy in Kingston and the accusations were given fuller
treatment in Jenny Pearce’s book Under the Eagle.28 American policymak-
ers denied the accusations and in his recent autobiography Seaga has
insisted that the accusations have been fabricated.29 What is undeniable
is that Washington pursued economic policies to undermine Michael
Manley’s reforms, including drastic cuts in assistance programmes and
reductions in bauxite imports from Jamaica, which exacerbated the
country’s debt crisis.30 By this point British influence in Jamaica had
dissipated and it was the government in Washington which entered a
close Cold War alliance with the Seaga government in the 1980s. The
new era of American subsidy seemed to confirm that dependency was
the price to be paid for a measure of social and political respite.

Britain and the Anglophone Caribbean at the end
of empire

The notion that the nationalist leaders of the Anglophone Caribbean
were ineffectual in promoting the decolonisation of the region has been
propagated both by the defenders of Colonial Office policymaking, in
the vindicatory tradition, and critics of the postcolonial governments, in
the inculpatory school of historiography, yet it is almost entirely with-
out foundation. In the instance both of the individual territories and
the broader federation the British were both grudging and excessively
cautious in responding to the demands of nationalist leaders for the
demission of authority. In many respects this is what one would expect,
given the set of presuppositions which animated metropolitan thinkers
in the era of decolonisation. Yet a commentator as sophisticated as
Obika Gray identified nationalist rivalry, rather than British procrastina-
tion, as the factor which delayed decolonisation. Gray states: ‘the native
intermediate class seemed unable to free itself from the bane of either
xenophobia or loyalty to empire . . . the local leaders not only became
willing apprentices but also pursued the consolidation of their respective
organizations with a vigour that detracted from the speedy liquidation
of colonial rule.’31 Although it would have been impossible to find either
a nationalist leader or a Colonial Office bureaucrat who by the 1950s
did not envisage eventual independence for the Caribbean, there was a
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difference between them: it was the nationalist leaders of the region who
pressed for the transfer of power as rapidly as possible, while the Colo-
nial Office attempted to retain as much of their residual constitutional
authority as seemed practicable in an atmosphere of mounting hostility
to colonialism. This was true in the case of Manley’s attempts to intro-
duce new constitutional reforms in Jamaica in the early 1950s and was
still more evident in the reaction to Williams’s campaign for a fully inde-
pendent federation in 1960, which attracted the scorn of the Colonial
Office. The British government finally acceded to immediate indepen-
dence for Jamaica and Trinidad in 1961–1962 which was the point when
no other options were available. After that period the usual pattern re-
emerged: the Colonial Office effectively vetoed the demands of Barrow
and others that an Eastern Caribbean federation should become inde-
pendent at the moment of its formation and thought in terms of yet
another period of colonial apprenticeship. When this project collapsed
they refused internal self-government to the Windwards and Leewards
and offered instead a new formula of Associated Statehood under which
they retained a licence to intervene in local politics, as the case of
Anguilla demonstrated.

The question of what the metropolitan authorities hoped to achieve
by prolonging the process of decolonisation is sometimes obscured by
their repeated insistence that they had no national interests to defend
in the region. What was at stake, in their understanding, were the
prized values of order and stability. Despite the preoccupation of impe-
rial officials with the shortcomings of the nationalist leadership, in
an era of ideological conflict in Southeast Asia, communal violence
in South Asia and racial antagonism in East Africa, the Anglophone
Caribbean appeared a safe haven for British ideas about a temperate
and conservative kind of politics. Whenever a debate broke out within
the British government about the next round of constitutional reform,
the justification for the policy of cautious incrementalism remained the
same: peace and social order were much prized but were endangered
by the process of decolonisation which, because it was accompanied by
democratisation, gave rise to a form of politics which encouraged the
worst demotic instincts of local politicians. This thinking reflected both
historical circumstances and contemporary factors. In historical terms,
the metropolitan authorities had always confronted the same puzzle in
the Anglophone Caribbean because of the stark conflict between the
European socio-economic elites and the much larger numbers of African
and Indian workers who were brought to the region either as slaves or
as indentured workers. Against the colonists’ reliance on the threat of
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force to contain popular hostility, the authorities in London usually
favoured a more mixed strategy embracing both coercion and meliorist
reform. In the first half of the twentieth century the decline in the polit-
ical power of the European plantocracy and the rise of an intermediate
class of bourgeoisie predominantly African-Caribbean businessmen and
professionals, rendered the old dilemmas in a new and even more acute
form. Once the latter group began to demand political authority, the
Colonial Office inevitably questioned whether they would use it respon-
sibly. In this context the issue of trustworthiness was inextricably tied
to the question of how the intermediate class would regulate their rela-
tions with the working class. This was a particularly sensitive issue
because of the tendency to characterise the general population as tru-
culent and unruly but biddable. The destructive labour disputes on St
Kitts, Grenada and some of the other islands or the use made of vio-
lence and intimidation during popular elections in Jamaica, Trinidad
and Barbados were seen as grim portents for the future. The British
acknowledged the dispiriting economic conditions which provided the
context for local disorder but found this cause insufficient to account
for the extent of the protests, which could only be fully explained by
drawing on aggravating, auxiliary factors, including the rebellious incli-
nations of the population at large and the recklessness of local political
leadership.

Fear of insurrection on the islands had been an ingrained part of
British thinking about the Caribbean for centuries and the post-war
generation of policymakers was fully acquainted with the events of
the late 1930s during which almost every territory had seemed in
danger of descending into lawlessness. Two novel and conflicting ide-
ological developments entrenched British apprehensions in the era of
decolonisation: the first was the rise of Garveyite notions of black
empowerment, which seemed to constitute a particular threat in those
Eastern Caribbean territories with significant non-African minorities,
including Trinidad, Barbados and Guiana; the second was the emer-
gence of prominent Caribbean communists such as Ferdinand Smith,
Cheddi Jagan and C. L. R. James. In retrospect it is clear that the British
overestimated the extent to which either of these movements endan-
gered the decolonisation settlement. This was most evident on Barbados
where the increasing rowdiness which accompanied popular elections
was taken as a possible precedent for attacks by the African majority
against the formerly dominant European elites who accentuated ten-
sions by their determination to maintain a policy of social segregation,
even as white political supremacy was extinguished. In Trinidad the
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rhetoric of the PNM leadership provided further grounds for British
apprehensions. Williams was usually keen to promulgate the notion
that racism was an imperialist contamination which had no role in
an independent Trinidad but in reacting to the emergence of a pre-
dominantly Indian party which was bitterly critical of his government,
he began to stray towards the notion that minority populations were
potentially disloyal and that this disloyalty emanated from a reluc-
tance to accept African-Trinidadian leadership. Despite the concerns
aroused by these developments, the politics of race did not predominate
in either Barbados or Trinidad after independence. The generation of
nationalist leaders who assumed control of the islands’ politics became
deeply suspicious of the politics of black empowerment. At the end
of the 1960s and the beginning of the 1970s men like Hugh Shearer,
Williams and Gairy found ways to circumvent, diffuse or simply sup-
press popular expressions of cultural discontent. With the exception of
Guyana, British expectations that democratic rule in a Caribbean con-
text would lead to widespread racial conflict were confounded. Such
predictions had a degree of plausibility because race was a subject over
which Caribbean people themselves liked to obsess, but the emphasis
given to this feature of life in the region, and more particularly to the
supposed ‘anti-white racism’ of Williams and others, was also a transpar-
ent attempt to deflect attention from metropolitan neuroticism. Official
files were not generally the place where policymakers would vent their
feelings about other races but the quotidian belittlement of Caribbean
sensibilities which litter the minutes and memoranda of the day cer-
tainly evince an innate sense of superiority. The rhetoric which shaped
the debate about immigration is even more suggestive and provides evi-
dence of metropolitan fears about miscegenation. And on one occasion
sentiments of racial superiority were made explicit. In October 1962,
during a satirical exchange between Colonial Office officials over what
the motto of the deceased federation might have been, the Permanent
Under-Secretary, Hilton Poynton, suggested ‘Ten little nigger boys’.32

Overt statements of hostility to communism were common during
the Cold War era but in the case of the Caribbean it was frequently
the overbearing attitude of the United States rather than subversion
by the Soviet Union which was most vexing for British policymakers.
As Jason Parker has pointed out the influence of the United States in
shaping British policy in the region predated the Cold War era and had
an intermittent character: for most of the time Washington would defer
to British sensibilities but, on occasions, American interventions proved
decisive.33 The most significant example was in British Guiana. Without
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Kennedy’s decision to issue a direct challenge to British policy, the coun-
try would have become independent in 1962 under the leadership of
Cheddi Jagan. It is much more difficult to speculate about how Jagan
might have governed but the factual, as opposed to counter-factual,
record demonstrates that Anglo-American subterfuge exacerbated the
antagonism between Guianese of African and Indian descent. In the
later historiographical rush to blame Washington for the calamities
which ensued, British policymakers have been fortunate in evading their
share of responsibility because, after the initial American ‘veto’, it was
Duncan Sandys who shaped the indirect tactics which led to Jagan’s
downfall; in pursuing an activist policy, he frequently found himself at
odds with American strategists who favoured the blunter instrument of
a reversion to direct rule. Even when it was not engaged in overt med-
dling, the United States cast a long shadow over the region, as the fears
about the role of the Florida mafia in Anguilla vividly illustrated. In this
late episode in the colonial history of the region, British policymakers
became fixated on the influence of American criminal organisations as
a potential stimulant for disorder. On more mundane issues such as
federalism, financial aid and even constitutional reform, it was com-
mon for British officials to engage in swift glances or even long glares
at the American colossus when considering problems associated with
defence and economic viability. They gazed eastwards towards the Soviet
Union less frequently but the notable and instructive exception in this
regard was the case of Ferdinand Smith. The British interpreted Smith’s
return to the region as a Soviet-inspired challenge to their author-
ity and their response echoed the McCarthyism which was prevalent
in the United States. Smith’s activities provoked anxiety because his
plans to collaborate with other Caribbean communists were interpreted
as a revolutionary challenge to the norms of decolonisation. Rather
than playing the game of party formation, electoral campaigning and
a negotiated transfer of power, Smith appeared to be pursuing a populist
strategy which, rather than channelling demotic discontent, threatened
to inflame it. His efforts were frustrated by a paucity of resources, divi-
sions amongst his potential allies and the overwhelming efforts of the
colonial authorities to strangle any popular communist movement at
birth. The extent of the counter-measures undertaken by apparently
liberal figures like Foot again illustrates the consuming British anxi-
eties about any potential disruption to the smooth transfer of political
authority to the periphery of empire.

The other features of British policy were, to a degree, matters of tone
but illustrate the narrow conservatism of official thinking: they were



Conclusion 249

personalist, in the sense of being obsessed both with the pernicious
influence of anti-colonial critics and also the potential mitigating effect
of reliable collaborators; backward looking, in the constant emphasis
given to the notion that Caribbean societies were mired by the cir-
cumstances of the past in a condition of atrophy; and self-justifying
in that, whenever a post-mortem was required into a failed policy or
initiative, the culprits were always found amongst elected legislators
and activists in the Caribbean rather than in Government House or
Whitehall. Another way of explaining the personalism of British policy
is to say that it was concerned overwhelmingly with agency rather than
structure. Although briefing papers would allude to socio-economic con-
ditions in the region, the real British obsession was with character.
This was evident both in the belief that Ferdinand Smith could infect
the entire Caribbean with communism and in the lauding of Norman
Manley as the guarantor of stability in the region. Universal and unbro-
ken acclaim for Manley did not depend on the long acquaintance of
Foot or Creech Jones; the British Prime Minister, Harold Macmillan,
who took no great interest in the affairs of the Anglophone Caribbean,
also described him as ‘head and shoulders above any other politician
in the West Indies.’ Praise for Manley’s superlative qualities usually pro-
vided the basis for a sharp contrast with the character flaws of his rivals.
Macmillan’s short diary entry also contains parenthetical reference to
Bustamante as ‘old and ruthless but the most attractive demagogue in
the area.’34 Despite the flippancy of his tone, Macmillan’s comments
were typical of British efforts to distinguish the sober methods of Manley
from the vulgar appeal to the masses to which other nationalist lead-
ers resorted. Politicians as different as Jagan, Gairy and Bustamante all
attracted condemnation for their willingness to engage in inflammatory
rhetoric at a time when they were supposed to be serving as appren-
tices in the art of government, which, in the British view, required them
to distance themselves from the purportedly juvenile politics of popu-
lar discontent. While the British were willing to concede that one or two
politicians of exceptional rectitude had the requisite guile to circumvent
the usual methods by which nationalist leaders obtained influence, on
the whole the personalisation of the issues turned out to be another
way to express their disapproval of what they perceived as the rowdy
and minatory nature of Caribbean politics.

On those occasions when the official analysis of the region’s problems
proceeded beyond the provocations of Smith or Jagan, or the incapac-
ities of Adams or Bradshaw, it generally alighted on the intrinsically
tragic history of the region as a potential explanation for the character
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of contemporary Caribbean society. The record of natural disaster, grind-
ing poverty and popular rebellion was not one which greatly appealed to
the British imagination; as far as orientalist notions had an influence on
the British Empire’s occident, they were denuded of the romantic asso-
ciations prevalent in the works of Richard Burton or T. E. Lawrence. The
idea that tawdry depths lay beneath the surface of the tropical paradise
was so common in British governmental, literary and popular represen-
tations of the region that it became a cliché. There was ample objective
evidence in favour of such a view to be found in the subsistence liv-
ing conditions of the unemployed in West Kingston or the degrading
environment of the Indian sugar workers in Guiana but it took on a
more explicitly ideological character when it was used as underpinning
for an unremittingly gloomy prognosis for the region’s politics. British
scepticism about the transformative projects of the region’s national-
ists and socialists fell into this category. Manley, Williams and Jagan
were all, from their different perspectives, attempting to animate the
population of the Anglophone Caribbean with a vision of a more egal-
itarian and communal society. The hostility they expressed towards
British officialdom stemmed from the conservative and obstructive atti-
tudes of metropolitan policymakers who seemed to doubt the viability
of almost any form of meliorist action. This was most evident during the
course of labour disputes. Although the British were frequently critical of
the attitudes of employers, they invariably concluded that strikes were
counter-productive and that the workers’ case for an improvement in
their living conditions was unrealistic. The one significant and qualified
exception to this pervading scepticism applied to the largest measure of
all which was the establishment of a federation across the Anglophone
Caribbean which, it was believed, would provide new economic oppor-
tunities and a greater measure of security for the region. Even in this
instance, it was more common for metropolitan actors to emphasise
the significance of federalism as a prophylactic measure which would
mitigate the worst excesses of the new era of popular politics. When
they were required to hurriedly reshape the constitutional order in the
aftermath of the Jamaican referendum, they did so in an atmosphere of
pervasive gloom about the future of the territories in an era of unilateral
independence.

The blame for the failure of the federation was, inevitably, laid at
the door of the nationalist leadership. In the last words of his detailed
account of the negotiations, John Mordecai suggested that what the
Caribbean required in order to cultivate a greater sense of unity was
‘a new generation of political leaders, more responsive than their
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predecessors to the demands of restraint and compassion, and better
able to nourish that seed and redress the past.’35 The ‘leaders’ to whom
Mordecai was referring were the nationalist politicians whose inadequa-
cies he had itemised in the preceding text and emphatically not the
British governors, ministers and officials whose policies had played an
influential role in the demise of the federation. For example, there are
no blemishes entered on Hailes’s record in Mordecai’s account, and this
reflects the friendship that developed between the two men when they
were both involved in administering the federation.36 What was miss-
ing from Mordecai’s otherwise comprehensive narrative was any critical
analysis of the debates and quarrels which took place within the por-
tals of British officialdom and which were usually resolved by a series
of compromises which only increased the force of centrifugal pressures
in the Caribbean. In particular, the majority view inside metropolitan
policymaking circles was that the federation, like the individual territo-
ries, must proceed towards independence as slowly as feasible. British
refusal to expedite the process of decolonisation conflicted with nation-
alist pressure to accelerate constitutional progress and hindered efforts
to promote regional integration. While the Colonial Office assumed that
the resulting disenchantment was a consequence of the unit territo-
ries moving too fast, the nationalist leadership were convinced that it
was caused by the pedestrian pace at which constitutional authority
was transferred to the federation. More significant still was the argu-
ment over whether the politics of decolonisation entailed a reduction
in financial assistance to the region, which pitted peripheral advocacy
of a compensatory principle against metropolitan assumptions about
the necessity for self-reliance. Even without adjudicating on the mer-
its of either case it is plain that the argument had a destructive effect.
While the Colonial Office had some sympathy for the problems which
would ensue as a consequence of the rapid curtailment of subsidies to a
region which required capital investment in order to address the social
problems which the new governments had inherited, it was Treasury
parsimony which usually prevailed on the British side of the argument.
As a consequence Caribbean disillusionment with the likely economic
implications of decolonisation was on the rise even before political
independence had been obtained. The neglect of this aspect of decoloni-
sation in the historiography reflects a broader tendency to sweep aside
the critical case against the architects of British strategy, made by Eric
Williams and others. At the end of empire, democratically elected politi-
cians were expected to rectify problems which had been left wholly
unaddressed by generations of imperial policymakers; they took on the
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remedial task of diversifying economic activity and achieving a measure
of social progress in an international environment over which they had
almost no influence. Any attempt to tell the story of the transition to
political independence in the Anglophone Caribbean which does not
take account of these factors is incomplete.

This is not to suggest that it is necessary to reconstruct a heroic
model of nationalist leadership such as that contained in Williams’s
self-laudatory book Inward Hunger.37 The record of the independent gov-
ernments of the region in the subsequent half-century would make such
an enterprise wholly implausible. What is required is some rebalancing
of the account which draws attention back to the genuine confronta-
tion which took place between the architects of British decolonisation
strategy and the liberationist ideals which emerged in the Anglophone
Caribbean in the middle of the twentieth century. The focus of analy-
sis has been on who is to blame for what has gone wrong since and,
while the metropolitan party has escaped largely unscathed, the lead-
ers of the anti-colonial movement have been found culpable. Official
governmental records and the memoirs of the British protagonists fre-
quently denigrated the nationalist programme and this tendency has
been reinforced by a new generation of Caribbean writers which has
found fault with its own societies and particularly its political leader-
ship. Yet the attainment of independence in the face of metropolitan
indifference and a grim colonial inheritance was an achievement in
itself and not just the precursor to years of authoritarian politics and
continued inequality. The short era of decolonisation has been sand-
wiched between a period of unalloyed colonial exploitation and an
age of frustration and impotence, and has been almost overwhelmed
by its own historical context. This is perhaps not surprising. The first
Europeans who followed Columbus to the Caribbean exterminated the
indigenous population of the islands through warfare and disease. Their
successors repopulated the territory by trading Africans as goods. The
survivors and their descendants endured hard labour, malnourishment
and physical coercion. After the abolition of the slave trade, a new gen-
eration of indentured labourers continued to suffer some of the worst
labour conditions of the nineteenth century. In the twenty-first century
the independent Caribbean remains an exploitative society in which
the resources of the state are called upon to stymie challenges to the
status quo. And in this context the actions of the last generation of
British imperialists in delaying constitutional progress, restricting per-
sonal liberties in pursuit of the Cold War, offering a less-than-generous
financial settlement and manipulating the electoral process where it
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thought necessary, may appear to be venial sins. As well as acquit-
ting metropolitan policymakers of the charges of duplicity, obstruction
and equivocation, such an attitude deflects attention from the chal-
lenges encountered by the people of the region at a time when they
were engaged in a constructive exercise which embraced notions of
autonomy, democratisation and egalitarianism. The application of such
ideas was imperfect and the failure was not wholly a consequence of
the impedimentary approach of the British but that does not necessi-
tate a teleological account of decolonisation in which efforts to obtain
independence are merely the prelude to a new era of corrupt and dis-
ciplinarian politics. The chances of reviving a liberationist project are
not improved either by denigrating even the incomplete achievements
of the first nationalist generations in challenging European imperial-
ism and establishing a more democratic system in the Anglophone
Caribbean or by underestimating the confrontation between peripheral
and metropolitan agents at the end of empire.
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